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Spectris is a leading supplier of
productivity-enhancing instrumentation
and controls. Our businesses are
leaders in the markets they serve,

with recognised brands and
award-winning products.

We provide compliete solutions
combining hardware, software and
related services for some of the most
technically-demanding industrial
applications. Our innovative solutions
are designed to enhance customers’
productivity, yielding clear benefits
by helping them to work better,
faster and more efficiently.
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2017 highlights

Reported sales +13%

£1,525.6m

(2016 £1,345 8m)

Dividend per share +9%
(2016. 52 Op)
Adjusted operating profit’ +11%

£223.5m

(2016° £200 8m)

Reported operating profit >100%
(2016 £38 3m)
Adjusted earnings per share’ +14%

145.1p

(2016. 127.5p)

Reported earnings per share >100%
197.0p
(2016 8 6p)

Adjusted operating cash conversion’ _38pp

75%

{2016 113%)

1 The adjusted perfarmance measures represent the statutory results
excluding certan non-operational iterms  Lke-for-ike {LFL') measures are
stated at constant exchange rates and include acquisiions and disposals on a
comparable basis These afe deemed alternatwve performance measures under
the European Secunties and Markets Authority guidelnes For a definition of the
tern and a reconahation to the closest IFRS equvalent, see Note 2 to the
Financal Statements, page 103.
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Chairman’s Statement

ENHANCING

our business

Results overview

In my first year as Chairman of Spectris, it is pleasing to see

the Group delver a 6% mncrease In constant currency, organic
{like-for-like, ‘LFL"') sales, driving an 8% LFL increase in adjusted
operating profit Reported sales increased 13% n 2017 1o
£1,525 6 million and reported operating profit increased to
£182 4 millon resulting 1n operating margins of 12.0%

on a reported basis and 14.7% on an adjusted basis. Cash
conversion? was 75% of our adjusted operating profit following
a material step-up in growth capex m our Test and Measurement
division Adjusted earnings per share (EPS’) increased by 14% to
145.1p with reported basic EPS at 197 Qp.

The Group continues {o make good progress on the delivery of its
strategy and dunng the year, we made a number of changes to our
portfolio, mcluding bolt-on acquisitions and a divestment Foliowing
these transactions, the Group's financial positon 15 robust, with net
debt at £50.5 million at the year end.

The Board 1s proposing to pay a final dwvidend of 37 5 pence per
share which, combined with the nterim dividend of 15 0 pence,
gives a total of 56.5 pence per share for the year, an increase of
9%. This 1s consistent with our palicy of making progressive
dividend payments based upon affordability and sustainability.
The dividend will be paid on 29 june 2018 to shareholders on the
reguster at the close of business on 25 May 2018 The ex-didend
date s 24 May 2018

following the sale of Microscan in October 2017, post-tax cash
proceeds of approximately £91 9 milion have been recewed

The Board has, therefore, approved a share buy-back programme
of £100 million to take piace dunng 2018 and Into 2019, The
Group has considerabte financial flexibility and wall continue to
target acquisitions in support of its strategy

Clear strategic direction

As g leading supplier of productivity-enhancing instrumentation
and controls, we provide a combination of highly-specialised
measuring instruments, software and semces for some of the most
technically-demanding industnal applications, We aim to enhance
our profitable growth by providing our customers with key msights
alongside our Instruments and, to this end, we are progressively
adding further software and analytical capabilities and test services
to our product offerings This will be focused on key industries and
will provide custorners with insights and solutions focused on therr
speafic business needs These competencies will be added to our
operating companies by organic investment, software and services
acquisitions and the deployment of data capture and connectimity
technology as part of our digital strategy We will be well placed to
offer the information and insights to enhance the productivity and
regulatory comphiance of our customers
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Qur Group has historically focused on the benefits gained from a
decentralised operating model, but to better serve our customers,
we have started to evolve our operating modef to increase the
co-ordinatich between campanies across key business functions
and to leverage our scale In support of this transformation, our
Project Uphft programme 15 now in progress to optirise efficiency
and effectiveness both within and also across our operating
companies [n turn, by increasing efficdency and reducing
complexity, we will free up the resources that will accelerate

the implementation of our strategic ambition

Our people

Integral to the success of Spectris are the skills, expenence and
technical know-how of our employees As we rmove forward with
the delivery of our strategy, it 15 ingvitable that the way n which

we work together will evolve | thank all our employees for both the
contribution dunng the year and also for their support in drving the
business forward

To ensure the delivery of our strategic chjectives, we have

made a number of key appointments to lead the maore ugnificant
Group-wide nitiatives In particular, appointments have been

made ta delver a new digital platiorm, key account management,
lean initiatives, human resources management and improved supply
chain management. These will all help ta develop best practice

and, in combination with a talent managernent programme,

will ensure we have both the right skills and capabilities in

place across the Group,

in remembrance
Dr John Hughes CBE

In June 2017, Or John
Hughes, the former Group
Chairman, sadly passed
away. John joined the Board
as a Non-executive Director
in June 2007 and became
Non-executive Chairman of Spectris in May 2008, Curing
his tenure, John played a pivotal role in the Company's
development. He made a sigruficant contribution 1o the
Group’s strategic progress, offerng great insight, intellect
and robust challenge The Board is deeply grateful for his
commitment to the role and to the legacy that his leadership
has left in terms of the Company’s clear strategrc direction.




Alongside this, our ethics and values are central to Spectns, guiding
our decision-making and ensunng that we always comply with the
highest standards. Our Code of Business Ethics 15 fundamental to
the effective and responsible management of the business and

for the delivery of shareholder value over the long term and | am
pleased to see such a strong commitment to this across the Group.

Board update

| am delighted to have joined your Board as Non-executive
Charman in May 2017 Since joiring the Board, | have vistted the
majonty of our operating companies and have seen an open and
transparent cutture with a strong set of values that are in ewidence
across the Group There Is a clear sense of ‘doing the nght thing’
and the discussion and debate at all levels of the Group 15
engaging, constructive and apprapnately challenging.

During the year, we made two appointments to the Board

In January 2017, Kjersth Wiklund joined as a Non-executive
Director and has brought significant knowledge of the international
telecommunications sector to the Board's deliberations In July,
Kanm Bitar was appeinted as a Non-executive Director Kanm

s chief executive of Genus plc, an agncultural bictechnology
pioneer, and has extensive experience of leading international,
technology-focused argarisations, i particular in the
pharmaceutical sector | alse express my thanks to Russell King,
Senior Independent Director, for assuming the Chair earlier in
the year following the iliness of my predecessor, Dr John Hughes

2017 has been a positive year,
both in terms of operational
performance and strategic
delivery. We will continue our
strategic evolution to offer
customers increasing insights

and solutions alongside our
world-class instruments.
A

Mark Williamson
Chairman

Summary

2017 has been a positive year, both in terms of operational
performance and strategic delivery It was particularly pleasing

to record strong arganic growth this year Our aim 15 to continue
to deliver crganic growth and further improve the Group's
profitability, while mamntaining a robust financial position We
will continue our strategic evolubion to offer customers increasing
insights and solutions alongside our world-class instruments. The
strategic mtatives that we have launched have posttioned us for
delvering value both to our customers and to our shareholders,
and this provides the Board with confidence that the Company is
well placed for the future

Mark Williamson
Chairman

1 Adjusted performance measures represent the statuiory results excluding
certan non-operational nems. Like-far-like {LFL') measures are stated at
constant exchange rates and include acquistions and dispasals an a
comparable basis For a definion of the tem and a reconaliaticn to
the closest IFRS equivalent, see Note 2 to the Financial Statements

2 See page 107 for definion
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Spectris at a Glance

SOLUTIONS DRIVEN

customer focused

Group sales

20%

Group sales

Spectris comprises four business segments which raflect the
applications and end-user ndustries we serve Our businesses
are united by the same purpose, values and corporate strategy.
They all work according to a strong common framework of
controls, management key performance indicators, financiat
discipline and nigorous operating principles, but each business
is focused on its own markets, customers and technologres.

In addition to providing strategic direction, governance,
finanaial and operational Input and oversight, the corporate
centre prowides support In areas such as M&A, HR, legal and
tax The centre also manages a procurernent function and
other supply chain tnitiatives which benefit our operating
companies and facilitate the sharing of best practice
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Delivering
integrated
customer
solutions

31%

Group sales

32%

Group sales

Sales by destinaticn (%)

Rest of the world

North America



Materials Analysis provides products and
services that enable customers to determine
structure, composition, quantity and quality of
particles and materials during their research and
product development processes, when assessing

Test and Measurement supplies test,
measurement and analysis equipment, software
and services for product design optimisation and
validation, manufacturing control, microseismic
monitaring and environmental noise monitoring

|

materials before production or during the
i manufacturing process.

Reported Adjusted Reported Reported Adjusted Reported
sales operating profit  operating profit sales operating profit  operating profit
£464.9m £83.1m £68.6m £487.3m £68.9m £55.6m
Adjusted Reported Adjusted Reported
Aftersales’ operating margin operating margin Aftersales’ operating margin operating margin
32% 12.9% 14.8% 28% 14.1% 11.4%
. ]
Operating companies Industries Operating companies Industries
» Malvern Panalytical » Pharmaceuticals & fine » Bruel & Kjaer » Automotive
> Particle Measuring Systems chemicals Sound & Vibration » Agrospace
» Concept Life Sciences? s Metals, minerals & mining » ESG Solutions » Electronics
» Academic research » HBM » Energy
» Semiconductors » Millbrook » Academic research

tn-fine Instrumentation provides process analytical
measurement, asset monitaring and online controls as
well as associated consumables and services for both
primary processing and the converting industries,

Industrial Controls provides products and solutions
that measure, monitor, control and connect during
the production process.

Reported Adjusted Reported Reported Adjusted Reported

sales operating profit  operating profit sales operating profit  operating profit

£310.9m £33.2m £29.5m £262.5m £38.3m £28.7m

Adjusted Reported Adjusted Reported

Aftersales’' operating margin operating margin Aftersales’ operating margin operating margin

43% 10.7% 9.5% 3% 14.6% 10.5%
L __________________________________________]

Operating companies Industries Operating companies Industries

s Bruel & Kjeer Vibro » Process industries » Microscan? » Manufactunng

» BTG » Pulp, paper & tissue » Omega Engineenng » Process industries

» NDC Technologies » Energy & uthtes » Red Lion Controls » Energy

» Servomex » Web & converting » Electronics

+ Healthcare

1 ARersales comprise service evenues and sales of spare parts and consumables
2 Acquwed January 2018
31 Dwested Cctober 2017
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Our Business Model

BECOMING

the partner of choice

What sets us apart

How we are structured

N

v

High barriers to entry from continuous
investment in R&D, intellectual property and
strong customer relationships.

Long-term customer relationships bring high
levels of repeat business,

Market-leading brands focus on niche markets
with strong growth potential.

Broad geographical and end-market exposure
himits risk from major changes to the
business erwvironment.

Around 40% of sales come from customer
operating expenditure budgets or aftermarket,
providing more resilience to revenues.

Asset-ight manufacturing model results
In low capital requirements and good
cash generation.

Acquisition strategy supplements organic
growth and exploits disruptive growth themes.

-—B Read more about our strategy on pages 8-9

Four business segments

Our business compnses 13 operating companies orgamsed
into four business segments which reflect the applications and
end-user markets we serve Each operating company has its
own products, brands and customers and s responsible for
developing new praducts and apphications We have started
1o evolve our operating moded to increase the co-ordination
between companies across key business functions and 10
feverage our scale

Common values

Despite the individual nature of the businesses, they are all
united by the same purpose, values and corporate strategy
This shapes our culture across the Group. Increasingly, in
certain end markets there is a more collaborative approach
across our operating companies to provide the solutions our
customers require,

Central oversight

The corporate centre provides strategic direction, governance
and oversight in addition to support in areas such as M&A, HR,
legal and tax It also faciltates the sharing of best practice

Project Upilift

Project Uplift s a Group-wide programme focused on reducing
complextty, freeing up resources and stmulating growth with
the aim of creating a cost-efficient and scalable platform

from which we can grow profitably, whilst preserving the
entrepreneunal spirit of our businesses.

—B Read more about our businesses on pages 20-27

6 Annual Report and Accounts 2017




How we generate value

Resources and relationships

N >N
4 i
1
Understanding our customers Continuous innovation
Our model is predominantly based on direct routes to market Strong intellectual property and continuous innovation
through a worldwide netwark of sales, marketing and support are underpinned by sustaned nvestment of around
offices, Thus enables us to gain a deep understanding of the 7% of sales each year in R&D In addition, we make both
challenges our customers are seeking 1o address Around 80% bott-on and platform acquisitions to access new or
of sales corme from customers who have purchased from us n complementary technology and markets, with a
the preceding two years focus on software and serviices
Enhancing productivity Customer relationships
Our businesses provide value-enhancing solutiens for cur We build long-term relationships with our customers and
customers These include shorterung development cycles, seek to develop a deep understanding of ther business
improving product quality and consistency, increasing yield and processes.
and streamlining processes Qur products typically mvolve tow .
capital expenditure but pravide significant and rapid payback. Employee expertise
aie QOur people play an essential role in delivering our strategy,
Resilient revenues particularly in the development of new products, software
As well as a high level of repeat business, we offer a full and services, and building relationships with customers
range of aftermarket services and support, including traning, Many of our employees are highly-qualified engineers
technical support, spare parts, calibration and mantenance and techmicians with deep preduct and application expertise
This accounts for around 30% of sales. . .
) Supplier partnerships
High returns Supply chain management is an important tool in enabling
Our long-term customer relationships along with high-guality us to defiver high quality at a competitive cost, whilst ensunng
innovative products and sclutions help sustain hugh barriers to compliance with international standards and requlations
entry which in turn lead to hmited pricing pressure, retention We believe that supplers should have the opporturity to
of market share and mgh gross margins. benefit from their relationship with us. In practice, this means
. working together to minimise and manage business risk and
Good cash conversion improve business practices, through education, training and
Our businesses are capital efficient, focusing on the areas the shanng of good practice.
where we have marketdeading expertise and competitive
advantage such as R&D, and out-sourcing component and
sub-assembly production This results In good cash conversion
|
Read more about our sustainable approach
Read more about our strategy on pages 8-9
E 9y on pag _E) to business on pages 40-45
Spectris pl¢ 7
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Strategy

Our solutions

STRATEGY

Our strategy

Strategic priorities

Description

Our strategy is evolving from being a
supplier of products towards the
provision of complete solutions - a
combination of hardware, software
and/or services to our customers.

operatio!\a\
excellence®

Preject Uplift supports the delivery
of our strategy.

Enabling
our strategy

Drive
efficiency &
effectiveness

Reduce
complexrty

.

Stimulate
growth

We monitor the potential risks which
could impact delvery of our strategy.

E See pages 33-38 for more information

Focus on innovative
customer solutions

As customer requirements evolve, 50 tco does the
offenng that Spactns provides to them Qur long-term
custormer retationships and technical know-how mean we
can enhance gur offering to them, whether that involves
the supply of improved equipment or a packaged solution
combining hardware, software and/or services,

Increase presence
in key strategic
markets

il

We budd leadership positions in attractive niche markets
where we believe there are opportunities for
technology-led productvity enhancement These markets
currently iInclude segments within the hfe sciences and
pharmaceuticals, energy, automative, basic materals and
technology sectors, but we also review and actively
pursue opportunities in new markets

Expand business
globally

®

In response to a customer base that is extending its
international operations and becoming increasingly
sophisticated, we seek to expand our business globatly,
with particular emphasis on markets such as China
and indha.

Accelerate
operational
excellence

We strive for continuous improvement In all aspects of
our business operations, both to enhance customer
experience and 1o generate efficiency and productity
gains In addition, we seek to improve performance and
profitability by driving synergist:c opportunities within and
between our operating compames, and across the Graup
as a whole

Deploy capital
for both platform
and bolt-on M&A

©

We acquire businesses which materially strengthen our
operating companies through broadening their customer
offering, reaching new custormer segrments or expanding
thew geographical presence These are typically bolt-on in
nature, i.e integrated into one of our operating
companies In addition, we mnvest in new platform or
stand-alone businesses in order to establish a presence in
strategic markets or complementary capabilives.

Project
Uplift

Project Uplift is our productwity enhancement programme
which 1s seeing increased collaboration and common
processes being adopted acrass the Group to simplify the
business, increase efficiency and preductivity and dnve
continuous Improvement and growth.

8 Annual Report and Accounts 2017



Progress in 2017

Priorities for 2018

i
s

Our KPIs

invested £105 million in R&D (7% of sales)

Created key account management structure for
automotive sector, offering cross-operating
cormpany solutions

Established partnership with Novatek International
to provide an integrated environmental
monitoring solution

Continue to invest around 7% of sales in new
products, technologies and solutions

Focus on innovative differentated customer solutions

> Continue to buitd relationships with customers to
offer more value-added services such as consultancy,
software, testing, mantenance and training

Acquisitons added further condition montornng
capability, reliabilty design and testing expertise
and automotive testing capacity

Developed test environment at Millorook for
connected and autonomous vehicles

‘Beyond Tomorrow’ project sound and wibration
in future product development

Focus on key strategic growth markets

» Pharma and hfe sciences

» Automotive

» Test services

» Cloud-based data analysis and services
» Industrial connectivity

Strong LFL sales growth in Asia

Internationahsation of Cmega sees good sales
growth outside the USA, particularly Asia

Acquisition of Omnicon expands services and
software offenng in key end markets in the USA

Expanding capacity at Millbrook in both the UK
and Finland

Continue to expand our international footprint to
be closer to customers

Continue to grow Omega internationally

> Ensure that we have the right talent to grow our
business globally.

Merger of Malvern Instruments and PANalytical
led to cross-selling opportunities

Restructuring activiies at Omega and NDC
to smplify and improve business processes

Project Uplift programme mitiatives underway

Appointed key personnel at Group level as leaders
in HR, lean, supply chain, software and digrtal

Implerent Project Uplift programme to ensure
benefits of scale are achieved and best practices are
shared across the Group

Drve greater efficency through operational
> excellence, for example, by applying lean intiatves
throughout the Group

Increase employee training in these techmiques and
tools 1o budd a continuous improvement culture

Acquisition of Ommicon extended range of
refiability improvement solutions at HBM Prenscia
software business

Acquisiian of CSA Leyland Technicat Centre
extended commercial vehicle testing capabiliies

Acquisition of Setpaint brings conditioning
monitoring hardware and software solutions

Fully integrate recent acgussitians

Focus on acquisition strategy to expana software
and services capability

> Continue to look for new opportunities in key
strategic growth markets through acquisition or
hcensing of technologies

New IT and procurement contracts signed,
leveraging Group scale to enhance terms

Initvated study on shared service centre project
for Phase 2

Continue to implement Phase 1 inttiatves in
procurement and IT

Undertake detailed design and implementation
study for shared senace centre project

Our KPls measure our
perfarmance against
our strategy

LFL sales growth

6%

Adjusted operating
rmargin

14.7%

Adjusted earnings
per share growth

14%

Cash conversion

75%

Economic profit

£163.2m

Energy efficency
per £m revenue

67.2MWh

Reportable accidents
per 1,000 employees

5.3

_El See pages 18-19 for
more information

Spectrs plc
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Chief Executive's Review

Executing our

STRATEGY

Results overview

Reported sales increased by 13% to £1,525 6 milion (2016
£1,345.8 milliony which reflected a 6% increase on an organic,
constant currency (like-for-ike, ‘LFL')" basis During the year, we
continued to make good strategic progress towards broadening
our portfoho, adding further to our software and services offerings.
As customers increasingly require an integrated solutron, we are
strategrcally pestioning Spectris to align with their needs and this
is transforming our business.

2017 operational performance

An improving demand backdrop in some of the key industres we
serve has been an important factor behind the 6% increase n LFL
sales which, combined with 2% net growth from acquisitions and
disposals and a beneficial impact of 5% from foreign currency

exchange movements, produced 2 13% increase in reported sales

LFL sales increased across all four segments and key regions.

In Matenials Analysis, a recovery in metals, minerals and mining plus
good growth in pharma and semiconductor saw LFL sales increase
7% whilst automotve was the key sectar driving the growth in
Test and Measurement Sales to academic research in both these
segments were lower year-on-year. For In-line Instrumentation,

the recovery of caprtal spending in energy and utilities and process
industries led 10 higher LFL sales whilst Industrial Controls benefited
from an improved performance at Omega as well as an ongoing
recovery in North American industrial spending

On aregional basis, LFL sales to North America increased by 4%,
with the second half performance stronger than the first half.

In Asia, LFL sales continued to graw strongly {up 9%), helped
particularly by China which grew 11%, aleng with Japan and India
In Europe, LFL sales rose 6%, with a strong second half contribution
from the UK while sales to Germany grew strongly in the first half.
Sales to the Rest of the world were up 1%.
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Adjusted operating profit increased 11% to £223.5 million

and reported operating profit was £182 4 million compared

to £38 3 million recorded in 2016 which included a non-cash
impairment charge of £115.3 million On a LFL basis, adjusted
operating profit increased 8%, primarily reflecting the effect of the
higher sales volumes and a turnaround in performance at Omega,
partly offset by adverse product mix and averhead cost increases,
reflecting increased headcount, wage inflation and the cost to
achieve our strategic growth initiatives. LFL overheads will continue
to increase in 2018 at a similar rate to that in 2017, reflecting
inflationary pressures together wath the annualisation of the costs
of our strategic initiatives which commenced in 2017

Adjusted aperating profit includes costs of £15.8 million in relation
to Project Uplift Excluding these costs, adjusted operating margins
were 15.7%, 0.5pp higher than in 2016 (LFL +1 1pp) Reported
operating profit included a number of one-off costs and income
auring the year resulting in a net overheads year-on-year benefit
of £3 5 million.

The Group's adjusted operating cash conversion was in ine with
our expectations with 75% {2016: 113%) of adjusted operating
profit being converted into cash This was lower than usual due

10 increased capital expenditure for the capacity expansion
programme at Millbrook, resulting in an overall Group capital
expenditure of £73.1 nilion After allowng for the proceeds from
the divestment of Microscan, net debt stood at £50.5 million at
the year end, around O 2 times the full-year adjusted EBITDA

1 Adusted performance measures (‘"APMs’) are useq consistently throughout
this Report and are referred to as “adjusted’, ‘constant exchange rate’ or
“ike-for-hke (LFL)* These are defined in fuli and reconciled to the reponed
statutary measures in Note 2 to the Financial Statements.



Our performance in 2017 was
good, with like-for-like increases
in both sales and profit as we
executed on our strategy, and
helped by a recovery in the USA
and certain key end markets.

John C'Higgins
Chief Executive

Positioning ourselves to deliver
our solutions strategy

Our strategy 15 evolving towards the provision of complete solutions
10 our customers, based on our deep application and technical
expertise, and we made good progress in broadening our software
and services offenngs to customers

Corporate development

We completed a number of bolt-on acquisitions in 2017 Setpoint
brings condittoning monitoning hardware and software solutions
for rotating and recrprocating machinery, allowing online conchitron
monitoring analysis and machinery diagnostics, and has been
integrated into Bruel & Kjar Vibro to enhance ts product offenng
Omricon provides a range of services and software to help its
customers analyse and improve praduct rehabuiity and safety,
particularly in aerospace, automotive, transportation and defence
The combination of Omnicon’s expertise In reliability design and
testing with HBM Prenscia’s software and services wll enable

us to provide customers with a broader range of reliabiity-
improvernent solutions

We further strengthened the Millbrook business in the UK with

the acquisition of the CSA Leyland Technical Centre, an automotive
test faclity in Lancashire whnch adds further capacity as well as a
complementary customer base and services In addition, we
invested £25 5 million at Mullbrook predomsnantly on new capacity,
such as the 4WD chmatic emissions chasss dynamometer cell
which we cemmussioned in the year, and additional indoor testing

capacity In Ainland, which 15 due to be commissioned in the third
quarter of 2018

We will also be adding capability through the jaint venture
agreerment we signed with Macquarie Capital in which they have
agreed to acquire a 50% interest in our environmental monitonng
business, EMS Briel & Kjaer. It 1s expected to close in the second
quarter of 2018, subject to regulatory approvals in China, the
European Union and South Korea, This partnership, with a
world-leading infrastructure adviser and investor, should benefit
the new Joint venture i its next stage of development as we jointly
invest organically and inorganically 1o collaborate on our remote
monrtoring and analytics offering for environmental morutoring.
The combination of our expertise in environmental monitonng
solutions and Macquarnie Capital's significant presence in
infrastructure markets will accelerate the growth of the business

In January 2018, we acgquired Concept Life Sciences, which
provides integrated drug discovery, deveicpment, analytcal
testing and environmental consultancy services, mainly in the
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, agrochemical and environmental
sectors Additronally, it carnies out development and analytical
services for the food, consurner and environmental industnas.
Concept Life Sciences 1s a high-guality services business which
further strengthens our portfolio, has strong synergies with the
actvities of Malvern Panalyucal and enhances our ability to provide
customers within the pharmaceutical, fife sciences and advanced
matenals sectors with a combined product and service proposition.

Spectris plc 1
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Chief Executive’s Review continued

Strategic initiatives

In order to drive our strategic imtiatives, we have made a number of
vestments including new centrat leadership appointments in lean,
supply chain, software and digital Ensuring we have best-inclass
processes and capabilities will be key to our continued success and
these new rcles will be pvotal in developing best practice and
drving performance enhancement across the Group This will be
supported by our new central HR function with s talent
management and organisational capability programme

Across the Group, delivery of our strategy has meant more
collaboration between our operating companies Automotive 15 a
key end-market focus and here we have strengthened our key
account management approach and prowided a more collaborative
offering This 15 based on our expertise in four key areas — durability,
propulsion, safety and refinement — in order to cross-sell our
products, software and services from Bruel & Kjzer Sound &
Vibration, HBM and Millbrook.

At Malvern Panatytical, which we merged at the start of the year,
there 15 now one management team and a combined sales and
marketing team Their collaboration has led to numercus
cross-selling opportunities and, together with a more value-based
approach ta providing customer solutions, the combined business
has made good progress dunng the year

We have also been reviewing cur digital-led customer applications,
wath the potential for more cross-group solutions by leveraging
existing operating company technolegies, competencies and
end-market expertise to more broadly serve our customers’ needs.
New product development and our combination of hardware

and software are focused on simplifying the integration of
customer-generated data with remote data analytics services

and in January 2018, we launched Spectns Advance to showcase
this digital offering to customers

We deaded to divest our machine viston technology business,
Micrescan, as we believe its next stage of development can be
better fulfilled under new ownership The Group completed the
sale to Omron Carporation in Octeber, resulting in post-tax cash
proceeds of £91 9 million Our balance sheet remains strong and
provides the opportunity for us to redeploy capital to add further
software and services capabulity

Project Uplift

Project Uplift continues to make progress, with Phase 1 fully
underway. The majonty of the Phase 1 savings will be derved from
leveraging the Group’s scale, for instance through secunng
improved terms for procurement of goods and services, both direct
and indwect We made progress on this on a number of fronts
during 2017; for exampie, we implemented new global freight
contracts and are well advanced in the process of transitioning to
new suppliers for a number of key product components

In 2017, the cost of £15.8 million and gross recurring benefit of

£2 8 mulion were both lower than onginally expected, and included
an additonal £1 million of spend on the Phase 2 shared service
centre project As we started to implement the initiatives during
2017, 1t became evident that the iT implementation 15 more
complex to deliver than we had anticipated and we have therefore
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revised the scope of the programme, resulting in a change in the
magnitude and phasing of benefits and costs from those orniginally
expected As a result, for Phase 1, we now expect annualised
recurning savings of £25 million and a total cost to achieve these
of £35 millon by the end of 2019, with more coming from
procurernent activities and less from IT This compares to previous
expectations of £35 million of savings and £45 mifiion of costs

In 2018, the net benefit for Phase 1 is now expected to be

£3 million. Work 1s again underway to affirm the potential benefits
and costs of the shared service centre project in Phase 2 and we will
provide further details on this later in 2018 Costs of £3-4 mitlion
related ta this work will be incurred during 2018,

As well as delivering the projected savings, the programme will
further support our customer-focused solutions strategy, freeing up
resources to facilitate the delivery of our strategy by dentifying and
capstalising On Cross-group opportunities and making it easier for
our customers to do business with us

Our people deliver the strategy

Ensuring we have the nght people in place to deliver the strategy
will continue to be a key focus As our business evolves and there 15
more co-ordination across operating companies, 1t is critical that we
retain the factors that have driven our success, preserving the
entrepreneurial and dynamic nature of the Group, as well as
continuing to promote our strong ethical culture and values. In
2017, there has been a notable step forward in our leadership
talent management process and this will continue to be a key focus
Winked to our future sirategy and operating mode!

Summary and outlook

Our performance in 2017 was good, with LFL increases in both
sales and profit as we executed on our strategy, and helped by
a recovery in the USA and certain key end markets In 2018,
we expect to see the benefit of organic sales growth, partly
offset by the investment in our strateg:c growth initiatives and
foreign currency exchange headwinds

We remain focused on increasing productivity and reducing
complexity through Project Uplift The magnitude and phasing

of the benefits and costs from this programme have varied from
those originally enwisaged, primarily due to a re-scoping of the

IT project. As a result, we now expect Phase 1 to deliver annual
savings of £25 million at a total cost of £35 million over the penod
to the end of 2019

Qur key priority remains the implementation of the strategy

to provide a broader offering to our customers Our balance
sheet remains strong and we will continue to make acquisthons
to support this strategy as we expand our software and
services capability



Positioning ourselves
to deliver our solutions strategy

Our strategy is evolving towards the provision of
complete solutions to our customers, based on our
deep application and technical expertise, and we
made good progress in broadening our software
and services offerings to customers.

xcellenc®

We completed a number of

acquisitions in 2017

Setpoint brings conditioning monitenng hardware and
software solutions for rotating and reciprocating machinery,
allowing online conditon monitoring analysis and machinery
diagnostics, and has been integrated into Brivel & Kjzer Vibro
to enhance 1ts praduct offering

Omnicon provides a range of services and software to help

its customers analyse angd improve product reliability and safety,
particularly in aerospace, automotive, transportation and defence
The combination of Omnicon’s expertise in rehiability design

and testing with HBM Prenscia’s software and services will
enable us to provide ¢customers with a broader range of
reliabhty-mprovernent solutions

We further strengthaned the Millbrook business in the UK

with the acquisition of the CSA Leyland Technical Centre,

an automotive test faciity in Lancashire which adds further
capacity as well as a complementary customer base and services

In January 2018, we acquired Concept Life Sciences,

a high-quality services business which provides integrated drug
discovery, development, analytical testing and environmental
consultancy services, mainly in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology,
agrochemical and environmental sectors. Additionally, it carmes
out development and analytical services for the food, consumer
and enviconmental ndustries
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Market Review

UNDERSTANDING

our markets

We serve a broad spectrum of blue-chig customers across key manufacturing industries around the world.
Whilst our principal aim is to enhance our customers’ productivity, we are seeing a number of specific
dernand drivers and growth themes across these industries, which are summarised below.

Demand drivers

Electric, hybrid and autonomous vehides

The prevalence of electric 'EV’) and hybrid vehicles has increased
dramatically in recent years as the cost of the EV powertrain has
become maore competitive, emissions regulations become more
stringent and consumer attitudes undergo rapid change Growth
15 set to continue, further helped by government incentives and
subsidies and by the automotive OEMs who are looking to extend
the range of models they offer. The current hybrid and electric car
stock now stands at over 2 million and the International Energy
Agency predicts that this will ncrease to 3-20 million by 2020

R&D by the automotive OEMs has therefore been critical and spend
has increased, focused on continuing technology iImpravements to
further enhance performance and narrow the cost competitiveness
gap with petrol and diesel vehicles Similarly with autonomous cars,
although full driverless technology is sull at an advanced testing
stage, 1t, too, 15 attracting notable investment

Our expertise in propulsion, durability, refinement and safety
within the automotive space means we can deploy our hardware,
software and services to provide solutions to the automotive QEMs
and benefit from this trend — for example, our automotive testing
services support new product development, with significantly lower
noise emissions, our noise, vibration and harshness solutions can
représent a key competitive advantage to vehicle manufacturers
and our torque measurement capability can be deployed in
determining EV mechanical efficiency and power distribution We
are also involved in the development and testing of autonomous
and connected vehicles

Regulation and compliance

Regulation is increaswng 1n many markets, particularly the
pharmaceutical, automotive and energy sectors, with an increasing
emphasis on compliance and particular attention given to data
integnty. In the autornotive industry, stncter emissions testing and
safety requirements are resulting in greater testing and validation
during product development, both in the laboratory and n
real-world driving situations This leads to new equipment
purchases as manufacturers upgrade their capabilities and

also greater use of independent testing, vahdation and

assurance services

Meeting iIncreasing environmental regulations 1s also required

N a number of process industries, such as petrochemucals, where
customers need to ensure the safe running of their processes and
reduce emissions. We already provide a number of products which
help customers 10 meet regulations and are growing our services
business tc enable customers to demonstrate compliance
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Biopharmaceuticals

Biopharmaceuticals are the fastest-growing part of the pharma
industry as companies invest in new therapies that allow previously
untreatable conditions to be addressed, offering higher efficacy and
fewer side effects This growth 1s expected to continue for the
foreseeable future Many large pharmaceutical companies are
shifting therr presence to biopharma, whilst endeavouring to
maintain competitiveness through affordability, quality and delivery
performance. In generics, India and China have seen substantial
growth as household disposable income increases and there is now
a dnive to improve quality and standards in these regions

Generally, the industry s under increasing pressure to ensure
therapies are delivered rapidly yet safely Regulation is increasing,
with manufacturers required to demonstrate compliance with, for
example, the US Focd and Drug Adminsstration, and show that
their production processes andg data collection systems meet Good
Manufactunng Practice standards

VVe see increasing opportunities for our analysis systems far product
purity and stabihity as well as quality control systems to enable
manyfacturers to meet regulatory requirements and mitigate risks
early on i development, accelerating time to market and
raiNimIsing costs.

Energy

Global commodity markets have seen a wide swing in prices over
the past five years which has put pressure on producers to reduce
capital investment, focus on productivity and dedicate spend to
more cost-effective projects. Energy prices have now stabilised,
which has renewed confidence in the market and led to selected
upgrades and new-build projects going ahead, after being
postponed ar cancelled white prices fluctuated

Alongside this, non-fossil fuel energy sources such as wind are
seeing major investment Renewable energy accounted for
two-thirds of new power added to the world's gnids in 2016,

with solar power the fastest-growing source of new energy
Technological advances in materials, cheaper storage and smarter
gnds are driving this efficency. An increasing focus on air quality 1s
also resulting In greater investment in electric and hybnd vehicle
development, as well as reducing industrial emissions

We are seeing increasing demand for a number of our solutions in
this area microsessmic momtoning. gas analysis products for |
refimng and production of chemicals, petrochemicalks, natural gas
and fuels: systerns for analysis of new matenals, wind turbine and
hydropower condition menitoring systems, battery testing systems
and industrial connectivity solutions

gd

See pages 20-27 for more detail on the operating
campanies’ customer offerings



Demand drivers in our end markets

Other

Including machine building
and distribution

Aerospace & defence
v Aerospace development
projects

Increased demand for
engineering software

» High value asset moenitoring,
Iife/durability prediction

Academic research

v Availlabitty of publicly-funded
research budgets

Balance of R&D undertaken
in-house versus outsourced
to universities/research
centres

~

Pulp, paper & tissue
+ Growth in tissue

Sales by
end-user
industry (%)

consumption from
emerging markets I

> Onhne shopping drving
packaging demand

» Graphic paper market in
structural decline

Energy & utilities

v improving global ol and gas
markets, though industry
greenfield capex growth
still modest

» Growth in wind eneigy
capacity

» Growth n use of industral
connectivity solutions

Pharmaceuticals &

Metals, minerals &

mining

» Improving global mining
market as prices recover

» Focus on productivity
Improvements

» Growth In aftermarket
sales and equipment
replacement cycle

fine chemicals

» Increased investment in
biopharmaceuticals and
bigsimilar product
development

v Rising demand for access
to healthcare alongside

a drive {o improve quality/
standards in emerging
markets

Increasing regulatory scrutiny
and reguirements for sterility
assurance

Automotive

» Hybnd, electric and
autonomous vehicle
developments

» Increased demand for
engineenng software and
noise, vibration and
harshness simulation

» High-value asset
moritoring; ife/durability
predicticn

— Semicon, telecoms &
electronics

» Dernand for consumer
electronics, NoT and
autonomous vehicles driving
semiconductor growth

» Growth In telecoms driven by
new product developmenit

v Growth in use of industrial
connectivity sclutions
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Strategy in Action

SOLUTIONS

selling in action

Providing our customers with solutions which combine our traditional hardware products with software
and/or services is becoming increasingly more important in our strategy. Our aim is to further enhance our
custamer engagement by focusing on certain vertical markets where we have deep knowledge and
expertise and can bring insight into their activities as they look to improve productivity and enhance returns.

Demand for a soluticns-based approach 1 being dnven by
changing market forces and we see a number of key trends
behind this.

Amongst our customers there are fewer scientists and engineers
as the existing employee population maves closer to retirement
and fewer new scientists and engineers are entenng the workforce
This 15 leading to a de-skilling of the workforce and also a
requirement for products and outputs to be simpler, despite the
fact that technology 15 becoming more complex As a resuit, our
customners are having to refocus ther avalable resource and
concentrate on core actvities and, consequently, they are more
willing to outsaurce some of their actwties to trusted partners

In an attempt also to preserve financial caprtal, companies are less
willing to dedicate capital expenditure to acquiring the nstruments
themselves. They are more interested 1n acquwing the knowledge,
data and insight provided by the hardware rather than the product
itself. Therefore, buying this as a service and funding 1t as an
operating cost rather than on their balance sheet 1s more attractive

It 1s this data that 1s increasingly being recogrised as having value
by our customers The ability to measure and collect data is at the
heart of any actmity to monitor and improve industrial processes
and productivity This data is translated into a format that enables
more effective decision-making and automation optimisation

There 15 an ncreasing rehance on software which ¢an autornate
the customer's actwities, such as replacing some of the physical
testing that is undertaken, and this software capability is allowing
more sophisticated analysis of the data being collected This is
transforming how customers think about their assets, therr facilities
and their operations

Alongside this, there has been huge growth in technology in
terms of connectivity availability and speed have nsen and the
cost has come down dramaucally. This is having an impact an

the industnal world, which opens up notable opportunities for the
sensing, connectivity and software and service capability that our
businesses have

We are looking to complement and suppiement our instruments
with software and services such as engineenng software, test
service capability, process analytics software and diagnostic services
We are posiioning ourselves as a group 1o really benefit from these
trends and believe this puts us In an advantageous position to
deliver added value to our customers

Solutions
selling

Software

{Build)
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Contamination
control solutions

In September, Particle Measuring Systems
formed a strategic partnership with
Novatek International to provide a fully
integrated hardware and software solution
for cleanroom monitoning in the life
sciences industry

Particle Measuring Systems’ Facility Pro
environmental monitornng system operates
by communicating with cleanroom sensors,
including particle and microbial monitors,
which are placed where product
contamination car occur dunng the
manufactunng process. The Novatek
software adds the next step to this system,
providing customners with the secure data
management they need to demonstrate
sterility assurance

This integrated solution uses a risk-based
environmental moritornng prograrmme 1o
help pharmaceutical manufacturers to
visuahse possible sources of contamination
in their critical production processes and
correct patential problems befare they
oceur, thereby maintaining consistent
product quality and meeting increasingly
strengent regulatory requirements

Data management Transmission

solutions

The effective use of modern data
rmanagement systems is QIving progressive
tissue producers a competitive edge,
bringing improved quakty, tigher
productivity and tower raw material

costs and wastage.

A tissue paper producer in Span, a
customer faor BTG's Duroblade coating
blades, 1s one of the first tissue mills In
the world 10 be equipped with 8BTG’s new
Yankee Performance Scorecard This data
aggregation and visuahisation tool gives
operatars real-time decision making
support to improve the performance

and rehability of this catical part of the
tissue machine

The system coltects a discrete process
data set and processes it according to
calculations based on domain expertise
and industry best practice to display
graphical performance information which
helps operators to make the correct
process decrsions  The customer 15 seeing
benefits in terms of improved productivity
and better quality Savings on plant
downtime and plant cost efficiency are
already estimated at €95,000 per year

testing solutions

Volkswagen Group uses Briel & Kieer's
Discom noise, vibration and harshness
analysis scftware to test gears at the end
of their production lines and also to test
the completed transmissions. its largest
gear and transmission production facility
at Kassel, Germany, produces around
17,500 transmissions per day

Testing is prmarly focused on identifying
durability 1ssues and ensunng customer
acceptance for nde qualty and comfort
Durability issues in gears can lead to a
failure in an assembled transmission The
end-of-line transmssion test simulates
vehidle conditions so that any potential
prablems are identified early or even
predicted ang avorded entirely, mirimising
costs and improving quality

The Discom database and associated tools
in the system help develop predictions on
tool wear The systern uses a unigue
USB-based data acquisition front end,
developed especially for Volkswagen,

and a significant number of featuras
which are now part of the standard
Discom system onginated from
discussions with Volkswagen
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Key Performance Indicators

Focusing on

PROFITABLE GROWTH

We monitor progress against the delivery of our
strategic goals using five financial and two
non-financial key performance indicators ('KPis’)
Each KPl measures certain elements of the strategy,
as indicated by the relevant strategy icons

(see page 8). An element of the Executive Directors’
remuneration is linked to two KPis: adjusted
earnings per share growth and economic profit.

Qur strategy focuses on profitable growth that is sustainable over
the medium to kong term and therefore we consider how we have
performed over a number of years, showng the KPis for the last
five years

A number of the KPIs are adjusted operating metrics as we beleve
these are the primary indicator of the performance of the business
as they exclude foreign exchange movements and the impact

of acquisitions and disposals. See Note 2 to the Financial
Statements, page 103, for a reconciliation between adjusted

and reported iterns

Even in years where like-for-like sales growth has been low, the
Group has maintained an operating margin in the mid-teens and
delivered good cash conversion of operating profit The Group has
also generated significant economic profit throughout the period.

Adjusted operating margin

Financial measures

B®OO®O

Adjusted operating margin is

& measure of improwing
profitability in our bustness and
1s defined as adjusted operating
profit as a percentage of
reported sales. Adjusted
operating profit excludes
certain items.

Performance

Adjusted aperating margin
was 14 7%, representing
a decrease of 0 2pp over
the prior year, pnmarily
reflecting the costs of the
Project Uplift programme

Adjusted operating
margin (%)

Objective

Our aim 15 to achieve a
mid-teens adjusted
operating margin on average
throughout the cycle

See pages 28-32 for
more information

Like-for-like sales growth

Adjusted earnings per share growth

LFL sales growth (%)

®H®@

LFL sales growth is a measure
of how our R&D and other
investrents help to grow
our business crganically,

1 e. exduding the effects of
currency translation and
acquisitions or divestments.

Performance

Sales were £1,525 6 miliion

In 2017, a 6% ncrease on a

LFL basis compared with 2016.
LFL sales increased across all four L
segments and all key regions Objective

Qur aim is to achieve
year-on-year growth
" LFL sales

+]
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See pages 28-32 for
more information

®DO@®

Adjusted earnings per share
('EPS’} 1s the ratic of adjusted
earrungs for the year to the
weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding
during the year, excluding
certain items.

Performance

Adjusted EPS was 145 1p, a 14%
Increase year-on-year, reflecting
a 12% increase in adjusted profit
before tax, a lower effectve tax
rate and an increase in the
weighted average number

of shares

Link to remuneration

£PS performance i1s one cf the
criteria for the Performance Share
Pian award. See page 76 for
more information.

Growth in adjusted
EPS (%)

Objective

Qur aim 1s to achieve
year-on-year growth in
adjusted EPS

See pages 28-32 for
moare information



Strategic priorities:

Innovative solutions
Operational excellence

@ Market presence
Capital deployrment

Expanding globally

Non-financial measures

Cash conversion

Energy efficiency

We focus on cash generation and
use cash conversion as a KPi as
we believe cash represents an
effective measure of the quabty
of our earnings Cash conversion
15 defined as adjusted operating
cash flow as a percentage of
adjusted operating profit.

Performance

Cash conversion was 75%, a
decrease of 38pp over the prior
year This was primarily due to
the planned increase in captal
expenditure following the first
full year of the inclusion of the
Millbrook business and higher
working caprtal in line with the
improved trading performance.

Cash conversion (%)

Objective

Our aim is to debver high
cash conversion of operating
profit in each financal year.

See pages 28-32 for
more information

+]

@ @ ©

Energy efficiency makes a
sigmificant contribution to
environmental sustainability
and helps us to reduce our
operating costs.

Performance

Energy efficiency, measured in
MWh per £m revenue, was 67 2
n 2017 This represents an
improvernent of 2% compared
with the prior year,

MWh per £m revenue

Objective

We monitor aur use of key
sources of energy (electricity,
gas, oll and steam) with the
aim of reducing our carbon
ermissions and smproving
energy effiaency.

See pages 40-45 for
more information

+]

Economic profit

Accident incidence rate

Economic profit 1s the annual
result derived from deducting a
capital charge (applied to average
capital employed) from adjusted
operating profit, aggregated over
a three-year period

Performance

Three-year aggregated economic
profit was £163 2 mithion,
representing an increase

on the pnor year

Link to remuneration
Economic profit i1s ane of the
criteria for the Performance Share
Plan award See page 76 for
more information

Three-year aggregate
economic profit (£m)

Objective

Our aim 1s to maintain a
positive result over the
three-year penod

See page 76 for
more information

+)

We are committed to ensuring
the health, safety and well-being
of our people and monitor how
we are performing by measuring
work-related acadents or il
health resulting in lost tme 1
excess of one day (years prior to
2017, three days)

Performance

There were 5 3 reportable
accidents per 1,000 employees
This has increased year-on-year
due to the Group now reporting
all accidents resulting in one day
or more absent from work rather
than three days

Reportable accidents
per 1,000 employees

Objective

Our am 15 1o reduce
acadents and injuries at our
sites to as low a level as
reasonabiy practical

+]

See pages 4045 for
more infermation
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Operating Review

Materials

ANALYSIS

Segment performance
Adjusted operating profit

£83.1m

(2016: £76 2m}

Reported sales

£464.9m

(2016: £418 9m)

Reported operating profit

£68.6m

{2016 £66.2m)

Sales by destination (%)

Sales by end-user market (%)

Reported sales increased 11%, reflecting a 7% increase in LFL sales,
a0.2% contribution from acquisitions and a 4% positive impact
from foreign currency exchange movements. Sales growth for the
year was driven primanly by Asia, particularly in China, South Korea
and India In North America, LFL sales increased, with a notable
swing from a first half decline to a very strong second half. On a LFL
basss, before Project Uphft costs, adjusted operating profit increased
12% and adjusted operating margins increased by 0 9pp, reflecting
the higher LFL sales, shghtly reduced gross margin from adverse
product mix, and lower net overhead costs, with the nse in
merger-related costs being partly mitigated by good cost control
and the benefit of an insurance settlement. Reported operating
profit increased 4% to £68 6 million
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Malvern Panalytical continued to bnng the two teams together as
a single operating company The business has now been organised
around key market sectors ~ Advanced Materials, Pharma and
Food, Raw and Bulk Matenals - with a focus on value-based seling
by the newly cross-trained sales and marketing teams. Numerous
opportunities to promete the Malvern product line to customers

of the former PANalytical brand and vice versa have translated

into incremental orders and revenue, with an increasing kist of
opportunities being actively pursued For example, a global cement
company which was an existing PANalytical custormer bought &
Malvern Mastersizer for the first time alongside a PANalytical
XROD/XRF system

New praducts have been launched dunng the year, for example,
the Epsiton 1 Meso, a version of the Epsilon 1 XRF spectrometer
which combines hardware and software to enable small spot
elemental analysis In February, the MicroCal PEAQ-DSC differential
scanming calorimeter was launched. This instrument s used to
assess the developabifity and shelf-life of biologicat products and for
comparing biopharmaceuticals and their biosimilar counterparts
Thus product 1s the only such DSC systern wath software compliance
for the regulated environment, positioning Malvern Panalytical well
with biopharmaceutical customers. Additionally, In this area,
Malvern Panalytical is leading an industriai and academic
consortium which was awarded an Innovate UK grant This walt
fund a project seeking to address the speafic analytical challenges
associated with biopharmaceutical stability, in order ta ensure the
delvery of safe and cost-effectve drugs in the future. Malvern
Panalytical also announced a partnership with TetraScience to
develop applications for smart labaratanes, which will increase
efficiency in the pharma industry, enabhng researchers to better
manage their equipment and make swift, data-driven decisions

Sales to the pharmaceuticals and fine chemicals industries rose on

a LFL basis with Asia seeing particularly strong growth, notably in
China and Japan. As the midd'e class in this region expands, the
number of people who are able to pay for heaithcare increases

and they are demanding better government provision, in China in
particular, state funding on healthcare 1s Increasing notably North
Ameiica saw an increase in LFL sales and Europe was up shightly
year-on-year. At Particle Measuring Systems ('PMS’), there has been
a continued drive to provide our high-level consulting senices to
existing hardware customers following the acquisition of CAS Clean
Aur Service AG in 2016, For example, an American pharmaceutical
corporation, which already had our air particie sensors installed at
their largest US site, requested consultancy support for particle and
microbiological contamination in therr filling hnes, which then led to
a request for further equipment at their site, Demand for these
services 1s motivated by regulatory comphance, which is becorning
more stringent This means demand continues to be strong,
particularly in the area of aseptic pharma. PMS 1s focused on
providing comptete sterility assurance solutions to the life sciences
industry and the customer proposition was further enhanced by a
globai partnership with Novatek International, a leader in regulatory
compliant data management software This prowides a fully
ntegrated software and hardware soluton for enwvironmental
monitering in controlled manufactunng processes, helping
companies ensure cleanfiness in their manufactunng environment



whilst autematically collecting much of the information necessary
for batch release and regulatory compliance

The metals, minerals and mining sector reversed its 2016 sales
dechne, with a strong performance in all major regions, particularly
in the second half of the year Minerals and mining saw a strong
recovery, whilst LFL sales increased more modestly in the metals
space, although in North Amenca and Europe, LFL sales were down
slightly Thete s a cautiously improving investment climate, and as a
result, increased market activity as well as demand from a tocus on
safety and productivity

Sales {LFL) to academic research were notably weak in 2017,
although they improved in the second half after a slow start to the
year The decline was prevalent across all regions wath only India
and the UK seaing any growth, with the former recovering from a
weak 2016 as funding levels improved In the USA, there has been
httle change under the new administration, with 2017 spending at
most agencies at 2016 levels, which has generally prevented them
frem starting major new programmes Similarly, pohticat uncertainty
n parts of Europe has meant that expenditure has remained
subdued or delayed, with LFL sales into Germany notably weak
untl the latter part of the year as funds were released late In Asia,
lapanese academic budgets have also been under pressure and
although LFL sales were down in China for the year, the
government’s new 'Double First Class’ initiative to develop
world-class universibes 1s already Impacting positively

Sales (LFL) to the semiconductor, electronics and telecoms industry
continued to grow strongly during 2017, particularly in Asia (China
and South Karea, notably) and in North America This has been
driven by a significant increase in semiconductor capitat spending
as the demand for consumer electronics and lloT applications nses.
Our customers are also driven by yield enhancement, which can be
improved by ensunng ulwra-clean manufacturing ervironments and
therefore the ability 1o measure ever smaller particles is a key
demand driver for our products, alongside the need to meet
regulatory requirements PMS has had success with its
market-leading products that measure 20 nanometre particles

in ultra-pure water and ultra-pure chernicals

Segment outlook

We expect continued growth in R&D experditure by pharma

and bictechnology companies with increasing investment in
biopharmaceuticals and innovative drugs in western markets

tn Asian markets, we expect continued growth in the development
of generics as incomes increase and demand for access to
healthcare products rises

Within pharmaceuticals, we expect a continued increase in

the reguiatcry scrutiny of manufactunng processes, driving
demand for gur materal charactensation and cleanroom products
as well as for related services, as customers seek complete solutions
for regulatory comphance such as sterility assurance and good
manufacturing practices

We have seen an improving backdrop in the mining sector which
has led to improved demand for equipment and services However,
the growth in capital investment budgets for larger-scale greenfield
mvestments may be more modest

We expect growth in the academic research market to be muted,
aithough demand in China should be better as government
rtiatives to drive quality acrass their unversity system are
beosting funding

Within the semiconductor and telecoms industry, we expect 1o
see continued growth in semicanductor investment, driven by the
growing demand fer consumer electronecs, lloT apphications and
autonomous vehicles, albeit at more muted rates thanm 2017

.

The world's population continues 1o grow,

with the result that food production needs to
increase to keep up with demand. In agriculture,
as much as 60% of crop yields depends on the
fertility of the soil Qbtaining fast, affordable
and reliable access to information about soil
fertility is therefore key to helping farmers
increase therr yields

Dutch company SoilCares provides the world's farming
community with data-based precsion farming tools in
arder 10 increase crop yields, Based on an Epsilon 1 XRF
spectrometer from Malvern Panalytical, SciiCares'
subscrption-based solution, called Lab-in-a-Bax, enables
ndisdual farmers or farming organisations to have drirect
access 1o soil testing services on site, something which has
previousty only been possible in a laboratory

The Lab-in-a-Box measures soil parameters such as pH,
nutnents and organic matter usng SolCares’ uique global sail
database In this way, Malvern Panalytical enables a complete
soil fertility report to be delvered back to the farmer’s
computer in less than two hours, together with customised
recommendations for improving the sail

Malvern Panalytical and SoilCares are working together to
develop the self-learming database in which the results are
stored so that the system can provide increasing knowledge
to farmers anywhere in the world
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MEASUREMENT

Segment performance
Reported sales

£f487.3m

(2016. £404 Sm)

Adjusted operating profit

£68.9m

(2016. £61 8m)

Reported operating profit

£55.6m

{2016, £26.7m)

Sales by destination (%)

Sales by end-user market (%)

Reported sales increased 20%, including a 9% contribution
from acquisitions, predorminantly related to Milbrook, and a

5% positive impact from foreign currency exchange movements
LFL sales increased by 6%. By region, North America, Europe and
Asia delivered uimilar levels of LFL sales growth, with a dechne in
the Rest of the word. Adyusted operating profit before Project
Uphft costs increased 8% on a LFL basis and LFL operating
margins before Project Uplift costs increased by 0.4pp, primarly
reflecting the higher sales volumes and gross margin impravement
due to cost-of-sales efficiencies Reported operating profit
increased to £55 6 million from the £26 7 mifhon recorded 1n
2016 which included a non-cash impairmentt charge of

£208 million relating to a write-down of goodwill and other
intangbles associated with ESG
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In October, the acquisition of The Omnican Group, Inc. {Omnicen’)
was completed for a final consideration of £23.8 millon Ominicon
provides a range of services to help its customers analyse and
improve product reliability and safety. Key industries served include
aerospace, automotive, transportation and defence and its services
strangly complement the existing capability within the reliabiity and
durability software and services portfolia in this segment, enabling
us 10 offer a broader range of rehabilty-improvernent solutions

Within the automotive sector, LFL sales grew strongly durning the
year with the UK, Germany, North America and Chwna being the
main contributors In China, we benefited fram strong growth in
torque sales, driven by nvestment in electrical drivetrains. At
Millbrook, we expanded our Yesting capacity and capability with the
acqunsition of a cornmercial vehicle test facility in Lancashire in the
UK and, organically, through further capital mvestment in the UK
and for addiional indoor testing capacity in Finland For example,
we expanded our powertrain testing capabilities with the opening
of a new engine test cell to test prermum and performance engines,
commissioned a state-of-the-art climatic emissions chassis
dynamometer to help develop lower ermission vehicles and
completed the first phase of investment in battery test capabilities
10 support electric vehicle development We are also supporting the
development of autonomous vehicles and were selected by the UK
government to develop an innovative controlted urban enwironment
for connected and autonomous vehicle testing and have been
warking with several companies developing driverless cars.

At Bnjel & Kjzer Sound & Vibration ('BKSV?), our naise, vibration
and harshness (NVH') offering into the automotive space was
enhanced by the release of the latest version of the Senoscout,

an ultra-portable, mult-channel NVH system used, for example,

to record vehicle intake and exhaust noise levels for benchmarking
competitor vehicles, and VSound, a vehicle sound-generating
system that enables wrtual NVH prototype evaluation in the context
of a real vehicle, without the need for a PC in the vehicle,

In machine manufactuning, a significant portion of which
represents sales into the autormotive supply chan, LFL sales were
flat year-on-year. LFL sales into the two key regions, Europe and
Asia, rose but dechined in North Amenca Germany saw modest
growth with a continued increase in exports China, in particular,
saw strong growth in demand, driven by the economic backdrop
as well as the general trend from volume to quality

In the aerospace and defence sector, LFL sales reversed the dechne
seen in 2016, though this is typically a project business and sales
can be lumpy. Overall, we have seen more aercspace oppartunities,
especially driven by stronger demand and funging of arrcraft,
helicopter and spacecraft makers in the USA and China, and we
were able to maintain our leading position in structural testing,
including a number of new customer wins There was very strong
growth in both Europe and North Amenca, and although lower in
Asia overall, China saw good growth A reorganised sales team and
key account programme has delivered new sales opportunities with
a number of notable contracts signed. For example, an agreement
was signed with BAE Systerns to deliver a hull vibration monitoring
system for the UK Royal Navy and contracts were signed with two
major North American aerospace manufacturers.

Sales {LFL) to our consumer electronics and telecoms customers
increased in 2017, primarily reflecting the launch of new products



by our customers We agan saw strong growih i China where

we are working with a number of mobile phone manufacturers
During the year, a new high-frequency head and torso simulator
was launched — a mannequin with built-in ear and mouth
simulators that prowde a realistic reproduction of the acoustic
properties of an average adult human head and torso. It is designed
for in-situ electro-acoustics tests on smartphones, headsets and
microphones We are working closely with Sony on headphone
development using this product and have aiso secured orders with
leading acoustics and scaal media companies

Sales (LFL) of our environmental noise monitaring services increased
dunng the year, particularly in Asia, where sales are approaching
similar levels to Eurcpe. Our strategy to widen our market reach
for noise monitoring equipment and services has continued to
see an increase of orders for urban monitoring In December,

an agreement was signed with Macquarie Capital ta form a joint
venture with our environmental monitonng busingss (now named
EMS Bruel & Kjaer) Macquarie Capital will acquire 50% of the
business for a total cash consideration of AUD76 6 million.

It 1s expected to close in the second guarter of 2018, subject

to regulatory approvals in China, the European Union and

South Korea. Both parties are commutted to an accelerated
investrnent programme to help create additonal solutions and
services to enable asset owners to monitor and manage therr
resources more effectvely. The venture will benefit from
Macquarie Capital’s unnivalled expertise as a world-leading
infrastructure adviser and nvestor.

As with the Materials Analysis segment, LFL sales to academic
research institutes declined, with weakness in demand seen in
all regions.

Improved conditions i the ol and gas and mining markets in

2017 resuited 1n an increase in LFL sales in these end markets,
particularly in North America Demand for microseismic monitoring
solutions increased markedly in North Amenca and we saw a
higher levet of activity for our downhole hydraulic fracture mapping
and monitonng actvities as both the US nig count and production
rose througheout the year We continue to target opportunities in
other markets and are making progress 1n this regard in Latin
America and the Middle East As markets recover, ESG is looking
to work more closely with its customers for productivity-enhancing
solutions — for example, 1t has developed a microseismic analysis
approach that helps operators better diagnose and improve
fracturing effectiveness

Segment outlook

We expect the autornotive and aerospace sectors to benefit from
further growth in demand for engineering software applications
The growth in hybrid and electne vehicles 18 expected to drive
demand for our market-leading terque and eDrive solutions and
test services We are also seeing growth in sound ang wibration
applications in automatve

In aerospace, as well as improved reliability and avallability of
engines, driven by safety and mantenance cost requirements,
quieter engines and airframes (exterior noise) are also an area
of focus However, overall demand will be driven by new
development programmes.

The underlying trends in the consumer electroncs market
remain healthy in our view, with strong consurmer demand for
smartphones, audio quality and innovative features, particulaly
in China and India

The improving market conditions in the oif and gas industry are
expected to create increased demand for our microseismic solutions
with expectations for both production and capex in the industry to
be fugher m 2018

Millbrook 15 supporting the development
of the vehicles of the future in the area of
advanced driver-assistance systerns and
connected and autonomous vehicles

One project, backed by the UK government, involves
collaboration with the Atomic Energy Authonity’s centre for
Remote Applications for Challenging Environments to develop
a unique, controlled test bed representative of an urban
envirgnment for the development of connected and
autonomous vehicle ('CAV') technologies Millbrook’s

70 kilometres of test tracks offer a diverse topography to
rephcate the complexity of urban enwironments The test bed
will enable both automotive OEMs and developers of software,
sensors, roadside units and cyber security systems to access a
comprehensive suite of virtual and physical tools for test and
validation The aim 15 to speed up development of CAV
technologies by bridging the gap between track testing and
deployment on public roads, enabhng advanced connectivity
testing, while being safe and secure for all users.

Anather iniative 15 the creation of a virtual model of
Miltbrook's proving graund which will enable vehicle
manufacturers to significantly improve the development of
CAV systems using digital expenments which precisely mirror
the reai-world tests conducted on the physical site Test drivers
can interact with this wriual rephca of Millbrook in full-scale
drnving simulators or at desktop workstations with steenng and
pedal controls This allows drivers 1o test cars with autonomous
systerns ar use the virtual world to erther subjectively assess the
behawiour of autonomous vehicles or to provoke emergency
scenanos and evaluate the response
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In-line

INSTRUMENTATION

Segment performance

Reported sales

£310.9m

(2016 £275.6m)

Adjusted operating profit

£33.2m

(20156° £41 2m)

Reported operating profit

£29.5m

(2016: £37 6m)

Sales by destination (%)

Sales by end-user market (%)

Reported sales increased 13%, reflecting a LFL sales increase

of 8%, a 5% positive impact from foreign currency exchange
movements and a 2% contribution from acquisitions. On a regional
basis, LFL sales were up in all regions, with a geed performance

in Europe and Asia, particularly in the first half of the year This
reflected good growth in industrial production and a recovery

in capital expenditure across many process industries globaily.
Excluding Project Uphft costs, LFL adjusted operating profit
declined 12% and LFL adjusted operating margins were 2.6pp
lower year-on-year. This resulted from adverse mix and an in¢rease
n overheads driven by higher employee costs, plus costs of

£4 3 million relating to restructuring and costs following the closure
of a business centre in Europe. This also led to reported operating
profit decreasing, from. £37.6 millon to £29 5 million.
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In the pulp and paper markets, LFL sales increased modestly
compared with 2016, with growth in pulping and tissue offsetting
the continued structural decline in the coating segment. We
continue to dwersify towards the tissue, pulp and packaging
markets, including digital solutrons to meet ‘'mill-of-the-future’
needs Solutions tailored to drve gains in business performance
at our customer sites continue to be the theme of many of the
projects that the puip and paper industry 15 looking for, including
a more widespread use of automation and real-time monitering
of site-wide operating conditions. To address this, we have formed
a new Process Sohations business unit For exampte, a global pulp
and paper producer deplayed BTG's instruments and Capstone
MACS process control software in combination to automate
their bleaching unit operation. Several pulp and paper producers
implemented BTG's dataPARC decision support and analysis
software i order to access and wisualise real-time data from
multiple scurces, enabling them to have 2 more comprehensive
and intuitive means of leveraging their operational data. The data
analytics offering also continues to be deployed in several other
industries, including power generation, chemical, wastewater
and ethanol

in the energy and utilities market, LFL sales rose, reftecting the
improved global oil and gas markets. Both the industrial gases
business and the hydrocarbon processing sector continue to recover
globally and along with the strengthened sales and marketing
organisation at Servomex, we have been able to capitalise on this
Growth was also heiped by the launch of a number of new
flagship preducts: for example, the Servopro MultExact 4100,

a high-performance multi-gas analyser offering up to four
simultaneous digital gas stream measurements and configurable to
a wide range of industnal apphcations. Gases measured include
oxygen, nitrogen, methane, carbon monoexide, carbon dioxide,
argon and hehum, delivering a new level of performance that
further optimises processes, improves product yields, ensures high
product qualty for our customers and helps meet regulatory and
safety requirements

During the year, we acquired Setpont, a leading provider of
vibration and condition monitering sclutions to process industries.
It has become an integrated product line of Bruel & Kjeer Vibro,
grawing our presence in the condition monitoring market
Setpoint is primarnily focused on the oif and gas and power
generation sectors and its technology enables customers to
improve machinery availability, productivity and reliability by
delivering accurate condition information In August, the first
shipments of Setpont systems from Bruel & Kjaer Vibro were
delvered for the thermal power generation market in the
Philippines. Since acquisition, we have also delivered new orders
to two major South Amencan oil and gas companies and a

US power generation company, amongst others, and in December,
we recetved the largest-ever order for Setpoint systems for a large
petrochemical complex being built in Russia.

In the wind energy sector, we are continuing to see growth

and have further expanded the number of wind farm owners
and operators 1o whom we provide wrbine monitoring services.
In total, we have now sold maore than 18,000 systems into the
wind power industry Bruel & Kjeer Vibro has supphed for the first
time condition monitoring systems to a US utility company under
a five-year 'systems-as-a-service’ contract Simultaneously,



Briel & Kjzer Vibro's systems are now considered fleet-wide
standard for wind turbines used by three utiity companies one
each in Canada, the USA and Central America

In our other end markets, sales {LFL} to the cable and tube ('C&T")
and food and bulk {('F&B’) markets increased dunng 2017 with
strong performances in North Amenca, Europe and Japan C&T
sales were up strongly on improved sales coverage, particularly in
Europe and China F&B sales were up strongly as a result of
targeting key growth markets in this segment, including savoury
snacks Film extrusion and carverting sales were espedially strong in
North Amenica NDC Technologies (NDCT ) continues to develop its
technology partnerships and products It has worked clasely with
RAM GmbH, a web inspection business, since a business
co-operation agreement was signed in March. Customers will
benehit frorm simplified service support with one organisation
handling both gauging and inspection. During the year, NOCT
delivered several new products 1o the market, including the new
BenchMike Pro offline diameter and ovality metrology instrument
which offers the highest accuracy in the ndustry The instrument
also offers faster communications processing and easy integration
nto production networks 10 support customers’ lioT programmes
Restructuring activities at NDCT continued dunng the year and
transfer and consohdation of the manufacturing and administrative
functions from California into the Ohio facility is on track for
completron in 2018 The California faciity has become the new film
extrusion and converting solutions technical centre of excellence

Segment outlook

The mix In cur pulp and paper business 1s expected to continue

to improve duning 2018 wath cur new focus on complete solutions,
induding digital capabilities, aimed at the growing tissue, pulp and
packaging markets We also expect to continue to benefit from

the comtination of Capstone's scftware tools with 8TG's
instruments to capture new opportunities with the Process
Solutions business unit

With an improved environment in global oll and gas markets

and with a parual revival of actwity in greenfield projects as well

as brownfield expansions, we expect growth from the energy and
utiities sector 1o continue Into 2018 The addition of Setpoint offers
the potential to further grow the machine protection/condition
monitoring solution business in this segment The wind energy
sector remains healthy and offers the potential for additional
capabifities beyond vibration to encompass other condition
monitorng in order o provide more predictive analysis and

offer a full-service wind farm optirmisatton programme.

Opportunibes i the film extrusion, web converting and food and
bulk materials markets are expected 1o Increase as customers
develop new products which require advanced inline measurement
solutions. Quality requirernents, particularly in the food segment
and food packaging, continue to be more stringent globally and
therefare drive demand for inline soluticns.

Drax Power 1s the UK's largest power station
and is Europe's biggest decarbonisation project.
70% of its electricity 1s generated from
sustainable biomass. Drax uses Servomex's
analysers to optimise boiler combustion
efficiency control, resulting in direct fuel savings,
reduced maintenance and a reduction in direct
carbon monoxide emissions.

The Fluegas Exact 2700 analyser measures both oxygen

and carbon monoxide and 1s therefore suitable for continuous
flow monitoring of combustion processes. it is designed for
high temperature processes up to 1,750°C, so 15 1deal for

use in extreme heated environments such as hydrocarbon
processing and power generaticn applications Over the past

rine years, Servomex has supplied 48 of these analysers 1o
rmonitor the boilers

Drax estimate that improved control of the combustion
process has saved them millions of pounds over the years
in both direct fuel savings and lower operational costs,
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Segment performance

Reported sales

£262.5m

(2016 £246 8m)

Adjusted operating profit

£38.3m

{2016 £21 6m)

Reported cperating profit

£28.7m

{2016 loss of £92.2m)

Sales by destination (%)

Sales by end-user market (%)

Reported sales rose 6% After adjusting for Microscan, LFL sales
increased by 6% and there was a favourable impact of 6% from
foreign currency exchange mavements, With the segment’s tugh
expasure ta North Amernica {c 70%), it was encouraging 10 see an
increase in LFL sales in this region for the first bme since 2014
Asia recorded strong growth in LFL sales, particularly at Omega

In Europe, overall segment sales were higher on a LFL basis, with
growth in both our industnal networking business and in process
measurement and control products. Reported operating profit
Increased to £28 7 millon from the loss of £92.2 mllion recorded
in 2016 which included a non-cash impairment charge of

£34 4 miihon relating to a write-down of the balance sheet
geodwill and other imtangibles associated with Omega
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Adjusted operating profit (LFL) before Project Uplift costs
increased by 96% and LFL operating margins before Project Upift
costs impraved by 7 4pp, following the significant improvernent
In gross margin at Omega as well as the effects of operating
leverage. This reflected improved product mix and pricing and
lower overheads. There was a restructunng charge of £2.1 mullion
as we continue to improve the performance of Omega.

The operational improvements at Omega were reflected in a

good sales performance and higher gross margins. Omega derves
the majonty of sales from the USA and the improving industnial
environment saw an increase in demand for its products The
internationalisation programme continued to deliver good sales
grawth in all major markets outside the USA, with particular
strength in Asia, notably i China A focus on lean operations,
tighter inventory management and the consolidation of distnbution
centres globally have &\l contributed to this performance Other
performance improvement inihatives have focused on marketing,
including a shuft from higher cost print marketing to precisely-
targeted digital marketing campaigns. These campaigns highhight
new products and real-life use apphcations — for example, for the
Omega Enterprise Gateway, a software tool in Omega’s portfolio
designed to link senscr data and monitor a variety of products from
a single platform Rapid adoption resulted from the targeted digital
marketing promotion and expansion of Omega's easlly configured
pressure transducer product ine in aerospace, military and
transpartation markets Examples of these applications include
temperature sensors for pre-fight applications and automated
data collection systerns for robust asset monitoning.

The increasing trend towards lioT, driven by the need for smarter,
more interconnected operations, 15 benefiting our industrial
autornation and networking business as organisations seek
easy-to-use solutions 10 connect and expand the capabdiies

of leqacy equipment within existing facilities To better service this
need, Red Lion reorganised ts sales teams'to focus on apportunities
in certam key vertical markets, for example, In Asia, 3 targeted
focus in energy and water resulted in sales 1o a large wind turbine
manufacturer and a number of water projects in Chna In India,
Red Lion won a project to enable Azure Power to efficiently analyse
previously installed solar power systems for energy consumption

During the year, Red Lion launched a new generation of human
machine interface products ('HMIs') which provide enhanced
functionahty for remote monitaring and cantrel These HMIs
allow customers 1o interconnect dewvices from a varety of leading
manufacturers more easily New additions of Red Lion's
industrial Ethernet switches were also launched. The new models
are designed for industnal, transportation and intelligent traffic
applications requenng high rehability and the ability to funcuon

In extreme ervironmental conditions to help maximise network
uptime and prevent lost praduction, downtime or a safety risk

In Octeber, the Group completed the sale of the Microscan
Systems, Inc business {'Micrascan’) to Omron Corporation,
resulting in post-tax cash proceeds of £91.9 milion. Microscan

i1s a global provider of world-class machine vision technology

and solutions for critical identification, inspection and verification
applications However, in light of the Group’s more focused
strategic direction, we believed that its next stage of development
could be better fulfitled elsewhere.



Segment outlook

The performance of this segment will continue to depend on
US industnal markets. The growth recorded in 2017 15 expected
to contnue into 2018, although order visibility 1s very low

At Omega, the restructuring activities, organisational changes
and enhanced marketing approach are producing better results
and we expect this improvement to continue n 2018

in the medium term, the demand for industnal companies 1o drive
productivity and operational effioencies by enabling effortless and
secure access to their manufacturing information 15 expected to
increase Industrial customers wha are implementing ¢loud-based
analytics applications wilt drive further demand for best-in-class
networking and connectwvity solutions for stranded assets and
disparate plant systems Spectris has focused efforts 1o be well
positioned to take full advantage of these opportunities

Azure Power, a solar power generation company
in India, use a weather station tool

for their solar power sites to analyse energy
consumption based on the ambient condrtions.
To do this, they need to accurately monitor and
log weather data from a number of different
remotely-located field devices and send all of

the data to their head office.

The previous process involved two devices and a long run of
cable from the field, which often required site visits to repair
Now, using Red Lion’s solution of a modular controller with
built-in web server and Ethernet switch, combined with
third-party sensors for the field dewvices, Azure Power can
monitor data remotely and store it in the cloud This remote
monitoring and control eliminates the need for multple devices
and data cabling, reducing the number of site wisits required
and lowenng operating costs

Temperatures in northern India’s solar panel fields can reach
extreme highs, so the rugged, rehable design of Red Lion’s
equipment, with an operating temperature range of 0° to
50°C, means that service will continue even in the most
extreme of environments
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Robust financial

PERFORMANCE

Clive Watson

Group Finance Director

We delivered like-for-like increases in both

sales and operating profit. Cash conversion met
expectations and our balance sheet remains robust.
- -~ |

Operating performance

2017 2016 Change Like-for-like change'
Adjusted
Sales (£m) 1,525.6 1,345.8 13% 6%
Operating profit before Project Uphft costs of £15.8m
(2016 £3 2m) (£m) 239.3 204 0 17% 14%
Operating margin before Project Uplift costs (%} 15.7% 152% 0.5pp 11pp
Operating profit {fm) 2235 2008 11% 8%
Operating margin {%) 14.7% 14.9% {0.2pp}
Reported
Sales (£m) 1,525.6 1,345 8 13%
Operating profit {fm} 182.4 383 >100%
Operating margin (%) 12.0% 28% 9 2pp

1 At constant exchange rates, and induding the impact of acqursitions and disposals on a comparable basis

Spectrs uses alternative performance measures in addition to those
reported under IFRS, as management believe these measures
enable them to assess the underlying trading performance of the
businesses Afternative performance measures exclude certain
non-operatianal items which management has defined in Note 2 to
the Financial Statements A reconciliation of reported and adjusted
measures 15 provided in Note 2 to the Finanual Staternents

Reported sales increased by 13.4% to £1,525 6 million

(2016 £1,345 8 millron). After adjusting 2016 sales for the
disposal of Microscan by £11 3 mullion {-0 8%), the increase

n sales compared to 2016 comprised a contribution from
acquisitions of £44.2 millon {(+3 3%), favourable foreign exchange
movements of £64.2 million (+4 8%) and a LFL sales increase of
£82 7 million {(+6.2%)
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Reported sales bridge




In 2017, reported operating profit increased from £38 3 million in
2016 to £182 4 million, with operating profit in 2016 pnncipally
impacted by an impairment charge of £115 3 mullion related to
goodwill and other acquisition-related intangibles of which

£94.4 million velated to Omega and £20.9 milhon to ESG.
Reported operating profit included a number of one-off costs and
income dunng the year resulting in a net overheads year-on-year
benefit of £3 5 millon. Reported operating margmns of 12 0%
were 9 2pp higher than the pnor year, mainly ansing from the
imparment charge of £115.3 million in 2016 which reduced the
operating rmargin in 2016 by 8 6pp.

Adjusted operating profit increased by £22 7 million (+11 3%)
to £223 5 mudtion in 2017 After reducing the 2016 operating
profit by £1 7 million to reflect the sale of Microscan, LFL
adjusted operating profit before Project Uphft costs increased
by £29.1 million {(+14.4%). Acquisitions and foreign exchange
contributed £2 0 million and £5.9 rmillion, respectively, to the
growth in adjusted operating profit, whilst the net increase in
Project Uplift costs amounted to £12.6 million

Adjusted operating margins declined by 0.2pp, whilst LFL cperating
margins increased by 1 1pp, with the difference being explained
mamnly by the year-on-year increase in Project Uplift costs and

the dilutive effects of acquisitions and foreygn exchange The
improvement in the LFL operating margin consists of a 0.8pp LFL
gross margin increase 10 57 3% in 2017 (2016 56 5%) combined
with a O 3pp decrease in LFL overhead costs as a percentage of
sates. The improvement m gross margin was substantially diwven
by Industnal Controls which benefited from a turnaround in
performance from Omega and the non-recurrence of the

£9 milhon inventory charge recorded in 2016, partly offset by

a weaker gross margin in the In-ine Instrumentation segment,
reflecting adverse product mix. LFL overheads were up 5 2%,
reflecting wcreased headcount and inflation combined with the
costs of implementation of strategic initiatives.

Adjusted operating profit bridge

We continued o invest in our R&D programmes, with a reported
R&D expense of £105 1 milion or 6 3% of sales (2016

£98 6 million or 7.3% of sales). The R&D expense was in line
with 2016 on a LFL basis

Net finance costs decreased by £1 3 million to £4 5 million

{2016 £6 4 mulion), with adjusted net finance costs for the year
shghtly higher at £5 1 milhon (2016. £5.0 million) Reported profit
before tax increased from £31 9 million in 2016 to £278 4 milion
In 2017 Reported profit before tax in 2016 was impacted by the
£115.3 milkon impairment charge relating to goodwill and other
acquisition-related intangibles, whilst 2017 benefited from the
£100 5 milhon profit on disposal of Microscan. Adjusted profit
before tax increased by 11 5% to £218 4 milon

The reconciliation of reported and adjusted measures i1s shown In the tabie below

2017 2016
Reported Adjustments Adjusted Reparted Adjustments Adjusted
£fm £m £m £m fm £m
Sales 1.525.6 -  1,525.6 1,345.8 - 1,3458
Gross profit 867.5 - 867.5 760 5 - 7605
Adjusted operating profit before acquisition-
related items 2235 - 2235 2008 - 2008
Imparment of goodwilt and other acquisiion-related
intangible assets - - - 115 3) 1153 -
Bargain purchase on acquisition 1.9 (1.9) - - - -
Amortisation and impairment of acquisiton-related
intangibles (41.9) 419 - (36 9) 369 -
Depreciation of acquisthon-related farr value
adjustments to tangible assets (0.7} 0.7 - 02) 02 -
Net acquisition-related costs and fair value adjustments {0.4) 0.4 - (10,1} 101 -
Operating profit 182.4 1.1 223.5 383 162 5 2008
Profit on disposal of business 1805 {100.5) - - - -
Net gainfloss) on retransiation of short-term
inter-company (oan balances 1.3 {1.3) - 0 8) 08 -
Net bank interest costs i (4.3} - (4.3) (4.6) - {4 6)
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and
contingent consideration {0.7) 0.7 - {06) 06 -
Net interest cost on pension plan obligations {0.7) - {0.7) {03) - Q.3)
Other finance costs {0.1) - {0.1) Q1) - {01
Profit before tax 278.4 {60.0) 218.4 39 16389 1958
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Acquisitions

The Group completed four acquisitions during the year The total
cost of acquisitions was £34.6 million (2016 £174.2 milion),
including £0.8 million {2016: £6.9 million) for cash acquired and
£1 4 million (2016. £7.6 million) attrbutable to the far value of
deferred and contingent consideration which 1s expected to be pad
in future years A net £4 1 mithon {2016, £1 2 mdhon} was paid 1n
respect of prior year acquisitions, making the net cash outflow in
the year £36 5 million (2016° £160.9 mulion). Furthermore, an
amount of £2 8 million (2016 £5.4 milkon) was spent on
acquisition-related legal and professional fees, which makes the
total acquisition-related cash outflow for the year £39.3 million
{2016: £166.3 million) Acquisitions contributed £44 2 million of
incremental sales and £2.0 million of incremental operating profit
during the year

Disposals

In October 2017, the Group completed the disposal of Microscan
for net cash proceeds of £110 9 milion which, after paying

cash taxes of £19 0 million, resulted in a net cash inflow of

£91 9 milion. The post-tax profit on disposal was £81.5 million
Sales of £32 9 million and operating profit of £4 5 million
relating to Microscan were included in the reported and adjusted
results for the nine-month penod of ownership prior to its
disposal on 2 October 2017

Project Uplift

One-off costs incurred in 2017 of £15 8 million principally

refated to Phase 1 of the programme (which is focused on [T,
procurement and footprint), resultung in cumulative costs to date
of £19 O million Gross recurring savings of £2 & million were
realsed during 2017. The net impact on operating profit relating to
Project Uplift n 2017 amounted to £13.0 milien which, although
in hne with expectations at a net level, was as a result of reductions
1n both expected benefits and costs This was as a consequence of
slowing down Phase 1 of the programme and putting Phase 2 on
pause for approximately four months. Annualised recurring savings
of £25 million and a total cost to achieve these of £35 million by
the end of 2019 are now expected, with more coming from
procurement activities and less from IT. This compares to previous
expectations of £35 mulkan of savings and £45 milion of costs
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Taxation

The effectve tax rate on adjusted profit before tax was 20.8%
(2016. 22.4%}), a decrease of 1 6pp pnmarily due to the favourable
settlement of certain tax audits On a statutory basis, the weighted
average expected tax rate was 28 6% (2016 -13 8%), an increase
of 42.4pp largely due to disposal gains ansing in the USA (a higher
tax junsdiction} compared to a decrease In the USA in 2016 arising
from the impairment of goodwill In 2018, the Group expects a
reduction in its effective tax rate of around 2pp as a result of US
tax reform.

This year, the Audit and Risk Cormmuttee approved the Group tax
strategy for publication, which sets out the Group's approach to
tax matters In complance with the Finance Act 2016, this has
been made available on our website, www spectris,com/
sustainability/tax-strategy

Earnings per share

Adjusted earnings per share increased by 13.8% from 127 5p to
145 1p, reflecting the net impact of the 11 5% increase i adjusted
profit before tax, the reduction in the effective tax rate and the
increase in the weighted average number of shares from

119 1 million in 2016 to 119 2 million in 2017.

Reparted basic earnings per share increased from 8 6p to 197.0p,
with the difference between the two measures shown in the
table below

2017 2016

pence pence
Reported basic earnings per share 197.0 86
Impairment of goodwi!l and other
acquisiion-related intangible assets - 96 8
Amartisation and impairment of
acquisition-related intangible assets 351 310
Net acquisition-related costs and fair
value adjustments 0.3 85
Depreciation of acquisition-related fair
value adjustments to tangible assets 0.6 02
Profit on disposal of business {84.3) -
Net (gain)/loss on retranslation of
short-term inter-company loan balances (1.1 0.7
Bargain purchase on acquisition (1.6) -
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred
and contingent consideration 0.6 05
Tax effect of the above and other
non-recuImng items (1.5) (18 8)
Adjusted earnings per share 145.1 1275




Cash flow
Adjusted operating cash flow

2017 2016

£fm f£m

Adjusted operating profit 2235 200.8
Agdjusted depreciation and software
amartisation’ 30.5 28.3
Working capital and other non-cash
movements (13.1) 272.4
Capital expenditure, net of grants {73.1) (28 7)
Adjusted operating cash flow 167.8 2278
Adjusted operating cash flow conversion 75% 113%

1 Adsted deprecation ant software amortisation represents depreciation
of property, plant and equipment and software amortisation, adjusted for
depreciation of acquistion-retated far value adjustments to property, plant
and equipment
Adjusted operating cash flow generation of £167 8 million dunng
the year was in line with expectations and impacted by increased
capital expenditure following the first full year of the indusion
of the Millorook business. The adjusted operating cash flow
conversion rate was 75% compared with 113% in 2016,
prirmarily due to the mcreased capital expenditure and higher
working capital

Average trade working capital (the monthly average of the sum of
inventory, trade receivables, trade payables and other current
trading net assets), expressed as a percentage of sales, decreased
by 2 3pp to 11 9% (2016 14 2%} Excluding acguisiticns, disposals
and foreign exchange, the LFL reduction « average trade working
capital was 2 1pp, with improvements across all segments. Most
notably in the industrial Controls segment, Omega showed strong
pregress (n inventory management and suppher payments
following operational issues in 2016, in the Matenals Analysis
segment there was improved inventory management, and in in-hne
Instrumentatian, Servomex improved both inventory levels and cash
collections for recewvables during the year The year-end trade
working capital to sales ratio decreased from 15.9% in 2016 to
14.0% n 2017, a 1 9pp decrease

Capital expenditure {net of grants) on property, plant and
equipment during the year of £73 1 million (2016 £28 7 millicn)
equated to 4 8% of sales (2016. 2 1%) and was 240% of adjusted
depreciation and software amortisation (2016, 101%), partly due
to the inclusion of the first full year of the recently-acquired
Millbrook business with an incremental spend of £21 2 million as
well as continued investments in property and nfrastructure at
Malvern Panalytical, HBM and Omega Planned capital expenditure
on a cash hasis in 2018 is antiopated to be at around £80 million,
primarily related to expansion cpportunities at Millbrook, as well

as a continuation of a number of projects at Malvern Panalytical
and Omega.

Non-operating cash flow

2017 2016
£fm £m
Tax pad (47.0) (26.8)
Net interest paid 4.1) 4.1)
Dividends paid (63.2) (59.8)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash
acquired {36.5) {1609}
Acquisition-related costs pasd (2.8) (5.4)
Proceeds from disposal of business, net
of tax pard of £19 O million 91.9 -

Exercise of share options 05 02

Foreign exchange (6.2) (20.3)
Total non-operating cash flow (67.4) (2801
Adjusted operating cash flow 167.8 227.8
Decrease/(increase) in net debt 100.4 (52.3)

Financing and treasury

The Group finances its operations from both retained earnings and
third-party borrowings, with the majority of the year-end gross debt
balance being at fixed rates of interest.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had £593 7 million of
committed facilies denominated in different currencies,

consisting of a five-year $550 millicn {£406.5 million} revolving
credit facility maturing in October 2019, a seven-year €94.8 mullion
{£84.1 milhon) term loan matunng in Qctober 2020, and a
seven-year €116 2 million {£103.1 million} term loan maturing

in September 2022. The revolving credit facility was undrawn at
the year end In addition, the Group had a year-end cash balance
of £138.0 milfion, bank overdrafts of £1 3 million and vanous
uncommitted facilities available

At the year end, the Group’s borrowangs amounted to

£188.5 million, 99% of which was at fixed interest rates

(2016' 77%]). The ageing profile at the year end showed that
1% (2016. 5% of year-end borrowings is due to mature wathin
Gne year, 99% between two and five years (2016° 52%) and il
n maore than five years (2016 43%)

Overall, net debt decreased by £100 4 million (2016 increase
of £52.3 mulkion} from £150.9 muilion to £50 5 milhon Net bank
Interest costs were covered by adjusted operating profit

52.0 tmes {2016 43 7 times)

Spectns plc N
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Financial Review continued

Currency

The Group has both transiational and transactional currency
exposures. Translational exposures arise on the consolidation of
overseas company results into Sterhng Transactional exposures
anse where the currency of sale or purchase invoices differs from
the functional currency in which each company prepares its local
accounts The transactional exposures include situations where
foreign currency denominated trade recevables, trade payables
and cash balances are held.

After matching the currency of revenue with the currency of costs
wherever practcal, forward exchange contracts are used to hedge

a proportion of the remaining forecast net transaction flows where
there 15 reasonable certainty of an exposure At 31 December 2017,
approximately 81% of the estimated net Euro, US Dollar and
Japanese Yen exposures for 2018 were hedged using forward
exchange contracts, mainly against the Swiss Frang, Sterling,

the Euro and the Danish Krone.

The largest translational exposures are to the US Dollar, Euro,
Darush Krone, Japanese Yen and Swiss Franc Translational
exposures are not hedged. The table below shows the average
and clasing key exchange rates compared to Sterling

2017 2016 2017 2016
{average) (average) Change {closing) (closing) Change
US Daollar (USD) 1.29 135 (4% 1.35 123 10%
Euro (EUR) 1.14 122 (7%) 1.13 .16 (3%)
Japanese Yen (JPY) 145 147 {1%) 152 144 6%
Swiss Franc (CHF) 1.27 133 {9%) 1.32 1.25 6%

During the year, the translational foreign exchange gain on
operating profit of £5 9 million (2016 £22 6 milhon gain), ansing
from the weakness of Sterling, was partly offset by a transactional
foreign exchange loss of £1 1 million (2016 £7 8 million loss)

Dividends
The Board 1s proposing to pay a final divdend of 37 5 pence per

share which, combined with the interirn dividend of 19.0 pence per

share, gves a total dividend of 56.5 pence per share for the year,
an increase of 9%, The dmvidend is covered 2 6 times by adjusted
earnings and is consistent with our policy of making progressive
dwidend payments, based upon affordability and sustainability
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In determining the level of dividend in any year, the Board considers
a number of factors that influence the proposed dwidend, including
the level of distributable reserves in the Parent Company, future
cash commitments and investment needs 1o sustain the long-term
growth prospects of the Group and the level of dividend cover

Events after the balance sheet date

0On 26 January 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital
of Concept Life Sciences (Holdings) Limited, for a consideration

of £163 milion, on a debt and cash-free basis This acquisition
adds to the Group's capabilities in test services in the Matenals
Analysis segment



Risk Management

Risk

MANAGEMENT

We recognise that effective managerment of risk 1s essential for
delivering our strategic objectives As such, risk management 15
built into our day-to-day activities and forms an integral part of
how we operate.

Committed to managing risk effectively

The Group has a well-established process which delvers visibility
and accountabihity for sk management across our businesses
This process forms part of the Group's overall internal control
framework, as described on page 61

Risk management process

Cur approach to nsk management incorporates both bottom-up
and top-down elements to the identification, evaluation and
management of nsks and all risks are evaluated with reference

to the Group's achievement of its strategic objectives, as outhned
on pages 8 and 9.

Our business units are required to undertake format risk
management reviews at least twice a year This involves the use
of a consistent framework for the assessment of significant nsks
with respect to impact, ikelhood and the tme frame in which
the risk could matenalise Risks are assessed both before and
after the effect of controls and mitigating actions have been
taken into account

Overall awnership for each nisk, tagether with responsibility for
mitigating actions, is clearly assigned and communicated The
resulting nisk registers are then subject to feview On an oNgoing
basis as part of reqular operational reviews This ensures that
risk management 15 embedded in day-to-day management
processes and decision-making as well as in the annual
strategic planning cycle

Oversight

In addition, the Executive Commiittee and key functicnal personnel
in the Group consider those risks to the Group's strategic objectives
which are not addressed within the business units and develop
appropnate approaches to managing and mitigating these These
key Group nsks are analysed against a ‘lines of defence’ framework
which involves mapping the principal Group risks to’

» 3 first hne of defence compnsing the key controls and sources of
nisk mebigation implemented by our business unids,

» asecond hne of defence consisting of vanous Group functions
which, together with the Executive Directors, shapes the poticy
framework within which the first ine of deferce operates and
provides oversight and manitoring of the same; and

» athird ine of defence identifying sources of assurance over the
effectiveness of risk management activity

The overall effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
mitigation processes 1s reviewed regularly by the Executive Directors
and twice yearly by the Audit and Risk Comrittee A formal
evaluation of the Graup’s nsk appetite has also been completed in
respect of each of the Group's principal risks.

Durning the year, pecple-related risk was identified as an additional
Group-level nsk This concerns risk relating to the Group's ability to
recruit, develop and retain the talent required ta deliver upan our
strategy as the Group implements changes to the operating medel
and seeks to deliver an increasing proportion of revenues from
solutions and services

The key potential nisks and uncertainties facing the Group’s ability
to deliver its strategy, together with mitigating actions, are
described on the following pages

Overall responsibility: Audit and Risk Committee and Group Board

» Determining the Group's risk appetite

» Oversight of the Group’s mnternal control and nisk
management framework

First line of defence: Business units

» Day-to-day ownership of risk management

Second line of defence;

Key Group functions/programmes and Executive Directors

» Shaping policy and contral
framewark

» Momtaring and oversight of nisk
management by business units

» Evaluation of risks impacting the
Group as a whole

Third line of defence: Independent assurance

v Assurance over the effectiveness of the internal control and nsk management framework
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Managing our

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The effective management of risk is essential for delivering our strategic
objectives. As such, risk management is built into our day-to-day

activities and forms an integral part of how we operate.

Fluctuations in exchange rates

Compliance with laws and regulations

@ @ Moderate @

@@ Q@

We have operations which sell and purchase goods in foreign
currencies ang whose results we record in a varnety of different

currencies We are therefore exposed to any sigrificant changes in

exchange rates.

Impact

» Unexpected variations in the Company's results

» Reduced profitability and cash flow,

Mitigation

» Forward foreign exchange contracts cover up to 75% of
torecast transactional exposures up to 18 months ahead

» Natural hedging strategy, matching inveicing and purchasing
currencies where practical.

Foreign currency investments hedged with borrowings tn the
same currency wherever possible.

Regular monitoring, including sensitwity analyses to
understand the impact of exchange rate movements on the
Group's reporting.

2017 update

» On average, Sterling weakened relatve to most other
currencies over the year, which had a positive impact on our
reported results from a translational perspective, albert to a
lesser extent than in 2016.

-

-

+ Our hedging policy cantinued to provide certainty and reduce
volatlity to the Group's cash flows
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VVe operate in a large number of junsdictions and, consegquently,
are subject to wide-ranging laws and regulations

Any failure by the Group or its representatives to comply
with relevant faws and regulations could result in cwil or
criminal hiabilities, leading to significant fines and penalties
or the disqualification of the Group from participation in
government-related contracts for a period of tme. In the
event of a failure to comply with export control regulations,
the Group could also be exposed to restnctions being placed
upon its ability to trade

Iimpact

> Reduced sales, profitability and cash flow

» Reputational damage

» Dwersion of management resources resulting in lost
opportunities

» Penalties ansing from breach of laws and regulations,

» Inability to attract and retain tatent.

Mitigation
» Strong culture, internal control framework and policies
» Ethics raining provided to all employees

» Formal expert controls compliance procedures in place,
including strict product classification and transaction
screening protocols

» Comprehensive insurance covers all standard Categories of
insurable nsk. Contract review and approval processes mitigate
exposure to contractual liabilty.

2017 update

The Group continued to take a number of actions aimed at
further mitigating this nsk These included formalisation and
enhancement of the sales cantrol framewark in China, roll-out of
conthicts of interest training and voluntary disclosure programme
i China, Tawan and South Korea, repeat ant-bribery and
corruption reviews, deployment of ant-bribery and corruption as
well as fair competition face-to-face workshops and introduction
of alignment of values and incentives.

We continue to ensure that we are responsive to 1ssues rajsed
through the Group’s ethics hotline For more details of cur ethics
programme see pages 46 to 47.




GE i sudads

‘sjeap |enuajod

{0 J3GUNL B WO SINSEING DSPRIINS OSIE SARY am 1By} 1UeaLL
sey Yoy 'sausdisip pue Sxuabipp anp |e6a) pue [enewWIo?
‘fe1zueLy snosobiu No uiejuiew O} JNj2IED USBG SARY M,
saniunyoddo [euciippe Jo} YOO| 03 FNUILUOD 3 PUB "SUORISINDIR
ue-0q INoy Buriewr ‘AlAQIE SiYl Ul paledidiued apa “sadeidisnuew
1no ul Ajande uoiusinbae o 1aag] Ayljeay e 3q 0} PAaNUUOD 2134

aepdn 2407

SAMAIAD) [OJ1UOD UoISINDIR-1504 ¢
3562 S5aUISNG
ay} suiebe sassauisng pasnboe ay) Jo manal einbay ¢
Buiuued uonesBatu ¢«
‘sluswaasbe sseyxnd
Ui SANUBLEM PUP SUONEIUSS3ILa) ImsuayaItueD ¢
"SUOIDESURIL Y215 JDJ PIROg Ul Ag
MIIABE DNOAUIL ‘3215 0} 133IGNS "Iy SaAl) AoyIne IS ¢
‘aielidoidde se sjueynsuod [euralxd Bunoau sassauisng
196181 JO Wawssasse [eBa] pue [erBWILLIOD "lenueyl snosoby ¢
uonebnin

'SIYIgel UBBSAIONN) ¢

"mo)) yses pue Aupgeiyoad paonpay ¢

SINIBU MU AJUapI O Sunpeq ¢

I5E7 SS3LISNIG AU Ut PUIINO SH)3U3QG SYL AADIYIE OF N4 ¢

stabuel ymol6 ino Faw o)
S3S59UISAQ Ayirenb ybiy JO SIaquunU JUIMILNS 1IRILe O] 3unjiey ¢

Pedu)

'ssauIsng pasinboe
3y} JO suossIwIo 4o 5Pe 1sed 0] pasodxa aq pinod Auedwo)
3yl uagung ssacoud asuabiyp anp ay) Buunp parruap) JoU

BIBM DM $3NSS) IO 'SUCINPUOY 13yIeW BLiBueYd 358D ssauisng
3yl Ul spew suendwinsse 123102u1 ‘ssauisng pasinboe 3yl Jo
uonesbaw Buunp pauRuNodus swajqo.d J0 Nsal e Se panamyIe
a0 10U AeL UOIISINDIR 3Y) WOJ) S1Hausq pauued ay) eyl

151X I0JRIFY] $H51 [BAUIIO $59204d xR[dWIOD e 3g ued 5assaLisng
Paanble 4o |Juuosiad pue SUCRIIdo ayl Jo uoneibalu)

‘uonestuebuo ay) 1noybneayy saakodua o)
1no pa)j0s Buiag st awwelBoid HBuiuiely Y4go e pue aUBUIBAOD
ysiy UONeLLLIOLU] JO pean dnolg e pajuiodde sey dnoJo a

syepdn £L07

adexspue| Buinoas ayl ssaippe
01 pieoy Yt Ag Ateinbar pamaias s Aundas pue Nsu 1agh ¢
S[OJIUOD PUR 5SS AJUNDIS UOITBULIOUI JO
Buiuies] $s3UaJeMP 208)-01-838) PUR JUIUO B33 saxkojdu] «
Buiwayibuans [euonippe
W) Wauag PINoM eJe $iY) Ui sjonuod bunsixa §,dnoig
YL 1ALYISUAL SIIPNIBAD SHS AJUNDIS UOILEULITI UO
Buisnoo) 1ustuasciduwl snonuguod jo awwesbold v ¢
*$83308 pasuoyIneun Jsuiee paioyuoL 3ie SWRSAS N «
"Buisue Aundas
UOHBLLLIOJUL Ul Y3e31q @ JO 3SU SY] 3Inpad 0) paubisap sainseaw
[0Jju02 jeibo) pue jedisdyd jo Jequiny e Aojdwa sassauisng Jng <
uonebmw

$53UISNQ JC uondniBILIL JO
Buypuey ucnewoju Jood 01 NP SISWOISND 0] INAIIS PIINPIY

UOIRWOUI [BUOSIDC JO an)ISUAS AJ[BIIBLULLIOY JO $307 <

'3JIALBS JO UQILNISIP SO BlEp 3|qe3)
3jqe|ieae jo yoe| ybnosy Bunew uoisisap ue edun Jo Aejag ¢

Peduw)

2107 Aoy woyj ((MdaD.) uoneinbay uonsalosd eleq 1eJeuan ayl
0 uonejuawiadwi sy Bupnpur Yuabuins ABuiseanu Buuodsg
aJe uanpajoid elep o) UOIEeR) un sanijiqisucdsal Aiojenbal
‘uonippe Ul 3jgelipaidun pue pajednsiydos aiow Builedaq
‘Buibueyd AJUBISUOD 3ie UIym JO AIaIduuod puUB 3InjBU 3Ll SysU
AJUND3% UOIEULIC)UI [BUIAIX2 PUP |BLIAIUI YO 2B) S3SSaUISNG
no 'Auxaidwod pue azis sejiuis e Jo suonesiuebio 1sow yim sy

- RN GRORONG

o 31EIIPOWN @ @

suonsInboy

Aunias uoijeuliogu)

ybiy Aap

AS AN @ YBH

Sy o ANEI=IPAN

awes @ Aot

b e ama| Arap

19A2] ys1 Ul abuey) JUIWISSASSY

oy Aap @ wawAoldap [erde
b @ EPTETEMERNL Y IR Y
alesopoy @ Ageqolb Buipuedig @
Mo @ DI TBPEN @

o) Aisp @ SLONN|OS JARAOUU)
aadde ysiy ABayens oy jur

Aay

i




Strategic Report

Principal Risks and Uncertainties continued

Strategy execution

B

Competitive activity

PPOOOD @ |

@ Very low @

The Group’s strategic priorities are set out on pages 8 and 9

The Group considers that, as with any undertaking of this kind,
there is necessarily inherent risk assocated with the successful
execution and delivery of the Group’s strategic priorities

The nisks asscaated with some of the Group's strategic pnonties
are addressed in their own right ~ for example, how we develop
new products and how we acquire other businesses.

Other relevant components of the Group's strategy concern:

» the Group's desire to transition the business to achieving a
larger proportion of sales through the pravision of services,
software and solutions to customers, rather than products
alone; and

> during the year, the Group launched a comprehensive
Group-wide productivity improvement programme, Project
Uplift. Over the medium term, this programme will deliver
improvements in productivity, both within and across cur
operating companies, reducing complexity where appropnate
whilst preserving the entrepreneunal culture of our businesses
We will alsg evaluate potential structural improvements
that can leverage Spectris’ scale and optimise both efficency
and effectiveness.

Impact

» Failure to realise the Group's ptans far enhanced efficiency
and profitabihity

» Failure to realise the Group's growth plans.

> Reduced profitability and cash flow

Mitigation

» Programme management disciplines, including a dedicated
programme management office

» Independent assurance
» Talent management programme
» Dashboard reporting against key growth inbatives

» A measured approach over time is being targeted, rather than
a radical change

» Enhanced nsk management and reporting

2017 update

Dunng 2017, we continued to make good strategic progress in
transitioning our customer offenng towards the provision of
solutions encompassing hardware, software and services Four
smalt acqusitions were completed, adding further software,
service and lesting capability The acquisition of Omnicon provides
complementary software and serwice capability 1o our exising
software business wathin HBM, and we were pleased to complete
the first bolt-on for Millbrook During the year, we completed the
sale of Microsean to Omron, recognising that this business is not
consistent with the Group strategy In terms of the development
of the data analytics strategy, we have entered into an agreement
1o put EMS Into a joint venture with Macquarie Capital which will
give this business access to the Macquane Capital network with
its market-leading erwironmental monitoring market offering
Sirmularly, progress has been made in respect of Project Uplift
where a dedicated programme management office has been
established, & detalled diagnostic and planning phase completed
and a series of actionable plans created, with implementation of
these beginning in 2017
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The nature of the markets in which we operate means that all of
our businesses are expased to rnisk from competitor activity.

Impact
» Loss of market share
» Reduced financal performance ansing from competitive

threats both from third parties and custorners bringing
production in-house

Mitigation

» Ongoing monitoring of competitor activity and trends In
the markets i which we compete

» Maintain market-leading positions through strong customer
relationstups and signsficant investment in RED

+ Diversified portfolio of products and markets imits the overalf
nsk from any single competitor.

» Develop operational excellence initiatives that enable our
businesses to react quickly to changes in customer and
market demand.

2017 update

We maintained high levels of investiment in R&D, investng
£105 milion (6.9% of sales), with our operating businesses
bringing new products and solutions to market during the year
to sustan and strengthen our strong customer relationships and
competitive advantages.

[ People

B®DOD @

The Group needs to attract, develop, motivate and retain the right
people to achieve our operational and strategic targets Effective
talent management 15 essential to delwer our current and future
business requirements Therefore, the Board has agreed to
intreduce people as a new prinapal nsk. This is not reflective of
deterioration in this nsk but in recognition of the ongoing change
programmes underway within the Group

Impact
s Failure to recrurt and retain key staff leading to reduced
inovation and progress against the Group's strategic aims

Mitigation

» During the first half of 2017, the Group appointed a Director
of Human Rescurces and a number of initiatives designed to
mitigate this risk have now taken place or are under
development, including:
+ developing a cohesive recruitment brand centred around the

use of tinkedin, and

» a detailed review of Board and Executive succession plans

was undertaken by the Nomination Commuttee in
December 2017.

2017 update

Dunng 2017, we began a number of inibiatives to mitigate this
nsk These imitiatives will be buidt on during 2018.



Supply chain dependencies and disruption

Political and economic risks

@Low@

@ @ Moderate @

We are exposed to the nsk that some of the components we
source, particularly for custom-built items or ageing products, are
provided by a single supplier and are therefore vulnerable to
nterruption of supply

Our businesses also manufacture components using proprietary
technologies at a number of locations

Qur ability to supply products to customers could be adversely
impacted by a disaster or other disruptive event at any of
these sites

Impact

> Inability to fulfll customer orders, resutuing in lost sales and
reputational damage

v Increased costs reduce profitability

+ Loss of market share

Mitigation

» Strategic sourcing teams source cost-effective suppliers across a

range of markets whilst validating suppliers’ business processes,
quahty and standards

» Alternative sources of supply actwely sought to reduce
dependency upon single-source supphers

> Safety stock levels established for ¢ntical components.

» Business continuity plans and disaster prevention measures in
place for all matenal manufactunng locations

» Business interruptron insurance
» Strong contract review process,

2017 update

We continued to identify and qualify secondary sources of supply
where key dependencies have been identufied. Dunng the year, a

Group Vice President Supply Chain was appointed to suppaort and
drive the following:

» Continued focus on the Groug's ¢rtical suppliers based an
specialist independent spend anatysis

v Underpinning of indirect spend that has been afforged by
Project Uplift

+ Ongoing dentification and delivery of cross-operating company
savings potential

We operate in a range of end-user markets around the world

and may be affected by political, economic or regulatory
developrents in any of these countries Material adverse changes
in the political and economic environments in the countres in

which we operate have the potential to put at risk our ability to
execute our strategy

Impact

» Reduced profitabiity and cash flow

Mitigation

» Maintain a broad spread of markets, products and customers
to limit nsks assocated with any given territory.

» Monitor market inteligence 5o that we can respond quickly
to changing trading condrtions

» Ensure we remain structured in a way that enables us 1o
take prompt action in the event of a maternal change in the
trading environment.

» Ensure we maintan a strang balance sheet and
financial position

2017 update

The Group's balanced geographical mix, wath similar exposure to

North America, Europe and Asta/Rest of the world, enabled it ta

benefit from an improvement in trading conditions in each region

+ The Group continues to morutar and control s expasure (o
those countries where continuing economic uncertainties exist
and, in particular, we are evaluating carefully the implications
for the Group arising fram the result of the UK's decision to
leave the European Urion ('Brexit’)

» As far as potential trading exposures are concerned, exports
from the UK into the Eurppean Unicn represent less than 3%
of Group sales, whiist imports into the UK from the Eurcpean
Union represent less than 1% of Group sales The acquisition of
Concept Life Sciences in tanuary 2018 will not matenally impact
trading flows to and from the UK Qur cost base i the UK 1s
largely Sterling denominated

» As a consequence, we believe that Brexit presents only imited
short-term direct impact for the Group The main near-term risk
for the Group ansing from Brexit stems from broader
uncertainty whi¢h could inhibit investment and increase market
volatility, ultrnately hindering grawth in the UK and beyond A
Brexit Risk Committee has been established and an evaluation
of the potential costs of moving to World Trade Organisation
rules has been performed The mpact on the Group 15 not
expected to be significant and there are a number of mitigating
actions which can be undertaken The Group will continue to
monitor carefully any additional exposure arising as the full
imptications of Brexit become clearer
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Viability

STATEMENT

In accordance with proviston C 2.2 of the 2016 UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the viability of the
Company over a three-year period, taking into account the Group’'s
current position and the assessment of the pnnaipal risks and
uncertainties as set out on pages 34 to 38

The Directors have determined that a three-year pericd to

31 December 2020 constitutes an appropriate penod over which to
provide its Viability Staternent The selection of this period for the
assessment is supported by the Group's strategic planning cycle
together with other relevant considerations such as the matunty of
the Group’s credit fachities In addion, the Group is exposed to a
number of different industry cycles of varying and ill-defined length
and duration which may or may not overtap, and this has also been
taken into acount in considering the relevant penod. The Group
operates a detailed finandial forecasting process over a rolling
18-manth period, supplemented by monthly analysis of risks and
opportunities against the forecast presented. Each of the Group's
businesses has established growth targets through to 2020 The
Directors believe that this supports the selection of a three-year
period over which the Viability Statement 15 made.

Whilst the Directors have na reason to beheve that the Group will
not be viable over a longer perod, 1t 1s recognised that such future
assessments Carry a level of inherent uncertainty which increases
with the length of the period As such, we beleve a three-year
penod presents users of the Annual Report with a reasonable
degree of confidence while still prowding a longer-term perspective

The Directors carried out a robust assessrment of the pnincipal risks
facing the Group, including those that could threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or iquidity This assessment
was made with reference to the Group's current position and
prospects, the Group’s strateqy and the Group's principal

nsks, including how these are managed, as detailed on

pages 33 to 38,

In considering the Group's prospects, the Directors also noted the
broad spread of markets, products and customers mantained by
the Group Thus natural dwersification prowsdes mitigation against
the risk of a serious econormic downturn in a particular market or
the risks associated with dependence on a specific sector or
customer Our largest customer canstitutes less than 2% of Group
sales At the same time, the Directors noted the Group's strong
financial position coupled wath its ability to react promptly in
adjusting our cost base in the event of a materal change in the
trading envirenment

Simitarly, it making the assessment, the Directors also considered
the ability of the Group to raise finance and deploy capital in the
context of the principal sources of facility for credit, the maturity
of thase facilities, the Group's ability ta re-finance debt as it falls
due and the cverall level of headroom available

While the review encompassed all of the princaipal risks identified by
the Group, the following were focused on for enhanced analysis
including stress testing political and economic, laws and
regulations, and fluctuations in exchange rates The following
severe but plausible potential scenanos were analysed-

» The translational foreign exchange impact of major
movements and volatiity in key Group currencies
(Sterling vs the Euro and the Dollar}.

» A significant downturn in the trading environment faced by the
Group triggered by each of the following.

» Brexit;

» a marked economic slowdown or downtum in the Chinese
economy; and

» a general ncrease In trade barriers between Europe and
the USA.

» Legalfregulatory breaches — modelling a fall In sales volumes
arising from a theoretical debarment from operating 1n certain
key markets

Mitigations considered as part of the stress testing included cost
reduction, a reduction in the Group's dvidend, a reduction in
capital expenditure and re-financing of the Group's credit facilities.

The results of the above stress testing demansirated that the Group
would be able to withstand the impact of each of these scenanos
materiahsing over the course of the assessment period This Is in
part due to the Group's operating model and organisation structure
which gives 1t the ability to respond rapidly in the event of
heightened risk 1n the external environment, and also partly due to
the Group's financial posttion and access to additional funds

Based on this assessment, the Directors confirm that they have
a reasonable expectation that the Group will continue In
operation and meet its labilities as they fall due over the penod
to December 2020
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Strategic Report

Sustainability Report

Committed to

SUSTAINABLE GROWTH

Our approach

Our strategic objective 15 to deliver sustainable profitable

growth for our shareholders by enhancing the productivity

of our customers. Our products are designed to help our customers
10 reduce waste and save time, moaney and resources, contnbutng
1o a lower carbon world, and driving our own economic success
and future growth

Sustainable growth means building a well-governed and profrtable
business which delivers shareholder value and provides customers
with the products and services they need. To achieve this, we need
to understand our impact on the environment, our people,
customers and suppliers, and the communities in which we work,
embedding sustainability in our strategy, rmanagement systems and
day-to-day activities. We focus on the issues maost impartant to our
stakeholders and our business and this report outhnes haw our
selationships and interachions support our sustainability objectives

We are committed to managing our business according to the
highest ethical standards. Our core vaiues support this by guiding
our decsion-making and shaping our culture Further information
can be found in the Ethics Report on pages 46 to 47

Accountability

Eoghan O'Lionaird, Business Group Drrector for Materials Analysis
and Test and Measurement, has overall executive responsibility for
sustainzbility matters

The operating company Presidents are responsible for taking
actions within ther operations in support of the Company's
sustainability aims. Developments, including risks and opporturities,
are reviewed annually by the Board within the context of the overall
Group strategy

Management systems and certification

QOur global policies are applicable across alf our sites and

are supplemented by local policies to reflect different legal
framewarks and requirements We encourage our businesses
ta gain certification to International standards and these are
explained below Certification involves independent processes
10 verify data to demonstrate conformance and that a
company 15 fulfiling policy commitments and making
conunual improvement,

Certification standards

I1SC 14001

This international standard (150"} sets out critenia for the
formulation and maintenance of an environmental management
systemn. Certfication 10 1SO 14001 reguires an organisation 1o
effectively manage its environmental Impacts through
commitments to pollution prevention, legal comphance and
continual impravement Approximately 60% of Spectns' key
manufacturing operations by turnover are certified 10 150 14001

OHSAS 18001

This standard 1s intended to help an organisation control
occupational health and safety nsks it 1s currently UK-specific but
will shortly become an 1SQ Several Spectris offices have obtained
certification to OHSAS 18001

SA 8000

SA 8000 Socat Accountability s the most widely-recognised
global standard for managing human nghts in the workplace. 1t
encourages an organisation to achieve best practice In ethical

employment, trading and operations and includes much of the
anti-slavery legislation recently itroduced At Spectris, we use
this standard to assess leading supplers in high-risk areas against
cnitena such as workers’ nghts, workplace conditions {including
child labour, forced labour, working hours, freedom of
assoqation, compensation and discrirmnation) and health,

safety and the environment

1SC 9001

This standard addresses vanous aspects of quality management
and provides gutdance and tools for companies to ensure that
their products and services consistently meet customer
reguirements, and that quality 1s consistently improved
Recently updated, the new version of the standard requires
that key quality management pnnciples are embedded in the
organisation  All key Spectris global manufacturing operations
are certified to 150 9001, with all key manufacturing operations
certified (o the new standard, or working towards cerfification
by Qctober 2018

FTSE4Good

We have been a constituent of the FTSE4AGood Index Series
since it was founded in 2001. FTSE4Good is an equity index
series designed to measure the performance of companies
demonstrating strong environmental, social and governance
practices and faciitates nvestment in comparues that meet
globally recogrused corporate responsibility standards.
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Environmental impact

We have world-leading expertise in prowding solutions for
customers involved in renewable energy generation For example,
wind turbines have to be able ta withstand extreme conditions such
as gale-force winds and lightrung strikes Our measurement
technology is used in the research and development of new
materials, helping to 1dentify mecharucal stress on wind turbine
companents at an early stage in order to extend their kfe span and
improve safety We also provide systems to monitor turbine
performance remotely, ensuring that they are set up carrectly for
optimum performance and that preventive maintenance can be
scheduled where required This rinimises wear and tear, prevents
damage and optimises efficiency, saving both time and money

Compared to manufacturers in other sectors, the impact of our
aperations an the environment is relatively low However, we take
senously our responsibility to minimise our impact and recognise
the opportunities and risks to the business of cimate-related 1ssues
Energy efficiency has been identified as a key performance indicator
and further detaiis can be found on page 18 No environmenta!
nsks have currently been assessed as being material 10 the business.
A number of our operations have achieved 150 14001 certification
for environmental management

As well as helping our customers to reduce theirr impact on the
environment, this is also the focus for our own efforts and we
manttor the use of key sources of energy (electrcity, gas, ol and
steam) in our efforts to reduce consumption and save costs The
following table summarises our performance

Performance summary

Indicatos 2017 2016 Change
Energy consumption

(absolute) (MWh}) 100,041 90,132 1%
Energy efficency (MWh

per £m revenue) 67.2 683 (2%)
Greenhouse gas emissions

(tonnes CO,e} 81,604 75,144 9%
Total carbon ermissions

(tonnes CO,e per

Em revenye) 54.79 56.97 {4%)
Energy consumption

Unit of measurement — MWhH 2017 2016 Change
Electnaity 71,406 64,110 11%
Gas 10,591 11,618 (8%)
Qi 3.165 217 >100%
Steam 14,168 14,187 (0 13%)
Cther fuels rA)l N/A
Greenhouse gas emissions {tonnes CO,e)

Unit of measurement - tonnes CO, equivalent 2017 2016
Scope 1 14,112 10,714
Scope 2 35,947 35,291
Scope 3 31,545 29,139
Totai gross emissions 81,604 75,144
Total carbon emissions per

Em revenue 54.79 56 97

The energy consumption table records large increases in
consumption in two areas; electncity and oil. These increases
reflect the acquisition of Millbrack in September 2016, 2017
beng the first sustainability reporting year for this business
However, If Millbraok s excluded, the underlying Group figure
dernonstrates a reduction in consurnption of 3%, despite an
increase in revenue of 9%

The increase in Scope 1 emissions shown in the table 1s a result of
the Millbrook acquisition and additonal business-retated vehicle
miles Scope 3 emissions increased primarly as a result of increased
arr travel, which related mainly to Project Uplft However, if the
impact of the acquisiion of Millbrook 15 excluded, the underlying
trend is down, with the Group's total emissicns decreasing by 3%
against a revenue increase of 9% For the Group as a whole,

the result of this decrease brings emissions per £m of revenue
down by 4% and if Millbrook is again excluded, this decrease
extendsto 11%

Energy reduction niiatives at key operational sites in Europe have
been identfied through the implementation of Article 8 of the EU
Energy Efficency Directive, which was enacted in the UK by the
mandatory energy assessment scheme, the Energy Savings
Opportunity Scheme {'£505'). Independent third-party energy
reduction opportunity audits have taken place and identified areas
for improvement Our operating companies will use these audits
as the basis for energy reduction programmes, ESQS Phase 2 has
now been faunched and we are considering how to make the best
use of the regulations to continue the reduction programmes
already in place

Lioyd's Register Quaty Assurance ('LRQA’) has independently
verified the data associated with energy consumption, greenhouse
gas {'GHG') emissions, company vehicle and air miles and the
accident incidence rate The LRQA Assurance Statement confirming
terms of engagement, approach, opinion and observations can be
found on page 42

We are confident that the systems we have in place for measunng
and monitonng energy use underhne our commitment to
environmental accountability and enable us to provide
independently verified public disclosure of our emissions on an
annual basis We therefore ceased 1o participate in the Carbon
Disclosure Project in 2016

In support of the Group’s commitment to reduce GHG emissions,
fotus 1s being placed on recognising and capturing all GHG
emissions As part of Project Uplift actvity duning 2017, the Group
implemented new global freight contracts with Geodis and UPS
across over 60 sites, For the first time, this will allow the Group to
monitor and capture GHG ermissions relating to freight forwarding

Following the launch of these contracts, the Group has begun to
monitor related GHG emissions data. Approximately three months
of data has been collated to date and 1s currently being reviewed to
agree an acceptable emissions conversion methadology Freight
forwarding emissions data captured under these contracts will be
used 1o infarm future analysis of the Group's Scope 3 emissions
The Group will also look at the potential for the collation and
provision of enhanced data that anses due to Project Uphift actiwity
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Sustainability Report continued

LRQA Independent Assurance Statement Summary

Relating to Spectris plc’s Annual Report and Accounts for the calendar year 2017

This is the summary version of the LRQA Assurance Statement. The full version of the LRQA Assurance Statement confirming terms of
engagement, approach, opinion and observations 1s available on the Spectris website at http. fwww.spectnis.com/sustainabilitylovenew

Terms of engagement

Lloyd's Register Quality Assurance (LRQA) was commissioned by Spectris plc {(Spectris) to provide independent assurance on the data
disclosed in the Sustainability Report section of the Annual Report and Accounts for the calendar year 2017 (‘the report’) against the
assurance Criteria below to a imited level of assurance using LRQA's verification procedure. LRQA's venification procedure is based on
current best practice, is 0 accordance with ISAE 3000 and ISAE 3410 and uses the punciples of AA1000AS (2008) - inclusivity, matenality,
responsiveness and rehability of performance data

Our assurance engagement covered Spectris’ global operations and specifically verfied conformance with the following requirements:
» Spectris’ sustainability reporting methodologies for the selected datasets
» energy consumption (electriaty, gas, oil, steam and other fuels)

» greenhouse gas (GHG®) emissions scape 1, 2 and 3 including emissions from energy consumption, company vehicle travel, company
arr travel and refrigerant gas loss

v acadent inadent rate.

» 2017 UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting and 2017 IEA CO, Emissions from Fuel Combustion for
converting source energy data inta carbon emissions tonnes CO,e using the greenhouse gas conversion factors

Qur assurance engagement excluded the data and information accessed through links which take the reader out of the Report and
also revenue performance data in energy consumption, which was taken directly from the audited financial accounts

LRQA's responsibility 15 only to Spectris. LRQA disclaims any liabilty or respansibility to others as explaned in the end foothote Spectris’
responsibility 1s for collecting, aggregating, analysing and presenting all the data and information within the repert and for maintaining
effective internal controls over the systems from which the report is derived. Ultimately, the report has been approved by. and remains
the responsibility of, Spectns.

LRQA's opinion

Based on LRQA's approach nothing has come to pur attention that would cause us to believe that Spectris has not, in all matenal respects
> Met the requirements above.

» Disclosed accurate and reliable performance data and information as no errors or omissions were detected

The opinian expressed is formed on the basis of a limited level of assurance and at the matenality of the professional judgement
of the verifier

Note  The extent of evidence-gathenng far a limited assurance engagement 1s less than for a reasonable assurance engagement. Limited
assurance engagements focus on aggregated data reviewed rather than physically checking source data at sites Consequently, the level
of assurance obtained in a lirnited assurance engagement 1s substantially kower than the assurance that would have been obtaned had a
reasonable assurance engagement been performed.

Signed

S R L

Steve Fletcher
LRQA Lead Venfier
16 February 2018

On behalf of Lioyd’s Register Quality Assurance
1 Trinity Park, Bickenhili Lane, Birmingham, B37 7ES, UK LRQA reference LRQ4007346

Lioyd's Register Group Limited, s affilates and subsidianes, incluoing Lioyd's Regrster Quality Assurance
Limited (LRQA), and their respective officers, employees or agents are, individually and collectvely,
referred to in this dause as ‘Lioyd's Register'. Lioyd's Register assumes no responsibility and shall not be
liable to any pesson for any loss, damage or expense caused by reliance on the informaton or adwvice in
this document or howsoever provided, unless that person has sgned a contract wath the relevant Uoyd's
Register entty for the prowsion of this information or adwice and in that case any responsibiity or liability
is exclusvely an the terms and condilions set out i that contract

The Englsh version of this Assurance Statement is the only vahid version Uloyd's Regrster Group Limited
assumes no responsihty for versions transiated nto other languages.

This Assurance Statement 1s onfy valid when publshed with the Report to which it refers it may anly be
reproduced in its entirety

Copyright @ Uoyd's Register Quality Assurance Limited, 2018 A membier of the Lioyd's Register Group
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Social impact

Spectns 15 a speciaksed and techrucal business, and we rely

on the skills and expertise of our people, many of whom are
highly-qualified engineers and technicians. We have built our
success on a combination of operational excellence and intelligent
innovation, and we know that such innovation requires a way of
waorking which 15 open, positive and respectful, and supports the
development of new ideas, and the taking of reasonable and
measured risks You can read more about the key role our people
play in our strategy and our business model on pages 6to 9

Diversity, equality and inclusion

We recruit, develop and promote our people based on their talent,
commutment and achievement; everyone is treated equally and
farrly whatever their race, colour, religion, national origin, gender,
sexual orientation, age or background. Qur people are key to the
success of our business

Our business 15 diverse, with operations at more than 190 locations
throughout the world, with over 8,700 employees in over 30
different countries and cultures As such, we need a workforce
based on a diverse group of talent able to provide solutions to a
wade range of customers around the world and which reflects the
cultures and perspectives of our local markets. We are aware that
our current employee base 15 not fully representative of the
geographies we operate in and that the gender balance does not
reflect the population as a whole, as the table below demonstrates

Employees by gender and role as at 31 December 2017

Male Female Total
Directors 7 2 9
Senior management’ 127 29 156
Other employees 5410 3,199 8,609
Total 5,544 3,230 8,774
% of total 63 37 100

Excludes contractors

1 Presidents or Managing Dhrectors and ther immediate reports who are
Directors or Vice-Presidents

In the UK, our two largest operating companies, Malvern Panalytical
and Millbrook, have processes in place to callect and publish data
under the new Gender Pay Gap Reporting regulation Millbrook has
published its gender pay information and Malvern Panalytical will
publish its data ahead of the Aprl 2018 deadline. This legisiation
applies to employers with 250 or more emplayees who ordinanly
wark in Great Britain and whose contracts of employment are
governed by UK legssiation, and details the difference in mean and
median pay between men and women at the company. As well as
meeting the new disclosure requirements, the information will help
us to focus on the underlying causes of any gender pay gap and
take action to ensure equahty and fairness in the workplace,

A challenge facing engineenng companies 15 how to encourage
more young people to pursue careers in manufacturing and
engineering. Our businesses participate in various initiatives
including student internships, apprenticeships, ndustrial
placements, schoal careers days and other events designed to
raise awareness amongst school children of the opportunities
to work in manufacturing and engineerng

We do not tolerate discrimination or harassment in any form
Disabled people are recruited, traned and promoted on the basis of
aptitude and ability If employees become disabled, every effort is
made to retain them and, when necessary, re-train them for
appropriate posts Qur full employment policy 1s published at
AW, SOECTHIS COM

We comply with the UK Modern Slavery Act 2015 and our
anti-slavery training has been extended to all employees worldwide

The Board has renewed its commitment to diversity and inclusion
during the year through the adoption of a new policy Dunng
2018, the Group will continue to focus on talent management and
succession planning. Further information about the Board diversity
pohcy and its implementiation can be found In the Corporate
Governance Statement on page 54

Training, development and compensation

We wark hard to build a creative working environment for our
people with scope far mdwidual responsibility and personal
achievernent Qur training programmes help our employees to
develop both personally and professionally and reach their full
potential We carry out annual performance reviews to determine
sach inddual’s traring needs and assess their performance
aganst the previous year's targets Empioyees at our operating
companies and Spectris plc aft have access to the Spectris Talent
and Learning Management systemn The system s also being used
by a number of operating companies for objective setting and
performance reviews

Malvern Panalytical, one of our UK businesses, has receved the
Investors In People accreditation for thelr training, appraisal,
employee development and skills programmes.

We encourage our employees to maintain a healthy balance
between therr working and personal tives, and offer flexible
part-time and job-share opportunities to employees with family
commitments, wherever possible.

We seek to attract and retain the best talent and our compensation
and benefits schermes are n ine wath other leading companies in
our sector, with rewards dependent on the achievement of
indvidual and corporate objectves.

We conduct employee satisfaction surveys within our operating
companies as part of an evaluation and measurement process,
which also includes monitoring the rate of voluntary staff turnover
in our key regions This is compared against local data for our
industry sector in order that our management teams can identify
any unusual patterns and take the appropriate steps 1o /mprove
employee retention Voluntary turnover rates are higher in Asia
than in other regions as finding and retaining staff 15 a challenge for
all companies due to the ncreasing appartunities in this region We
monitor the situation closely and make every effort to retain our
employees in this highly-competitive environment
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Sustainability Report continued

Staff turnover
% of staff leaving the Company voluntarily

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Europe 3.7 50 50 31 3.2
Amencas 9.4 8.1 7.7 5.8 61
Asia 11.2 101 108 12 2 122
Tota! 7.6 72 71 59 60

Women in engineering scholarship

Omega Engineenng is sponsonng a schoiarship for a semor
student member of the Society of Woimen Engineers ('SWE')
in the USA in the name of Omega’s founder, Betty Ruth
Hollander SWE's rission 1s to encourage women to achieve
therr full potential in careers as engineers and leaders, expand
the Jmage of the engineering profession as a positive force

in improving the quality of life, and demonstrate the value

of dersity. The scholarship programme 1s onge of SWE's
most visible and successful Inmtatves, inspiring young wormen
to enter and complete undergraduate and graduate
engineering programmes

Scholarship recipients are chosen in late spring, awarded in the
summer, and then publicly announced. Eligible areas of study
include: aeronautical/aerospace engineering, automotive
engineering, chemical engineering, electncal engineenng,
engineering technology, Industrial engineering, mechanical
engineering, and manufacturing engineening. Geographical
location of potential recipients is alsg a selection consideratian
to encourage an internship at one of Omega's S facilities -
an ideal opportunity to connect with students while providing
them with an invaluable hands-on expenience.

A study by the Commussion on the Advancement of Women
and Minonties in Science, Engineering, and Technology
indicates lack of financial resources and low self-confidence
contribute to the weak retention of women in engineering
programmes. Through a scholarship, supporters can make a
difference for a woman beginming or continuing her
engineering studies Recognition, an integral component of
every scholarship awarded, can improve the recipient’s
self-confidence Omega is proud to help provide a deserving
woman with the opportunity to complete their education and
meet their full potential
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Employee engagement

Employee communication 1s largely undertaken at a local level by
indnrdual operating cornpany managerment teamns. As the Group's
strategy evolves it is likely that there will be further focus placed
upon co-ordinated communications at a Group level

Health and safety

As a responsible employer, we take the health and safety of our
employees seriously. We are proud to have an excellent record of
safety in our workplaces, but we remain vigdant and track our
acaident incidence rate as a key performance indicator. Local health
and safety managers and officers carry out regular auds and
employee traimng and suggest improvements in working practices,
where approprate, in order o create a safer workplace Potential
product-related health and safety issues are considered as part of
the product design process and continuous improvement
prograrnmes focused on health and safety am to reduce accidents
and iqjuries at our sites to as low a level as reasonably practical

in 2017, we measured the total number of work-related acadents
or it heatth resulting in time lost in excess of one day In previous
years, the unit of measure was time lost In excess of three days
The number of reportable accidents has increased year-on-year
due to this change.

Accident incidence rate
Number of reportable accidents per 1,000 employees



Each of our operating companies is responsible for implementing
the Group-wide health and safety policy, and for complying with
any additional local regulations. Our Group policy covers aur own
employees, sub-contractors and, where appropnate, our supplers
You can read the full policy on our website at www spectris com.
All our major locations are regularly inspected by independent
assessors for their comphance with health and safety policy

and procedures

Any recommendations for Improvements are put into practice.
A number of our UX offices have achieved certification to
QOHSAS 18001

Human rights

Our human nghts pohicy 1s consistent with the Core Conventions of
the International Labour Qrganization, and we comply with
internationally-recognised human nghts standards at all cur sites
The policy includes cur position on nen-discrimmation, harassment,
pay and forced labour Human nights considerations are also
included in the due diligence process we undertake before any
potentsal acquisitton This ensures that before we acquire a
business, we are fully infermed of its approach in areas such as
non-discrimination, equal epportunities and freedom of association
Our fult hurman nights policy 15 avaitable on our website at

www Spectiis com

Community

Cur social responsibilties alse extend to the communities in which
we operate We seek to play a positive role in our local communities
and participate in a range of activities and educational initiatives
Community involvement and decisions on chanitable denations and
sponsorship are undertaken by local management teams and vary
from ane company to another, depending on business and regional
prionties Many of the activities we undertake are armed at
supporting schools and universities to promote science, technology
and engineering We also run a number of awards and
programmes aimed at encouraging and provichng support for
young scientists who are at the beginning of therr careers.

We do not give either cash or support in kind to political

parties or campaigns

Customers and suppliers

We serve a broad specirum of blue-chip customers across all key
manufactunng industnes We work closely with them to
understand their business, which gives us a unique ability to
anticipate and respond to thewr changing needs and fosters strong
long-term relationships,

QOur business continues to evolve as we seek greater competitive
advantage through efficiency gains and innovation, both in our
praducts and how we wark, whilst addressing new regulatory
requirements and expectations frorn commercial and social
stakeholders and shareholders Focusing on supply chain
management 15 an important tool in achieving this. Our supply
chain management policy can be found at www speciris com

With operatians spread around the globe, our supplier base s
fragmented Responsibility for vetung and managing suppliers 1s
therefore devolved to local management but must meet the
Group's ethical standards We carry out regular inspections at our
suppher sites and use the SA 8000 Social Accountability Standard to
audit our key suppliers against speatic criteria. Although the Group
had intended to extend this 1o cover key suppliers woridwide
dunng 2017, the introduction of the anti-slavery and confhct
minerals legislaton necessanly resulted in a change of focus 1o the
introduction of anti-slavery and confiict minerals sections into the
SA 8000 Asia Pacific supplier audit process. This s now complete

We will continue to review our supply chain management policies
and pracesses to ensure that we are comphant with upcoming
legisiation and that appropnate monitoring systems are in place,
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Strategic Report

Ethics Report

Driven by values

FOCUSED ON INTEGRITY

Culture, ethics and leadership

At Spectris, we belteve that maintaining a strong and consistent
corporate culture supports long-term performance and is
partcularly important in the context of the Group's operating
model and entrepreneurial nature.

The Board acknowledges 1is role in shaping, monitoring and
overseeing culture, as well as ensuning alignment between our
values, strategy and business model. Culture and ethics were a
regular discussion focus for the Board, its Commuttees and the
Executive Committee throughout the year, During 2017,
discussions focused on a range of topics Including managng
compliance nsk tn China, particularly confiicts of interest, our
whistieblowing policy and process, and the evolution of the ethics
programme and its future strategy

In 2017, there has also been a focus on reinforang ethical
leadership responsibility at operating company level, with a senes of
engagement sessions focused on the role of leaders in embedding
ethical culture within our organisation.

tn addition, in order to further drive operating company leadership
responsibility for ethical leadership and outcomes, changes were
made to our vanable compensation structures to align incentive
pay-out and ethics outcomes In order to further drive leadership
responsibiity in these areas, finance, legal and HR functions will
work closely tagether to further ahgn values and incentives across
the Group Senior managers’ banuses across the Group are now
subject to a malus where there is evidence of insufficient
commitment to ethical leadership

As part of thew leadership commitment, all semior managers
(including the Executive team, operating company Presidents and
Finance Directors, as well as other Sales and General Managers)
have certified that they have fostered an open ethical culture during
the year, including having dealt with or reported any suspected
violation of our Code of Business Ethics

The Company undertakes due diligence on the third-party sales
adwisers and distnbutors that it engages and the proposing
operating company s required to mturgate or remove any red flags
that are raised during the due diligence process Terms of reference
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for all nternal audits include a review of the implementation of the
Company's Code of Business Ethics In addition to regular internal
audits, the Company’s Head of Business Ethics undertakes an
annual programme of Compliance Venficatton Reviews which
includes wisits to operating companies to assess therr compliance
with the Cornpany’s anti-bnbery and corruption (‘ABC) policies and
the Code of Business Ethics; recommendations are made to
management following the reviews and their completion 1
monitored by the Board's Audit and Risk Committee

Embedding our values

2017 saw the deployment of traring modules focused on the
following areas of comphance

» Asurte of 13 refresher anti-bribery and corruption modules for
dehivery by local managers during guarterly team meetings

+ A bespoke anti-bribery and corruption training course was
developed and deployed for use by sales teams engaging with
third parties which underlines that such third parties must at all
times adopt our exphcit standards of ethical behaviour expected
when working on our behalf,

» Conflicts of interest engagement in China, Tawan and Korea to
clanfy cur understanding and expectations regarding what a
conflict of interest is, and the requisite need for transparency and
mitigating controls. This roll-out will continue into 2018 for the
rest of the world

In addrtion, the roll-out of our Value of Integrity online traning
module continued across operating companies 1o deliver aur key
ethics and integrity values to every employee throughout the
Group At the date of publishing, 92% of employees across the
Group had completed the online module.

In October 2017, Mark SerfézG joined Specins as General Counsel
and Company Secretary. Mark formerly served as director of risk at
Rolls-Royce plc and before that as chief counsel compliance and
regulation at BAE Systems plc, playing a major rofe in resolving
cnmunal nvestugations by the US and UK authonties into alleged
bribery and corruption and in effecting necessary changes in
corporate culture and behawiours. Mark, 1n conjunction with the
other members of the Executive team, will continue 1o dnve our
focus on ethical leadership, strong governance and compliance and
pragmatic risk mitigation

Culture of openness and support

We actively encourage a culture of openness, engagement and
communication by integrating messaging on ethics and integrity
into our business meetings at all levels, so employees feel they can
discuss any issues that anse in the couwrse of their work and raise
any concerns with their managers

Importantly, we make a commitment to protect the careers and
reputations of employees who report wrongdoing, as long as they
da 50 n good faith and n the best interests of the Spectris Group

To fadilitate openness, three toals are avarlable to our employees.

» Our Degisions Guide mobile app is availabie for all employees to
help them tackle challenging decision-making situations and
provides contact detalls for all our Ethics Officers so employees
Can raise concerns or seek gurdance 24/7



Our independent hotline (spectrishatline com) gives our
colieagues, business partners and other third parties the ability
to report concerns anonymously If they wish

A voluntary disclosure programme was launched for a three-
month peried in 2017 1n China, Taiwan and South Korea to
encourage employees who have not, in line with our palicies,
previously disclosed a potental or actual confirct to come
forward and report.

Reports receved from all sources, ncluding our voluntary
disclosure programme, are fully investigated and the results are
commurncated to the Audit and Risk Commitiee every six manths.
During 2017, 24 ethics ang comphance reports were received via a
number of sources ang the charts below show the number of
reports received from each region and the methods used ta report
the allegations Each allegation was investigated and resolved and
addinonal guidance, training and monitoring made avarlable or
disciplinary action taken, in some circumstances including
employment termination, as appropriate

-

-

Absolute Integrity Award 2017

We are very proud to have received seven nominations from
across the Group in 2017, These are indwiduals who have’
displayed outstanding commitment to cur value of Absolute
integnity. The 2017 winner is Jason Chen, a sales manager
based in Taiwan with Particle Measuring Systems, who was
chosen by our judging panel as representing a shining example
of Absolute Integrity and ethical leadership in everyday work.

Number of whistleblowing reports received each year’

Even though we are pleased that employees in Asia feel abfe to
report ethical and comphance concerns, further wark wall be done
in 2018 to better understand the small number of reports the
Group recewes in the rest of the world and the steps we need to
take to deal with any imbalance.

Addressing ongoing challenges

One area of focus in 2017 was a review of compliance resourcing,
capability and capacity across the Group to ensure we have
appropriate resaurces in place to support our business,
strengthening our second hne of defence Additional Compliance
Officers were recrutted in 2017 to provide independent scrutiny and
oversight of operations in Korea, Brazil and Mexico, and to provide
subject matter experbise and adwiscry support to the operating
companies in relation to ant-bribery, fraud and anti-trust risks

2018 and beyond

A review of our ethics and compliance programme was conducted
in 2017 and the following areas of facus will be pricritised:

» Refresh Group-wide ABC policies and processes

» Refresh anti-bnbery and corruption nsk assessment for
the Group.

» Increase oversight and monrtonng activity.
» Further review of resourcing reguirements

Percentage of reports received where wrongdoing
established

Origin of 2017 reports by region

Source of cases reported in 2017

The Strategec Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 19 February 2018

By arder of the Board

Mark Serfézd
Company Secretary
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Governance

Chairman’s Introduction to Corporate Governance

Focused on

STRATEGY

Cn behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present my first Corporate
Governance Report as Charman of Spectris. This report aims o
provide shareholders and other stakeholders with an appreciation
of how our Graup 15 managed and the governance and contro!
framework in which we operate

The Board and | are commutted to maintairung the highest
standards of corporate governance and this report sets out how we
have appled the prnnciples and prowisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2016. Culture 1s key to strong governance and n
my first months as Chairman | have found the culture of Spectris to
be open and transparent, with the Board and Executive sharng a
common approach of constructive challenge and support.

The Board and | take very seriously our responsibility to have a
robust governance structure in place to ensure that we properly
discharge our Tesponsibiities 1n setting our strategy, as well as
monitoring and reviewing progress as it s implemented, and in
ensunng that we manage our nisks and carry out business
responsibly In support of this responsibility, the Board held an
in-depth strategy review with the Executive team in December
2017 to thoroughly cansider and challenge the five-year strateqic
plan and the proposed arganisational model to support that plan
A review of the implementation of the strategy agreed at that
meeting will be iIncluded on the agenda of all scheduled Board
meetings for 2018

As a Board we have taken note of the reports from both the
Hampton-Alexander and the Parker reviews We have considered
our approach to diversity in light of the 1ssues raised in both reports.
This report details the Board's renewed commitment to promoting
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In my first months as Chairman,

| have found the culture

of Spectris to be open and
transparent.
]

Mark wWilliamson
Chairman

dversity at a Board, executive leadership and at every level of the
Company |'was pleased to hear about some of the initiatives
already underway within the operating companies 10 support
future talent and diversity and you can read further details in the
Sustainabiity Report on pages 43 and 44.

As a Board, we are conscious that we are accountable to our
shareholders and must have regard to other stakeholders such as
employees, customers, suppliers and the environment. We maintain
an active dialogue with shareholders throughout the year and listen
to views of representatves of mvestors and financial institutions.
We welcome the opportunity at our Annual General Meeting to
meet and answer shareholders’ questions,

Mark Willigmson
Chairman
19 February 2018

Corporate Governance Code
Statement of compliance

As a UK premium listed company, Spectris pic 1s expected to
comply, or explain any non-comphance, with the 2016 UK
Corporate Governance Code ('the Code’) The Board considers
that the Company complied with the Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2017 and a full summary of
comphance 15 set out on pages 62 to &3




Board and Executive Committee structure

The governance of the Group 15 structured through the Board and a senies of committees that approve, review, challenge and
momtor the strategies and policies under which the Group operates The structure and responsibilities of these Board and
management committees, and a summary of their responsibilities, are illustrated in the diagram below:

The Board

Board committees

Audit and Risk

Responsible for cverseeing the
financtal reporing process,
significant accounting judgements,
the Group's ethics programme,
financial and comphance controls
and risk management

Nomination
Respensible for advising on
succession matters and talent
managernent for the Board, Group
Executive and senior management

Remuneration

Responsible for recommending
the policy for the remuneratton
of the Chairman, Chief Executive
and Finance Director and the
Executive Committee

Management committees

Executive
Responsible for the
day-to-day management
of the Group’s operations

Disclosure

Responsible for the identification
and disdosure of inside
information and for ensuring that
announcements comply with
apphicable regulatory requirements

Finance

Responsible for banking
and treasury matters

Board and committee attendance

Board Board Audit and Risk  Remuneration Nominaton

{scheduled} (ad hod)' Committee Committee  Committee' AGM
Mark Williamson (appointed 26 May 2017) 444 nfa nfa nfa 11 n/a
John O'Higgins 9/9 R n/a nfa 5/5 Y
Clive Watson 9/9 212 n'a nfa n/a Y
Russell King? 8/9 212 n/a 6/6 5/5 Y
Karim Bitar {appeinted 1 July 2017) a/4 n/a 2/2 3/3 n/a n/a
UIf Quellmann? 8/9 172 3/4 5/6 n/a Y
Bill Seeger 9/9 212 a/4 nfa n/a Y
Kjersti Wiklund _ (appainted 19 January 2017)* 8/ 172 nva 516 4/5 Y
Martha Wyrsch 9/9 212 4/4 n/a 4/5 Y
Dr John Hughes  {retired 26 May 2017) 2/5 1/2 na n/a 2/4 N

1 In addition to scheculed meetings, the Board alsa held two ad hoc meetings dunng the year and the Nomnation Committee held two ad hac meetings dunng
the year Gwen the inherent shert notce of these meetings, some Directors were unable 1o attend but afl were fully briefed on the matters discussed

2 Russell King was unable 10 attend the telephane Board meeting on 16 May 2017 due to a travel delay and instead provided input ahead of the meeting

3 Ulf Quellmann was unable to attend the Board meeting, Remuneration Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee meeting held during the wvisit to Malvern
Panalytical on 16 and 17 October 2017 due to a compet:ng engagement with Rio Tinto, Mr Quelimann provded his detated comments on the maiters to be
discussed at the meetings to the Chairman and the Commuttee Charrmen ahead of the meetings

Wb

Kiersti Wiklund was unable to attend the scheduled telephone Board meeting on 16 May 2017 due to a commitment made pror to her appointment.
. Dr ohn Hughes took a medical leave of absence from the Company from 28 Apl 2017 until his retirement from the Board
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Goverpance

Board of Directors

Leading
OUR BUSINESS

Mark Williamson
Chairman {appointed May 2017)

Mark Wilkamson is a qualified accountant with a strong finanoal background combined with considerable managenal expenence He was
chief financial officer of International Powver plc until 2012 and 1 expenenced n managing relabionships with the nvestor ang financial
communities. Pnor to joining Intemational Power plc, Mark was group financial controller and group chief accountant of Simon Group

He is also a lormer senior independent non-executive director and chairman of the audit committee of Alent plc

Mark 15 chairman of Impenal Brands plc and seniar independent non-executive director and chairman of the audit committee of National
Grd plc

John O'Higgins
Chief Executive (appointed January 2006)

o0re

John O Higgins has a wealth of expenence in the global nstrumentation and controls ndustry. hawing previously worked for Honeywell in
anumber of management roles, ncluding as president of automaton and control solutions, Asia Paalfic His career began as a design
engineer at Daimler Benz in Stuttgart He has engineering degrees from Unversity College Dublin and Purdue University and an MBA from
INSEAD, ard has been a non-executive director of Exde

John s a non-gxecutnve director of Johnson Matthey pic.

Clive Watson
Group Finance Director (appointed Octaber 2006)

O] - 1)

Clive Watson has considerable finance expenence, having previously been chief financial officer and executive wice president for business
support at Borealis Prior to this, he was group finance director at Thom Lighting Group and grouy finance chrector Europe at Black &
Decker Clve is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Chantered Institute of Taxation

M Clnve 15 3 non-executive dector and charman of the audit commitiee of Sprax-Sarco Engineenng pic

Russell King
Senior Independent Director {appointed October 2010)

oW

Russell King has considerable internatianal expenence acquired across & number of sectors, Including mining and chemicals, together with
strong expenence in strategy and human resources He was previausly chief strategy officer of Anglo American PLC and 2 non-executve
director of Anglo Platinum Ltd Prior to that, he spent over 20 years in senior roles at 1€

Russell 15 chairrman of Mumrmingbird Resouirces pic, senior independent non-executive director of Aggreko pic and senior ndependent
nan-executve director af Interserve plc and an indepentient non-executive at BDO LLP
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Committee membership key
@ Audit ang Risk @ Disclosure

@ Neomination ® Executve

® Remuneration ® Finange

. Chairman of Committee

Mernbership as at 1 January 20718

Karim Bitar
Non-executive Director (appointed July 2017)

®E®

Kanim Bitar has extensive expenence of leading international, technology-focused organisations He 15 currently chief executive of

Genus plc Pror 1o joining Genus, Karim worked for more than 15 years for Eli Uily and Company, where he was president of Lilly Europe,
Canada and Australia An ex-McKinsey and Company consultant, he alsa held management roles al Johnsan and Johnson and the Dow
Chemical Company

Kanm is @ member of the Urmversity of Michigan Ross Schocl of Business Adwisory Board

UIf Quelimann
Non-executive Director {appointed January 2015)

®E®

U¥ Quellmann has bread general management expenence and considerable knowledge of the metals, minerals and mining mdustry,
having worked it the sector for over 12 years He & currently wice president, strategic projects, copper and diamonds, at Rio Tinto ple
Previously, he was chief financial officer, copper and diamonds and before that group treasurer of Rio Tinto plc and held senior posiions
at Alcan Inc. including wice president, investor relations and media retations, and chief pension investment officer and assistant treasurer
Prior to that he held semior management postions at General Matars, including as serior manager, capital planning, and managing
dwector of Vauxhall Master Hire

Ulf 15 a non-executive director of Turquarse Hill Resources Limited (a company listed on the Toronto Siock Exchange)

Bill Seeger
Non-executive Director (appointed January 2015)

o®

Bl Seeger has significant corporate finance and accounting expenence, having formerly been group finance director of GKN plc and, prior
to thay, president angd CEQ of the prapulsion systems and special products dmsion and CFQ in the aerospace dvision of GKN - He spent
most of his career at TRW, laTterly i semior finance roles, sncluding as vice-president, financial planning and analyss, and wice-president,
finance of TRW Autormotve

Billis a non-executive director of Smiths Group plc and wvisiting professor at UCLA Anderson School of Management

Kjersti Wiklund
Noh-executive Director (appointed January 2017)

®®

Kjersti Wiklund brings significant knowledge of the international tefecommunications sector. Kjerst has held a series of senior global roles
including director, group technology aperations at Viodafone, chief aperating officer of vimpelCom Russia; deputy chief executve officer
and chef tachnology officer of Kywstar in Ukrame, executive vice-president and chief technology officer of Digi Tetecormurications n
Malaysia, and executive vice-president and chief nfarmation officer at Telenor in Norway Kjersti was previcusly a non-executive duector of
both Cxense ASA and Fast Search & Transfer ASA in Norway and Telescence Incin the LISA.

Kjersti s a non-executive director of Lad pic

Martha Wyrsch
Non-executive Director (appainted June 2012)

®®

Martha Wyrsch has held a number of sesuor executve posiions i the energy industry and has significant expenence in the North
American markets She carrently holds the position of executive wee-president and general counsel of Sempra Energy, 8 company quoted
on the New York Stock Exchange Previously, she was president of Vestas Amencas, a subsidiary of Vestas Wind Systems A/5 and prior to
that she was president and CEQ of Spectra Energy Transmission She was previously a non-execulve director of SPX Corporation

Martha 1s a director of the Cristo Rey Network (2 US educationai foundation), George Washington Unwversity Board of Trustees (2
nan-profit US unwersity), $an Diego Gas and Electne Company (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sempra Energy), Southern Calformia Gas
Company {a US subsidiary of Sempra Energy with publicly-traded shares}, and lenova, $ A B (3 Mexican subsidiary of Sempra Energy).
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Executive Committee

Jo Hallas
Business Group Director (apponted May 2014)

Jo has responsibiiity for the In-line Instrumentation and Industnal Controls segments, She has axtensive
international management experience, most recently as general manager residential controls at invensys plc.
Prior to this, she was at the Bosch Group where she held management positions in both the UK and Germany
She started her career at Procter & Gamble where she served in a nurmber of management roles in Germany,
the USA and Asia She has an engineering degree from the Uniersity of Cambnidge and an MBA from
INSEAD She is currently a non-executive director of Norcros plc

Andrew Harvey
Group Human Resources Director (appointed January 2017)

Andrew has considerable human resources experience gained in areas including change management, talent
and development, employee engagement, acquisitions and disposals. Andrew joined Spectns from GKN
where he served as senior VP human resources in the aerospace divsion and subsequently as senior VP hurnan
resources in the automotive division Prior ta GKN, he was VP human rescurces with Sequana Private Equity
which followed a series of senior human resource leadership roles with industrial companies in the UK

and Europe

Eoghan O'Licnaird
Business Group Director (appointed February 2014)

Eoghan has responsibility for the Matenals Analysis and Test and Measurement segments He has wide-ranging
engineering and commercial expertise, having previously been president of the Leica Micrasystems dvision of
Danaher Corporation in Germany Pror to this, he spent 11 years in Phulips in 3 number of management roles,
latterty as CEO of the respironics sleep business unit based in the USA. He started his career with Mitsul Mining
& Smelting where he held a number of engineering and commercial positions

Mark Serfozd
General Counse! and Company Secretary (appointed Qctober 2017)

Mark joined Spectris from Rofis-Royce plc where he served as director of risk for four years and before that

he spent 18 years at BAE Systems plc where he held a number of sentor legal posiions including, latterly, the
role of group chief counset comphance and regulation Mark gualified as a solicitor in 1990 and 1s a member of
the University College London Centre for Ethics and Law Advisory Board.

Ken Smith
President, Asia Pacific (apponted July 2012)

Ken has over 30 years' engineenng and industrial business experence, 23 of which have been spent in Asia
Having started his career in Switzerland, with vartous management positions in R&D and product portfolio
management, he moved to Asia where he had a number of operational roles, including president of Schindler
Japan and president Asia and global materals diwmsion for Delore Stellite,

Robin Stopford
Group Head of Corporate Development (appointed Novermber 2013)

Robin has extensive expenence in leading corperate growth, from the development of the strateqy through to
1ts implementation, within diverse industrial groups such as Doncasters and Low & Bonar PLC  Robin also spent
several years at Bain & Company, the leading strategy consultants, Robin began his career at Rolls-Royce plc
where he served in a variety of engineering and management roles He has an enginegring degree from
Ourharn University and an MBA from Wharton where he was a Palmer Scholar
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Key Areas of Board Activity During the Year

The Board is collectively
responsible for the
long-term success of the
Company. This is achieved
through the appropriate
consideration of strategic,
operational, financial
and risk matters. This
page details the focus

of the Board during

2017 in support of that
responsibility.

Strategy

)

Held a detailed annual strategy off-site
meeting for the Board and Executive

Reviewed the Group's operating model
In hght of the agreed strategic direction
of the Group

Deep-dive presentation on the Group's
strategy 1n the Asia Paafic region.
Received a detailed synopsis of the
Industnal Internet of Things

Solutions opportunity

Acquisitions, disposals and IVs

H

Approved the acquisition of both
The Omnicon Group, Inc and Setpoint

Approved the divestrnent of Microscan

Undertook 24-month post-acquisition
reviews of ESG and Reliasoft and a
five-year post-acquisition review

of Omega,

Reviewed the Group's acguisition pipeline
Approved the formation of a joint
veniure with Macquarie Capital through
the divestment of 50% of the Group's
EMS business

Operations and risk

Regular operational updates from the
Business Group Directors

Stte visits to Malvern Panalytical and
Omeqga faciities

Presentations from the Presidents of
Malvern Panalytical, Particle Measunng
Systemns, Omega, Red Lion and NDC
Technologles

¥

Reviewed the Group's principal rnisks and
systems for identification, management
and mrigation.

Leadership and people

}

Drscussed the compasition of the
Board and its Commuttees, including
succession planning

Attended an organisational capabihity
review led by the newly-appainted Group
Human Resaurces Director

Reviewed the development of people
and the potential talent within the serwor
management community, including
succession planning for senior leaders

Appointed a new General Counsel and
Company Secretary

Finance

)

Monitered progress against the 2017
financial plan and consideration and
approval of the 2018 finanaal plan
Reviewed the potential impact and
progress of Project Uphft

Approved the Annual Report, intenim
results and fulthalf year results
presentations to analysts

Considered and approved the Group's
gong concern and viability statements
Reviewed and recommended the

final and interm dwdend

Reviewed matenal capital expenditure
requests from operating companies

Governance and ethics

b

Appointment and induction of the
new Chairman

Reviewed and agreed an updated
schedule of matters reserved to
the Board

Discussed the outcome of the 2016
external Board evaluation and agreed
opportunities for imgrovement.

Completion of an internal evaluation of
the Board, Remuneration Committee
and Audit and Risk Committee, led
respectively by the Chairman and the
Chairmen of the Board Committees.

Reviewed feadback from institutional
shareholders

Reviewed and approved the terms of
reference for the Board Committees.

Received regular reports from Audit and
Risk, Nomination and Remuneration
Commsttee Chawmen

Reviewed developments in corporate
governance and receved key legal
and regulatory updates

Conducted regular meetings of the
Non-executive Directors without
management being present
Undertook an annual detailed review
of the Group's ethics programme and
internim updates on reports taken at
the Audit and Risk Committee.
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Board Activity

Board diversity policy

The Board reviewed its approach 10 the promotion of diversity i
January 2018. Following this review and mindful of the findings of
the Hampton-Alexander Review and the Parker Review, the Board
has approved the following policy on dwersity

The Board 1s committed to further prometing diversity and
inclusiveness of all kinds throughout the Group, regardless of
geography or postion The Board agrees that diversity, which
should be construed in its broadest sense and includes gender and
ethnic diversity, 1s an important factor in Board effectiveness and
the Group is a supportive partiapant of the Hampton-Alexander
Review which sets a target for the percentage of women on FTSE
boards and leadership teams 10 reach one third by 2020

In support of this policy, the Nomination Commitiee will conduct
an annual review of progress towards achieving a more dwerse
workforce at alf levels within the organisation. In particular, the
Committee wall*

» aspire to long hists of potential non-executive directors including
50% female candidates;

» only engage executive search firms who have signed up to the
Valuntary Code of Conduct for Executive Search Firms on gender
diversity and best pracuce,

work closely with the Group Hurnan Resources Director during
2018 to review the Group's approach 10 talent management and
succession planning. In particular, ensuring that initiatives are in
place ta develop the talent pipeline and to promote dversity in
sentor leadership appointments with consideration being given to
the nature, varety and frequency of interaction between the
Board and aspiring candidates at all levels, and

ensure that high-performing erployees from within the business
and from a vaniety of backgrounds, who have the requisite skills,
are given greater exposure to the nomination committees of
other FTSE 350 companies.

The Board will report annually on progress.

-

v

induction of Non-executive Directors

Kjersti Wiklund and Kanm Bitar joined the Board dunng the year
and followed a tailored induction programme, which included
dedicated time with the Group Executive and visits to operating
companies within each of the four business sectors

+ They met with the Chairman, Chief Executive and Group Finance
Director on a one-to-one basis on appointment and subsequently
met the other members of the Board and Executive Committee
along with senior managers from head office functions and
the sectors.

» The Company Secretary provided a comprehensive ovensiew of
the Group and the legal and organisational structure, the
governance framewark; the role of Non-executive Directors; key
business contacts at Group, sector and operating company level,
and details of the external advisers

Karim Bitar spent a day with the Project Uplift warking group to
gain an insight into their work

Information regarding the induction process for the new Chairman
dunng the year can be found on page 57

~

Ongoing Board training and development

Board meetings are held regularly at our operating company sites,
giving the Board the opportunity to tour the sites, meet local
management and employees and gain an in-depth knowledge of
our aperations. During 2017, the Board visited Omega in the USA
for s April meeting and Malvern Panalytical in the Netherands for
its October meetings

In October 2017, the Board visited the
offices of Malvern Panalytical in Almelo, the
Netherlands, to review the progress made to
merge the businesses during 2017. Paolo
Carmassi, the President of Malvern
Panalytical, toured the facility with the Board
and provided an overview of how the newly
combined cormpany was working 1o leverage
its joint resources in order 1o deliver a more
complete range of praducts, solutions and
services 1o a broader set of markets and
customers and to grow its service offering.
Qutside of the formal meeting, the Board
met with the executive team and cther

key employees to better understand

the development of the jont

business proposition.
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Board evaluation

in accordance with current best practice and the Code, the Board
undertakes an annual formal evatuation of its performance and
effectiveness and that of each Director and its Committees it 15 the
Board's policy to invite external evaluation every three years

As disclesed In the 2016 Annual Report, the 2016 Board and
Committee evaluation was facilitated externally by Dr Tracy Long
CBE of Boardroom Rewview. Dr Long 15 independent, her only
connection with Spectns is her work on the Board evaluation.

The Board continued to consider Dr Long’s recommendations
during 2017 and, on appointment, the Chairman revisited the
recommendations when considesing hus prionties for the year

The 2017 Board evaluation was facirtated by the Charman with
the support of the Company Secretary and was undertaken in
December 2017. This was supplemented by individual evalyation
exercises for each Board Committee which were managed by the
relevant Committee chairman The final evaluation report and
suggested prionties were discussed by the Board at its meeting
February 2018,

The Chairman and the Company Secretary wall assess progress
2gainst the priarities agreed durning the evaluation process at
regular intervals during 2018

Actions taken following the 2016 external
Board evaluation

Priorities for 2018 following the 2017
Board evaluation

Strategic ambition

The Board met dunng the year to undertake an in-depih review
of the Group's strategy This meeting was the culmination of a
detailed workstream undertaken by the Executive Committee 1o
map the Group's strategy out to 2020 In therr review, the Board
gave particuiar attention to the review of the Group's prinapal
risks and also the proposed crgamisation model that would
support the Group's strategy

Strategic implementation

The Board will focus on monitoring and supporting the
implementation of the agreed strategy and considenng the rnsks
related to that implementation The Board will also undentake a
series of deep-dive reviews into the current risk appetite and
mitigation plans in place regarding the Group's principal risks.

Stakeholder management

The Executive Directors met regularly with shareholders
throughout the year On his appointment, the Chairman also
met with key investors Members of the Board also met with
analysts at a Capital Markets Day held at the Millbrook Proving
Ground in May 2017

Developing stakeholder communication

The Board will focus on the continued development of a clear
narratwe for communicating progress against the Group's
strategy to the investor community. The Board will also spend
time considering commurication of the Group's strategy with
employees and considering an appropriate method for
gathering the views of the Group's employee base.

Pattern of meetings and information flow

The pattern of Board and Committee meetings was altered o
include regular Board dinners and formal scheduled private
meetings for the Non-executive Directors. The introduction of a
forward agenda for Board and Committee meetings, together
with the adoption of a consistent form of Board papers and
monthly update reports between scheduled Board meetings,
has improved both information flow, agenda planning and the
quality of Board discussion.

Enhanced Board interaction

in planning the Board's agenda for the year, continued focus
will be placed on dedicating more tume to open dialogue,
debate and discusston outside of the formal meeting agenda
The Chairman will also work with the Company Secretary to
introduce external speakers at certain Board dinners.

Succession planning

Dunng the year, the Nomination Committee undertook a
detaled review of the Group's Board and Executive SuccCession
planring processes with the support of the newly-appainted
Group Human Resources Director As part of this review, the
Commiitee considered immediate succession plans and the
talent pipeline to support long-term succession.

Succession planning

Building on work initiated in 2017, the Namination Committee
will meet at regular infervals during the year to assess the
progress made in developing the Group's organisation model to
support the Group's agreed strategy The Committee will also
focus on the development of the Group's talent pipeline and the
enactment of the Board's diversity policy within the business

Chairman and Nen-executive Director inductton programmes

Considerable time was spent during 2017 on the induction
of two new Non-executive Directors and the new Chairman

Board continuing education

The Board will intraduce a Non-executive Directer training and
development programme which will bring together a vanety of
informal briefings, techmical updates and further drect
interaction with the operating compantes
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Nomination Committee Report

The Committee has taken note of the Financial Reporting Counal's
discussion paper on UK Board Succession Planning and, in
particular, the recommendation that the Committee should
regufarly evaiuate the senior management team and maintain

a broad oversight of talent ranagement processes within

the Company.

In consideration of this recommendation and in support of the
Group's developing strategy, the Commuttee has focused dunng
the year on reviewing and challengeng talent management and
succession planning at a Group Executive and at an operating
cormpany management level This focus culminated in December
2017 in the Committee holding a deep-dive discussion, led by the
Group Human Resources Director, t0 review immediate and
long-term executive succession plans and to ensure that intiatives
were in place to develop the talent pipeline and to promote
diversity of thinking within the organisation. The Committee will
revisit these discussions duning 2018.

Mark Williamson
Chairman of the Normination Committee
19 February 2018

Role of the Committee

The Committee leads the process for Board appointments and
makes recommendations to the Board in this regard In fulfiling this
role, the Committee evaluates the balance of skils, experience,
independence and knowledge on the Beard and, in the light of this
evatuation, prepares a description of the role and capabilives
required for every appointment The Board values diversity and
when recruiting new Board members it addresses the issue of
diversity, with particular regard to the percentage of women on

the Board.

The key responsibilities of the Committee are:
» reviewang the size, structure and composition of the Board,
> recommending membership of Board Committees;

» undertaking succession planning for the Chairman, Chief
Executive and other Directors and senior management;

» searching for candidates for the Board, and recommending
Directors for appomtment;

» determining the independence of Directors,
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During the year the Committee focused
heavily on the search for a new Chairman
and | would like to thank Russell King

for leading this process on behalf of

the Board.

L

Mark Williamson
Chawrman

> assessing whether Directors are able to commit enough ttime
to discharge their responsibilities;

reviewng induction and training needs of Directors; and

» recommending the process and critena for assessing the
effectiveness of the Board and Board Commuttees and the
contnbution of the Chairman and individual Directors 1o
the effectiveness of the Board and helping to implement
these assessments

-

Detalled terms of reference for the Committee can be found at
WWwW Spectns.com

Membership and attendees

As at 31 Decembier 2017, the members of the Committee were
Mark williamson, Russell King, Martha Wyrsch, Kjersti Wiklund and
John O'Higgins Meetings of the Committee are normally attended
by the Group HR Director From January 2018, all Non-executive
Directors became members of the Committee and, in support of
best governance practice, John O'Higgins ceased to be a formal
mernber of the Committee and became a standing attendee.

Activities of the Committee during 2017
Dunng the year, the Committee’s key activities included.
» the appointment of a new Chairman,

» gverseeing a search and selection process for an additionat
Non-executive Director with Me stiences experence. This process
was supported by Egon Zehnder and resulted in the
recommendation of the appointment of Kanm Bitar to the Board
in March 2017,

» considenng the independence of each Non-executive Director
and whether each Director continued to be able to allocate
sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities effectively; and

» prowding continued oversight of a Group-wide organisational
capability review that included both Board and Executve
succession planning

The Committee's performance was assessed as part of the Board's
annuat effectweness review It was concluded that the Committee
had operated effectively.

Dunng 2018, the Committee will continue ta focus on succession
planning and supporting the diverse composition of the Board,
Executive and senior management in support of the Board's
diversity policy as set out on page 54



Recruitment of a new Chairman

In December 2016, the Group announced that Dr John
Hughes had advised the Board that he would stand down as
Chairman and Director on the appointment of a successor,
after serving as Chairman for nearly nine years and as a
Non-executve Director for nearly ten years,

Fallowing this announcement, the Board of Directors
commenced the process to recrult and appoint a new
Chairman The search was undertaken by the Nomination
Committee and led by myself as the Senior Independent
Drrector. Egon Zehnder was appointed by the Committee to
support the recruitment process Egon Zehnder is a signatory
to the Voluntary Code of Conduct for Executive Search Firms
on gender diversity and best practice and, aside from assisting
with recruitment and the development of senior leaders, has
no other links with the Company

Gwven that the announcement of John's retirement had been
made to the market in December and interested parties were
able to contact ether myself ar other Committee members, 1t
was not considered necessary to publicly advertise the role

The Committee had a number of discussions 10 scope out the
key skifls, experience, characteristics and requirements for the
role Based on these discussions, a detailed specification for
the role was prepared and shared with Egon Zehnder,

From a detaled understanding of our requirements and the
specification of the role, Egon Zehnder put together an
extensive range of potential candidates for the Comrmuttee’s
consideration After considered debate, this was narrowed
dawn to a shorthst for interview by members of the
Committee John O'Higgins also spent significant tme

with the final cancidates

The Comrmttee members were unanimous m therr final
selection of the new Chairman and on 17 May 2017, we were
pleased to announce the appointment of Mark Willamson as
Non-executive Chairman with effect from the conclusion of
the Spectns Annual General Meeting held on 26 May 2017

Mark was a strong match to our requirements with
considerable business and financial expertise combined with
broad governance expenence The Committee believes that
Mark 15 well placed to further strengthen the Spectris Board
and to support John and the team as they continue to develop
and deliver the Group’s strategy

Russell King
Senigr Independent Director

Chairman’s induction process

Following the announcerent of Mark's appointment, the Chuef
Executive and the Company Secretary devised and led a detailed
induction process which incuded an overview of the Group's
structure, history, strategy, succession plans, Board procedures,
the Group's Code of Business Ethics, previous Board effectiveness
reviews and action plans, operating and financial performance;
key relationships, and the Group's nisk profile

Key shareholders were invited to meet with Mark and to provide
him with their feedback on the Group Mark also met separately
with all members of the Executive Commuttee and other key
executives within the business

Mark visited the majonty of operating companies during hus first six
months in role, with visits to the remaining operating companies
scheduled for early 2018

Board composition

Gender diversity

_Ej See page 54 for a full descrption of the Comipany’s

diversity palicy.

Non-executive Director tenure

Board competencies and experience

Competencies
Commercial and marketing

Financal

Internet economy

International

Legal, governance and risk control

MEA and strategy

Manufacturing

Services

RAD

Experience of end-user markets

Academic research

Automotive and aerospace

Energy and utiiities

Metals, rnerals and rmning

Pulp, paper and tissue

Semicon, telecomns and electronics

Pharmaceuticals and fine chemicals
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Audit and Risk Committee Report

| am pleased 10 report to shareholders on the activities of the Audit
and Risk Committee during the year and provide insight into our
deliberations

The external governance landscape continues 1o evolve and place
further focus on the role of the Audit and Risk Commuttee The
Committee continues to pay close regard te the changes in external
requirements and | would like to thank the members of the
Commuittee, together wath management and Delortte, for their
support, guidance and challenge dunng the year as we respond to
those changes

The Committee met four imes during the year The meetings
are aligned to the Group's financial reporting timetable, to allow
sufficient tirne for full discussion of key topics and enable early
identification and resolution of risks and issues. As Chairman,

! met regularly vath management, internal audit and the external
auditor between Committee meetings. In July, | was pleased to
welcome Kanm Bitar to the Comrmittee following his
appointment to the Board

Following the competitive tender of the Company’s external audit
services in 2016 and the Board's decision to recommend the
appointment of Deloitte LLP to shareholders at the Company’s
2017 AGM, the Committee has closely monitored the transition
process and worked with Deloitte to agree the audit approach and
scope of work 10 be undertaken Deloitte undertook their first half
year review on behalf of the Group in July 2017.

The Committee I1s satisfied that Deloitte have been effective
throughout the year and we have welcomed the new challenge
and fresh perspective that the change in auditar has brought to the
Commuttee's considerations to date

The Committee considers it Important to interact with members of
management beyond the Executive Committee. The Commiittee
held its meeting in October at the offices of Malvern Panalytical in
the Netherlands and spent time wath senior leaders from both
Malvern Panalytical and Paricle Measunng Systems to discuss the
apportunities and risks faced by the operating companies.
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The Committee has welcomed the new
challenge and fresh perspective of the
change in external auditor,

. _________________ ]

Bill Seeger
Charrman of the Audit and Risk Committee

The UK Corporate Governance Code inwies the Commitiee 10
repart on the significant matters constdered durng the vear tam
satisfied that our activities have provided the Committee with a
good understanding of the key matters impacting the Group during
the year and full details are contaned on the opposite page. From
my perspective the mast important matters were

» the review of the Group's ethics programme and, in particular,
the monitoring of the mitigating actions put in place by
management to address the risk of sales diversion,

» the review of the impact of IFRS 15, a new accounting standard

applying o revenue for contracts with customers, effective for

accounting periods on or after 1 January 2018,

the review of the Omega acquisition and lessons learned

following the 2016 goadwilt impairment, and

s the evolution of our nsk management processes and
internal controls

-

As a Commttee, we will continue to focus on risk management
and, n particular, the Group’s ongoing enhancements to systems
of governance and internal contra! during 2018

| hope that you find this review, and the report that follows, useful
i understanding the work of the Committee during the year. The
Commuittee and | encourage shareholder feedback and | look
forward to meeting with shareholders at our Annua) General
Meeting in May

Bill Seeger
Chasrman of the Audit and Risk Committee
19 February 2018



Key areas of focus

Issue and signihcance

The role of the Committee

Comments and conchusion

Impact of IFRS 15

Under the new Standard, an entity 1s
required to recognise revenue when it
transfers goods/services to the customer In
an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods and services
This wall require the use of more
judgement and estimation than the
current standard and, i certain situations,
will result In the revenue being deferred
and recognised aver a peniod of time
rather than at a paint In time which 1s
likely to affect the measurement and
timing of the recognition of revenue

The Commiittee considered the main
changes to revenue recognition required
under IFRS 15 for the Group, the actions
undertaken by management to prepare
for both implementation for the year
ending 31 December 2018 and to
support the disclosure required in the
2017 Annual Report and the expected
impact on the Group’s revenue

The Committee supported the
Judgements made by management
regarding the hkely impact of I(FRS 15 for
the year ending 31 December 2018 and
agreed with management that, due to
the year-on-year impact for the Group
being relatively small, the opening
balance sheet for 1 January 2018 should
be adjusted to reflect the cumulative
impact of the change, rather than the
Group undertaking a full restatement

of comparatives.

Provisions for taxation

Provisions held in respect of tax risks are
included within current and deferred tax
habilities depending on the underlying
circurmnstances of the prawsion
Management judgement is exercised In
arriving at the amounts {o be provided
Management confirmed to the Committee
that the provisions recorded at 31
December 2017 represent their best
estimate of the likely financial exposure
faced by the Group

The Commuttee reviewed and challenged
the approach taken by management and
Deloitte explained to the Committee the
work conducted dunng the year,
including how their audit procedures
were focused on those provisions with
the highest level of jJudgement on
recognition criteria and/or measurement.

Following discussion with both
management and Deloitte regarding the
key judgements which had been made,
the Committee was satisfied that they
were reasonable and that, accordingly,
the provision amounts recorded were
appropnate, Further detals of the
Group’s taxation provision are set

out on page 30

Use of alternative performance
measures (APMs)

The Company's performance measures
continye ta include some measures which
are not defined or specified under IFRS
Further detai! is set out in the Financal
Rewiew on page 28

The Committee noted the guidance
issued by the European Secunties and
Markets Authority and by the Financial
Reporting Council {'FRC') in relation to
the use of APMs and, supported by the
challenge of Deloitte, considered whether
the performance measures used by
management provided a meaningful
insight into the results of the Company
for its sharehoiders

The Commuttee concluded that, in
refation to the half and full year 2017
results and the 2317 Annual Report, clear
and meaningful descriptions had been
provided for the APMs used It was also
concluded that the relationship between
these measures and the statutory IFRS
measures was clearly explained and
supported the considered understanding
of the Frmancial Statements

Estimation, uncertainty and judgement
During the year, the Committee recewed
reports and recommendations from
management and the external auditor to
consider the sigmificant accounting issues,
estimates and judgernents applicable to
the Group's Financial Statements and
disciosures

The key risks of estmation disclosed 1n the

Group's 2017 Financial Statements are

v the assumptions applied in the calculation
of retirement benefit plan liabiliwes, and

» prowisions for uncertain exposures and
lax positions

Further details are set out in Note 1, Note 9
and Note 20 to the Financial Statements

Management confirmed to the
Committee that they were not aware
of any matenal or immaternal
misstatements made intentionally

{0 achieve a particular presentation

The Committee reviewed presentations
made to the Committee by management
and questioned Deloitte to understand
whether the external auditor had, to the
Committee’s satisfaction, fulfilled its
responsibilities with diligence and
professional scepticism and in a
sufficiently robust manner

The Committee noted the nclusion of the
Group's 2016 Annual Report in the FRC's
thematic review of significant accounting
judgements and sources of esttmation
uncertainty and the subsequent

feedback receved.

After reviewing the presentations and
reports from management and
consulting, where necessary, with the
external auditor, the Comrnittee 15
satisfied that the Financial Statements
appropriately address crrtical judgements
and key estimates {both in respect of the
amounts reported and the disclosures)

The Commuttee is 2lso satisfied that the
significant assumptions used for
determining the value of assets and
abilties have bheen appropriately
scrutinised and challenged and are
sufficiently robust.

In relation to the FRC's review of the
significant accounting judgements and
sources of estimation uncertainty set out
in the 2016 Annual Report, the
Committee noted that the feedback
contamned no substantive issues and
supported management's consideration of
the inclusion of addilional information
recommended by the FRC
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Audit and Risk Committee Report continued

Role of the Committee

The Committee supports the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in
respect of overseeing the Company's financial reparting processes;
reviewing, challenging and approving significant accounting
judgements proposed by management, the way In which
management ensures and monitors the adequacy of financral and
compliance controls; the appointment, rermuneration,
independence and performance of the Group's external auditor;
and the independence and performance of internal audit.

Details of the work carred out by the Committee In accordance
with its terms of reference and in addressing significant issues are
reported to the Board as a matter of course by the Chairman of the
Committee and are described in this report. The terms of reference
for the Cornmittee can be found at www.spectris.com

Membership and attendance

The Committee is compnised solely of independent Non-executive
Directors. Bill Seeger, Martha Wyrsch and Ulf Quelimann were
members of the Commuttee throughout 2017 Kanm Bitar became
a member of the Committee on joming the Board in July 2017,

Bill Seeger 15 determined by the Committee to have "recent and
relevant financial expenence’ as required by the Code All members
of the Commuttee are considered to have competencies that

the Board deems relevant to the sectors in which the

Company operates

Meetings are normally attended by the Chairman, the Chief
Executive, the Finance Director, the Head of Internal Audtt, the
General Counsel and Company Secretary and representatives of
the external auditor The Committee retains time at the end of
each meeting to meet separately without management present
and inwites the Head of Internal Audit and the external auditor
to attend for part of this session

Performance review

The Commitiee’s performance was assessed during the year
under the stewardship of the Committee Chairman and this
review was fed into the wider Board evaluation process which
was led by the Chairman. It was concluded that the Committee
operated effectively.

Activities of the Committee during 2017

The Cammittee has an annual forward agenda developed from
1ts terms of reference with standing terns considered at each
meeting in addition to any specific matters ansing and topical
business or financial items on which the Committee has chosen
to focus The work of the Committee In 2017 principally fell into
three main areas

1. Accounting, tax and financial reporting

» reviewing the integnty of the half year and Annual Financial
Staternents and the associated significant financial reporting
judgements, estimates and disclosures,

» considering the liquidity risk and the basis for preparing the half
year and Annual Financial Statements on a going concern basis,
and reviewing the related disdosures in the Annual Report and
Accounts,

» considenng the provisions of the Code regarding gowg concern
and wability staterments and reviewing emerging practice and
investor comment as well as the Group's Viabibity Statement,
reviewing updates on accounting matters including the new

accounting standards on revenue (iFRS 15} and financial
instruments (IFRS 9);

v
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» reviewing the Group's tax policy and agreeing the Group's 1ax
strategy ahead of #s publcation on the Group's external
website, and

» reviewing the processes to assure the ntegrity of the Annual
Report and Accounts as well as reviewing

» the management representation letter to the external auditor;
the findings and opinions of the external auditor,

-

the disclosures in relation to internal controls and the work of
the Commuttee;

that the informatian presented in the Annual Report and
Accounts, when taken as a whole, 1s farr, balanced and
understandable and contains the information necessary for
sharehoiders to assess the Company's performance, business
maodel and strategy,

+ the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
designed to ensure that the Annual Report and Accounts
complies with all relevant legal and reguiatory requirements;

the process designed to ensure the external auditor is aware of
all ‘relevant audit information’, as required by Sections 418
and 419 of the Companies Act 2006; and

» the Directors’ Repoit

~

~

2. Risk management and internal controls

+ assessing the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control environment and making recommendations to
the Board;

» considering reports from internal audit,

» considenng the level of alignment between the Company's
principal nsks and internal audit programme;

» reviewing the adequacy of resources of the internal audit
function and considening and approving the scope of the internal
audit programme;

» considering the effectiveness of internal audit,

» reviewang the Group's ongong lirgation matters,

reviewing the control procedures 1n place to comply with

the Group's policies on business ethics, anti-bribery, compliance

and fraud;

» reviewing matters reported to the externat whistleblowing

hotline and the status of associated investigations, and

considenng reports from the external auditor on therr assessment
of the contral environment.

Further detals of the Group's whistleblowing policy and approach
to the management of ethical conduct are set out in the Ethics
Report on pages 46 and 47

3. External auditor

> overseeing the on-boarding of the new external auditor,

» considenng and approving the audit approach and scope of the
audit undertaken by Deloitte as external auditor and the fees for
the same,

v agreeing reporting materiality thresholds,
» reviewing reports on audit findings,

» considenng and approving letters of representation 1ssued to
Deloitte, and

» considering the independence of Deloitte and their effectiveness,
taking into account

» non-audit work undertaken by the external auditor;
» feedback from a survey targeted at vanious stakeholders, and
» the Committee’s own assessment



Internal control and risk
management systems

The Board 15 responsigle for determining the nature and extent of
the significant nsks it is willing to take in achiewng its particular
chjectives and 15 ultimately responsible for the effeciiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems that safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets To ensure the
effectiveness of these systems, at the Board's request, a robust
assessment of the principal nsks facing the Group 15 undertaken by
the Committee,

Before reporting its findings and recommendations 1o the Board,
the Committee:

v evaluates the results and recommendations of audits undertaken
by the internal audit team and the external auditor;

+ reviews reports received on significant control issues to the
Group and considers and challenges as necessary the adequacy
of management’s response to any matters raised,

» appraises the Group's response to information security and data

protection risks,

censiders the Group's ethics programme and the anti-bnbery and

corruption audit programme,

considers common control themes identified throughout the

business, and where themes are identfied, ensures that

subsequent action has been taken to mimimise the sk,

assesses the Group's responsibilities relating to regulated

exposures of the Group,

» reviews the annual Audit and Risk Committee agenda; and

has oversight of the governance and nsk management

framework, including a definition of nsk appetite by nsk categery

and principal risk, put in place throughout the Group.

The effectiveness of risk management and mitigation 1s reviewed
regularly by the Executive Commitiee and twice yearfy by the Audit
and Risk Committee The Board notes that, as with all such systems,
the Group’s nsk management and internal control framework 1s
designed to manage rather than elimmate risk of fallure to achieve
business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not
absolute assurance against matenal misstatement or loss

Viability Statement

The Committee reviewed the 2015 Viability Statement and the
draft 2017 Viability Statement in ight of comments made by the
FRC and the Investment Association regarding the first wability
statements published by companies and remains of the view that
the statement made regarding the Company’s viability period
continues to he an accurate assessment of the Campany's
wiability as at the date of the report

The Viabrity Staternent 15 set cut on page 39.

Independent assurance

Internal audit

The Commuittee has oversight responsibilities for the internal audit
function which is led by the Head of internal Audit

The purpese of the Internal Audit function is to provide
independent, abjective assurance 1o add value and improve the
Group’s operations s responsibilities include assessing the key risks
of the orgamisation and examining, evaluating and reporting on the
adegquacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal control and
visk managernent in place, and the governance processes in
operation throughout the Group

During the year, the Committee considered the internal audit
programme for the forthcoring year and reviewed the proposed
audit approach, coverage and allocation of resources

The Committee also reviewed the progress updates against the
2017 actraity of internal audit, receved reports on 1ssues of
significance to the Group and reported to the Board on its
evaluation of these findings

External auditor

The Committee 15 responsible for managing the relationship with
the Group's external auditor on behalf of the Board

The Cornpany last undertook a tender for external audit services
during 2016 which led to the appointment of Deloitte LLP at the
May 2017 Annual General Meaung (AGM")

During the year, the Committee carned out a preliminary
assessment of the auditors which focused on ther performance
during the half year review and their on-boarding process and
reported these findings to the Board To support this assessment,
the Committee mwited members of the Group and operating
company finance teams to prowide their feedback In addition, the
Committee reviewed the Audit Quality Inspection public report for
2016/17 for Deloitte After taking these reports into consideration,
together with the auditor's report on their approach to audit qualty
and transparency and having given consideration to the Financial
Reporting Council’s Revised Ethical Standard 2016, the Committee
concluded that the auditors demonstrated appropriate
qualifications and expertise and remained independent of the
Group and that the audit pracess was effective

Foliowing the tender process and the appointment of Deloitte, the
Committee reviewed the proposed engagement letter and
determmed the proposed remuneration of Deloitte in accordance
with the authority given to it by shareholders at the 2017 AGM
The Committee conssdered the proposed auditor's remuneration to
be appropriate

it is propesed that Deloitte be re-appointed as auditors of the
Company at the next AGM in May 2018 and, of so re-appointed,
that they will hold office untd the conclusion of the next general
meeting of the Company at which accounts are laid. Further details
are set out in the Notice of Mieating which s available at
www.spectns.com

The Group will continue the practice of the rotatton of the audit
engagement partner at least every five years, with all other
partners and senior management required 1o rotate at least
every seven years

The independent external auditor's report to sharehalders 1S set out
on pages 84 ta 91.

Non-audit fees

The Committes believes that non-audit work may only be
undertaken by the external auditer n imited arcumstances A
cumulative annual cap 15 imposed for non-audit services provided
by our external auditor (save for acquisiton due diligence and
limited taxation services), above which all engagements are subject
to the Committee’s prior approval

Non-audit fees for services prowided by Deloiite for the year
amounted to £0 1mihon {6% of the audit fee) Further detalls are
included in Note 5 to the Ainancial Statements The Committtee’s
non-audit services policy 15 available at vavw spectris com
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Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

The UK Listing Rules stipulate that Iisted companies must include in their annual report a statement of whether they have
complied with all the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Cede 2016 (‘the Code'), which can be found at

www frc.org uk.

Dunng 2017, Spectns has complied fully with the Code The notes below are intended to assist with the evaluation of
Spectris' compiiance during 2017 and the processes put in place to support the continuation of best governance principles

A. Leadership

B. Effectiveness continued

A.1 The role of the Board

The Board is collectvely responsible for promoting the success of Spectns and the
operation of effective governance arrangernents with a view 1o the creation of
strong, sustamable finangal performance and long-term shareholder vatue, The
steps the Board takes to fachtate this are outiined in the Governance repon set
out on pages 48 to 82

The Board met seven tmes in 2017 in order to revew the Company's
performance and strategy against set objectives Details of Board and Board
Committee attendance for 2017 are set out on page 49

The Board has adopted a clear schedule of matters reserved for its specific
approva), induding a framework for those deasions which can be delegaled to
committees or otherwise. A full st of matters reserved to the Board 1s avallable at
VAW SOECTIS COMT

All Direcors. are covered by a directors’ and officers’ insurance policy

A.2 Division of responsibilities

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate, with both having
distinct and clearty defined responsibiiities which are established in wirtten
tenms of reference that have been agreed by the Board and which are available
at waww spactris,com The Chairman s responsible for the leadership and
eHectvenass of the Board, and the Chief Executrve is responsible for leading the
day-lo-day management of the Company withun the strategy set by the Sioard

A.3 The Chairman

The Chairman sets the agenda for meetings, manages the meeting timetable and
faciitates open and constructive dialogue dunng the meetings

The Chawman was independent on appontiment.

A.4 Non-executive Directors

The Chairman promotes an open and constructive enviranment in the boardroom
and actively invites the Non-executive Directors’ views 1o help develop proposals
on strategy and scrutinise the pertormance of management agaimst set goals

and objectves They should satisfy themseives on the integnty of financal
information and that financal controls and systems of risk management are
robust and defensible.

Russedl King s the Senior Independent Nan-executive Director and 15 available to
meet with shareholders f requrad The Chairman meets wath Non-executive
Directors in the absence of the Executive Directors at regular intervals dunng the
year, angd the Servor Independent Non-executive Director leads a meeting with the
Non-exacutive Directors without the Chairman present at least once a year

Dunng the year, the Directors had no unresolved concerns aboun the running of
the Company or any proposed action

B. Effectiveness

B.1 The composition of the Board

There are currently six Non-executive Directors in atidition to the Chaimman and
two Executive Directors on the Board.

The composition of the Board 15 revewved reqularly by the Nomination Committee
to ensure that there 1s an appropriate mix of skills, expenence, diversity {induding
gender), independence and knowledge on the Board. Board members’
biographies are provided on pages S0 and 51, which identfy the expenence each
Drrector brags to the Board Dhagrams identifying the skills and experience of
Board members can be found on page 57. The 2017 Board evaluation
determined that the 8oard continued to be effective and that the cument
Directors’ backgrounds provided a good mix 1o meet curent and fulure needs
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The Board determines, through the Nomination Commitiee, the independence of
its members The Board considers all of its Nor-executve Directors to be
ndependent and free of any business relationships that could compronise the
exerase of independent and objective judgement Conflicts of interest are
regularly monitored

8.2 Appointments to the Board

The Namination Committee leads all appomtments of new Directors to the Board,
applyng a ngorous and transparent process mindful of ment, objectaty and
diversity Details of its actinties undertaken dunng the year, induding the search
and selection process that led to the appointment of the new Chairman,
suecession planning and talent management, can be found in the Neminatian
Commnuttee report on pages 56 and 57

A full descripton of the Company’s dversity policy 15 set out on page 54

The terms of reference for the Nominauon Commitiee are available at
WA SDECs. com

B.3 Commitment

The Nomination Camrittee considers en appomntment and annually the time
neaded to fulfil the roles of Chairman, Senior Indepandent Director and
Non-executve Director and ensures that the Non-executive Directors will have
sufficent bme to fullil ther duties

On appaintment, and as at the date of this repont, the Chairman’s significant
hsted company interests are as chairman of Impenal Brands plk and sentor
independent non-executive director of National Gnd plc The Soard has formally
reviewed the Chaiman's other commitments and confirms that it betieves that
the Chaimman’s obligatons to the Company are properly fulfilled notwsthsianding
these directarships Indeed, the Board 1s appreciative of the additional skills and
expenience the Chaiman brings 1o the Board ansing from these cirectorships

In Novernber 2017, John O'Higgins joined the Board of Johnson Matthey plc asa
non-executve direcior Clive Watson has been a non-executive director of
Spirax-Sarco Engineenng plc since 2009

B.4 Development

New Directors receive a full, formal and tailored induction on joiring and the
Chairman rewews and agrees subsequent trawing and development needs with
the Board on at least an annual basis. Details of the induction programmes
provded to Mark Withamson, Kjerst Wikiund and Kanm Bitar are set aut on pages
57 and 54

In April 2017, the Board wisted Omega in the USA and in October 2017, the
Board wsited our Malvern Panalytcal facility in the Netherlands to support its
familarity with the Group's operations Further details are set out on page 54

B.5 Information and support

The Chairman is responsible for the debvery of accurate, umely and clear
information to the Darectors, with support from the Campany Secretary,

Diectors are able to sabat independent professional agvice at the Company’s
expense where specific expertise 1s required in the course of discharging their
duties Al Directors have access o the General Counsel and Company Secretary,
who is responsible for ensunng compliance with appropnate statutes

and regulations.

B.6 Evaluation

The Board and the Board Committees undertook an internal evaluation m 2017
which was led by the Chairman and the Committee Chairmen and induded 2
review of Commuttee membership, a review of Non-executive Directors whose
length of service was more than six years, the external commitments of all
Drectars and a review of the skills of each of the Directors. Further details are set
out on page 55 A summary of the relevant skills, knowledga and expenence of
Directors is shown on page 57



B. Effectiveness continued

D. Remuneration

B.7 Election/re-election

Each Director 1s subject to election at the first AGM following their appointrnent,
and re-etection at each subsequent AGM In determining whether a Director
should be proposed for re-election at the 2018 AGM, the Board took into account
the Nomination Cormimitiee’s adwice based on the results of a peer group revew
of each Director's contribunion 10 the Board's effectiveness, which formed part of
the mternal Board evaluation This review confirmed that afl Directors continue to
be effective and dernonstrate commitment to ther roles and the Commitiee
accordingly recommended their re-appointment

C. Accountability

€.1 Financial and business reporting

A staternent of the Directors’ responsibilities regarding the Financial Statements,
including the status of the Group s a going concern, 1s set out on page 83, with
an explanaten of the Group's sirategy and business model, together vath refevant
rsks and performance metrics, which are set cut on pages 1 10 38

A further statement 1s provided on page 83, confirming that the Board considers
that the 2017 Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, s fais, balanced
and understandable and prowides the information necessaty for shareholders to
assess the Company’s position, performance, business model and strategy

The external auditor has provided a report to the shareholders on thewr reporting
responsibilines at pages 84 1o 9

C.2 Risk management and internal contro!

The Company mantains its system of risk management and internal control

waith a view 1o saleguarding shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets
The Board has carned out a robust assessment of the principal nisks facing the
Cornpany, ncluding an assessment of the prospects of the Group Further details
can be found on pages 34 to 38,

The Directors have assessed that the appropnate peniod of lenger-term viabihty
for the Group 15 three years, as disclosed in the Viabvlity Statement on page 39
The Viability Statement includes an explanaton of haw the Directors have
assessed the prospects of the Company, over what period they have done so and
why they consider that penod to be appropnate It also ndudes a statement that
the Directors have a reasonable expeciation that the Group can continue

n operation over the three-year fonger-term walhty penod

The Board determines the Company’s risk appetite and has establshed nsk
management and internal control systerns At least annually, the Board
undertakes & review of their effectveness Further details are set out on
pages 33 and 61.

The Compary operates a robust intermal control framework which 1s routinely
monitored through a comimnation of cerification self-assessment and internal
audit reviews, complementad by a sound nisk management process This process
15 overseen by the Audit and Risk Committee

C.3 Audit committee and auditor

The Audit and Risk Committee Report on pages 58 10 61 sets out details of the
compositon of the Commuttee, Induding the experiise of members, and cutlnes
how the Committee has dscharged its responsibilittes dunng 2017

The Board has delegated a number of responsibiliies (o the Audit and Risk
Commuttee, ncluding financial and namative reporting, management of the
external and internal audit processes. internal controls, and nsk management
systems Full detalls are set out in the terms of reference for the Commitiee,
published at wwaww spectns com

D.1 The level and components of remuneration

The Remuneration Report on pages 64 1o 74 outlines the implementation of
remuneration dunng 2017, induding salary, bonus and share awards

Details of John C'Higgins® remuneration relating to his non-executive director
role at Johnson Matthey and Clive Watson's remuneration relating to hss
non-executve director rofe at Sprax-Sarco are set out on page 78

The Board believes that the current rermuneration policy, as approved by
shareholders at the 20117 AGM, remains appropriate and fit for purpose. The
Board considers that Executive [rector remuneration 1$ an appropnate balance
between fived ard performance-related, immediate and deferred remuneration,
with the latter bemng subject to demanding performance conditions aligred wath
the Group's strategic objectives, induding appropaate circumstances for Spectris
1a recaver sums paid or to withhold payment of surns

D.2 Procedure

During 2017, the Remuneration Committea comprised three Non-executive
Directars and has delegated authonty for settng the remuneration of the
Executve Directors and the Chairman The fees payable to the Non-executive
Diractors are determined by the Board Full details of resporsibiliiies are set out in
the terms of reference for the Committee available at wwww spects.com

In October 2017, the Remuneration Committee appomted PwC as its
remuneration consultant from January 2018 Further Getails regarding this
tender process are set out on page 65

During 2017, no indmdual was present when ther own remuneration was
being discussed

E. Relations with shareholders

E.1 Dialogue with shareholders

The Board recognises that meaningful engagement with institutional and retail
shareholders 1s integral to the continuing success of the Company Throughout
the year, the Board has sought to actvely engage wath sharehofders on a
numbser of occasions through meetngs, roadshows and a Capital Markets Day
m May 2017

Shareholders representing in excess of 2 5% of the Company's ssued share
capital recene a standing inwiation to meet with the Chaiman, the Senior
Independent Director or Non-executive Directors. Such meetings supplement
but do not replace the regular meetings with the Chief Executive and the Group
Finance Dwvector The Board 1s kept infarmed of the views, needs, expectations,
major 1ssues and concerns of shareholders through periodic reports nduding,
but not limited te, market feedback on ivestor relations, shareholding analysis
and consensus

E.2 Constructive use of general meetings

The next AGM will be held on 25 May 2018 and 15 an opportunity for
shareholders to vote on cenain aspects of Group business, m persen, and have
the opportunity to meet and question the Charman and Board members

The results of proxy votes are avartable at the AGM These are then published
on the Company’s website

At the AGM n 2017, there were no sigrificant votes against any of the
resodutions put before shareholders
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Annual statement from the Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Group’s 2017
Remuneration Report

We have sought to improve our disclosures further this year to
provide shareholders and stakeholders with a clear and suitably
detailed understanding of our remuneration structure. We have
summansed the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders at
the 2017 AGM rather than reproduce the policy in full The tables
on pages 66 to 69 provide an overview of the Diectors’ annual
remuneration framework and clearly detail the links between the
Group's strategy and KPls and our approach te remuneration

Full details of the policy are set out on pages 76 to 82 of the
Company’s Annual Report and Accounts 2016, a copy of which is
available on the Company's webstte wwaw,spectns.com or, upon
request, from the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered
office address.

At the 2017 AGM we received over 98% support for both our
Remuneration Policy and our annual Directors’ Remuneration
Report We are grateful to shareholders, shareholder representative
bodies, regulatory bodies and remuneration advisers for ther
engagement, feedback, challenge and support on our
remuneration during the past year.

During the year, the Committee agreed that ¢t would be
appropriate to undertake a tender process for remuneration
adwisory services in light of the significant length of the existing

relationship with the Committee’s remuneration advisers Followang

a detailed and rigorous process, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were
appointed as adviser to the Committee | would like to thank FIT
Remuneration Consuitants LLP for their strong and steady support
duning my time as Charman of the Committee The Committee
and | look forward to working with PwC on the implementation of
our current Remuneration Policy and in reviewing our response as a
Group to the evolving external remuneration landscape

The Directars’ Remuneration Report will be subject to an advisory
vote at the 2018 AGM on 25 May 2018 and we look forward to
recening your support for the vote. Tagether with the rest of the
Board, | lock forward to heanng your views on our remuneration
arrangemnents and we will be avallable to answer any questions you
may have at the AGM

2017 remuneration summary

In line with the Remuneration Policy, Executive Directors’ salanes
increased at a level consistent with average UK wage inflation
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Index to key elements of the report

Executve Directars’ Annual Report on Remuneration
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Remuneratien Commuttee R6S

We have sought to provide in this report a
clear and suitably detailed understanding

of our remuneration structure.
L

Russell King
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Percentage

2016 Salary 2017 Salary increase

John O'Higgins £578,000 £597.000 3.3%
Clive Watson £367,000 £378,500 3.0%

The target range for adjusted profit before tax for the purpose of
the Executive Directors’ annual bonus was established at the outset
of the year as fallows

0% 50%
£184.8m £203.3m

100/125%
£225 0m

The Group's perfarmance in 2017 was robust with increases in
both like-for-like sales and profit The Group achieved a 11%
increase in adpusted profit before tax and 2 14% increase in
adjusted earnings per share. This contnbuted to bonus cutcomes
for 2017 of 80.1% and 75.8% of maximum bonus opportunity
for John O'Higgins and Clive Watson respectively Detalls of ther
personal objectives, maximum bonus opportunity and on-target
percentage for 2017 are set out on pages 70 and 71 The PSP
awards granted in 2014 were measured over a three-year pericd
against TSR, EPS and EP targets and vested 11 March 2017 None
of the threshold targets were achieved and the awards lapsed in
full Further details are set out on page 72.

2018 remuneration outiook

The Executive Directors’ salanes were reviewed by the
Committes in December 2017 with a 2% increase agreed with
effect from 1 January 2018 in line wath the approach taken with
the wider population

PSP awards granted in 2015 and due to mature in March 2018 did
not meet the threshold target for EPS and EP conditions for the
three-year performance penod to 31 December 2017 which
accounted for two-thirds of the total award. Based on the intenm
TSR performance results provided by Aon Hewitt Limited as at

31 December 2017, part of the remaining one-thurd of this award
which is based on the perfarmance of TSR for the three-year
performance period ending on 5 March 2018, may vest Details of
the intenm performance outcomes are set out on page 72

The fee structure for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
was last reviewed in 2016 and the next review will take place
dunng 2G18

Russell King
Charman of the Remuneration Commitiee
13 February 2018



This Directors’ Remuneration Regort for the year ended 31 December 2017 complies with the requirements of the Listing Rules of the
UK Listing Authenty, Schedule 8 of the Large and Medum-sized Compantes and Groups (Accounts and Reports} Regulations
{Amendment) Regulattons 2013 and the provisions of the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code.

Remuneration Committee

The Committee ;s responsible for recommending to the Board the
policy for the remuneration of the Chairman, the Chief Executive,
the Group Finance Dvector and other members of the Executive
Committee and for the practical operation of the policy it regularly
reviews the balance between fixed and vanable pay and the
performance condrtions that attach to both short-term and
long-term incentives. It also manitors the level and structure of
remuneration for operating company Presidents and Managing
Directars. The remuneration of Non-executive Directors 15 a matter
reserved to the Board. The full terms of reference for the
Remuneration Committee are reviewed annually and are avallable
at vy Spectris.corm.

Committee members

All members of the Commuittee are independent Non-executive
Directors. During 2017, the members were

» Russelt King (Chairman)

» Kanm Bitar {appointed on 1 July 2017)

> Ulf Quelimann

» Kjersti Wiklund (appointed on 19 January 2017)

Committee meetings

The Committee met six times during 2017 and details of each
member’s attendance are disclosed on page 49 Only members
of the Committee have the right to attend meetings bul other
individuals and external adwisers may attend by inwitation, The
Chairman is wnvited to attend all meetings of the Committee.
During the year, the Committee also invited the Chief Executive
and Group Human Resources Director to attend meetings to
provide adwice to the Committee to allow it to make informed
decisions The Deputy Company Secretary attends all meetings
as Secretary to the Commitiee

No indmdual was present when therr own remuneration was
being discussed.

The Committee also meets without management present and
received independent remuneration advice during the year from
FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP ('FIT") and independent
nformatien from Aon Hewatt Limited (' Aon")

Advisers to the Committee

FIT has advised the Committee on Directors’ remuneration
matters since 2011 and prowded adwvisory support on Directors’
remuneration to the Committee in 2017 FIT does not provide any
other sepnices to the Company

Aon separately supports the Company in compiling IFRS 2
share-based payment reporting on the Company’s share plans
and TSR performance catculations in relation to the Company's
PSP Aon does not provide any other senvices to the Company
Total fees paid durning the financial year to these adwvisers were
FIT £23,581 (2016, £47,469) and Aon £35,352 {2016 £46,450)
These fees were charged on the basis of each firm’s standard
terms of business.

Both FIT and Aon are members of the Rernuneration Consultants
Group and adhere to 1ts Code of Conduct

The Committee 1s satisfied that the advice 1t receved from these
firms during 2017 was objective and independent.

Foliowing a ngorous and competitive tender process, the
Commuttee appointed PricewaterhouseCooper LLP {Pw(’) as1ts
independent remuneration adwviser from 1 January 2018 to adwise
the Committee on vanous aspects of the Directors’ remuneration
and to provide fee benchmarking information for the Non-
executive Directors PwC 1s a founding member of the
Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to its Code of
Canduct. During 2017, PwC provided certain project advisory
services to the Company.

Activities in 2017

The key issues considered by the Committee dunng the

year included

» 2017 Directors’ Remuneration Report,

» consideration of the introduction of an All-Employee Share

Incentive Plan to replace the existing All-Empioyee Save As You

Earn proviston,

Executive Directors’ 2017 bonus arrangements, target

performance measures and personal objectives,

» review and approval of 2017 PSP grant levels and target range
for performance measures;

> the alignment of managerment incentive awards with ethical
behaviours,

-

» the process for the competttive tender for adwisers to the
Committee and the subsequent appointment of Pw( as
independent remuneration adwisers to the Committee with effect
from 1 January 2018, and

» the change in the Group-wide annual safary review dates from
1 January to 1 April from 2018 to support alignment with the
Group’s new approach to performance management

Use of Committee discretion

No discretion was exercised by the Commuittee in respect of
remuneration dunng 2017,

Annual performance evaluation

The Charman of the Committee led the annual evaluation of the
performance of the Commuttee for 2017, wath the results being
discussed by the Commttee and forming part of the wider Board
and Committee evaluation discussion led by the Charrman

The Committee was considered to have operated effectvely
during the year

Committee focus for 2018
The planned focus for the Committee during 2018 will be

» reviewing the Group's remuneration strategy and structure
in hight of the evolving external governance landscape,

» ensuring the continued strategic ahgnment of the Directors’
Incentive arrangements,

» debating and agreeing the appropriateness of the senior
management remuneration framework in the cantext of the
Group's evolving strategy and external governance; and

» undertaking a formal annuai review of the wider workforce
reward framework
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Summary of 2017 Remuneration Policy and 2018 implementation

Our Remuneration Policy was appraved by sharehcolders at the AGM on 26 May 2017 and took effect from that date In hne with current
regulations, this policy may operate for the next three years at which point it will be reviewed and shareholder approval of a new

remuneration policy will be sought at the 2020 AGM at the latest. A summary of the key features of the Remuneration Policy along with
1ts iImplementation for 2018 are detaited in the tables below

2017 Remuneration Policy summary

to strategy
key executives

Spectns to attract and retain

specific pre-determined stretching
objectives relating to Spectns and the
individual’s personal respansibilities

1 .
Element Base salary/fees Annual bonus : Performance Share Plan ('PSP')
Fu‘rp;;e T Competitive fixed » Drives shon-tevrmn—;-n;bﬁt performance.  » Dnves the delivery of sustained
and link remuneration that enables , jncentwises Executives to achieve compound annual growth in earnings

per share ('EPS’), relative out-
performance in total sharehalder
return {'TSR") and increase in
economic profit ('EP)

Operation » Normally reviewed annually

» Benchmarked trienmially
against relevant comparators

3

H

Bonus potental set at a market-
competitive rate

Payable in cash

Bonus based on annual
performance targets

Bonus payments in excess of 60% of
salary must be used to acquire shares
1n Spectris until the minimum reguired
shareholding (300% of base salary)

15 achieved

No further bonus deferral arrangements
are currently in operation

Clawback prowvisions enable variabte
remuneration 1o be redamed under
exceptional circumsiances in the event
of any miscalculation of entrtlement,
misstaterent of accounts or incidence
of fraud

» Awards made annually with
performance conditians based over a
three-year period

» Two-year holding period for all new
awards.

» Post-tax benefit of any vested PSP
awards must be applied to the
acquisition of shares until the required
level of sharehclding 1s achieved

» Clawback provisions enable the
Committee to recoup the value of
previously vested awards from an
individual within three years of the
end of the relevant performance
period If it considers it appropriate in
the event of a material correction of
financial results previously used to
assess a performance condition or If
performance was otherwise shown to
be matenally worse than was beheved
when a performance condition
was assessed

opportunity
UK wage inflation

deems approprate

Maximum » Increases limited to the
average increase for general

» The Cammittee retains the
discretion to award increases/
reductions in excess of/below
this if, and where, it

Maximum oppartunity 1s based on base
salary

?

H

H

150% - Chief Executive
125% - Group Finance Director

Bonus starts accruing from threshold
levels of performance

» 200% of base salary

metric

group’s median

Performance  Reflects the role and the
Director's skiils, performance
and expenence, referenced to
a level at or moderately
below the comparator

The Commuttee may determing
appropriate performance measures
which are assessed annually

A mirmmumm (threshold) level of
performance will result in a bonus of
1% of base salary. At target, the bonus
level for each Executive Drrector 1s 60%
of base salary

» The Committee may determine
appropriate performance measures
and vesting levels for awards.

» 20% of award shares vest on
achievermnent of minimum
performance and 100% for
maximum performance
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Benefits in kind

Pension and other
benefits in kind

All-employee share plans

» Market-competitive
benefits in kind enabling
Spectris to attract and
retain key executives

» Market-competitive
defined contribution
pension, enabhng
Spectnis to attract and
retain key executives

+ The Spectris Savings Related Share
Option Scheme 15 operated to
encourage share ownership by
employees allowing them to share
i the long-term success of the
Group and align their interests
with those of shareholders.

Shareholding ownership

guidelines

» To encourage share
ownership by the Executive
Directors and ensure that their
interests are aligned with
those of shareholders.

Benefits in kind include
company cars or
aliowances, private fuel,
medical insurance and
life and disability
msurance and are
benchmarked perodically

» Pensions are
benchmarked periodically

» Executive Directors are able to
partiapate in the Group's ali-employee
share plans operated by Spectris,
on the same terms as other
Group employees.

Currently, the Group operates the
Spectris Savings Refated Share Option
Scherne {'SAYE Scheme') whereby an
indwidual may save up to a maximum
of the level allowed by HMRC {currently
£500) per month for a fixed period of
three years and use the balance of
savings at the end of the period to
purchase shares in Spectris at an
exeraise price set at the beginning of
the savings contract.

» The SAYE Scheme rules permit the
exercise price to be discounted up to a
maximum of 20% on the market price
referanced at the launch of each new
savings contract. Spectris does not
currently apply such a discount

~

v Each Executwe Director s
required to build a retained
shareholding in Spectris of at
least three times base salary in
value within five years of
beng apponted to the Board

» Post-tax benefit of any vested
PSP awards or any bonus
payment exceeding 60% of
base salary must be applhed to
the acquisition of shares until
the required level of
sharehoiding s achieved

» Total benefits imited to
£30,000pa

A departing gft may be
provided up to a value
of £2,500 per Director
(apples 1o both
Executive and
Non-executive Directors)

-

v 25% of salary Company
pension contribution and/
or taxable cash allowance
in leu

» £500 savings per month (HMRC it}
for a fixed period of three years

None applicable

None applicable

None applicable

None applcable

None applicable
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Implementation of the Remuneration Policy for 2018

Element Base salary/fees Annual bonus Performance Share Plan ("P5P’)

» Salary increase of 2% for
Chief Executive and 2% for
the Group Finance Director

on 1 Apnl 2018, and
backdated to 1 January 2018- > Performance measures for the 2018

, Chief Executive — £608,940 annual maximum bonus weaighted: > Performance measures remain

» 2018 maximum bonus. » Award level 200% of base salary
» Chief Executive ~ 150%

» Group Finance Director - 125% > Twao-year holding period after initial
three-year performance period

Executive
Directors

-

Three-year performance perod

» Group Finance Director

- £386,070

» Chief Executive’

» 125% based on adjusted PBT

» 25% based on personal objectives
> Group Finance Director

» 100% based on adjusted PBT

unchanged with cne-third weightings
to each of growth in adjusted EPS,
TSR and EP.

» Performance rnetric will be the same

as those stated for the 2017 awards
as detailed on page 76

» 25% based on personal objectives

» The performance thresholds and
corresponding percentage of maximum
bonus payable for 2018 are determined
by the Committee

A mirmurm (threshold) level of
performance will result in a bonus of
1% of base salary At target, the bonus
level 15 60% of base salary comprising
50% based on PBT and 10% based on
personal objectives.

Clawback provisions enable variable
remuneration to be reclaimed under
exceptional crcumstances In the event
of any miscalculation of entitiement,
musstaterment of accounts or incidence
of fraud

-

s+ Level of base fees and
additional fees to remain
unchanged as detalled on
page 74

Non-
executive
Directors

Not applicable Not applicable

Executive Directors’ remuneration illustrations

The following charts iftustrate the actual remuneration outturns versus target in respect of each Executive Director for 2017 The fixed pay
element includes basic satary, pension, benefits In kind, taxable expenses and all-employee share plan participation. Annual bonus is based
on a percentage of base salary. at target level this 1s 60% of base salary, at maximum level this is 125% in respect of the Group Finance
Director and 150% in respect of the Chief Executive PSP 15 based on a percentage of the award (awarded at 200% of base salary) likely to
vest based on performance 20% at target and 100% at maximum This equates to 40% of base salary at target and 200% of base salary
at maximum. No awards vested durning 2017 Each bar shows the percentage of the total comprised by each element.
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Benefits in kind Pension and other All-employee share plans Shareholding ownership

benefits in kind guidelines
» Nochange to benefis in » 25% of base salary as » Subject to shareholder approval atthe > 300% of base salary.
kind provided taxable cash allowance in 2018 AGM, a new All-Employee Share
lieu of pension Incentive Plan ('SiP'} is to be ntroduced
contributions The Executive Directors will have the

opportunity to participate in the new
SIP on the sare terms as other Group
UK employees

» No further grants will be made under
the SAYE scheme

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Consideration of remuneration conditions elsewhere in the Group

The Committee considers the remuneratian and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group together with current market practice
when determining remuneration for the Executive Directors In addition to the UK comparator group set cut on page 73, the levels of
remuneration, annual bonus and PSP awarded to the Presidents of each of the Group's operating companies are taken into consideration,
notwithstanding that these reflect such businesses' particular trading positions and the geographical and techrical employment markets in
which they operate However, the Comnuttee does not consult specifically with employees on the Executve Remuneration Policy

Consideration of shareholders' views

The Committee takes into account the views of the Company's shareholders and best practice guidelines set by shareholder representative
bodies when determining Executive remuneration The proposals for the 2017 Remuneration Policy were the subject of consultation with
the Company's significant nstitutional sharehelders and their representative bodies and ther feedback was mcorporated into the final
policy approved by shareholders at the 2017 AGM.

Details of the votes received on the 2017 Remuneration Policy and annual Directors’ Remuneration Report at the 2017 AGM are provided
on page 78
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This section of the report sets out the detads of the implementaton of the Remuneration Policy duang the 2017 financial year and also
provides details of how the Committee intends to iImplement the policy during 2018 This part of the report, together with the Committee
Chairman’s Statement and the information on the Remuneration Committee, form the Annual Report on Remuneration which 15 subject
to an adwisory shareholder vote at the 2018 Annual General Meeting and contains both unaudited and audited mfermation The audited
sections of this report are clearly identfied

Executive Directors’ remuneration

Single total figure of remuneration {(audited)
The single figure of remuneration of each Executive Director who served during the year 15 as follows

E Pension- F Al

8 Taxable related employee
£000 A Base salary benefits C Bonus D psp benefits share plans Total
John Q'Higgins 2017 597 19 718 119 149 9 1,611
2016 578 18 647 - 145 - 1,388
Clive Watson 2017 378 16 359 76 95 - 924
2016 367 15 416 - 92 - 290

1 Estimated vesting, see page 72 for further detarls
Notes to single total figure of remuneration:

A. Salary (audited)

John O'Higgins receved a salary increase of 3.3% and Clive Watson received an increase of 3.0% with effect from 1 January 2017, in ine
with the current Remuneration Policy and consistent with average UK wage inflauon.

B. Taxable benefits

Taxable benefits included in the above single figure remuneration for each Executive Director are company cars, private fuel, allowances
paid in lieu of company cars and private fuel, medical expenses nsurance (including family cover) and Iife and disabiity cover. Details of the
total value for 2017 are set out in the table below:

Medical/

Car and fuel healthcare
aliowances cover Total
Executive Drrector £ £ £
John O'Higgins 17,038 1,819 18,857
Clive Watson 14,661 1,455 16,116
Total 31,699 3,274 34,973

C. 2017 Annual bonus outcome (audited)

The maximum bonus opportunity for the Chief Executive was increased from 125% to 150% of base salary, of which 125% 1s based on
adjusted profit before tax and 25% is based on personal objective performance measures The maximum bonus cpportunity for the Group
Finance Director remained unchanged at 125% of base salary, of which 100% is based on adjusted profit before tax and 25% 1s based on
personal abjective performance measures The on-target bonus for both Executive Directors is 60% comprising 50% based on adjusted
profit before tax and 10% based on personal objectives. No bonus deferral 1s currently in operation other than the requirement to
effectwely defer bonus payments in excess of 60% of base salary into shares to satisfy shareholding requirements, which have already been
met The table below sets out the annual bonus earned by the Executive Directors in respect of the 2017 financial year including the
financial trigger points used in determining the level of bonus payable.

Actual Group
performance/assessment Percentage of
Bonus Elements of bonus of persenal ohjective Payout maximurm
opportunity Opportumty On-target Maximum performance £ banus
John O’Higgins 150%  Group adjusted PBT 50% 125% 102 2% 610,134 68%
Personal objectives 10% 25% 18.0% 107,460 12%
Total 120.2% 717,594 80%
Clve Watsan 125%  Group adjusted PBT 50% 100% 84 8% 320,968 68%
Personal objectives 10% 25% 10 0% 37,850 8%
Total 94.8% 358,818 76%

The adjusted profit before tax bonus range established by the Committee for 2017 was as follows

Bonus level {as percentage of maxmum for this element} 0% 50% 100/125% Actual
Adjusted profit before tax £184 8m £203 3m £225.0m £218.4m

Note Adjusted profit before tax is calculated as baing the statutory proht before tax as adjusted o exclude certain nen-operational tems defined in Nate 2
to the Finandial Statements on page 103
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The 2017 personal objectves for the Chief Executive and Group Finance Director covered a range of areas These objectves, and the
weightings accorded 1o each, are detaled below.

Chief Executive
2017 Objectives Weighting Outcome
Strategy and Organisation Development: In support of the continued execution of the Group's 25% 18%
strategy, the Chief Executive
> led a detaled Group strategic review by the Executive team ahead of an in-depth review by the Board;
» led the progression of the sector-specific strategies focusing on hife sciences, energy and industrial services,
ncluding the organisational integration of the PANalytical and Malvern instruments merger,
» drove the successful further refinement of the Group's industnal internet strategy,
» a5 part of the detailed Group strategic review, defined a clear strategy and implementation roadmap and a
broader M&A pipeline to support this roadmap,

» focused on the demonstrable improvement in the Graup’s customer focus through the implementation of
comman, consistent value seling and aligned customer satisfaction metnics, and

»_ensured broad and deep support and maintained leadership focus on the Spectris Code of Business Ethics

Group Finance Director
2017 Objectives Weghting Quicamne
Financial Strategy and Organisation: In support of the continued execution of the Group’s 25% 10%
strategy, the Group Finance Director
» further aigned cost growth with sales growth,
» led the improvement in monthly average working capital to sales ratio;
» provided leadership and direction as Spansor of Praject Uphft, including the filling of key roles and
allocation of resources 10 achieve key milestones and projected costs and benefits,

» created and maintained clear develapment plans for all identified high-patentat taient wathin the
Group's finance community, and

» supported the internal audit team in mamtaining focus on pre-identified core audits

D. Performance Share Plan ('PSP*) (audited)

PSP awards to the Executive Directors are currently structured so that one-third of the award 15 subject to an EPS target, one-third 1s subject
10 a TSR target and one-third 1s subject to an Econormic Profit (EP) target Each condition operates over a fixed three-year period (being the
three financial years commencing with the financial year In which an award is made in respect of the EPS and EP conditions; and three
years from the date of grant in respect of the TSR condition) with no opportunity for re-testing The TSR performance condition 15
measured independently by Aon

PSP awards granted during 2017 {audited)

The table below detaiks share opuons granted to Executive Directors, in ine with the Remuneration Policy, under the PSP scheme dunng
2017 The maximum level of grant remains at 200% of base salary, calculated according to the average of the closing share price over the
five days commencing with the day of the AGM (26 May 2017) and rounded down to the nearest ten shares, The awards were granted on
6 June 2017 A helding penod of two years applies following vesting. Full detads of the performance conditions are set out on page 76.

Amount vesting

Basis on Number of Threshold  Maximum
which shares performance  opportunity
Type award under Face value of Performance  {% of face % of face
Directer of award made opton shares (£)'  condmon appled value) value) Financial/performance perod
John Nominal  200% of 45,380 1,193,857 04 Compound ¥ January 2017 to
Q'Higgins cost base growth in EPS 666% 3333% 31 December 2013
cptions of  salary EP €6.66% 3333%
>p TSR 666% 3333% 6 lune 2017 to 5 June 2020
Total 20% 100%
Clve Nominal 200% of 28,770 756,881 16 Compound 1 January 2017 to
Watson  cost base growth in EPS 6.66% 33.33% 31 December 2019
options of  salary Ep 666% 33 33%
>p TSR 666% 3333% 6 June 201710 5 June 2020
Total 20% 100%

1 Face value based on the average of the ctosing share price over the five days commencing 26 May 2017, of 2,630 8 pence
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PSP awards vested during 2017 (audited)

No PSP awards vested duning the year as the rmimimum threshold for the EPS and EP condrtions attached to the PSP awards granted in
2014 for the three financial years to 31 December 2016, and TSR threshold targets for the performance penod to 5 March 2017, were not
met, as detalled in the table below. Those awards matured in March 2017 and have therefore lapsed.

Performance conditien Weghting Threshold Actual

EPS One-third CPl + 5% compound per annum {'c.pa '} CPl+3% ¢pa

TSR One-third Median 5 7% (Median' 20 7%)
Ep One-third £250 milhon £157 5 million

PSP awards vesting in March 2018 (audited)

PSP awards granted in 2015 and maturing in March 2018 will not vest on the EPS and EP performance measures for the three financial
years 10 31 December 2017, in respect of two-thirds of the total award. However, based on the intenm TSR performance results provided
by Aon as at 31 December 2017, for the TSR performance period to 5 March 2018, part of the award {up to & maximum of one-third) may
vest on the TSR measure in March 2018 (see tables below) Full details of all performance conditions are set out on page 76

Performance condition Weighting Threshold Actual

EPS Cne-third CPl+5%cpa CPl+3.6%cpa.

TSR One-third Median 27 8% (Median 25 0%])'
Ep One-third £250 milion £163 2 milion

I The TSR figures are esimates based on the interim TSR performance results as at 31 December 2017

The three-year penod over which the TSR performance condition is measured ends on 5 March 2018 Based on the interim TSR
performance results prepared by Aon as at 31 December 2017, TSR relative to the FTSE 250 mdex {(excluding Investment Trusts and the
Company) ranked above median at 27 8% resulting in an estmated vesting of 25 7% for this element of the 2015 PSP awards

The vesting estimates included in the single figure of remuneration for Executive Directors are detailed in the table below

No of shares

Total number subject to PSP
of shares aptions under TSR Estmated Estimated Estimated Three month
subject 10 PSP Face value at performance vestin reinvested  total vestin average Estimated
option at date  date of grant condition Vesting number o dndends number of  share price  vesting value
Executve Director of grant £ {one-third of total) percentage shares shares shares  at year end £
John O'Higgins 51,830 1,138,809 17,277 25 7% 4,440 326 4,766 2,503 62p 119,322
Clwe Watson 32,930 723,538 10,977 25 7% 2,821 207 3,028 2,503.62p 75,809

Vested awards are satisfied in shares (normally treasury shares) with sufficient shares being sold to meet income tax and national insurance
contributions due on exercise, at the Director's discretion, and the net balance of shares transferred to the indwvidual Awards lapse if they
do not vest on the third anniversary of their award.

E. Retirement benefits (audited)

The Executive Directors are entitied to a defined contribution pension contribution of 25% of base salary. in hght of the pension lifetime
allowance of £1 milhon and the maximum annual pension contribution allowance of £40,000, the Executive Directors are entitled, at therr
option, to a taxable salary supplement in lieu of some or all of such pension contributions. Both Executive Directors have chosen this option
and each receives a 25% cash payment in lieu of participation in a Spectris pension scheme. No Executive Director participated in a defined
benefit pension glan during the year, nor currently participates in a defined benefit plan

F. All-employee share plans (audited)

Options granted to John O’Higgins on 18 September 2014 under the Spectris Savings Related Share Option Scheme ('SAYE Scheme’}
vested on 1 December 2017 and were exercised to acquire 446 ordinary shares at an option price of 2,015 pence per share gving a total
exercise value of £8,986 90 The option price was set at the time of grant based on the closing mid-market pnce of the Company's shares
on 20 August 2014, being the last business day pnor to the grant date. Although the SAYE Scheme rules permit the option price to be
discounted up to a maximum of 20% of the market price at the time of grant, no discount was applied to the cption price. The exercise
price therefore reflects farr value as at the date of grant The closing market price on 1 December 2017 was 2,442 pence per share
producing a total gain on exercise of £1,904.42

Payments for loss of office or to past Directors (audited)

No compensation payments on termination of employment were made to Directors duning the year and no payments were made to
former Directors.
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Total shareholder return performance
600

Value (£} (rebased)

Opc-08 Dec-09 Dec-10 Dec-11 Dec-12 Dec-12 Dec-14 Dec-15 Dec-16 Bec-17
— Spectris  —— FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts) Source Datastream (Thamson Reuters}
This graph shows the value, by 31 December 2017, of £100 invested in Spectns on 31 Decernber 2008, compared with the value of

£100 invested in the FTSE 250 {excluding investment trusts) index on the same date This index has been chosen because 1tis 8 widely
recognised performance benchmark for large companies in the UK

The other points plotted are the vaiues at intervening financial year ends

Historical Chief Executive remuneration

The table below shows the total remunaration figure for the Chief Executive for the current year and cver the previous eight years. The
total remuneration figure includes the annual bonus and PSP awards that vested based on perfarmance in those years The annuat bonus
and PSP percentages show the pay-out for each year as a percentage of the potential maximum

John O'Higgins 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2018 2017

Single figure of total

remuneration {£'000) 849 1,104 1,481 2,595 2,172 1,122 729 1,388 1,611

Annual bonus

(% of maximum) 0% 95% 100% 70% 20% 18% 0%’ 90% 80%

PSP vesting

(% of maximum) 33% 89% 100% 100% i00% 28% 0% 0% 9%?

1 Bonus entitlement waived
¢ Estmated vesting

Percentage change in the remuneration of the Chief Executive

The table below shaws the percentage change in the salary, benefits and annual bonus of the Chief Executive compared with the change
in the Executive team (excluding the Chief Executive) and in the Group’s UK-based employees between the year ended 31 December 2016
and 31 December 2017, The Commuttee has selected this comparator group on the basis that the Chief Executive 1s UK-based and this
provides a local market reference and a sufficiently large comparator group based on a similar incentive structure 1o the Chief Executive,
and reduces any distortion arising from currency and cost of living differences in other geographies in which Spectris operates.

% change 2016-2017

Base salary Benefits Annual bonus
Chigf Executive 33% 4.1% 10 9%
Executive Team 4 7% 1 5% 3.0%
Spectris UK-based employees 3.4% 4 7% 3.2%

Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below shows the relative expenditure of the Group on the pay of its employees in comparison to adjusted profit cefore tax and
distributions to shareholders by way of dwidend payments between the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 Decernber 2017 Total
employee pay 15 the total pay costs for all Group employees Adjusted profit before tax has been used as a companson as this 1s a key
financiat metric which the Board considers when assessing the Group's financial performance

2017 2016
Em E£m % change
Total employee pay 600.6 5113 17%
Total returns to shareholders 63.2 59 8 5%
Adjusted profit before tax 1184 195 8 12%

Mote Adjusted profit before 1ax 15 calculated as bewng the statutory profit before tax as adjusted to exclude certain nan-operational items defined in Note 2 tothe
Financral Statements on page 103
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Non-executive Directors’ remuneration

Chairman and Non-executive Directors’ fees

A biennial benchmark review of Non-executive Directars’ fees was conducted by the Committee’s remuneration advisers, FIT Remuneration
Consultants LLP, during 2016 with the results effective from 1 January 2017 The next review 15 scheduled to be undertaken duning 2018
The fee structure for the Non-executive Directors is set out below

2017 2016
£000 £'060
Chairman (all-inclusive fee} 220 210
Non-executive Director basic fee 55 53
Senior independent Director fee 10 5
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 10 10
Chairman of the Remuneration Cammitiee 10 10
Annual travel supplement to be paid to overseas-based Non-executive Directors 15 7.5
Non-executive Directors’ total single figure remuneration (audited)
The single figure remuneration for each Non-executive Director who served during the year is as follows:
Bas fees Additional fees Taxable expenses Tatal
Director £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Mark Williamson' 2017 132 — - 132
2016 - - ~ -
Russell King 2017 55 20 - 75
2016 53 15 - 68
Karim Brtar? 2017 33 - - 33
2016 - - - -
Ulf Quellmann 2017 55 - - S5
2016 53 - - 53
Bill Seeger®® 2017 55 254 10* 90
2016 53 184 - 71
Kjersti Wiklund? 2017 52 - - 52
2016 - - - -
Martha Wyrsch® 2017 55 154 - 70
2016 53 84 - 61
Former Chairman
Dr john Hughes® 2017 90 - - 90
2016 210 ~ - 210

Mark Wilhamson jomned the Board as Nan-executive Chairman on 26 May 2017 His fee 1s pro-rated from that date and is all-inclusive,

Kanm Bitar joined the Board on 1 Iuly 2017 His tee i pro-rated from that date

Kjerst Wiklund joined the Board on 19 January 2017 Her fee 1s pro-rated from that date.

Bill Seeger and Martha Wyrsch (both based overseas) receved an additonal annual travel supplement of £15,000 for the 2017 financal year (2016 £7,500), included

n therr respectve addingnal fees figures

5 Bill Seeger was reimbursed for certain travel expenses dunng the 2016/2017 tax year amounting to £5,566 which MMRC subsequently deemed to be subject to UK
income tax producing a gross figure of £9.614. This tax liability amounted to £4,048 and was paid by Specins on his behalf dunng 2017

6 Dr John Hughes retred from the Board as Non-executive Chairman on 26 May 2017

BWwh =

Additional notes to the Non-executive Directors’ single figure remuneration table

Membership of Board Committees

Details of each Non-executwe Director's Board Committee membership and, where relevant, Committee Chairmanship, held during 2017,
and reflected in the addrtional fee figures for the financial year, are outhned in the table below

Non-executive Director

Mark Williamson Non-executive Chairman with efiect from 26 May 2017

Russell King Semor Independent Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Commrttee

Karim Bitar Member of the Audit and Risk and Remuneration Committees with effect from 7 July 2017
U Quellmann Member of the Audit and Risk and Remuneration Committees

Bill Seeger Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee

Kjersti Wiklund Member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 19 January 2017

Martha Wyrsch Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Former Chairman

Dr John Hughes Non-executive Chairman unul 26 May 2017

At the date of this report, all Non-executive Directors served on the Nomination Committee, for which there was no additional payment
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Directors’ shareholdings and share interests (audited)

Directors' shareholding requirements

Each Executive Director 1s, subject 10 personal circumstances, required to build a retained shareholding in Spectris plec of at least three times
base salary in value and 1s required to apply the post-tax benefit of any vested PSP awards or any bonus payments exceeding 60% of base
satary to the acquisition of shares until this required level of sharehalding i achieved Both Executive Directers currently have holdings in
excess of this requirement There is no such requirement in respect of the Chairman or Non-executive Directors, who have discretion as to
whether to hold the Company's shares or not

Executive Directors’ interests in shares

The beneficial interest of each Executive Director {(including their closely associated persons) in the shares of the Company, as at
31 December 2017, is as follows.

Interests in share plans

Shares held as at Percentage of Total interests
Director 31 December 2017  requirement achieved' PSP? SAYE? in shares
John O'Higgins 287,550 399% 164,670 -~ 452,220
Clive Watson 131,000 287% 104,560 1,036 236,596
Notes

1
2
3

Based on the Company’s closing share pnce on 29 December 2017, the fast rading date of 2017, of 2,487 pence
PSPs are nominat cost share options of 5 pence Performance concitions apply details of which are set gut in the following sections
There are no conditions relating to performance of the Company or the indmidual other than continuous emplayment

There has been no change in Directors’ interests in shares between 1 January 2018 and 19 February 2018

Executive Directors’ interests in share plans

Market No, of
value pe: shares

Performarice share at subject to No. of shares

Exercise penod end date of options Granted Face value Exercised  Lapsed  subject to options

Share Date price  daterdate Expiry awarg at 1 Janua during  at date of dunng  during at 31 December

Director Plan  granted (pence) exercisable  date (pence) 2017 theyear  grant {£] theyear the year 2017
John

OHiggins  SAYE Sept2014 2,095 Dec 2017 Jun 2018 20150 446 - B,987 446 - -

FSP May 2014 S May 2047 May 2024 22174 50,460 - 1,118,900 - 50,460 -

PSP Mar 2015 5 Mar 2018 Mar 2025 2,197.2 51,830 - 1,138,809 - - 51,830

PSP Feb 2016 S Feb 2018 Feb 2026 1,713 6 67,460 - 1,155,995 - - 57,460

PSP Jun 2017 5 Jun 2020 Jun 2027 26308 - 45380 1,193,857 - - 45,380

Total PSP 169,750 45,380 - 50,460 164,670
Chve

Watson SAYE Sept 2015 1,737 Dec 2018 Jun 2019 1,737 0 1,036 - 17,995 - - 1,036

PSP May 2014 5 May 2017 May 2024 2,217 4 32,050 - 710,677 - 32,050 -

PSP Mar 2015 5 Mar 2018 Mar 2025 21972 32.930 - 723,538 - - 32,930

PSP Feb 2016 5 Feb 2019 Feb 2026 17136 42,860 - 734,449 - - 42,860

£Sf  Jun 2017 5 Jun 2020 Jun 2027 2,630.8 - 28770 756,881 - - 28,770

Total PSP 107,840 28,770 - 32,050 104,560

Notes to the nterests in share plans table

S
1
2
3

Pe:
4
5

6

pt=N~ ]

vings Related Share Option 5cheme ('SAYE Scheme’)

The Spectns Savings Related Share Option Scheme 2007 expired on 25 May 2017 and was replaced by a new SAYE scherne, on substantially the same terms,

on 26 May 2017 This Scheme is a HMRC tax-favoured savings-related share option schame open 1o alt employess

No performance conditions attached to SAYE options other than cantinuous sevice No grants were made under the SAYE Scheme dunng 2017

The face value of SAYE awards 1s calculated using the exercise price The aption exercise price was set at the time of grant based on the closing mid-market share
price on the day immediately before the invitation date Although the SAYE Scheme rules permit the optron pnce to be discounted up to a maximum of 20% of the
market price at the tme of grant, no such discount was applied to the option price

rformance Share Plan ('PSP')

Shareholders approved a three-year extension to the Spectns Performance Share Plan 2006 in 2014 and a further extension in 2017 for ten years

The PSP awards are condittonal rights to acquire shares and are nominal cost options The exercise price s the nominal value of a Spectrs ordinary share, which

15 5 pence

The level of PSP awards granted in 2016 and 2017 was 200% of base salary, calculated using the relevant market value at the date of the award, which was

{1) 1,713 & pence per share for 2015, based on the average of the mid-market closing price of the Campany’s ordiary shaces over the fve business days prior to the
date of grant The number of shares awarded were rounded down to the neares! ten shares, and

(1) 2,630 8 pence per share for 2017, based on the average of the mid-market closing share pnice aver the five days commencing with the day of the AGM (26 May
2017) The number of shares awarded were rounded down ta the nearest ten shares The face value of the PSP awards is cafculated using the average five-day
closing mid-market price at date of award {as explained in ()) above)

PSP awards to the Executive Directors are currently structured so that one-third of the award 15 subject to an EPS target, one-third 1s subject to a TSR t2rget and
ane-third 15 subject to an Economic Profit ('EP’) target. Each condition operates over a fixed three-year penod (beng the three financial years commencing with the
finangial year in which an award 1s made n respect of the EPS and EP conditions, and three years from the date of grant in respect of the TSR condition) with no
opportunity for re-testing

PSP awards granted in 2047 are subject to an addiional two-year holding penod following the iutial three-year vesting period

Under the terms of the PSP, notional dividends of the Company are applied at vesting over award shares durng the period untl vesung {and for any applicable
holding penad until exercise) thereby increasing the number of award shares granted These additional award shares are subject to application of the performance
criteria antaching 1o the award
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PSP performance conditions

The performance critena for the awards granted in 2017 are summansed as foliows

Performance condibon

Performance metrni¢

Percentage of award that vests {expressed as a percentage of
one-third of the total number of shares subject 10 an award)

Earnings per share ('EPS')

CPI + 11% compound per annum (‘¢ p a.}

100%

Between CPl + 5% and 11% ¢ p'a

Pro-rata on a straight-line basis between 20% and
100%

CPl+ 5% ¢.p.a 20%
Less than CPl + 5% ¢ p.a. 0%
Total Shareholder Return ('TSR') Upper guintile or above 100%

Relative to the FTSE 250 (excluding
investment trusts)

Between median and upper quintile

Pro-tata betwean 20% and 100% on the basis of
the Company’s ranking

Median 20%
Below Median 0%
Economic Profit {'EPY) £280 million or more 100%

Aggregate economic profit over the
financial performance period

Between £150 million and £280 million

Pro-rata on & straight-line basis between 20% and
100%

£150 milhon

20%

Less than £150 milion

0%

The performance cnteria for the awards granted in 2016 and 2015 are summarised as follows

Performance metnc

Pertarmance condition 2015

2016

Percentage of award that vests
(expressed as a percentage of
one-third of the total number of
shares subject to an award)

EPS CPl+13% ¢ p.a. CPl+ 13% cp a. 100%
Between CPl + 5% and 13% Between CPI+ 5% and 13%  Pro-rata on a straight-line basis
cp.a. cpa hetween 20% and 100%
CPl+5%cpa CPl+5% ¢pa 20%
Less than CPl + 5% cp.a Less than CPL+ 5% cpa 0%

TSR Upper quintile or above Upper quintile or above 100%

Relative to the FTSE 250
{excluding investment trusts}

Between median and upper

Between median and upper

Pro-rata between 20% and
100% on the basis of the

qumntile quintile Company's ranking
Median Median 20%
Below median Below median 0%

EP £370 million or more £275 million or more 100%

Aggregate econom:c profit over
the financial performance

Between £250 millon and £370

Between £145 million and £275

Pro-rata on a straight-line basis

million mitlion between 20% and 100%
period £250 miilion £145 million 20%
Less than £250 mithion Less than £145 million 0%

Ecanomic profit s defined as adjusted operating profit {pre-tax and interest) iess caprtal emplayed x the Company's weighted average cost of capital (WACC) WACC
was set at 11% for the 2015, 2016 and 2017 awards except that lpwer transitional rates will be applied for subsequent acquisitons Any impairment of gaodwill over a
performance penod will be added back to capital employed The TSR performance condition 1s measured independently by Aon Hewatt. The E8$ higure 1s obtained from
1he audited Finantial Statements and the taloutaiion of adevernent against growtn congnion is presented 10 and 2pproved by the Commitiee, The Commitee wilh 250
monitar outcomes for the EP measure to ensure that they achieve the onginal objectives and may adjust the vesting accordingly Any exercise of discretion will be
justified 1n the next Directors’ Remunerabon Report Similarly, the Committee must satsfy itself that the Company's relatve TSR perfarmance 15 reflacuve of 1ts underlying

finangial performance
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Dilution limits

In line with best practice, the use of new or treasury shares to satisfy the vesting of awards made under all of the Company's share plans
(PSP and SAYE combinedy) is restricted to 10% in any ten-year rolling penod. A further restriction applies to the PSP plan of 5% over the
same period of which 3 98% has been utilised

Chairman and Non-executive Directors' interests in shares

The Chairman and Nen-executive Directors are not permitted to participate in any of the Company’s incentive schemes nor are they
required to build and retain a minimum shareholding in the Company. They have discretion as to whether to held the Company's shares or
not. The table below sets out the benefical interests in the ordinary shares of the Company of each current Non-executive Director
{including their closely associated persons) during the year ended 31 December 2017,

Shares held at

1 January 2017 (or
date of appointment Shares held at
Current Non-executive Director if later) 31 December 2017
Mark Wilkamson  (appointed on 26 May 2017} 1,753 16,753
Russell King 3,000 3,000
Karim Bitar (appointed on 1 july 2017) = -
UIf Quellmann 1,500 1,500
Bl Seeger 3,000 3,000
Kjersti Wiklund {appomnted on 1 January 2017} - -
Martha Wyrsch 3,000 3,000

There has been no change in Directors” interests in shares between 1 January 2018 and 19 February 2018

Share price

At 29 December 2017, the |ast trading day of 2017, the rmd-market closing share price on the London Stack Exchange was 2,487 pence
per share. The highest mid-market dosing share pnce in the year was 2,834 pence per share and the lowest was 2,229 pence per share.

Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment

The Executive Directors have rolling contracts subject to 12 months' notice of termination by either party, or 10 summary notice in the
event of serious breach of the Director’s obligations, dishonesty, senous misconduct or other conduct bringing the Cempany into
disrepute,

The contracts of employment in respect of John O'Higgins and Clive Watson contan an option, at the sole discretion of the Board, for the
contract to be terminated by way of payments in lieu of notice equivalent to 1 4 times monthly base salary for the outstanding months of
the notice period Such payment accounts for the 25% employer pension contribution; company car, nsurance and fuel benefits, mohile
telephone provision; life, disability and medical expenses insurances, and settlement of any statutory employment claims that may anse
upon termination, but excludes any element of compensation for loss of bonus and is i full and final settlement of alt employment-related
claims

Al letters of appointment in respect of the Non-executive Directors are renewable at each AGM, subject to review prior ta proposat for
re-election, and provide for a notice period of six months Ordinarily, appointments do not continue beyond nine years after first elecuion,
at which time Non-executive Directors cease to be presumed independent under the UX Corporate Governance Code.

The table below summarises the current Directors’ service contracts or terms of appointment

Length of service at

Date of contract Expiry date Notice period 19 February 2018
Executive Directors
John Q'Higgins 1 Jan 2006 3 Feb 2029 12 months 12 years 1 month
Clive Watson 1 Oct 2006 4 Feb 2023 12 months 11 years 4 months
Non-executive Directors
Mark Williamson 26 May 2017 Renewabie at each AGM 6 months 9 manths
Russell King 12 Oct 2010 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 7 years 4 months
Karim Bitar 1 July 2017 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 7 months
Ulf Quellmann 1 Jan 2015 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 3 years 1 month
Bil} Seeger 1lJan 2015 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 3 years 1 month
Kjersti Wiklund 19 Jan 2017 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 1 year 1 month
Martha Wyrsch 1Jun 2012 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 5 years 8 months
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External appointments - Executive Directors

Executive Directors may retain any payments received in respect of external non-executive appointments held. Such appointments are
normally limited to one per Director at any time and are subject to the approval of the Board. Details of the external non-executve
appointments held by Executive Directors dunng 2017 are set out in the table below

Company name Fee retained
Joghn C'Higgins' lohnson Matthey plc £8,051
Clive Watson Spirax-5arco Engineering plc £59,000

1 John O'Higgins was appointed on 16 Novernber 2017 His fee 15 pro-rated from that date
Summary of shareholder voting at 2017 AGM

At the AGM held on 26 May 2017, sharehclders approved the 2017 Directors’ Remuneration Policy by 98.46% of the votes cast, the 2016
Directors' Remuneration Report by 89.11% of the votes cast, and the continued operation of the Spectnis Performance Share Plan
(including the ntroduction of an additional two-year holding penod followmng the inttial vesting penod) by 98.77% of the votes cast, as
detailed in the table below:

votes for Votes against Votes withheld

Number % Number % Number

2017 Dwrectors’ Remuneration Policy 93,190,031 98 46% 1,445,329 153% 517,033
2016 Directors’ Remuneration Report 94,315,494 99 1% 835,995 0.88% 95G
Continuing operation of the Spectrnis Performance Share Plan 93,984,929 9877% 1,161,321 122% 6,189

Directors’ interests in contracts
No Director had during the year or at the end of the year any matenal interest in any contract of significance to the Group's business

Loans to Directors

Dunng ihe year there were no outstapding loans 1o any Director

On behalf of the Board

Russell King
Chairman of the Remuneratiord Com
19 February 2018
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Directors’ Report

This section sets out the information required to be disclosed by the Company and the Group in the Directors’ Report in compliance
with the Companies Act 2006 {'Comparves Act’), the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority ('Listing Rules’) and the Disclosure and
Transparency Rufes {'DTR") Certain matters that would otherwise be disclosed n this Directors’ Report have been reported elsewhere in
this Annual Report. This report shouid therefore be read in conjunction with the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 47 and the Corporate
Governance Repart on pages 48 to 83 which are incorperated by reference into this Directors’ Repart The Strategic Report and this
Directors’ Report, together with other sections of this Annual Report including the Corporate Governance Report on pages 48 to 83
incorporated by reference, when taken as a whole, form the Management Report as required under Rule 4 1.5R of the DTR

Overview of the information required to be disclosed

A summary of the information required to be disclosed in the Directors’ Report cornprising pages 79 to 83 together with the relevant page

reference 15 set out in the table below:

Disclosure Reported in Page reference
Acquisitions and chisposals Strategic Report 30
Amendments of Articles of Association Directors’ Report 80
Annual General Meeting Directors’ Report 80
Appointment and remaoval of Directors Directors’ Report 80
Authority to allot shares Directors’ Report 81
Business mode! Strategic Report 6-7
Change in control Directors' Report 80
Community and charitable giving Strategic Report 45
Corporate governance Corporate Governance Regort 48-83
Directors’ conflicts of interest Directors' Report 80
Directors’ details Corporate Governance Report 50-51
Directors’ indemnity Directors’ Report 80
Directors’ responsibility statement Directors’ Report 83
Disclosure of informaton to auditors Directors’ Report 82
Diversity, equality and inclusion Strategic Report 43
Employee engagement Strategic Report 44
Employees with disabilities Strategic Report 43
Employee equal opportunities Strategic Report 43
Employee involvement Strategic Report 43
Employee share plans Directors’ Report 8t
Financial mstruments Directors’ Report 81
Future developments and strategic prionties Straztegic Report 8-9
Going concern Directors’ Report 81
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 41
Political donauons Directors’ Report 81
Powers of Directors Directors’ Report 81
Principal nisks and risk management Strategic Report 33-38
Research and development activities Strategic Report 7 and 29
Restnictions on transfer of shares Directors’ Report 81
Restrictions on voting rights Directors’ Report 81
Results and dividends Strategic Report 1-32
Rights and obhgations attaching to shares Directors’ Report 81
Share capital Directors’ Report 81
Substantial share interests Directors’ Report 82
Viability statement Strategic Report 39
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Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out on pages 92 to 155
Adjusted operating profit for the year amounts to £223.5 million
(2016 £200 8 rmullion).

An intenm dwvidend of 19 O pence per share was paid on 10
November 2017 in respect of the half year ended 30 June 2017
The Board is recommending a final diwvdend of 37.5 pence per
share, making the total dividend for the year of 56 5 pence per
share (2016. 52 0 pence per share} Dividend details are given in
Note 10 to the Financial Statements Subject to approval of
shareholders at the 2018 Annual General Meeting, the final
dmdend will be paid on 29 June 2018 to those shareholders on the
register at 25 May 2018,

Articles of Association (*Articles’)

The Company's Articles contain specific provisions and restrictions
regarding the Company’s power 1o borrow money Powers relating
to pre-emptive rights, the allotment of shares; and share buy-backs
of the Company’s shares are also included in the Articles and such
authorities are renewed by sharehclders each year at the Annual
General Meeting. The Articles also give power to the Board to
appoint and remove Directors and reguire Directors to subrait
themselves for election at the first Annual General Meeting
following their appointrent and for annual re-electicn at
subsequent AGMs The Articles may be amended by special
resolution of the shareholders. The Company's Articles are avallable
on the Company’s website. www spectris.com

Annual General Meeting ((AGM’)

The AGM will be held at 12.30pm on Friday 25 May 2018 at Great
Fosters, Stroude Road, Egham, Surrey TW20 SUR The notice of the
AGM accompanies this Annual Report.

Auditor’s re-appointment and remuneration
In accordance with section 489 of the Companies Act, a resoiution
for the re-appointment of Deloitte LLP as the Company’s auditor 1s
to be proposed at the forthcoming 2018 AGM A further resolution
is to be proposed at that meeting to authonse the Directors to
agree the remuneration of the auditor.

Branches

Spectns Group, through vanous subsidiaries, has established
branches in a number of different countnes in which the
business operates.
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Change in control

There are a number of agreements that take effect, alier or
terminate upon a change of control of the Group fallowing a
takeover, such as bank loan agreements and Company share
plans. None of these are deemed to be significant in terms of their
potential impact on the business of the Group as a whole. It is also
possible that funding arrangements for the Group's defined benefit
pension arrangements would need to be enhanced following

a change of contral f that resulted in a weakening of the
employer covenant

The Company does not have any agreements with any Director that
would provide for enhanced compensation for loss of office or
employment following a takeover i,

Directors

Details of the Directors who served, were appointed and who
retired during the year are set out on pages S0 to 51 other than Dr
John Hughes who retired from the Board on 26 May 2017.
Directors are appointed and replaced in accordance with the
Articles, Companies Act, and the UK Corporate Governance Code
2016 The powers of the Directors are set out in the Articles and
the Companies Act

Directors’ conflicts of interest

The Board has an established process to review at least annually,
and, If appropriate, authorise conflict or potential conflict of
Interests. Any transactional conflicts are reviewed as they arnise.
Directors are asked to review and confirm reported conflicts of
interest as part of the year-end process

Directors’ remuneration and interests

Details of Directors’ remuneration and thew interest in the
Company's shares can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration
Repart on pages 64 10 78.

Directors’ and officers’ indemnities and
insurance

The Spectns Group maintains habuity insurance for its Directors and
officers The Directors, Company Secretary and members of the
Executive Committee have also been granted a third-party
indemnity, under the Campanies Act, which remains in force
Neither the Company’s indernnity nor insurance provides cover in
the event that an indemnified individual 1s proved to have acted
fraudulently or dishonestly.




Directors’ powers

Subject to the Company's Artides, UK legislation and any directions
given by special resolution, the business of the Company 1s
managed by the Board, which may exerase all the pawers

of the Company

Borrowing powers

The Dirgctors may exercise all the powers of the Company to
borrow money

Pre-emptive rights and new issues

Subject to the Articles and applicable laws and regulations, the

Directors may allot, grant options over, offer or otherwise deal with
or dispose of shares of the Campany to such persons at such times
and generally on such terms and conditions as they may determine

Share buy-backs

The Company was authorised by shareholders at the 2017 AGM

to purchase in the market up to 10% of the Company's issued
share capital, as permitted under the Company's Articles No shares
were Dought back under this authorty duning the year ended

31 December 2017

On 19 February 2018, the Directors announced their intention to
undertake a £100 mition on-market share buy-back programme.
Shares purchased under this programme will be cancelled

This standard authority is renewable annually, the Directors will
seek to renew this authonty at the 2018 AGM It is the Company's
present intention to cancel any shares 1t buys back.

Employee share plans

Details of employee share plans are set out 1n the Remuneration
Policy tables on pages 66 to 69

Financial instruments

Information on the Group's financal nsk management objectives
and policies, 1ts exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk,
hquidity risk, credit nsk and capital management is contaned in
Note 27 to the Finanoal Statements on pages 135 to 136.

Going concern and viability statements

Hawving reviewed the Graup's plans and available financial facihties,
the Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources 10 continue in operational existence for at
teast 12 months following the signing of the accounts For this
reason 1t continues to adopt the going cancern basis :n preparnng
the Group's accounts The Company’s Viability Statement can be
found on page 39.

Related party transactions

Related party transactions are set out in Note 32 to the
Financal Statements on page 140

Political donations

The Group's policy 15 not to make any poliical donations and none
were made duning the financial year 2016 nil)

Post balance sheet events

Events after the balance sheet date are disclosed in Note 34 to the
Financial Statements on page 141

Share capital

The share capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares of

S pence each, each share carries the right to one vote at general
meetings of the Company The authorised and issued share capital
of the Company, together with movements in the Company's
issued share capital duning the year, 15 shown in Note 44 ta the
Fnancial Statements on page 150 The Articles, avallable on the
Company's website, contain provisions governing the ownership
and transfer of shares

Shareholders’ rights and obligations
attaching to shares

Restrictions on shareholders’ rights

All of the ssved and outstanding ordinary shares of the Company
have equal voting rights, with one vote per share There are no
specal control nghts attaching to them

Alteration of share capital and variation of rights

The Company may reduce or vary the rights attaching to its share
capital by special resolution. Such matters are subject to the
refevant provisions of the Articles and applicable laws and
regulation, Further details in relation to rights and restnciions
applying to the Company's shares are set out in the Asticles

Transfer of shares

There are no restrnctions on the transfer of shares beyond those
required by applicable law under the Articles or under any
applicable share dealing policy.

Voting

Subject to any special nghts or restrictions, every shareholder on the
Register not less than 48 hours {excluding non-working days)
before the time fixed for a general meeting, will have one vote for
every fully-pard share that they hold Shareholders may cast votes
either personally or by proxy and a proxy need not be a

shareholder Details relating to the appointment of proxies and
registration of voting instructions for the 2018 AGM are set out In
the Notice of AGM accompanying this Annual Report
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Substantial share interests

As at 31 Decemnber 2017, the Company had recewed formal notifications of the following holdings in its ordinary shares in accordance
with DTRS.

Percentage of 1ssued

Shareholding in share capital at date of
Spectnis shares Date of noufication notficauon
MFS Investment Management 12,039,317 05/11/2015 1011%
Fidelity Management & Research Company 6,403,655 23/11/2016 537%
Oppenheimer Funds, Inc 5,031,367 04/08/2017 5 06%

No changes in disclosable holdings under DTR5 have been nptified to the Company between 31 December 2017 and 19 February 2018
An updated hst of the Company's major shareholders is available on page 156.

Treasury shares
Shares held by the Company in treasury do not have voung nghts and are not eigible to recewe dwvidends

Disclosures required under UK Listing Rule 9.8.4

There are no disclosures required to be made under UK Listing Rule 9 8.4 other than in respect of long-term incentive schemes, details of
which are set cut in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 64 to 78,

Disclosure of information to auditors
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of the Directors’ Report confum that

» so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information, which would be needed by the Company's auditor in connection
with preparing its audit repon, of which the Company’s auditor is unaware, and

» each Directar has taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themsefves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s auditor s aware of that information.

By order of the Board

Mark Serf6zd 1 o~
General Counsel and Company Secretary il

19 February 2018
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Statement of Directors' responsibilities
in respect of the Annual Report and the
financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Group and Parent
Company Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law
and requlations.

Under the Companies Act, the Directors are required to prepare the
Group and Parent Company Financal Statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards {'IFRS’) as adopted
by the European Union and Articie 4 of the 1AS reguiation and have
also elected to prepare the Parent Company Finanaial Statements in
accordance with UK Accounting Standards, including FRS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law, the Directors are requied to prepare such
Financial Statements for each finanaiat year and must not approve
the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent
Company and of their profit or loss for that period

In prepanng each of the Group and Parent Company Financial
Statements, the Directors are required to

» select accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

» make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent;

» for the Group Finangal Statements, state whether they have
been prepared In accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU;

» for the Parent Company Financial Statements, state whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject
to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the Parent
Company Financial Statements, and

» prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis
unless it 15 inappropnate o presume that the Group and Parent
Company will continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient 1o show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Parent Company and enable thern to
ensure that its Financial Statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as
are reasonably open to them to safequard the assets of the Group
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities

Under applicable law and regulatians, the Directors are also
responsible for prepanng a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance
Staternent that comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial Information included an the Company’s
website Legislation in the UK goverring the preparation and
dissernination of financial statements may differ from legislation

in other junscictions

Directors’ responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

» the Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view
of the assets, fabilites, financal positon and profit or loss of the
Company and the undertakings included n the consolidation
taken as a whole,

» the Strategic Report an pages 1 to 47 and the Directors’ Report
on pages 48 to 83 include a far review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Group and
the undertakings included i the consohdation taken as a whole,
together with a description of the prnapal nsks and uncertainties
that they face; and

» the Annual Report and Accounts taken as a whole, 15 far,
balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s performance,
business model and strategy

The Strategic Report and the Directars’ Regort were approved by
the Board on 13 February 2018

By order of the Board
John O'Higgins Chve )
Chief Executive Gro

19 February 2018
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Spectris pic

Opinion on Financial Statements of Spectris plc
In our opinion;

> the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at
31 December 2017 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards {'IFRSs') as adopted by the European Union;

» the Parent Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006: and

the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as
regards the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation,

The Finandial Statements that we have audited comprise

-

> the Consolidated Income Statement;

» the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income;

s the Consolidated and Parent Company Statement of Financial Posttion,

» the Consolidated Statement of Cash Fiows;

» the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity; and

» the related Notes 1 to 50

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union
and, as regards the Parent Company Financial Statements, as applied in accordance with the provisians of the Companies Act 2006

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ('iSAs (UK)") and applicable law Our responsibilities
under those standards are further descnbed in the auditor’s responsibiiities for the audit of the Financial Statements section of our report

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the Financial Statements i the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to histed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements We confirm that the non-audt services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical
Standard were not provided to the Group of the Parent Company

We beheve that the audit evidence we have obtaned is sufficient and appropriate to prowde a basis for our opimien
Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key risks that we identified n the current year were.
» imparrment of the vaiuation of goodwall and other intangibie assets in four of the Group's
cash-generating units,

» Overnde in the apphcation of the Group inventory provision accounting policy for obsolete, excess and
slow-mowving inventory tems, and

s Accuracy of provisions for taxation in respect of dwidends receved from EU based comparues

In addition, i the prior year the previous auditors identified acquisitions as a key audit matter This has
not been identified as a key audit matter in the current year as there were no significant acquisitions

Materiality The materiality that we used in the current year was £9 @ million which was determined on the basis of
5% of expected adjusted profit before tax.
Scoping Full scope audit work was compteted on 68 reporting entities and specified audrt procedures ware

undertaker on a further 28 reporting entities. Our full scope and specified audtt procedures covered
74% of Group revenue and 81% of Group proft before tax.
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Conclusions relating to principal risks, going concern and viability statement

Going concern

We have reviewed the Directors’ Statement on page 83 in the
Financral Statements about whether they considered it appropriate
1o adopt the going concem basis of accounting in prepanng them
and their identification of any matenal uncertainties to the Group's
and Company’s ability to continue to do so over a penod of at least
12 months from the date of approval of the financial Statements

We are required 10 state whether we have anything matenal to
add or draw attenton to in relation to the statement required by
Listng Rule 9 8.6R(3) and report if the statement 15 matenally
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit

Principal risks and viability statement

Based solely on reading the Directors’ statements and considenng
whether they were consistent with the knowledge we obtaned in
the course of the audit, including the knowledge obtained in the
evaluation of the Director's assessment of the Group's and
Company’s abihty 1o continue as @ going concern, we are required
to state whether we have anything material to add or draw
attention to in relation to

» the disclosures on pages 34 to 38 that describe the principal asks
and explain how they are being managed or mitigated;

» the Directors’ confirmation on page 39 that they have cammed out
a robust assessment of the principal nsks facing the Group,
including those that would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity;

» the Directors’ explanation on page 39 as to how they have
assessed the prospects of the Group, over what penod they have
done 5o and why they consider that period to be appropnate, and
therr statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation
that the Group wifl be able to continue In operation and meet its
habilties as they fall due over the penod of their assessment,
incfuding any related disclosures drawang attention to any
necessary qualfications or assumptions

We are also required 10 report whether the Directors' statement

relating to the prospects of the Group required by Listing Rule

9 8 6R(3) 1s matenally consistent with cur knowledge obtained in

the audit

We confirm that we have nothing material to report, add or
draw attention to in respect of these matters.

We confirm that we have nothing material to report, add or
draw attention to in respect of these matters.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional jJudgement, were of most significance in our audit of the Financial Statements
of the current period and indude the most significant assessed nisks of material risstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we
idenufied These matters ncluded those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audn strategy; the allocation of rescurces in the audi;
and directing the efforts of the engagement team

These matters were addressed in the context of our audht of the Fiancial Statements as a whole, and in forming our opimon thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets in four of the Group’s cash-generating units

Key audit matter
description

@

Total goodwill and intangible assets at 31 December 2017 were £627.5 million and £209 9 million, respectively.
We focused our impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets testing on four cash-generating urits
{"CGUs"), being Ormega (£231.7 milion), Millbrook (£151.6 millon), ESG (£14 & million) and Servomex

{£54 3 miflion), based on growth assumptions and fevels of headroom

There is a nsk surrounding the recoverability of these hatances, as assessed annually by management as part of
their goodwall imparrment review using discounted cash flows on a value in yse basis.

The key Judgements in assessing goodwill and intangible assets for impairment are the discount rate, the
long-term growth rate and the shart-term projected cash flows. The value In use model is sensitive to changes in
these estimates, all of which must reflect a long-term view of underlying growth in the respective economigs
within which these businesses operate and the reasonableness of projected cash fiows We have pinponted this
significant risk to the shori-term future cash flows induding the terminal value in the four CGUs above and
matenal judgements contaned therein This 1s where the highest degree of sensivity exists to determining the
valug in use

We note that estimating a value in use 1s inherently unicertain, and a range of assumptions can reasonably be
applied in determining the estimates mentioned abave

Note 1 to the Financial Statements sets out the Group’s accounting policy for testing goodwill for imparment
The basis for the impamment reviews is qutiined in Note 12 to the financial Statements, including detatfs of the
discaunt rate and long-term growth rate used. Note 12 to the Financial Statements alsa includes details of the
extent to which the goodwill and other intangibles test is sensitive to changes in discount rates. long-term
growth rates and shert-term cash flow projections.

How the scope of
our audit responded
to the risk

Qur procedures for challenging management’s methodology and assumphions focused on the four

cash-generating units discussed above and included:

+ validating the integrity of management’s impairment model through testing of the mechantcal accuracy and
venifying the apphicauon of the input assumptions,

» understanding the underlying process used 1o datermine the sk adjusted cash flow projections,

evaluating the process management undertook to prepare the cash flow forecasts in 1ts mparment model

including agreement with the latest Board approved plans and management approved forecasts,

challenging the cash flow projections through assessing the accuracy of historical budgeting by companng

them waith actual performance and independent evidence to support any significant expected future changes

1o the business;

considered reasonable possible changes in assumptions 1o challenge the appropnateness of management’s

assessment of reasonable possible change scenanos, and

our chalienge was infarmed by input from certan of our internat valuation specialists, utilising their knowledge

and expertise

-

-

-

Key abservations

We determined that there is currently sufficient headroom for Omega, Millarock, ESG and Servomex such that
we concur with management that no impairment is required. We conclude that the assumptions applied in the
impairment models, when taken in aggregate, are within our acceptable range.
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Override in the application of the Group inventory provision accounting pelicy for obsalete, excess and slow-moving inventory items

Key audit matter
description

©@

As described in Note 1 {Accounting policies} and Note 14 (Inventory), the Group carnes inveniory at the

lower of cost and net realisable value As at 31 December 2017, the Group held inventeries of £176 0 million
(2016 £187 8 million)

Management has to apply jJudgement to assess the level of provision required to write down obsolete, excess
and slow-moving nventory ems to their net realisable value, The Group has an inventory provisioning policy
and methodofogy for determining the level of required prowsion The calculation of the inventory provision relies
upen assumptions made in determining appropriate provisioning percentages based on estimates of future sales
The Group accounting palicy sets out ¢niteria to apply in determining the level of inventory prowvision, with
written dispensation required from the Group for any overnde of the policy There 1s a significant nisk of matenal
misstatement or potential fraud in any cvernde to the apphication of the Group accounting pokcy gwen the level
of management judgement involved in determining whether an overnde should be recognised and how it
should be measured

The Group’s accounting policy for the inventory provision is outiined in Note 1 to the financial Staterents.

How the scope of
our audit responded
10 the key audit
matter

We obtained assurance over the approprateness of any override of the Group inventory provisioning policy and
methodology by.

» consiklenng the appropnateness of the Group's inventory provisioning policy in the context of our
understanding of the indwvidual businesses in the Group,

identifying and understanding instances where the inventory provisioning policy had been overndden
compared 10 that set out in the Group accounting manual; and

challenging the validity and accuracy of any overnde through consideration of actual and forecast sales, actual
inventory wite-offs and other sources of avalable ewdence, including the ageing and nature of inventory.

-

-

Key observations

Based on our procedures we confirm that instances of override in the application of the Group inventory
provision accounting policy for obsolete, excess and slow-moving inventory items are appropriate.

Accuracy of provisions for taxation in respect of dividends received from EU-based companies

Key audit matter
description

&)

Estimation 15 required in relation to the value of the 1ax provision recorded in respect of taxation on histoncal
dividends received from EU-based companies Accordingly, tax prowisioning is included in Note 1 as one of the
significant accounting estimates

As outlined in Note 9, the UK's dividend taxation regime prior to July 2009 1s the subject of long-runming
Irtigation between HMRC and taxpayers in relation to the tax charge on dividends received from EU-based
companies Similar to the prior year, as at 31 December 2017 this tax prowision remains unchanged at

£12.6 mithen based on the likely outcome of this dispute that certain dvedends received from EU-based
companies are relevant,

The Audit Committee Report on page 59 refers to provision for uncertain tax exposures as a key estimate
considered by the Audit Committee The Group's accounting policy for the pravision is cuthined m Note T to
the Financial Statements Note 1 also includes details of the key sources of estimation uncertamty in relation
to taxation

How the scope of
our audit responded
to the key audit
matter

We have reviewed the correspondence in respect of the ongong itrgation between HMRC and tax payers in
relation to dvidends recewed from EU-based comparies and recalculated the £12 6 millton provsion based on
existing tax law

We used our tax specalists to assist us in appraising the likely cutcome of the litgation with HMRC based on
their experience of working with the revenue authonties and reviewed correspondence with the authorities to
challenge the reasonableness of the provision Qur tax speaahst also considered management's assessment of
the risk inherent In tax positions taken and reasonably possible outcomes pending resolution of the litgation

Key observations

Based on the procedures performed, we consider that the overall tax provision in respect of dividends receved
from EU-based companies is reasonable
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Spectns pic continued

Our application of materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the Financial Statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a
reasonabiy knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use matenality both in planning the scope of our audit work and
evaluating the results of our work

8ased an our professional judgement, we determmned materiality for the Financial Statements as a whole as follows

Group materiality Group materiality as £9.0 mithon (2016 £7.4 million).

Company materiality as £3 6 million.
Basis for determining We have used 5% of expected adjusted profit before tax as the benchmark for deterrmining materiality
materiality In 2016, the previous auditors used 5% of Group profit before tax, adjusted for the impairment charge

related to Omega Engineering and £5G
Company matenality was set at 40% of Group materiahty and equates 1o 0 4% of the Company's net

assets
Rationate for the Ad)usted profit before tax 15 a key performance measure for management, investors and the analyst
benchmark applied community. This metnc is impaortant to the users of the Financial Statements {investors and analysts

heing the key users for a listed entity) because it portrays the performance of the business and hence rts
ability to pay a return on investment to the investors Likewise this metric takes into account the
acquesitive nature of the Group which results in adjusting items needing to be considered when
determining the performance of the business

Net assets are considered 10 be an appropriate benchmark for the Company given that 1t is mainly a
holding company.

Materiality

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £0.45 million (2016 £0 40
million), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on gualtate grounds. We also report to the
Audit Commitiee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentaton of the Finanaal Statements.
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An overview of the scope of our audit

The Group operates in more than 30 countries spread across five continents with the largest footpnnt baing in North America, Asia and
Europe Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including Group-wide controls, and
assessing the risks of matenial misstatement at the Group and component level Based on that assessment, we focused our Group audit
scope primardy on the audit work at the four segments, managed wia 12 operating comparnies located and controlled across different
geographical regions, and the Graup head office function These 12 operating companies are comprised of many ndividual reporting
entities or companents, which are the lowest level at which management prepares financial information that is included in the Group
Financial Statements The parent Company is located in the UK and 1s audited directly by the Group audit team

We have considered components on the basis of their contribution to Group revenue and operating profit, as welt as those that require
local statutory audits in therr junisdiction Full scope audit wark was completed on 68 reporting entities and speaified audit procedures were
done on a further 28 reporting entities Our full scope and specified audit procedures covered 74% of total Group revenue and 91% of
Group profit before tax. In the prior year, the prewiaus auditors' procedures covered 75% of total Group revenue and 87% of Group profit
before tax

Each component In scope was subject to an audit materiality level between £3 0 milhon and £3 6 million. The audit work on all components
was performed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited member firms under the direction and supension of the Group audit team. Further
work was perfarmed at a Group level over the consolidation and components not in scope.

We communicated the results of our nsk assessment exercise to the eomponent auditors and instructed them on the areas of significant risk,
the procedures to be performed and the form and timing of therr reporting to us We also provided direction on enguiries made by the
ccmponent auditors through online and telephone conversations Al the findings noted were discussed with the component auditor in
detail and further procedures to be performed were 1ssued where relevant

The Group audit teamn followed a programme of planned visits that has been designed so that on a rotational basis the Serior Statutory
Auditor or a semor member of the Group audit team visits each of the pnmary operating companies where the Group aucht scope was
focused In addition to the work performed at the Group head office In relation to the current year audit, the Seruor Statutory Auditor
andfor a seriar member of the audit team wisited South Korea, China, Denmark, Germany, Switzerland, Netherfands, USA, Canada and
vanous locations in the UK The visits were structured at different stages of the audit and the key components in the UK, USA, China and
South Korea were visited during the local audit close meetings.

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information The other information compnses the We have nothing to report in
information included in the annual Report, other than the Financial Statements and our auditor's respect of these matters.
report thereon

Our opinion on the Finanaial Statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise exphcitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon

In connection with our audit of the Financial Staternents, our responsibility 15 to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 15 matenally inconsistent
with the financial Statements or aur knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materally misstated

If we identify such matenal inconsistencies or apparent matenal rmisstatements, we are required to
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the Finanoal Statements or a material
misstatement of the other :information 1, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there 15 @ matenal misstatement of ths other Information, we are required to report that fact
In this context, matters that we are specifically required to report to you as uncorrected material
misstatements of the other informaton indude where we conclude that:

v Farr, balanced and understandable - the statement given by the Directors that they consider the
annual Report and Financial Statements taken as a whole 1s fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's performance,
business model and strategy, 15 matenally inconsistent with our knowjedge obtaned in the
audit, or

» Audhit committee reporting — the section describing the wark of the audit committee does not
appropnately address matters communicated by us to the audit committee, or

» Dwectors’ statement of comphance wath the UK Corporate Governance Code - the parts of the
Dwectors” statement required under the Listing Rules relating to the Company's complhiance with
the UK Corporate Governance Code containing provisiens specified for review by the auditor in
accordance with Listing Rule 9 8 10R(2) do not properly disclose a departure from a relevant
prowvision of the UK Corporate Governance Code
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Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Spectris pic continued

Responsibifities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilties statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial
Statements and for being satishied that they give a true and farr wew, and for such internal control as the Directors determine 1s necessary to
enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or etror.

In prepanng the Finandial Staternents, the Direciors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company's ability Lo continue as a
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Directars either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Financial $tatements

Our objecives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from matenal misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to 1ssue an auditor's report that includes our opinion Reasonable assurance 15 a high level of assurance,
but s not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) wifl always detect a matenal misstatement when it exists
Misstatements can anse from fraud or error and are cansidered matenal if, indwduatly or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected 1o influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financia! Staterents

A further description of our respansibilities for the audit of the Financia! Staternents is located on the Financial Reparting Council's website
at: www frc. org. uklauditorsresponsibiities This descrigtion forms part of our auditor’s report

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Cur
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members thase matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibiity to anyone other
than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinians on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2008
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006.
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit.
» the nformation gven i the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Repart for the financal year for which the Financial Staternerits are
prepared is consistent with the Financial Statements, and
> the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirernents.
in the hght of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Campany and their environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records We have nothing to reportin
Under the Comparues Act 2006, we are required to report to you If, in our opinion respect of these matters.
» we have not recewed all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adeguate for our
audrt have not been received from branches not wisited by us, or

1+ the Company Financial Staternents are not in agreement with the accaunting records
and returns.

Directars’ remuneration We have nothing to report in
Under the Comparies Act 2006, we are also required to report if in our opinon certam respect of these matters.
disclosures of Directors’ remuneration have not been made or the pan of the Directors'

Remuneration Report to be audited is not in agreement with the accounting records and returns
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Other matters

Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the Audit Commitiee, we were appointed by the Board in July 2016 to audn the Financial Staterments
for the year ending 31 December 2017 and subsequent financial perniods The Board's decision was approved ai the Group’s Annual
General Meeting in May 2017,

Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee

QOur audit apinion 1s consistent with the additional report to the Audit Commuttee we are required to prowde in accordance with 15As (UK).

Mark Mullins FCA nd‘\l" O\LJ‘&V‘;

Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutary Auditor

London, UK

19 February 2018
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Note £m £m

Continuing operations
Revenue 2,34 1,525.6 13458
Cost of sales (658.1) {585.3}
Gross profit BG7.5 760.5
indirect production and engineernng expenses (116.8) (108 9}
Sales and marketing expenses (336.4) (320.1)
Administrative expenses {231.9) (177.9)
Imparment of goodwill and other acquisition-related intangible assets - (115.3}
Adjusted operating profit 2 22358 2008
Net acquisition-retated costs and fair vaiue adjustments 2 (0.4) (1o 1)
Deprecation of acquisition-related faw value adjustments to property, plant and equipment 213 6.7} 0.2}
Amortisation of acquisibon-related intangible assets 2,12 {41.9) {36 9}
Bargain purchase on acquisthion 2,25 1.9 -
Impawment of goodwill and other acquisition-related intangible assets 2,12 - (115 3}
Operating profit 235 1824 383
Profit on disposal of business 7 100.5 -
Financial income 8 1.9 05
Finance costs 8 {6.4) 6.9)
Profit before tax 278.4 319
Taxation charge 9 (43.6) {21.6)
Profit after tax for the year from continuing operations attributable to owners of the
Parent Company 23438 10.3
Basic earnings per share 1 197.0p 8.6p
Diluted earmngs per share 11 196.1p 8 6p
Interim dwidends pard and final dividends proposed for the year {per share) 10 57.5p 520p
Dividends paid during the year (per share) 10 $3.0p 50 2p
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Note £m £m
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Parent Company 2348 103
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement:
Re-measurement of net defined benefit obligation, net of foreign exchange 20 5.9 {126)
Tax on items above 9 - {1.4) 30
4.5 (96)
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the Consolidated
Income S$tatement:
Net gain/(loss) on effective portion of changes in fair value of forward exchange contracts on
cash flow hedges 4.0 [ER)]
Foreign exchange movements on translation of overseas operations (44.7} 160.4
Currency translation differences transferred to profit on disposal of business 7 {4.4) -
Tax on items above g (0.7} 07
(45.8) 158 0
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the
193.5 158 7

Parent Company

Spectris plc 93



Financial Statements

Consoclidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Capital
Share Share Retained Translation  Hedging Merger redemp‘:;on Total
capital premium  earnings reserve reserve reserve reserve eqguity
£m £m m iEm Em £m fm £m
Balance at 1 January 2017 62 2314 638.3 193.4 (5.3} 3.1 0.3 10674
Profit for the year - - 2348 - - - - 2348
Other comprehensive income
Net gain on effective portion of thanges
in fair value of forward exchange contracts,
net af tax - - - ~ 33 - - 33
Foreign exchange movements on translation
of overseas operations - - -~ {44.7) - - - {44.7)
Foreign exchange gain on disposal of business
taken to Consofidated income Statement - - - {4.4) - - - {a.4)
Re-measurement of net defined benefit
obligation, net of foreign exchange and tax ~ - 45 - - - - 4.5
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 2393 {49.1) 33 - - 193.5
Transactions with owners recorded directly
in equity
Equity dividends paid by the Company - - {63.2) - - - ~ (63.2)
Share-based payments, riet of tax - - 59 - - - - 59
Utllisation of treasury shares - - 0.5 - - - - 05
Balance at 31 December 2017 6.2 231.4 8208 1443 (2.0) 3.1 0.3 12041
Capstal
Share Shate Retaned  Translation Hedging Maerger  redemption Tatal
capital  prefmum earnings reserve reserve reserve reserve equity
£m Em fm £m m £m £m fm
Balance at 1 January 2016 52 2314 6949 330 2.9 31 03 9660
Profit for the year - - 03 - - ~ - 103
Other comprehensive Income:
Net toss on effective portion of changes
n faw value of forward exchange contracts,
net of tax - - ~ - {2.4) - - 2.4
Foresgn exchange movements on translation
of overseas operations - - - 1604 - - - 1604
Re-measwrernent of net defined benefit
liabilty, net of foreign exchange and tax - - (2 6) ~ - - - (98)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - a7 160 4 (2 4) - - 1587
Transactions with owners recorded directly
n equity
Equity dividends paid by the Company ~ - (59 8} - - - - (59.8)
Share-based payments, net of tax - - 23 - - - - 2.3
Utifisation of treasury shares - - 02 - - - - 02
Balance at 31 Decerber 2016 62 2314 6383 1934 {5.3) 31 03 10674
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2017

2017 2018
Note £m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets,
Goodwall 12 627.5 654 3
Other intangible assets 12 209.9 2452
8374 8995
Property, plant and equipment 13 275.8 238.8
Deferred tax assets 21 10.5 134
11237 1,151.7
Current assets
Inventores 14 176.0 187 8
Cugrent tax assets 35 24
Trade and other recevables i5 323.9 3066
Dervative financal instruments 28 14 -
Cash and cash equivalents 16 1379 835
642.7 580 3
Assets held for sale 26 325 -
Total assets 1,7989 1,732.0
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrovangs 17 {(1.3) {12.3)
Derivative financial nstruments 28 (0.5) {4 2)
Trade and other payables 18 {272.5) (25¢ 2)
Current tax Labiliies (23.6) (36.8)
Provisions 19 (25.2) (19 5)
(323.1) (3320)
Net current assets 3196 248 3
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 17 (187.2) {222 1)
Other payables 18 {20.7) (20 Q)
Retirement benefit obligations 20 (34.0) {40 3}
Deferred tax habilives P3| {25.0) 41 2)
(266.9) {3326)
Liabilties directly associated with the assets held for sale 26 (4.8) -
Total liabifities {594.8) (664.6)
Net asgsets 1.204.1 10674
EQUITY
Share capital 22 6.2 62
Share preruum 2314 2314
Retained earnings 820.8 638 3
Translation reserve 22 144.3 193 4
Hedging reserve 22 (2.0) {53)
Merger reserve 22 3.1 31
Capital redemption reserve 22 03 03
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 1,204.1 1,067 4

re approved by the Board of Directors an 19 February 2018 and were signed on its behalf by

Campany Registration No. 2025003
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2017

2037 2018
Note £m £
Cash fiows from operating activities
Profit after tax 234.8 103
Adjustments for
Taxation ¢harge 9 436 2186
Profit on disposal of husiness 7 {100.5) -
Finance costs 8 64 69
Financial income 8 1.9} 0.5)
Depreciation 13 256 23.0
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 a7.5 424
impawment of goodwill and other acquisition-related intangible assets 12 - 115.3
Bargain purchase on acquisition 25 (1.9) -
Acquisition-related fair value adustments 2 {3.0) 56
Lossiprofit) on sale of property, plant and equipment 5 0.1 02
Equity-settied share-based payment expense 6 5.4 21
Operating cash flow before changes in working capital and provisions 256.1 2255
Increase in trade and other receivables (34.3) 71
{Increase)/decrease wt inventories (0.6} 254
Increase 1n trade and other payzables 17.5 82
Decrease in provisions and retirement benefits (1.1) 6 3)
Cash generated from operations 237.6 2457
Net income taxes pad (47.0) {29.8)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 190.6 2159
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and software (74.3) (28 7}
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and software 05 54
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired 25 (36.5) {160.9)
Proceeds from disposal of business, net of tax paid of £19.0m 919 -
Proceeds from government grants 13 1.2 -
Interest receved 0.6 0.5
Net cash flows used in investing activities {16.6) (183 7)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (4.7} {4 6)
Dividends paid 10 (63.2) (59.8)
Proceeds from exerase of share options 0.5 0.2
Proceeds from borrowings - 410
Repayment of barrowings {41.0) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities {108.4) (232)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 65.6 30
Cash and cash equvalents at beginning of year 7.2 565
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes {0.1) 57
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16 136.7 712
2017 206
Recontiliation of changes in cash and cash equivalents to movements in net debt Note £m Em
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 65.6 9.0
Proceeds from borrowings - 410
Repayment of borrowings 410 -
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (6.2) (20.3)
Movement in net debt 1004 (52 3)
Net debt at start of year {150.9) {98.6)
Net debt at end of year 2 {50.5) (150.9)
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Notes to the Accounts

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

Basis of accounting

The Consolidated Financiat Statements have been prepared on a histonical cost basis except for tems that are required by IFRS to be
measured at fair value, pnincipally certain financial instruments. The Consolidated Finangial Statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘1ASB’) and Interpretations issued by the Internationat Financial
Reporting interpretations Committee of the 1ASB, as adopted by the European Union {IFRS'), and in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006

The Financial Statements set out on pages 92 to 155 have been prepared using consistent accounting policies, except for the adopuon of
new accounting standards and interpretations noted below Mo revisions to adopted IFRS that became applicable in 2017 had a significant
impact on the Group Financial Statements

These Financial Statements are presented in rruflions of Sterfing rounded to the nearest one deamal place

Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements set out the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2017 and the Group’s financial
performance for the year ended 31 Decernber 2017, which incorporate the Finandial Statements of Spectris plc and its subsidianies.

Subsidiaries are those enbities controlled by the Group Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or inchrectly, to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its actvities. Subsicharies are cansolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group Associates
and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost

All inter-company balances and transactuons, nduding unrealsed profits ansing from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated
Unrealised losses are elminated in the same way as unrealised gains except that they are only eliminated 1o the extent that there 1s no
evidence of impairment

Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and financial position, are set out
in the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 47 The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, iquidity position and borrowing faclities are
described in the Financial Review on pages 28 to 32. In addition, Nate 27 to the Financial Statements indiudes the Group's objectives,
policies and processes for managing its capital, its financial risk management cbjectves, details of its finanoal instruments and hedging
actmties, and its exposure 10 credit nisk and hiquidity risk

The Group's net debt balance at 31 December 2017 was £50.5m (2016 £150 9m), with avallable undrawn committed borrowing faciities
of £406 5m (2016 £406 Om).

The Board has reviewed sensttivity analysis on the Group's forecasts to 30 June 2019, the matunty profile of its financial faclities and
liabilises (Notes 17 and 28) and the ability of the Group to re-finance these obligatrons as they fall due. The principal hquidity risk 13
mitigated through its financial nsk management polices (Note 27). For the foreseeable future, the Board has a high level of confidence that
the Group will have the necessary hquid resources to meet its liabitives as they fall due and will be able to sustain its business model, strategy
and operations and remain solvent, ndluding the impact of reasonably possible adverse scenanos For this reason, it continues to adopt the
going concern basis in prepanng the Group Finanaial Statements There are no key sensitivities identified in relation to this conclusion
Further information an the going concern of the Group can be found on page 39 in the Viability Statement

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
There are a number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are not yet effective for the year ended
31 Decernber 2017 which, therefore, have not been applied in prepanng these Cansolidated Financial Statements.

IFRS 9 'Financial instruments’

Transition to FRS 9 for the Group will take effect from 1 January 2018 with the half-year results for June 2018 being IFRS 9 compliant,
and the first Annual Repart published In accordance with IFRS 9 being for the year ended 31 December 2018. There 1s no requirement to
restate comparatives

IFRS 9 prowides a new impairment model for financial assets, which requires the recognition of impairment prowvisions based on expected
credht losses rather than incurred credit losses as 15 the case under 1AS 39 This requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of
its trade recevables, either on a 12-month or hfetime basis The Group will apply the simphified approach and record Ifetme expected losses
on all trade receivables

Overall, the Group expects no matenal impact on its statement of financial position and equity from applying the imparrment requirements
of IFRS 9

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ using the modified retrospective approach, which means that the
cumulative Impact on adoption will be recognised in retaned earnings as of 1 January 2018 with the half-year results for June 2018 being
IFRS 15 compliant, and the first Annual Report published in accordanice with IFRS 15 being for the year ended 31 December 2018
Comparatives will not be restated IFRS 15 prowides a single, prnciples-based, five-siep model to be applied to all sales contracts, based on
the transfer of control of goods and seraces to customers, and 1t replaces the separate model for goods and services of IAS 18 "Revenue’
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1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued

Management carried out a comprehensive impact assessment which ncluded scoping the Groug's revenues to identify different revenue
streams and performing sample contract reviews 10 determine the appropriate Tevenue recogniuon reatment under IFRS 15. To ensure a
consistent approach across the Group, the exercise was supported centraily through sethng the approach to transitron and prowiding the
appropnate tools and guidance. Revenue is derived from a single performance obligation which 1s either the sale of goods or the provision
of services

Under IFRS 15, revenue from the sale of goods, where the goods are not required 1o be instailed, will continue to be recognised when legal
title transfers to the custorner on delivery.

When the sale of goads 1s combined with instafiation, revenue recognition depends upon the nature of the installation Smple installations
are those which the customer perceives 25 a separate obhigation within the overall contract 1o delwer goods, whereas compiex instaliations
are those for which the installation is an integral part of the dehvery of the goods. Revenue will be recognised for simple installations
separately from the delivery of goods, and only when the installation has occurred For complex installations, revenue recognition on the
defivery of the goods will be deferred until instaflatian 1s compiete

Revenue from the pravision of services, including angomng supgort, servicing and mantenance, will continue to be recognised in line with
the delivery of the serice

For contracts which combine sale of goods and provision of services, the contract's revenue will continue to be allocated across the
mndnmdual components in line with the relative value and accounted for as described above

The overal) impact on ransition on 1 January 2018 for the Group 1s expected to be as follows.

Oecrease in Increase n
retained daferred
edrmings ncoma

Segrnent £m Em
Materials Analysis (22.6) 308
Test and Measurement - ~
In-ine Instrumentation {0 3) a7
Industnial Controls ~ 01
Group (22.9) 316

if the Group had applied RS 15 from 1 January 2017, the impact on reported revenue far 2017 would have been a decrease of £7 1m

(0 %) The adoption of IFRS 15 will also have an impact on the phasing of revenue between the first and second halves of the year with an
Increase in revenue recognised in the first half of the year driven by later recognition of revenues from the peak sales month of December to
January under IFRS 15,

IFRS 16 'Leases’

Transition to IFRS 16 for the Group will take effect from 1 January 2019 with the half-year results for June 2019 being IFRS 16 compliant,
with the first annual Report publisheg i accordance with IFRS 16 being for the year ended 31 December 2019 IFRS 16 prowdes a single
model for lessees which recognises a right of use asset and lease liability for all leases which are longer than one year or which are not
classified as low value The impact of IFRS 16 will be to recognise a fease habifity and a corresponding asset in the Statement of Ainancial
Position for leases currently classified as operating leases The most significant impact will be that the Group's land, building and car leases
wiil be recognised on the balance sheet. Further assessment of other leases 1S ongoing The Group's future lease commitments for

land, building and car leases as at 31 December 2017, which provides an indicator of the value to be recogrised on the balance sheet,
was £66 4m

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a matenal impact on the entity in the current or
future repoiting periods and an fareseeable future transactions.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In determining and applying accounting policies, judgement 1s often required where the choice of specific policy. assumption or

accounting estimate to be followed could matenally affect the reported amounts of assets, labilities, Income and expenses, shouid it fater be
determined that a different choice be more appropnate Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based

on histoncal experience and vanous other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

In the course of preparing these Financial Statements in accordance with the Group's accounting palicies, no judgements that have

2 significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements have been made, other than those invalving estimation.
Management considers the following 1o be key areas of estmation uncertainty for the Group due to the possibiity of matenal change in the
next year.

Key sources of esttmation uncertainty

1 Taxation

The Group operates in a number of countries and 15 subject to taxes in numerous junsdiciions. Significant estimation 1s required in
determining the provision for taxes as the tax treatmert is often by its nature complex, and cannot be finally determined uniil a formal
resolutron has been reached with the relevant tax authonty which may take several years to condude Amounts provided are accrued based
on management’s Interpretation of country-specific tax laws and the Iikelihaod of settlement Actual habilities could differ from the amount
provided which could have a consequent adverse impact on the results and net positian of the Group The assumptions and estimates
which have been applied in the determination of taxation are detaled in Note 9. Details of the accounting policies apphed in respect of
taxation are set out on page 100
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i) Retirement benefit plans

Accounting for retirement benefit plans under 145 19 (revised) requires an assessment of the future benefits payable in accordance with
actuarial assumptions The discount rate and rate of retall price mnfiation ('RPY) assumptions applied in the calculation of plan habilities, which
are set out in Note 20, represent a key source of eshimation uncertainty for the Group. Details of the accounting polidies apphed in respect
of retirement benefit plans are set out on page 102.

b) Summary of significant accounting policies
The accounting pelicies set out below have been apphed consistently by Group entities te all years presented in these Finanaal Statements

Business combinations and goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the purchiase consideration for the interests in subsidiary undertakings over the net farr
value to the Group of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent iabilities acquired Where the fair value of the Group's share of
dentifiable net assets acquired exceeds the fair value of the consideration, the difference 1s recognised immediately in the Consolidated
Income Statement Contingent consideration 1s mitially recognised as a hiability with changes to estimates of contingent consideration
reflected in operating profit unless they occur dunng the 12-month measurement penod, in which situation the amount of goodwaill
recognised on the acquisiion 1s adjusted Adjustments to contingent consideration are treated as an adjusting item for the purposes of
alternative performance measures (see Note 2).

Transaction costs on a business combination are expensed as incurred n the Consolidated Incame Statement and treated as an adjusting
item for the purposes of alternative performance measures (see Note 2).

Goodwill arsing on the acquisitron of a business is tested annually for Impairment. Gooadwaill 15 not amortised, and any imparment losses are
not subsequently reversed The net book value of goadwill at the date of transition to IFRS has been treated as deemed cost. On the
subsequent disposal or discontinuance of a previously acquired business, the relevant goodwill is dealt with in the Consalidated Income
Statement except for the goodwill already charged to reserves. From 1 January 2004, goodwill 15 allocated on acquisition to cash-generating
units that are anticpated to benefit from the combination. Goodwaill 15 tested for impairment by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the goodwilt relates and comparing it against the net book value. This estimate of recoverable amount 1s
determmned annually and additonally when there is an indication that a cash-generating unit may be inpaired The Group's identified cash-
generating units are smaller than the reportable operating segments in Note 3

The estimate of recoveratle amount requies significant assumptions to be made and is based on a number of factors such as the near-term
business outlook for the cash-generating unit, including both its operating profit and operating cash flow performance Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impawrment lass is recogrused in the Consolidated
income Statement. Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and pant of the operation within that urit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of 15 included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss
on disposal. Goodwill disposed of In this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating urit retained

Intangible assets and amortisation
The cost of acquinng software (including associated iImplementation costs where applicable) that s not specific to an item of property, plant
and equipment is classified as an intangible asset

Self-funded research and development costs are charged to the Consalidated Income Statement in the year in which they are ncurred
unless developrnent expenditure meets certain stnct criteria for capitalisation These critena include demonstration of the technical feasibility
and intent of completing a new intangible asset that will be available for sale and that the asset will generate probable future ecanomic
benefits. From the point where expenditure meets the cnteria, development costs are capitalised and amortised over the useful econormic
Ives of the assets to which they relate The Directors consider that, due to the nature of projects undertaken, the proportion of development
costs incurred that meets the critenia for capitalisation 1s immatenal

Intangible assets ansing from a business combination that are separable from goodwill are recogmised initially at fair value at the date of
acguisition Other acquired intangible assets (ncluding saftware not specific to an itern of property, plant and equipment) are initially
recagnised at cost (plus any associated implementation costs where applicable)

Subsequent expenditure s capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits, otherwise 1t 1s expensed as incurred

Amartisation of intangible assets is charged to administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the estimated useful economic life {determined on an asset-by-asset basis) or underlying contractual life The estimated useful
lives are as follows:

+ Software - 3 to 5 years

» Patents, contractual rights and technology — up to 10 years, dependent upon the nature of the underlying contractual night

» Customer-related and trade names — 3 to 20 years, dependent upon the underying contractual arrangements and specific arcumstances
Such as Customer retention experience

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses The cost comprises the purchase price
paid and any costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended use Tangible assets ansing from a business
combination are recognised initially at fair value at the date of acquisiion
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Depreciation 1s recogrsed in the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basig to write off the cost, less the estimated residual
value (which is reviewed annually), of property, plant and equipment over its estimated useful economic life Depreciation commences on
the date the assets are avallable for use within the business and the asset carrying values are reviewed for Impairment when there is an
indication that they may be impaired The depreciation charge 1s rewsed where useful lives are different from those previously esumated, or
where technically obsolete assets are required 10 be written down Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have separate lives, they
are accounted for and depreciated as separate items Land is not depreciated. Estmated useful lives are as follows.

» Freehold and long leasehold property and automotive testing tracks — 20 to 40 years.
» Short leasehold property ~ over the period of the lease
» Plant and equipment — 3 to 20 years

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or praduction of qualifying assets that take a substantal peniod of tme
ta get ready for thew intended use are capitalised as part of the cast of the respective asset

Inventories

Inventories and work in progress are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventory acquired as part of business
combinations is valued at fair value less cost to sell. Cost represents direct costs incurred and, where approprate, production or conversion
costs and other costs 1o bring the inventary to its existing location and condition. In the case of manufacturing inventory and work in
progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capaaty Inventary 1s accounted foron a
furst-in, firsi-out basis or, in some cases, a weighted-average basis, if deerned more appropnate for the business Provisions are made to write
down slow-moving, excess and obsolete items 1o net realisable value, based on an assessment of technological and market developments
and on an analysis of historical and projected usage with regard to quantities on hand,

Trade and other receivables

Trade recewables are carned at orginal invoice amaunt (which 1s considered a reasonable proxy for fair value) and are subsequently held at
amortised cost less provision for imparment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence
that the Group will not be able to coliect all amounts due according to the original terms of the transactions The amount of the provision 15
the difference between the original carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows
receivable. The movement in the provision is recognised in the Consclidated Income Statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalents compnse cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits held on call or with maturities of less than three
months at inception Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's ¢cash management are
included as a component of cash equivalents for the purposes of the Cansolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Assets and liabilities held for sale
Assets, liabilities and disposal groups dassified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Assets, liabilihies and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered pnncipally through a sale
transaction rather than contimuing use This condition is regarded as met only when the sale 1s lighly prabable and the asset (or disposal
group) 1s available for immediate sale 1n its present condition and when management 15 committed 1o the sale which 1s expacted to qualify
for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of dlassification

Trade and other payables
Trade and cther payables are recognised at the amounts expected to be paid to counterparties and subsequently held at amortised cost

Provisions

A provision 1s recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a present legal or constructive cbligation
as a result of a past event and it is probable that an cutflow of resources, that can be reliably measured, will be required to settle the
obligation. In respect of warranties, a prowsion 1s recogrised when the underlying products or services are sold Prowisions are recogrised at
an amount equal to the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group’s hability A contingent Yability 15 disclosed where the
existence of the obligation will only be confirmed by future events or where the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
reascnable reliability Contingent assets are not recognised, but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefit is probable Obligations
ansing from restructuring plans are recogmised when detailed formal plans have been established and when there 1s a valid expectation that
such a plan will be carned out

Leasing

Rentals payable under cperating leases are charged to the Consolidated income Statement on a straight-ling basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Benefits received and recevable as an incentive to enter mto an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over
the lease term

Taxation

Tax on the prefit or loss for the year comprises both current and deferred tax Tax is recognised in the Consobdated Income Statement
except to the extent that it relates to iterns recognised either in other comprehenswve income or directly in equity, in which case tax s
recogaised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income or the Consohidated Statement of Changes in Equily, respectively

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement
of financial position date, ang any adjustments to tax payable in respect of prior years. Tax positions are reviewed to assess whether a
provisicn should be made based on prevahing arcumstances. Tax provisions are induded within Current taxation payable.
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Deferred taxation is provided on taxable temporary differences between the carrying arnounts of assets and liabiities in the Financial
Statements and their corresponding tax bases No provision is made for deferred tax which would become payable on the distribution of
retained profits by overseas subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and rt 15 probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates expected to apply when
the asset 15 realised or the liability settled based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financiat position date.

Deferred tax is not prowided on the initial recognition of goodwall, nor on the INitial recogmition of an asset or liability unless the related
transaction is @ business combination or affects tax or accounting profit

A deferred tax asset is recognised only 1o the extent that it1s probable that future taxable profits will be available agamst which the asset can
be utihsed. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that 1t 15 o langer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised

Deferred tax assets and liabiliues are offset if a legally enforceable night exsts to set off current tax assets against current tax habikties and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Additional income taxes that anise from the distribution of intra-group dividends are recognised at the same time as the hability to pay the
related dividend

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency for each entity in the Group 1s deterrmined with reference to the currency of the primary economic environment in
which 1t operates Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are stally recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and habilibes denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruting
at the statement of financial positron date Exchange gains and losses on settlerment of foreign currency transactions are determined using
the rate prevailing at the date of the transactions, or the translation of monetary assets and habilities at pencd end exchange rates, and are
charged/credited to the Consolidated income Statement. Non-monetary assets and labidities denominated in foreign currencres that are
stated at historical cost are translated to the funcuonal currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction

On consolidation, the Income Statement items of subsidianes are translated into Stering at average rates of exchange Statement of
Financial Position iterns are translated Into Sterfing at year-end exchange rates Exchange differences on the retranslation are taken to the
translation reserve within equity Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings designated as a hedge of the net investment in a
foreign operation are reported in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. All other exchange differences are charged or
credited to the Consolidated Income Statement in the year in which they anse. On disposal of an overseas subsidiary, any cumulative
exchange movements relating to that subsidiary held in the translation reserve are transferred to the Consolidated income Staterment

Derivative finandial nstruments may be purchased to hedge the Group's exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates The accounting
policies applied In these arcumstances are described below

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearng borrowangs are recognised intially at the fair value of consideration receved less directly attnbutable transaction costs.
Subsequent to inthal recognitian, interest-bearing borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redemnption value being recognised In the € onsofidated tncome Staterment over the period of the borrowings on an effective-interest basis

Financial instruments

Recognition
The Group recognises finangal assets and liabifities on its Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when it becomas a party 1o the
contractual provisions of the instrument

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 15 reported in the Cansolidated Statement of Financial Position when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there 1s an intention Lo settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the
hability simultanecusfy

Measurement

When financial assets and liabilities are initially recogrised, they are measured at farr value, being the consideration given or recewed
plus directly atiributable transaction costs In determining estimated fair value, investments are valued at quoted bid pnices on the trade
date When quoted prices on an active market are not avaitable, fair value is determined by reference to price quotations for similar
instruments traded '

Originated loans and receivables are initiatly recognised in accordance waith the policy stated above and subsequently re-measured at
amortised cost using the effective-interest method Atlowance for impairment is estimated on a case-by-case basis,

The Group uses denvative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge risks associated with foreign exchange
fluctuatrons. These are designated as cash flow hedges. At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship
between the hedging instrument and the hedged itern, along with s nsk management objectives and 1ts strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basts, the Group documents whether the hedgrng
instrument that 1s used in a hedging relationship 1s highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item

The effective portron of changes m the Tair value of denvatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in equity
The gan or loss relating to the ineffectve portion 1s recogrised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement

Amounts deferred in equity are reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement in the periods when the hedged item 1s recognised in the
Consolidated income Statement, in the same line of the Consohdated Incorme Statement as the recognised hedged item  However, when
the forecast transaction that 1s hedged results in the recogrition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial hability, the gains and losses
previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included n the witial measurement of the cost of the asset or hability
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Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or 15 sold,
terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains
in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity 1s recognised immediately in the
Consolidated Income Statement

Derecogrution

A financial asset is derecognised when the Group (oses contro! over the contractual nghts to the cash fiows from the asset. This occurs
when the rights are realised, expire or are surrendered A finanaal fiability is derecogrised when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelted or expired. Originated loans and recevables are derecogrised on the date they are transferred by the Group

impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each Consolidated Statement of Financal Position reporting date whether there 1s any objective emdence that a
financial asset, or group of financial assets, is impaired, A financial asset, or group of financial assets, is deemed 1o be impared if, and only
if, there is objective ewidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occusred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
ncurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estmated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of finandal assets
that can be reliably estimated.

Net investment hedge accounting

The Group uses Euro-denominated borrowings as a hedge against the transiation exposure on the Group’s net investment in overseas
caompanies. To the extent that the hedge is effective at hedging the vanability in the net assets of such companies, caused by changes
in foreign exchange rates, the changes in the value of the borrowings are recogmised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensiva
Incorne The ineffective part of any change in value caused by changes in foreign exchange rates 15 recognised in the Consolidated
Income Statement

Employee benefits
The Group operates defined benefit post-retirement pfans and defined contribution pension pians

Defined benefit plans

The Group's net obligation recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated
separately for each plan as the present value of the plan’s liabilities less the fair value of the plan’s assets. The operating and finanoing costs
of defined benefit plans are recognised separately in the Consolidated Income Statement. Operating costs compnse the current service cost,
plan administrative expense, any gans or losses on sattlement or curtalments, and past service costs where benefils have vested. Finance
iterms comprise the unwinding of the discount on the net asset surplus/deficit Actuanal gains or losses comprising changes in plans’ liabifities
due to experience and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the Consohdated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The amount of any pension fund asset recognised in the Cansolidated Statement of Financial Position s imited to any future refunds from
the plan or the present value of reductions in future contnbutions to the plan.

Defined contnbution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate enuty and will
have no legal ar constructive obiigation to pay further amounts Obligations for contributians to defined cantribution pensian plans are
recognised in the Consolidated income Staternent in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

tn certain countrnes, the Group participates in industry-wide defined benefit-type pension arrangements In such arcumstances, it s
not possible to determme the amount of any surplus or deficit attributable to the Group and the pension costs are accounted for asf
the arrangements were defined contnbution plans These are not matenal to the Group and, accordingly, no additional disclosures
are provided

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obiigations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 15 provided.
A hability 15 recognised for the amount expected to be pard under short-term cash bonus or profitsharing plans if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obhgation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obhgation can
be estimated rehably.

Share-based payments

Certain employees of the Group receive part of therr reruneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions) The cost of equity-settied transactions with
ernployees 1s measured at faw value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of share awards with market-related vesting
conditions 15 determined by an external consultant and the fair value at the grant date 1s expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
perfod based on the Groug’s estimate of shares that will evenitually vest. The estimate of the number of awards iikely to vest is reviewed at
each Consolidated Statement of Finanaal Position reporting date up to the vesting date, at which point the estimate is adjusted to reflect
the actual outcome of awards which have vested No adjustment is made to the farr value after the vesting date even if the awards are
forfeited or not exercised

Where it 15 not possible to ncentivise managers of the Graup’s operating companies with equity-settled options, they are issued with cash-
seftled options The chasge for these awards 15 adjusted 1o reflect the expected and actual levels of options that vest and the far value 15
based on either the share price at date of exercise or the share price at the Consclidated Statement of Financial Position date if sooner
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Own shares

Own equity instruments which are re-acquired {own shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recogrised
n the Consalidated income Staternent on the purchase, sale, ssue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity Instruments Any difference
between the carrying amount and the consideration paid to acquire such equity instruments 1s recogrised within equity

Dividends
Dvidends are recogrised as a liability in the peniod in which they are approved by shareholders

Revenue
Revenue 1s measureg at the fair value of the nght to consideration and represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in
the narmal course of business to external customers net of returns and discounts, excluding value added tax and other sales-related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods 1s recogrised in the Consolidated Income Statement when the significant nisks and rewards of awnership
of the goods have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration 15 probable, the costs and possible return of goods can
be estimated reliably, there is no continuing managemernit involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably This is typically on delivery when legal title transfers to the customer. If it 1s probable that discounts will be granted and the
amaount can be measured reliably, then the discount 1s recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised

For contracts that involve a significant element of installation or testing of equipment, revenue 15 recogrised at the point of
customer acceptance

Revenue from services rendered 15 recognised in the Consclidated Income Statement in proportion to the measurernent of the stage of
completion of services rendered as at the Consohdated Statement of Financial Position date This is assessed by reference to the amount
of time incurred 1n proportion to the total expected time to be taken to deliver the service

Qccasionally, the initial contract covers both the supply of goods and ongoing support, servicing and maintenance. For such contracts
revenue is allocated across each of the indmdual components in ine with their relative value and each element 1s accounted for as
described above.

Interest payable and receivable

interest payable comprises the interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method and the unwinding of the
discount factor on deferred or contingent consideration Interest recewvable comprises interest income on cash and invested funds and is
recognised in the Consolidated Income Staternent as it accrues

2. Alternative performance measures
Policy

Spectris uses adjusted figures as key performance measures In addition to those reported under IFRS, as management believe these
measures enable Managerment and stakeholders to assess the underlying trading performance of the businesses as they exclude certan
non-operational items, foreign exchange movements and the impact of acquisitions and disposals.

The adjusted performance reasures {"APMs') are consistent with how the businesses performance 1s planned and reported within the
Internal management reporting to the Board and Operating Committees Some of these measures are used for the purpose of seting
remuneration targets The key APMs that the Group uses include like-for-tike {'LFL") organic performance measures and Adjusted measures
for the income statement together with adjusted financial position and cash flow measures. Explanations of how they are calculated and
how they are reconciled to an IFRS statutory measure are set out below.

Adjusted measures

The Group's policy is to exclude tems that are considered to be significant in nature andéor guantum and where treatment as an
ad)usted itern provides stakeholders with additional useful information to assess the penoed-on-peniod trading performance of the Group.
On this basis, adjusted figures exclude certain non-operational items that are predominantly acquisition- or disposal-related items which
management have defined as-

» Amortisation and impairment of acquisition-related goodwall and other intangible assets,

» Bargam purchase on acquisition,

» Depreciation of acquisition-related fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment,

» Acquistion-related costs, deferred and contingent consideration fair value adjustments,

» Profits or tosses on termination or disposal of businesses,

» Unwinding of the discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration,

» Unrealised changes in the fair value of financial instruments,

» Gains or losses on retranslation of short-term inter-company loan balances, and

Related tax effects on the above and other tax iterns which do net form part of the underlying tax rate {see Note 9)
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2. Alternative performance measures continued
LFL. measures

The Board reviews and compares current and prior year segmental sales and adjusted profut at constant exchange rates and excludes the
impact of acquisitons and disposats dunng the year In addiion, Project Uphft programme implementation costs are excluded from adjusted
profit to better refiect year-on-year operating performance

The constant exchange rate companson uses the current year reported segmental information, stated in each operating entity’s functronal
currency, and translates the results into 1ts presentation currency using the prior year's monthiy exchange rates, irrespective of the underlying
transactional currency

within the In-hne nstrumentation segment, the BTG business has large functional currency mismatches against its undedying transaction
currencies which distort LFL comparison at times of significant currency movernents, Accordingly, we have modified the basis on which
BTG's LFL results are translated into Sterding by using the actual underlying transaction currency mix for determining transactional
gainsflosses to provide more accurate and reliable information on BTG's underlying performance.

The incremental impact of business acquistions s excluded for the fist 12 months of ownership from the month of purchase. For business
disposals, comparative figures for segmental sales and adjusted operating profit are adjusted to reflect the comparable perods of
ownership. The Microscan business was disposed of on 2 October 2017 and the segmental sales and adjusted profit for 2016 exdlude

the trading results of the last three maonths of 2016

The LFL measure 15 presented as a means of eiminating the effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the period-on-pericd reported results as
well as allowing the Board to assess the underlying trading perfermance of the businesses on a LFL basis for both sales and operating profit

Based on the above policy, the adjusted performance measures are derived from the reported figures as follows
Income statement measures
a) LFL and adjusted sales by segment

Matarials Test and In-line Industrial 2017

Analysis Measurement Instrumentation Controls Total

Sales by segment £m £m fm £m Em

Reported sales 464.9 AB7.3 3109 262.5 1,525.6
Constant exchange rate adjustment {16.8) (21.5) (12.8) {13.1) (64.2)
Acquisiions {0.9) (38.2) (5.1) - (44.2)

LFL adjusted sales 447.2 427.6 293.0 2494 14172

Matenats Test and In-line Industrial 2016

Analyss  Measurement  Instrymentation Controls Tatal

Sales by segment fm Em £m £m fm

Reparted sales 4189 404 5 2756 246 8 1,3458
Disposal of business - - -~ (13 {11.3)

LFL adjusted sales 4189 4045 2756 2355 1,3345
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b} LFL and adjusted operating profit and margin by segment and EBITDA

Materials Test and In-line Industrial 2017
Analysis Measurement Instrumentation Controls Total
Adjusted operating profit by segment £m £m £m £m £m
Reported operating profit 68.6 55.6 295 287 182.4
Net acquisitton-related costs and fair value adjustments 18 (0.1} 0.4 1.7 0.4
Depreciatron of acquisition-related far value adjustments to
property, plant and eguipment - 0.7 - - 0.7
Amortsation of acquisition-related intangible assets 12.7 14.6 33 113 419
Bargain purchase on acquisition - (1.9) - - (1.9
Adusted operating profit B3.1 68.9 332 383 223.5
Project Uphft costs 4.2 5.3 2.8 3.5 15.8
Adjusted operating profit before Project Uphft costs 82.3 74.2 36.0 M8 239.3
Constant exchange rate adjustment {1.0) (2.1) (1.1} 1.7) {5.9)
Acquisitions {0.1) 39 20 - (2.0)
LFL adjusted operating profit before Project Uphft costs 86.2 68.2 36.9 401 2314
Materals Test and In-ine Industrial 2016
Analysis  Measurement  Instrumentaten Controls Total
Adjusted operating profit by segrment Em Em £m Em £m
Reported operating profit 66 2 267 376 Q22 383
Net acguisthion-related costs and fair value adjustments 02 21 03 75 107
Depreciation of acquisition-related fair value adjustments to
property, plant and equipment - 02 - - 02
Amortisation of acquisttion-related intangible assets 9.8 119 33 ne 369
Impairment of goodwill and other acquison-related
intangible assets - 209 - 344 115.3
Adjusted operating profit 762 618 412 216 200.8
Project Uplift costs 09 12 0.6 05 32
Adjusted operating profit before Project Uphft costs 771 630 418 221 204.0
Disposal of business - ~ - a7 an
LFL adjusted operating profit before Project Uplift costs 771 63.0 418 204 2023
Materials Test and In-hne tndustrial 2017
Analysis Measurement ([nstrumentation Controls Total
Operating margin % % % % %
Reported aperating profit 148 114 9.5 109 12.0
Adjusted operating profit 17.9 14.1 10.7 14.6 14.7
LFL adjusted operatng profit before Project Uphft costs 19.3 16.0 126 16.1 16.3
Matenals Test and ln-line Industnal 2016
Analysis  Measurement  Instrumentation Controls Total
Qperating margin % % % % Y
Reported operating profit i5.8 66 136 (37 4) 28
Adjusted operating profit 182 153 150 87 149
LFL adjusted operating profit before Praject Uplift costs 184 15.6 152 87 152
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2. Alternative performance measures continued

2017 2016
Adjusted EBITDA £m £m
Reported aperating profit 182.4 383
Depreciation 25.6 230
Amortisation of intangible assets 415 42 4
Impairment of gogdwill and other acquisthan-related intangible assets - 1153
EBITDA 255.5 2190
Net acquisiion-related costs and fair value adjustments 0.4 101
Bargan purchase on acquisition {1.9) -
Adjusted EBTDA 254.0 2291
¢) Adjusted net finance costs
2017 2016
Note £m £m
Reported net finance costs 8 (4.5) 64
Net {gain)oss on retranslation of short-term inter-company loan balances 8 (1.3) [E:]
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred ang contingent consideration 8 0.7 0.6
Adjusted net finance costs {5.1) (5.0)
d) Adjusted profit hefore taxation
2617 2016
Note £m £m
Ad|usted operating profit 2b 2235 2008
Adjusted net finance costs 2 (5.1) {5.0)
Adjusted profit before taxation 2184 1958
e} Adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted earnings Note 20(1"“! 20{1{3
Reported profit after tax 234.8 103
Adjusted for:
Net acquisition-reflated costs and fair value adjustrents 04 101
Depreciation of acquistion-related fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment 13 0.7 02
Amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets 12 419 369
Bargain purchase on acquisiion 25 {1.9) -
impairment of goodwill and other acquisition-related intangible assets 12 - 1153
Profit on disposal of business (100.5) -
Net {gain)/loss on retransiation of short-term mnter-company loan balances 8 {1.3} 08
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration 8 0.7 06
Tax effect of the above and other non-recurning items 9 (1.8) 122 3}
Adjusted earnings 173.0 1519
Adjusted earnings per share Note 2017 20186
Woeighted average number of shares outstanding (millions) 1 119.2 119.1
Adjusted earnings per share (pence) 145.1 1275
Adjusted diluted earnings per share Note 2017 2016
Diluted weighted average number of shares cutstanding (millions) 11 119.7 1196
Adjusted difuted earnings per share (pence) 144.5 1270

Basic and diluted earnings per share 1n accordance with 1AS 33 'Eamings Per Share’ are disclosed in Note 11,
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Financial position measures

f) Net debt
2017 2016
Note £m fm
Bank overdrafts 17 1.3 123
Bank loans unsecured 17 187.2 2221
Total borrowings 1885 2344
Cash and cash equivalents including held for sale 16 {138.0) (83.5)
Net debt 50.5 150.9
Cash flow measures
g) Adjusted operating cash flow
2017 2016
fm fm
Net cash inflow from operating activities 190.6 2159
Acquistion-related costs paid 28 54
Net income taxes pad 47.0 29.8
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and software (73.1) (28.7}
Proceeds from'disposal of property, plant and equipment and software 0.5 54
Adjusted operating cash fiow 167.8 2278
Adjusted operating cash flow conversion' 75% 113%

1 Adjusted operaung cash flow conversion is calculated as adiusted operating cash flow as a proportion of adjusted operatng proft.

Net acquisition-related costs and farr value adjustments compnise acquisition costs of £3 4m (2016. £4.5m) that have been recognised In the
Consclidated Income Statement under IFRS 3 (Rewsed) 'Business Combinations” and other fair value adjustments relating 1o deferred and
contingent consideration compnsing of a credit of £3 Om (2016: debit of £5 6m} Net acquisition-related costs and fair value adjustments
are Included within admmnistratve expenses. Acquisition-related costs have been excluded from the adjusted operating profit and acquisition

costs paid of £2 8m (2016 £5 4m} have been excluded from the adpusted operating cash flow
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3. Operating segments

The Group has four reportable segments, as descnbed below, which are the Group's strategic business units These umts offer different
applications, assist companies at vanous stages of the production cycle and are focused on specific ndustnes. These segments reflect the
internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Deasion Maker (considered to be the Board) on a regular basis to assist in making
decisions on capital alfocated to each segment and to assess performance The segment resuits include an aliocation of head office
expenses. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group's reportable segrnents

» Maternals Analysis provides products and services that enable customers to determine structure, composition, quantity and quality of
pamicles and materals during ther research and product development processes, when assessing matenals before production, or during
the manufactunng process The operating companies in this segment are Malvem Panalytical and Particle Measuning Systems.

» Test and Measurement supplies test, measurement and analysis equipment, software and services for product design optimisation and
validation, manufactunng control, microseismic momitoring and envirenmental noise monitoring The operating companies in this
segment are Bruel & Kjaer Sound & Vibration, ESG Solutions, HBM ang Millbrook

» In-line Instrumentation provides process analytical measurernent, asset manttoring and online controls as well as assodated consumables
and services for both primary pracessing and the converting industries. The operating companies in this segment are Bruel & Kjaer Vibro,
BTG, NDC Technologees and Servomex,

» Industnal Controls provides products and solutions that measure, monior, contral, inform and connect dunng the production process,
The operating comparves in this segment are Microscan {(disposed 2 Octgber 2017), Omega Engineenng and Red Lion Controls.

Further details of the nature of these segments and the products and services they provide are contained in the Strategic Report on pages
20t0 27

Materials Test and In-line Industrial 2017

Analysis Measurement Instrumentation Controls Total

Information about reportable segments £m £m £m £m £m
Segment revenues 465.2 487.5 3111 262.9 1,526.7
Inter-segment revenue {0.3) (0.2) 0.2) (0.4) (1.1)
External revenue 464.9 4873 3109 262.5 1,525.6
Cperating profit 68.6 55.6 295 287 1824
Profit on disposal of business’ 100.5
Financiat income’ 1.8
Finance costs' 6.9)
Profit before tax' 2784
Tax' (43.6)
Profit after tax' 234.8

1 Not allocated to reportable segments

Matenats Test and In-line Industnal 2016

Analysis  Measurement  Instrumentation Controls Total

£m £m Em Em £m

Segrment revenues 41840 4047 2756 2475 1,346.8
Inter-segment revenue 0.1) {02 - @7 (10
External revenue 4189 404 5 2756 2468 1,3458
Operating profit 66 2 267 376 (92 2) 383
Finanoial incorng’ 0s
Finance costs' (6.9)
Profit before tax’ 319
Tax' (21.6)
Profit after tax' 10.3

1 Not allecated to reportable segments

Reportable segments are consistent with those presented to the Chief Operating Deasion Maker Inter-segment revenue refiects the
movements in internal cash flow hedges with inter-segment pricing gn an arm's length basis Segments are presented on the basis of aciual
inter-segment charges made
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Carrying amount of Carrytng amount of

segrnent assets segment Labiities

2017 2016 2017 2016

£m £m £m £m

Matenals Analysis 408.4 4006 {117.4) (118 2)
Test and Measurement 544.4 5817 {123.2} {104 5}
In-hne Instrumentation 2709 2715 {54.4) {53 4)
Industnal Controls 321.4 3789 (27.49) (31.6)
Total segment assets and habilibes 1,645.1 1,6327 (322.8) (307.7)
Cash and borrowings {(including cash and cash equivalents held for sale) 133.0 835 (188.5) (234 &)
Derwative financial instruments 14 - {0.5) 42)
Retirement benefit habilives - - {34.0) (40.3)
Taxation (including taxation held for sale) 144 158 (49.4) (780
Total assets and habilities 1,798.9 1,7320 (594.8) {664 &)

Segment assets comprise goodwill and other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, inventeries, trade and other recewables
Segment habilities compnse trade and other payables, provisions and other payables, which can be reasonably attnbuted to the reparted
operating segments Unallocated items represent current and deferred taxation balances, defined benefit plan assets and liabilities, dervative
financial instruments and all components of net debt

Depreciahicn, amortisation

Additions to Aon-current assels and imparrment

2017 2016 2017 2016

£m £m £m £m

Materials Analysis 15.1 173 19.6 164
Test and Measurement 75.0 170 3 280 436
In-ine Instrurmentation 140 234 2.6 95
industral Controls 9.9 29 15.9 1112
114.0 2139 731 180.7

Geographical segments

The Group's operating segments are each located (n several geographical locations and sell to external custorners in all parts of the world
No individual country amounts to more than 3% of revenue by location of customer, other than those noted below. The foilowing 1s an
analysis of revenue by geographical destination

Materials Test and In-line tndustrial 2017

Analysis Measurement Instrumentation Controls Total

m £m £m £m £m

UK 14.6 62.0 75 7.6 9.7
Germany 24.7 82.5 254 1.3 143.9
France 151 20.6 74 31 46.2
Rest of Europe 732 76.5 514 112 2123
USA 97.6 89.2 893 169.0 445.1
Rest of North Amernica 13.6 11.7 126 133 51.2
lapan 337 283 154 33 80.7
China 728 63.4 436 218 201.6
South Korea 21.7 14.0 7.9 6.7 50.3
Rest of Asia 61.5 243 29.1 113 126.2
Rest of the world 364 148 213 39 76.4
464.9 487.3 3109 262.5 1,525.6
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3. Operating segments continued

Matenals Test and In-hne Industnal 2016

Analysis  Measurement  Instrumentation Controls Total

fm Em £m Em £m

UK 151 254 67 72 554
Germany ] 266 67.3 208 1.1 1258
France 134 20.1 73 26 434
Rest of Europe 63.6 66.9 448 116 186.9
UsAa 885 807 807 159 9 409.8
Rest of North Amenca 139 95 10.7 119 46.0
Japan 308 262 135 3.1 736
China 62.4 55.0 406 183 176.3
South Korea 16.4 14.6 68 5.5 434
Rest of Asia 54.9 214 256 118 1137
Rest of the warld 333 16.4 180 38 71.5
4189 404 5 2756 2468 1,3458

Non-Current assets

2017 2016
£m f£m
UK 207.4 1839
Germany 638.1 638
France 0.1 0.2
Rest of Eurape’ 3584 3403
USA 4345 477 6
Rest of North Amernica 232 27.7
lapan 05 06
China 8.7 4.9
South Korea 3.1 42
Rest of Asia 4.6 314
Rest of the world 4.6 37
1.113.2 1.1383
Deferred taxation’ 10.5 134
Total non-current assets 1,123.7 1,151.7
1 Pnnapally ir Denmark and Swizerland
2 Not allocated 10 reportable geographic area in reporing 10 the Chief Operating Decsion Maker
4. Revenue
An analysis of the Group's revenue 15 as follows
2017 2016
£m Em
Sale of goods 1.255.4 11377
Services rendered 270.2 2081
Revenue 1.525.6 1,3458

No individual customer accounted for more than 2% of external revenue in either 2017 or 2016,
Total revenue for the Group, after including financial income of £1 9m (2016. £0 5m), was £1,527 5m (2016 £1,346 3m)
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5. Operating profit
Operating profit has been amved at after charging/crediing}

2017 2016
Note £m £m
Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) 21 27)
Research and development expenditure 105.1 08.6
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 47.5 424
Bargain purchase on acguisition 25 (1.9) -
Impairment of goodwill and other acquisition-related intangible assets 12 - 115.3
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 25.6 230
Operating lease rental payments 189 199
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 819 3649
LossAprofit) on sale of property, plant and equipment and software 0.1 (1.2)
2017 2016
Auditor's remuneration £m £m
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for audit of the Company's annual accounts 0.5 06
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company's subsidianes, pursuant te legislation 1.2 12
Tota! audit-rejiated fees 1.7 18
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for other services
v audit-related assurance services’ 0.1 ot
» tax comphance services - 0.1
1.8 20
1 Reviews of the half-year Finangial Statements
6. Employee costs and other information
Employee costs, including Directors' remuneration, comprise’
017 2016
Note £fm Em
Wages and salanes 494.0 420.8
Social secunty costs 82.6 728
Defined benefit pension plans
» current service cost 20 2.2 21
v+ seftlement and past service credit 20 (1.7} (14)
Defined contributian pension plans 20 15.2 137
Equity-settled share-based payment expense 54 21
Cash-settled share-based payment expense 2.8 1.2
600.6 511.3
Directors' remuneration 20{11: ZOEItE
Short-term benefits 30 28
Equity-setiled share-based payment expense 0.7 04
3.7 32
Further details of Directors' remuneration and share options are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages €6 ta 78
07 2016
Average number of employees on a full-time equivalent basis Number Mumber
Production and engineering 3,748 3,718
Sales, marketing and service 4,116 3,724
Administrative 849 796
8,713 8,238
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7. Profit on disposal of business
The profit on disposal of business whally relates to the disposal of 100% of Micrascan on 2 Octaber 2017

2017
Note £m
Goodwill and other intangible assets 12 55
Property, plant and equiprent 13 0.8
Deferred 1ax assets 21 2.0
lnventory 59
Trade and other receivables 7.0
Cash and cash equivalents 0.4
Trade and other payables 4.0}
Provisions 19 (0.1}
Net assets disposed 175
Conswderation recewed, satisfied in cash 1146
Cash disposed of 0.4}
Transact:on expenses (3.3)
Net proceeds from disposa! of business 110.9
Contingent consideration 23
Cash disposed of 0.4
Net assets disposed of (17.5)
Currency translation differences transferred from translation reserve a4
Profit an disposal of business 100.5
The sale of Microscan did not meet the defirition of a discontinued operation given in IFRS 5 "Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations’ and, therefore, no disclosures in relation 1o discontinued operations have been made
The Graup did not divest any businesses durtng 2016
8. Financial income and finance costs
2017 2016
Financial income fm £m
Interest receivable 0.6 0.5
Net gains on retranslation of short-term inter-cornpany loan balances 1.3 -
1.9 05
2017 2016
Finance costs £m £m
interest payable on loans and overdrafts 49 51
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration 0.7 06
Net losses on retranslation of short-term inter-company loan balances - 08
Net interest ¢ost on pensian plan obligations 07 03
Other finance costs 0.1 0.1
6.4 69
Net finance costs 45 64

Net interest costs of £4.3m (31 December 2016, £4.6m) for the purposes of the calculation of interest cover compnse of bank nterest
recewvable of £0.6m (31 December 2016 £0.5m) and interest payable on loans and overdrafts of £4.9m (31 December 2016, £5.1m)
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9. Taxation

2017 2016

UK Overseas Total UK COhverseas Total

£fm Em Em fm £m £m

Current tax charge 6.3 583 64.6 59 320 379
Adjustments in respect of current tax of

pricr years (1.0) {4.8) (5.8) 07 (3 6} (29)
Deferred tax - ongination and reversal of

tempaerary differences (Note 21) 1.1 (5.3) (6.4) (22) (112 {13 4)

Deferred tax - changes in tax rate (Note 21) - {8.8} (8.8} - - -

Taxation charge 4.2 394 4346 44 17.2 216

The standard rate of corporation tax for the year, based on the weighted average of tax rates applied to the Group's profits, is 28 6%
(2016.-13.8%) The tax charge for the year I1s lower (2016° tugher) than the standard rate of corporation tax largely due to profits ansing in
the US (a higher tax junsdiction) from the sale of Microscan in 2017, charges arising in the US from the impairment of goadwill and other
acquisiton-related intangible assets in 2016 and for other reasons as set out In the following recondiliation

2017 2018

£m fm
Profit before taxation 2784 319
Corporation tax charge/{credit} at standard rate of 28 6% (2016 -13.8%} 79.6 (4 4)
Profit on disposal of business taxed at lower rate {17.1) -
Net impact of US tax reform measures (8.0) -
Non-deductible goodwill mpairment losses - 338
effect of intra-group financing (5.4) (41
Cther non-deductible expenditure 38 36
Mavernents on unrecognised deferred tax assets - 0.7
Tax credits and incentives (5.0} (4 4)
Change in tax rates (excduding US) - (GJN]
Adjustments relating to prior year acquisitions - 31
Adjustments to prior year current and deferred tax charges {4.3} 1
Taxation charge 436 216

'Net impact of US tax reform measures’ above refers to the impact of the US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and compnses a credit of £8 8m ansing
from the re-measurement of deferred tax liabilities at a lower tax rate, net of a one-off charge of £0 8m ansing on accumulated foreign
profits of the Group's US subsidianes

"Tax credits and incentives' above refers prinapally to research and development tax credits and other reliefs for innovation such as the

UK Patent Box regime and Dutch innovation Box regime, as well as tax rebiefs avaltable for manufacturing activities located in the USA

Factors that may affect the future tax charge

The Group's tax charge in future years is likely to be affected by the propostion of profits ansing, and the effective tax rates, in the various
ternitories in which the Group operates. as well as changes in the tax law affecting future penods, such as the US Tax Cuts and fobs Act

2017 2016
Tax on items recognised directly in the Consohidated Statement of Comprehensive Income £m Em
Tax chargedcredit) on net gaindloss) on effective portion of changes in fair value of forward exchange
contracts 0.7 07
Tax chargefcredity on re-measurement of net defined benefit obligations, net of foreign exchange 14 {30
Aggregate current and deferred tax chargedcredit) relating to items recognised directly in the Consolidated
S1atement of Comprehensive Income 21 37N

2017 2016

Tax on items recognised directly in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity £m £m
Tax credit in relation to share-based payments {0.5) {0 3)
Aggregate current and deferred tax credit on itemns recogrised directly in the Consolidated Staternent of
Changes in Equity (0.5) 03
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9_Taxation continued

The followang tax (credits)/charges relate 1o items of income and expense that are excluded from the Group's adjusted performance
measures.

2017 2016
£m &m
Tax crecht on amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets (12.9) {12 3)
Tax credit on deprecation of acquisition-related fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment (0.1} -
Tax credit ansing from net impact of US tax reform measures (8.0} -
Tax credit on impairment of goodwill and other acquisition-related intangible assets - 51
Tax crechit on net acquisition-retated costs and fair value adjustments (0.1} 0.7
Tax charge on retranslation of short-term inter-compary loan balances 03 02
Tax credit on unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration - {©.3)
Tax charge on profit on disposal of business 19.0 -
Tax credit relating to prior year acquisitions - 31N
Total tax credit {1.8) (223)
The effective adjusted tax rate for the year was 20 8% (2016. 22.4%) as set out in the reconciliation below
Reconciliation of the repoerted taxation charge to the adjusted taxation charge 20{1!1?! ZOEI"?
Reported taxation charge 436 216
Tax credit on items of Income and expense that are excluded from the Group's adjusted profit before tax 1.3 223
Adjusted taxation charge 45.4 439

Management jJudgement s applied to deterrmine the level of prowsions required n respect of both direct and indirect taxes The Group 1s
potentially subject to tax audits in many junsdictions By thewr nature these are often complex and could take a sigmficant period of time to
be agreed with the tax authorities Judgement is therefore applied based on the interpretation of country-specific tax legislation and the
likelihood of seftlement The Group estimates and accrues taxes that wall ultimately be payable when reviews or audits by tax authonties of
tax returns are completed These estimates include judgements about the position expected to be taken by each tax authority

The Group apphes judgement in respect of possible tax audit adjustments primarily n respect of transfer pricing as well as in respect of
financing arrangements and tax creds and incentwes. In respect of transfer paaing, the level of prowsion is deternuned by reference 10
management judgernents of the adjustments that would anse in the event that certain nira-group transactions are successfully challenged
as not being at arm'’s length

Management estmates of the fevel of risk ansing from tax audit may change in the next year as a result of changes in legislation or tax
authority practice or correspondence with tax authorities during a specific tax audit. It 15 not possible to guantify the impact that such
future developrments may have on the Group's tax positions Actual outcomes and settlements may differ significantiy from the estmates
recorded in these Consolidated Financial Statements. Further detail 1s provided below in relation to tax provisions that are known to be
potentially material.

Judgement 1s also applied refating to the recogrition of deferred tax assets which are dependent on an assessment of the generation of
future taxable icome in the countries concerned in which temporary differences become deductible or in which tax losses can be utilised
These estimates May change in the next year tf there are changes in the forecast profitability of the relevant company.

The UK’s dividend taxation regime prior to July 2009 1s the subject of long-running litigation between HMRC and other taxpayers in relation
10 the tax charge on dividends received from EU-based comparies The outcome of this dispute 1s Tikely to be relevant to the Group in
respect of certain dividends received by UK Group companies before that date Pending resolution in the courts, an amount of £7 5m
{2016. £7 5m) continues o be held as a current tax hability for the potential tax habilities arising (f the final decision s 1In HMRC's favour.
Follawing an IFRIC Agenda decision during the year, an amount of £5.1m relating to accrued interest on the potential tax liabilities, which in
prewious years was held as a current tax hability, has now been redassified as a provision (see Note 19)

In October 2017 the EU Commission opened a formal State Ad nvestigation into an exemption within the UK’s current Controlled Foreign
Company ('CFC’) regime (introduced in 2013) for certain finance mcome The investigation 1s ongoing, but if the Commuission ulimately
concludes that the provisions do constitute State Aid then they would require the UK to recaver any such aid from affected parties The
Group has claimed the benefit of this exemption, and therefore may be adversely affected by the outcome of the investigation If the
Commussion were to condude that the finance exemption with the UK’s CFC regime constitutes State Aid and no other exemptions were
available to the Group then, as at 31 Decernber 2017, an addrtional liability of £14 Om in respect of tax and £0 3m in respect of Interest
would anse unless such a deciston could be successfully challenged in the EU Courts However, no provision has been made in respect of
this investigation since we believe that it 1s more likely than not that no additional tax will wtimately be due.

Within the tax charge for 2016 is a credit of £3 1m relating to recogniton of the net benefit of unused tax losses arising from the acquisition
of Spectrasers AG in 2015. The ultmate yuhsation of these losses is now considered probable as a result of the post-acquisition restructunng
of the business.
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10. Dividends

Amounts recognised and paid as distributions to owners of the Parent Company in the year 20£1"':: 2021:1
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016 of 34 Op (2015 32 2p) per share 40.5 384
Intenm dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 19 Op (2016 18.0p) per share 227 214
63.2 598
2017 2016
Amounts arising in respect of the year £m £m
Interm dvidend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 19.0p 2016 18 Op) per share 227 214
Proposed final dvidend for the year ended 3% December 2017 of 37 5p (2016: 34.0p) per share a4.7 405
674 619

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 25 May 2018 and has not been

included as a hability in these Finanaal Statements

11. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (excluding treasury shares}

Dituted eamings per share amounts are calculated by deiding the net profit attrbutable to ardinary shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year but adjusted for the effects of dilutive optiors. The key features of the Company's

share option schemes are described in Note 24

Basi¢ @arnings per share 2017 2016
Profit after tax {£m) 2348 10.3
Weighted average number of shares outstanding {millions) 119.2 1191
Basic earnings per share (pence} 197.0 86
Diluted sarnings per share 07 e
Profit after tax {Em) 2338 103
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding (milions} 119.2 1191
Weighted average number of dilutive 5p ordinary shares under option (millions} 09 08
Weighted average number of Sp ordinary shares that would have been issued at average market value from
proceeds of dilutive share options (millions) {0.4) {0.3)
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding (mullions} 119.7 1196
Diluted earnings per share {pence) 196.1 86
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12. Geodwill and other intangible assets

Patents,
ot and  ralated and

Goodwill technology  trade names Software Total
Cast Note £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2016 616 1 180 4 1837 47.7 1,027 9
Additions - - - 58 5.8
Recognised an acquisitons 5 815 143 307 Q1 1266
Adjustments 10 provisional fair values (0 2) - - - 02
Transfers from property. plant and equipment - - - 03 0.3
Disposals - - - (1.1 an
Foraign axchange difference 108 5 267 369 659 1790
At 31 December 2016 805.9 2214 251.3 59.7 1.338.3
Additrons - - - 127 12.7
Recognised on acquisitions 25 168 5.6 10.3 - 327
Transfers to assets held for sale 26 {22.2) (6.4} (8.9) - {37.5)
[1sposals - - - (1.2) (1.2)
isposal of business 7 4.%) (6.3} {1.3) - {11.7)
Foreign exchange difference (24.5) (12.5) {15.3) (1.1 {53.4)
At 31 December 2017 771.9 201.8 236.1 701 12799
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2016 31.2 98.0 799 322 2413
Charge for the year - 19.2 177 55 424
Impairment 1143 - 10 - 115.3
pisposals - - - 1o (10
Foreign exchange difference 61 146 157 44 40.8
At 31 December 2016 151.6 131.8 114.3 1.1 438.8
Charge for the year - 223 19.6 5.6 475
Transfers to assets held for sale 26 - SN {7.8) - {13.5)
Disposals - - - (1.2) (t.2)
Disposal of business 7 - {5.7) {0.5) - (6.2)
Foreign exchange difference (7.2) (7.6) 7.7 04) (22.9)
At 31 December 2017 144.4 135.1 117.9 45.1 442.5
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017 627.5 66.7 118.2 250 8374
At 31 December 2016 654 3 896 1370 186 899 5
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Goadwill 15 allocated to the cash-generating units that are anticipated to benefit from the acquisition

The Group's identified cash-generating units are smaller than the four reportable segments, being the 12 operating compantes. Goodwill
ansing on a bolt-on acquisiton s combined with the goodwill I the existing Group company and 1s not considered separately for
impairment purposes, since such acqusitions are guickly integrated

The most significant amounts of goodwill are as follows:

2017 2016

Pre-tax Pre-tax

Goodwill discount rate Goodwill  discount rate

fm % £m %

Malvern Panalytical' 139.2 10.7 - -

PANalytical - - 1016 14

Malvern' - - 361 108

Omega Engineering ' 109.0 128 1199 128

HBM 103.4 118 935 118

Briel & Kjaer Sound & Vibration 65.0 11.2 877 11.2

BTG 68.1 111 685 111

Millorogk 54.1 124 541 121

Red Lion Controls 39.6 138 433 138

Servomex 248 123 260 123

Other 243 131138 236 131138
627.5 6543

1 On 1 January 2017, two of the Group's operatng companies in the Matenals Analysis segment, Maberm Instruments and PANalytical, merged their activities to form
Malvern Panalytical Both companies waere previously idenufied as separate cash-generating units Subsequent to the merger, the two operating companies have been
reviewed, managed and budgeted far as one operating company for internal purpases therefore far annual Impairment review purpases n 2017 they have been
reviewed as one cash-generaung unit

Incluced within ‘Other’ are three (2016. four) cash-generating units in which none of the goodwill balances 15 considered to be indvidually
significant.

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for imparment annually or whenever there 1s an indication that the asset may be impaired As part of
the annual impairrment review, the carrying amount of gocdwill has been assessed with reference to its recoverable amount, determined
based on value in use In assessing value in use, the forecast projected cash flows of each cash-generating unit, which are based on actual
operating results, the most recent budget for the next financal year as approved by the Board, detalled strategic review projections and an
assumed long-term growth rate to perpetuity, are discounted to ther present vatue using a pre-lax discount rate that reflects the time value
of meney and the nisks speafic to the cash-generating unit

The key assumptions on which the value in use calculatons are based on relate to future business performance over the forecast period
(generally three years), projected long-term growth rates and the discount rates apphed The forecast cash flows include management’s
latest estimates on sales volumes and priang, production and other costs. The key estimates applied in the impairment review are the
forecast level of revenue, operating margins and the proportion of operating profit converted to cash in each year A long-term growth rate
of 2.0% (2016 2.0%) has been consistently applied in the impairment review for all cash-generating umits based on current forecast global
industrial production growth rates, and long-term GDP growth rates for the Group’s pnmary markets The cash flow projections have been
discounted using cash-generating unit speaific pre-tax discount rates of between 10.7% and 13 8% (2016. 10 8% and 17 8%} These rates
have been determined by taking into account the size of business and specific geographical and industry risk factors As a result of the
annual imparrment review, no goodwill impairment charge has been recognised wathin aperatmng profit In the Consolidated Income
Statement (2016 charge of £114.3m) in respect of Omega and ESG Solutions {'ESG’) goodwill

Sensitivity analysis

The results of the Group's impairment tests are dependent upon estimates, part:cularly in refation to the key assumptions described above
Semsitivity analysis to potential changes in the key assumptions has been undertaken based on the following sensitmvties in isalation,

Key assumption change.

» 2 two percentage pont {'pp”) increase in the pre-tax discount rate applied to each cash-generating uni,
» If the long-term growth rate assumption s reduced by 1.0pp 10 1%, and

» 1f the cash flow projections for cash-generating units are reduced by 25% in each of the next two years

For each cash-generating unit, the Directors do not consider that there are any reasonably possible sensitivities for the business that could
anse in the next 12 months that could resuft 1In an imparment charge being recogrised.
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12. Goodwill and other intangible assets continued
Other intangible assets

Of the total amortisation charge of £47.5m (2016 £42 4m), the amount attributable to the amortisation of acquisition-related intangible
assets was £41.9m (2016° £369m)

The Group has no internally-generated intangible assets from development expenditure in either 2017 or 2016 as the cntena for the
recognition as an asset under FAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ have not been met.

The trade names and technology assets recognised an the acquisition of Omega Engineenng in 2011, and included within the Industral
Controls reportable segment, are considered significant by the Directors as they represent 42.5% (2016: 43.9%}) of total customer-related
and trade names, and 19 6% (2016 20 0% of total patents, contractual rights and technology, respectively. The carmying amount of trade
name intangible assets at 31 Decernber 2017 15 £50.3m (2016 £59.3m) and 15 being amortised over 20 years with the remaining
amortisation period being 13.8 years The carrying amount of technology intangible assets at 31 December 2017 is £12 4m {2016 £17 3m)
and 1s being amortised over ten years with the remaining amortisation period being 3 8 years

13. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold Leasehold Plant and

property property equipment Total
Cost Note £m fm £m £m
At 1 January 2016 1384 137 169 8 3219
Additions 38 11 180 229
Recogrised on acquisitions 25 437 - 15.1 588
Transfers to other intangible assets - - ©3) (03)
Transfers ta freehold property o7 - {0.7) -
Disposals {4 5) (0.4) 82 (131)
Foreign exchange difference 214 20 282 516
At 31 December 2016 2035 16.4 221.9 a41.8
Additions 10.1 2.1 533 655
Recogmsed on acquisitions 25 - - 3.1 31
Transfer to assets held for sale 26 {1.6) {0.1) (3.3) (5.0)
Disposals - (0.4) (8.7) 9.1)
Disposal of business 7 - (0.1) {5.1) (5.2)
Foreign exchange difference {1.1) (0.8} (3.9) {5.8)
At 31 Decernber 2017 210.9 171 257.3 483.3
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2016 425 89 109 7 161.1
Charge for the year 44 14 17.2 230
Transfers to freehold property 03 - ©3) -
Disposals .7 04 {69) ©.0)
Foreign exchange difference 7.8 15 18.6 279
At 31 December 2016 53.3 114 138.3 203.0
Charge for the year 5.6 1.3 18.7 25.6
Transfer to assets held for sale 26 (1.1) - (2.5) (3.6)
Disposals - (0.4} (8.1} {8.5)
Disposal of business 7 - {0.1) (4.3) (4.4)
Foreign exchange difference 03 (0.5) (2.9 (2.6)
At 31 December 2017 58.1 11.7 139.7 2095
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017 152.8 5.4 117.6 2758
At 31 December 2016 150.2 50 836 2388

The amount recognised in the carnrying amount of items of plant and equipment in the course of its construction was £38 8m (2016 £11.9m)
No borrowing costs were capitaised during the year (2016. £nl).

Of the total depreciation charge of £25 6m (2016: £23.0m), the amount attributable 1o the depreciation on fair value adjustments of
acquisition-related property, plant and equipment was £0 7m (2016 £0 2m)
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included within “Freehold property’ 15 an amaount of £11 4m (2016 £11 9m} attributable to automotve testing tracks Addiions are net of

£1.2m {2016, £nl) relating to the receipt of government grants
14. Inventories

2017 2016

£m £m

Raw matenals 66.4 67 2
Work in progress 394 397
Finished goods and goods held for resale 70.2 809
176.0 187 8

in the ordinary course of business, the Group makes prowsion for slow-rmoving, excess and obsolete inventory to write it down to its net
realisable value based on an assessment of technological and market developments specific to the relevant business, and an analysis of

historical and projected usage on an individual item or product line basis.
Finished goods and goods held for resale expected to be utilised after 12 menths amounted to £3 7m (2016, £6 Om)

15. Trade and other receivables

2017 2016

m £Em

Trade recevables 269.2 258 4
Prepayments 5.6 72
VAT and similar taxes receivable 10.7 102
Other receivables 384 308
3239 3066

Included within ‘Prepayments’ and "Other receivables’ are amounts receivable in more than one year of £3 8m (2016, £4.9m)

Trade receivables are non-interest beanng. Standard credit terms provided to customers differ according to business and country, and are

typically between 30 and 60 days. Trade recevables are stated after the prowision for impairment of £7.0m (2016: £13 2m)

The fair value of trade and other recenvables approximates to its carrying amount due to the short-term maturities assocated with these

items There 15 no impairment risk dentfied with regards to other recevables where no amounts are past due
The maximurmn exposure to credit nsk for trade recewables at 31 December by geographical region was

2017 2016
£m £m
UK 15.6 151
Germany 27 209
france 120 131
Rest of Eurcpe 529 445
USA 684 717
Rest of North Amernica 16.6 133
Japan 14.2 163
China 23.0 190
South Xorea 7. 69
Rest of Asia 211 224
Rest of the world 15.6 152
269.2 2584
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15. Trade and other receivables continued
Impairment losses

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect

amounts due from customers according to the original terms of the sale.
The ageng of trade receivables and related provisions for impairment at 31 December was

2017 2016
Impairment Impairment
Gross provision Gross provision
£m £m £m Em
Not past due 188.4 0.3 188 9 0.1
One month past due 473 - 44.8 -
Two months past due 16.8 0.1 147 a1
Three months past due 8.2 - 6.1 01
Over three months past due 4.3 - 42 -
Over four months past due 1.2 6.6 12.9 129
276.2 7.0 271 6 132
The movement in the provision for iImpatrment in respect of frade recevables during the year was as follows
2017 2016
£m fm
Balance at 1 January 13.2 86
Provision for impairment of receivables (a.5) 38
Receivables written off as uncollectible (0.8) 03)
Disposal of business (0.4) -
Foreign exchange difference {0.5) 1.1
Balance at 31 December 7.0 13.2
16. Cash and cash equivalents
2017 2016
Note fm £m
Cash and cash equivalents inctuded in current assets 1379 835
Cash and cash equivalents included i assets held for sale 26 0.1 -
Bank overdrafts included in current borrowings 17 {1.3) (12 3)
Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 136.7 712

The Group's exposure to interest rate sk and a sensiivity analysis for finanoal assets and habilives is disclosed in Note 28.

Cash balances include £2.4m of restricted cash which is held in escrow until 1 September 2018 as potential deferred consideration relating

to the acquisition of Millbrook In 2016

17. Borrowings

2017 2016
Current Repayable date £m £m
Bank overdrafts on demand 1.3 123

2017 2016
Non-currant Fixed interest rate Agreement matunty date £m fm
Bank loans — unsecured 30 October 2019 - 410
Bank loans unsecured - €34 8m 2 56% . 14 October 2020 B4.1 814
Bank loans unsecured — €116.2m 115% 9 September 2022 103.1 99.7
Total unsecured barrowings 187.2 2221
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A1 31 December 2017, the Group had available £406.5m {2016 £406 Om) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of its
US Dollar $550m revolving credit facility, of which all conditions precedent had been met

Movements in total unsecured horrowings are reconciied as follows:

2017 2016
£m £m
Balance at 1 January 2221 1551
Proceeds from barrowings - 41.0
Repayment of borrowings (41.0) -
Effect of foreign exchange rates 6.1 260
Balance at 31 December 187.2 2221
18. Trade and other payables
2017 2018
Current £m £rn
Trade payabies 59.7 587
Accruals 105.6 952
Customer advances 214 273
Deferred ncome 387 a7
Ceferred and contingent consideration on acguisitions 6.3 53
VAT and similar taxes payable 123 136
Other payables 285 175
2725 259.2
Non-current 10{1; 2‘)E1rg
Deferred and contingent consideration on acquistions 4.8 10.9
Other payables 15.9 181
207 290
The fair value of trade and ather payables approxmates to thew carnying amount due to the short-term matunties associated with
these items
19. Provisions
Product conttillgtg:ali
Reorganisation warranty and other Total
Note £m £m £im fm
At 1 January 20M7 0.7 119 6.9 195
Additronal provssion in the year 2.0 7.8 24 12.2
Released in the year - (1.3) {1.0) (2.3)
Utilised 1n the year 0.7} (6.3 {1.8) (8.8)
Disposal of business 7 - (0.1 - (0.9)
Transfer from current tax habniities 9 - - 5.1 5.1
Foreign exchange difference - (0.3) {0.1) (0.4)
At 31 December 2017 2.0 11.7 115 25.2
Prowistons are all presented as current habilities
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19. Provisions continued
Reorganisation

Reorganisation provisions relate to committed restructunng plans n place within the business, Costs are expected 10 be incurred vithin one
year and there Is Iittle judgement in determining the amount

Product warranty

Product warranty provisions reflect commitments made to customers on the sale of goods in the ordinary course of business and included
within the Group's standard terms and conditions Warranty commitments typically apply for a 12-month penod, but can extend to 36
moenths. These extended warranties are not significant.

Legal, contractual and other

Legal, contractual and other prowisions mainly comprise amounts provided against open legal and contractual disputes arising in the normal
course of business The Company has on accasion been required to take legal or other actions to protect its intellectual property rights, to
enforce commercial contracts or otherwise and smilarly to defend itself against proceedings hrought by other parties Provisions are made
for the expected cests associated with such matters, based on past experience of similar items and ather known factors, taking into account
professional advice received, and represent management's best estmate of the most hikely outcome. The timing of utilisation of these
provisions is frequently uncertain, reflecting the complexity of issues and the outcome of various court proceedings and negotiations,
Contractual and other provisions represent the Directors best estimate of the cost of setthng current abligations although there 1s a higher
degree of judgement involved The increase during the year relates to £5 1m of interest related to tax provisions which was transferred from
current tax llabibtres duning the year (see Note 9)

No provssion is made for proceedings which have been or might be brought by other parties against Group companies unless management,
taking into account professional adwice receved, assesses that it is probable that such proceedings may be successful. Contingent habilities
associated with such proceedings have been identified, but the Directors are of the opinion that any associated claims that might be
brought can be defeated successfully and, therefore, the possibiity of any matenai outflow In settlement Is assessed as remote.

20. Retirement benefit plans

Spectns plc operates funded defined benefit and defined contnbution pension plans for the Group's qualifying employees in the UK. In
addition, 14 overseas subsicharies (2016° 14) in three overseas countries prowde defined benefit plans Other UK and overseas subsidiaries
have therr own defined contribution plans invested in independent funds

Defined benefit plans

The UK. German, Dutch and Swiss plans provide pensions in retirernent, death in service and 1n some cases disability benefits to members,
The pension benefit is linked 10 members’ final salary at retirernent and their service life Since 31 December 2009, the UX ptan has been
closed to ali service accruals The German and Dutch plans are dosed to new members.

The UK plan is administered by a pension fund, but the Swiss and Dutch plans are held by insurance companies that are legally separate
from the Group The majority of the overseas plan assets are insurance palicies held in the Swiss plans, which are not matching in nature
The UK plan 1s managed by a Board of Trustees that represents both empioyees and employer, who is required to act in the best interest
of the plan's participants and s responsible for setting certain policies {e.g investment, contribution and indexation policies) of the
varous funds.

The plans expose the Group to actuarial nsks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and market (rwestment) nisk Inflation
and interest rate hedges are taken out to mitigate against nsks ansing on the UK plan and some reinsurance exsts in respect of the
overseas plans.

The overseas plans are funded by the Group's overseas subsidiaries, and the UK plan has been funded in the past by both the Group’s UK
subsidianies and the Company. The assets of the UK plan are nvested in accordance with Section 40 of the Pensions Act 1995 Although the
Act permits 5% of the plan's assets to be invested in “employer-related investments’, the Trustees have elected that none of the plan assets
are to be invested directly in Spectris plc shares The Trustees also hold interest rate and inflation swaps to help protect against the impact of
changes in prevailing interest rates and price inflation, which in conjunction wath the corporate bond pertfolio aims to fully hedge against
interest and inflaton rate risks on the basis used by the Trustee to fund the plan. Trustee investment in derivatives is only made in so far as
they contribute to the reduction of investment risks or facilitate efficient portfohio menagement and are managed such as o avold excessive
risk exposure to a single counterparty or other derivative operations.

The funding requirements are based on the individual funds’ actuanal measurernent framework set out in the funding policies of the
various plans

The Group has determined that, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the defined benefit plans, and in accordance with statutory
requirements (including rmmmum funding requirements) of the plans of the respective junisdictions, the present vaiue of the refunds or
reductions in future contributions 1s not lower than the balance of the total fair value of the plan assets less the total present value of
obligations This determination has been made on 2 plan-by-plan basis. As such, ng decrease n the defined benefit asset was necessary

at 31 December 2017,

The last full actuarial valuation for the UK plan was 31 December 2014 and for the overseas plans was 31 December 2017 Where
applicable, the valuations were updated to 31 December 2017 for IAS 19 (Revised) ‘Employee Benefits’ purposes by qualified
independent actuanes.
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The Group's contributions to defined benefit plans duning the year ended 31 December 2017 were £2 2m (2016° £2 1m). Contrbutions for
2018 are expected to be £2.1m for the overseas plans.

Contributions to the Spectris Pension Plan (UK) ceased from 1 July 2012, The contribution rates are subject to review at future valuations
and periodic certifications of the schedule of contriputions

The assumptions used by the actuary to value the liabilities of the defined benefit plans were

2017 2016

Overseas Querseas

UK plan lans UK plan plans

% p.a. o pa. % pa % pa.

Discount rate 24 0.7-290 26 055-20

Salary increases n/a 1.0-30 n/a 10-30

Pension increases in payment 21-37 0.0-20 22-38 00-20
Pension increases in deferment 23-32 26-35

Inflation assumption 2.3-32 1.0-20 26-35 10-20

Interest credit rate 00-10 00-1.0

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obhgation at 31 December 2017 was approximately 17 years (2016° 16 years) for the
UK plan and 18.6 years (2016 14.7 years) for the overseas plans

Pensioner life expectancy assumed in the 31 Decernber 2017 valuation 1s based on the foliowing tables:

UK plan 92% S1PMA/I6% S1PFA centred in 2006, future improvements in hne with

CMI_2014 with a long-term rate of improvement of 1 25% per annum
Gerrman plans Dr K Heubeck pension tables 2005 G
Dutch plans A G. Prognosetafel 2016 tables
Swiss plan BVG 2015 - CMI1 50%

Samples of the ages which pensioners are assumed to hve to are as follows.

Male Female

Pensioners aged 65 in 2017 843-832 884-902
Pensioners aged 65 1n 2027 856-82.1 896-911
UK plan Overseas plans Total

?‘r;\&\::;:‘ trecognised in the Consolidated Income zo£1n7‘ 2o£1 ';5‘ zcm 20{!:\ 2051': 20 £1 n('is
Current service cost - - 2.2 21 2.2 21
Net interest cost 0.4 01 0.3 0.2 0.7 03
Administrative cost 03 0.4 0.2 01 0.5 05
Settlement - - - o1 - on
Past service credst - - {1.7) {1.3) (1.7} {13}
0.7 Q5 10 1.0 1.7 15

The current service cost and past servce credit are recognised in administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement. The net
interest cost on the net defined benefit obhigation 1s recognised in finance costs in the Consolidated Income Statement Actuanal losses or
gains are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

During the year, insurance prermiums for death-in-service benefits amountng to £0 3m (2016 £0.3m) were pad
The total return on plan assets in the year was £7 7m (2016, £15 6m)

UK plan Overseas plans Total
Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
of Comprehensive Income £m £m £Em Em £m fm
Actuanal (gainsylosses recogrused In the
current year 29 (13.0 26 04 55 (12.6)
Foreign exchange gainsflosses) in the current year - - 0.4 37 0.4 37
Total gainsAlosses) recognised in the current year 29 (13.00 3.0 (3.3) 5.9 (16 3)
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20. Retirement benefit plans continued

UK plan Overseas plans Total
Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
of Financial Position £m Em £m £m £m Em
Present value of defined benefit obligations (137.4) {138.4) (54.7) (59.2) (192.1) {197 &)
Fair value of plan assets 124.1 1229 340 344 158.1 1573
Net deficit in plans {13.3) {15.5) {20.7} (24.8} (34.0) {40.3)

UK plan Overseas plans Total
Recontil ation of movement in 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
net deficit Note £m £m £m fm £m fm
At 1 tanuary (15.5) 20 {24.8) (zo0 1) {40.3) {22 1)
Current service cost - - {2.2) 2.1 (2.2) 2.1)
Net interest cost {0.2) omn (0.3) 02) {0.7) (03)
Plan adrministrative cost {0.3) 0.4) (0.2) {01} {0.5) (0 5)
Net habilibes acquired in business
combinations 25 - - - (2.3) - 23
Settlement - - - 01 - 01
Past service credit - - 1.7 1.3 1.7 13
Contributions from sponsoring
company and plan members - - 1.5 14 15 14
Benefits paid - - 0.6 05 0.6 05
Actuarial gainAlosses) 29 (13.0) 26 04 5.5 (126)
Foreign exchange difference - - 0.4 37 04 37
At 31 December (13.3) {155) (20.7) (24.8) (34.0) (40.3)

UK plan Overseas plans Total
Analysis of movement in the present value of the 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
defined benefit obligation £m £m £m Em £m £m
At 1 January 138.4 116.0 59.2 a4 4 197.6 1604
Current sennce cost - - 2.2 2.1 22 21
Interest cost 3.5 4.2 0.6 05 4.1 a7
Liabalities acquired in business combinations - - - 83 - 83
Settlement - - - {0 5} - {0 5)
Past service credit - - (1.7 (1.3} (D (13)
Contrbutions from plan members - - 13 09 13 09
Actuarial losses{gains) - financial 0.6 256 0.7 09 {0.1) 26.5
Actuanal gains — demographic - - (1.3) (.7 1.3 an
Actuanal {gainsyiosses - experience {0.3} (13) 0.5 03 0.2 (1.0)
Benefits pad {4.8) (6.1 {4.0) (35) (8.8) (9.6)
Foreign exchange difference - - (1.4) 88 (1.4) 88
At 31 December 137.4 1384 54.7 592 192.1 1976
Analysed as
Present value of unfunded defined
benefit obhgation - - 7.9 79 7.9 79
Present value of funded defined
benefit obligation 1374 138 4 46.8 513 184.2 189.7
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UK plan Overseas plans Total
Reconcitiation of movement in fair value of plan 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
assets £m Em Em £m £m £m
AL 1 January 122.9 1140 344 243 157.3 1383
Interest Income on assets 3.1 41 0.3 0.3 34 44
Pian agministration cost {0.3) 04 0.2) 0.1) (0.5) (0 5}
Assets acquired 1n business combinations - - - 60 - 60
Settlement - - - 04) - 0.9
Contributions from sponsornng company - - 16 14 16 14
Contnbutions from plan members - - 1.2 09 1.2 0%
Actuanal gainsf{losses) 32 113 1.1 {01 4.3 12
Benefits paid (4.8) (6.1} (3.9 30) {8.2) 91)
Foreign exchange difference - - 1.0 51 {1.0) S
At 31 December 124.1 1229 340 344 158.1 157 3
UK plan Cverseas plans Total
Fair value of assets 2%‘:1-\’ zt?rs 2%?‘1: 20{12 22117\ ZOE,H?
Equity instruments 89 75 - - 8.9 75
Corporate bonds 106.4 112.0 - - 106.4 1120
Government bonds 6.6 5.6 - - 6.6 56
Cash and financal dervatives (net) 22 22 - - 22 (22}
Insurance policies - - 340 344 34.0 344
124.1 1229 34.0 344 158.1 157 3

The UK plan assets are invested in active markets which have a quoted market pnce The overseas pian assets are invested in insurance

polces.
Sensitivity analysis

The table below shows the sensitivity of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position to changes in the significant pension assumptions

based on a reasonably expected change given current market conditions:

Impact on plan liabilities as at 31 December 2017

Change in assumption

UK plan

Overseas plans

Discount rate
Rate of price inflation (RPf)
Assumed life expectancy at age 65

Increase by 1%
increase by 1%

Increase by 1 year

Decrease by £20.3m
Increase by £13.7m
Increase by £4.7m

Decrease by £8.1m
Increase by £2.1m

Increase by £1.7m

Defined contribution plans

The total cost of the defined contnbution plans for the year ended 31 December 2017 was £15 3m {2016 £13 7m) There were no
autstanding or prepaid contnbutions to these plans as at 31 December 2017 or 31 December 2016
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21. Deferred tax

The movement in the net deferred tax hability/{asset) is shown below

2017 2016
Note £m fm
At 1 January 278 237
Foreign exchange difference (2.4) 60 !
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 25 03 15.5 '
Disposal of business 7 20 -
Transfer to assets held for saie 26 04 -
Deferred tax on changes in farr value of forward exchange contracts recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 0.3 [{(eJr))]
Deferred tax on re-measurement of net defined benefit liability recognised in the Consclidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income 14 30
Deferred tax on share-based payments recognised mn equity (0.1} (03) ;
Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement 9 {15.2) {13 4) ‘
At 31 December 145 278
Compnsing:
Deferred tax hatulities 250 412
Deferred tax assets {10.5) (13 4)
14.5 278

The movements in deferred tax assets and habilities during the year are shown below Deferred tax assets and hiabihties are only offset where
there is 2 legally enforceable right of offset and they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty

Unrealised

prafiton Goodwill
Accelerated Accruals inter- and other
ax and Tax ompany Pension  intangible
depreciation  provisions losses transactions pfans assets Other Tatal
Net deferred tax liabilities/{assets) £m £m fm £m £m £m £m fm
At 1 January 2017 5.1 {19.6) (2.49) 5.7) (9.3) 58.9 0.8 27.8
Forergn exchange difference - - - - - 2.4) - (2.4}
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings - - - - - a3 - 03
Disposal of business 0.6 14 2.0
Transfer to assets held for sale - 0.6 - - - 0.2) - 04
Deferred tax on changes in farr value of
forward exchange contracts recognised
in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income - - - - - - 0.3 0.3
Deferred tax on re-measurement of net
defined benefit obligation recogmised in
the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive income - - - - 1.4 - - 1.4
Deferred tax on share-based payments
recogmsed in equity - - - - - - 0.9 0.1}
Charged/{credited) to the Consolidated
Income Statement (1.4) 8.0 0.2 04 0.2 (21.0) (1.6) (15.2}
At 31 December 2017 3.7 {11.0) {2.2) {5.3) (2.7) 36.2 08 145
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Unrealised

profit on Goodwill

Acceleratad nter- and other

tax  Accruals and Tax company Pension intangible
depreciation provisions losses  transactions plans assets Cther Totai
Net deferred tax labihtiesAassets) £m £m fm £m fm fm £m fm
At 1 January 2016 4.6 (14 3) 30 5.1 (56) 49.1 (20} 237
Foreign exchange difference - - - - - 6.0 - 6C
Acquisition of subsiciary undertakings - - - - (0 4) 110 49 15.5

Deferred tax on changes in fa value of

forward exchange contracts recogrised

in the Consolidated Statement of

Comprehensive [ncome - - - - - - 0.7 ()]

Deferred tax on re-measurement of net

defined benefit obligation recogrised in
the Consohdated Statement of

Comprehensive Income - - - - (30) - - (3.0)
Deferred tax on share-based payments
recognised In equity - - - - - - Q3 ©3)
Charged#credited) to the Consolidated
Income Staterrant 05 (5.3) 06 {06) (03 72 (1 (134
At 31 December 2016 51 (19 8) (24 57) (93) 589 0.8 27.8

Unrecognised temporary differences

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised on the following temporary differences due to the degree of uncertainty over both the
amount and utlisation of the underlying tax losses and deductions in certain junsdictions £1 3m will expire between 2026 and 2028
There is no expiry date associated with the remaining tax losses of £46 7m.

2017 2016
£m fm

Tax losses (including tax capital losses of £32 Om (2016 £32 Om)) 48.0 196
Other temparary differences 0.4 15
484 211

Phased reductians in the UK corporation tax rate ta 19% effective from 1 Apml 2017 and 17% from 1 Aprl 2020 were substantively
enacted in the UK Finance (No. 2) Act 2015 and UK Finance Act 2016 respectively

It s kely that the unremitted earmings of overseas subsicharies would gualify for the UK dmdend exemption such that no UK tax would be
due upon remitting these earmings to the UK However, £54 7m (2016. £68 2m) of those earmings may still result in a tax liability, principally
as a result of the dwidend withholding taxes lewied by the overseas tax junisdictions in which those subsidianes operate. These tax habtlties
are not expected to exceed £3 2m (2016 £3 3m), of which only £1 4m {2016 £1 3m}) has been prowded for as the Graup 1s able to control
the tming of the dwvidends It 1s not expected that further amounts will crystallise in the foreseeable future
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22. Share capital and other reserves

2017 2016
Number of Number of
shares shares
millions £m milkons fm
Issued and fully paid (ordinary shares of Sp each):
At 1 January and 31 December 125.0 6.2 1250 62

Other reserves

Movements i reserves are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. The retained earmnings reserve also includes own
shares purchased by the Company and treated as treasury shares (see Note 23) The nature and purpose of other reserves forming part of
equity are as follows

Translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve 15 used to record exchange differences ansing from the translation into Sterling of the Financial
Statements of foreign subsidianies, including gains or losses ansing on net investment hedges

Hedging reserve
Thus reserve records the cumulative net change n the fair value of farward exchange contracts where they are designated as effectve cash
flow hedge relationships

Merger reserve
This reserve arose on the acquisition of Servomex in 1999, a purchase satisfied substantially by the issue of share capital and therefore
ekgible for merger relief under the provisions of Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006

Capital redemption reserve
Thus reserve records the historical repurchase of the Company's own shares

23. Treasury shares

At 31 Decermber 2017, the Group held 5,747,360 treasury shares (2016: 5,840,513). During the year 93,153 (2016 58,395) of these shares
were 1ssued to satisfy options exerased by employees which were granted under the Group's share schemes No shares were repurchased
by the Group during the year {2016. nil) and no shares were cancelled dunng the year 2016 nil)

24. Share-based payments

The Spectns Savings Refated Share Option Scheme ('SAYE’) provides UK employees with options to purchase ordinary shares in the
Company following a three-year vesting penod. Options may be exercised dunng a six-month penod following the vesting date The
exercise price is determined according to the mid-market closing share price prevailing on the day before the date of grant. There are
no performance critena associated with optons granted under SAYE.

Under the Performance Share Plan ('PSP*) the exercise price 15 the nominal cost of the Company's shares.

From 2014, awards to Spectris plc Executive Directors have been subject to the following performance cntena 33.33% of the award being
based on fulfilment of an adjusted earnings per share growth target ('EPS’), 33.33% of the award subject to a total shareholder return
target (TSR and 33.33% of the award being based on fulfilment of an economic profit ('EP’) target.

Awards to other members of the Spectns plc Executive Committee were subject to the same performance critena up to 2016 For 2017
onwards, awards to the Executive Committee are subject to the following performance cintena. 33.33% of the award being based on
fuffilment of EPS, 33.33% of the award being based on EP target and 33 33% of the award being subject to continued employment for the
three-year vesting term Awards to other senior managers were until 2016 subject 10 EPS for 50% of the award and TSR for the remaining
50%. From 2017, these awards to senor management are 66.67% subject to EPS and 33 33% subject to continued employment cver the
three-year vesting period

Awards made to executives and senior managers of the Group’s aperating companies in 2008/2009 were subject to EPS in respect of 50%
of the award and operating company profit targets in respect of 50% of the award Awards made between 2009 and 2013 were entirely
subject to operating company profit targets. In 2016, the performance cnteria was EPS in respect of 33.33% of the award and operating
company profit targets in respect of 66.67% of the award and for 2017 onwards, the perfermance critenia was operating company profit
targets in respect of 66 67% of the award and continued employment within the Group during the three-year vesting period for 33.33%
of the award. All PSP awards vest after a pericd of three years and must be exercised during the seven-year penod following vesung.

Since 2011, PSP options have alse been granted to UK employees as tax-advantaged share options as defined by HMRC. The perfermance
critena and vesting condiuons are cansistent with the PSP aptions granted descnbed above

The tax-advantaged share options are inked to the PSP share options in order to benefit from the tax-exempt status of the tax-advantaged
share option grants to an aggregate value not exceeding £30,000 Should there be a gain on exercise under the tax-advantaged options,
such gain will cause a proportionate reduction in the number and value of the inked PSP options Should there be no gain on exercise under
the tax-advantaged options, these options are then forfeited and the linked PSP options may be exercised in full, to the extent thew
performnance cntena are met
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From 2014, awards were made under the Restnicted Shares Plan ('RSP") to selected emplayees Awards vest three years from grant and

are cash-settled on vesting The RSP is subject to the same rules as the PSP but gives flexibibity as to whether or not awards are subject to
performance crtena Awards under the RSP may be granted to an employee of the Group, but may not be granted to an Executive Director
of Spectris plc

2017 2016
Share options outstanding at the end of the year Exe;,'é: ,em;,?ﬁ,‘!fqi,“.ﬁﬂ Number Number
SAYE — year of grant £ of options thousands thousands
2013 2245 ail - 12
2014 2015 1 year 7 26
2015 17 37 2 years 52 57
2016 19 38 3 years 27 3
86 126

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the SAYE options 15 2.26 years (2016 2 27 years)
2017 2016

Exercise Remaning
prce  contractual ife Number Number
Performante Share Plan - year of grant £ of optiens thousands thousands
2007 005 nil - 1
2008 005 1 year 1 7
2009 005 2 years 20 29
2010 005 3 years 33 45
2011 0.05 4 years 42 69
2012 005 5 years 3 3
2013 005 6 years 2 3
2014 005 7 years 3 411
2015 . 005 8 years 445 482
2016 005 9 years 617 680
2017 Q.05 10 years 519 -
1,685 1,730
The weighted average remaning contractual life of the PSP awards 15 8 70 years (2016 7 89 years}
2017 2016
Exercse Remairing

price  contractual ife Number Number
Performance Share Plan (tax-advantaged) - year of grant E of options thousands thousands
201 1130 4 years 2 2
2012 17 31 S years 2 2
2013 23.78 6 years 1 1
2014 2303 7 years - 16
2015 2179 8 years 34 a1
2016 17 33 9 years 21 24
2017 2602 10 years 39 -
99 86

The weighted average remaining contractual Iife of the tax-advantaged awards 15 8 84 years (2016 8 08 years)
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24. Share-based payments continued

2017 2016
Exercise Remaining

pnece  contractual life Number Nurnber

Restricted Shares Plan - year of grant of options thousands thousands

2014 005 nil - 64

2015 Q05 1 year 67 76

2016 005 2 years 119 129

2017 0.05 3 years 87 -

273 269

The weighted average remaining contractual hfe of the Restricted Shares Plan awards 1s 2 07 years (2016 1 41 years)

2017 2016

Weighted Weighted

Weighted average weighied average

average fair value at average far value at

Number exercise price grant date Number  exercise price grant date

SAYE thousands £ £ thousands f £
At 1 January 126 18.93 133 18.55

Granted - - - 31 1938 306
Exercised (26) 20.61 (12} 17.04
Forfeited (14) 18.08 (26) 18.31
At 31 December 86 18.22 126 18.93
Exercisable at 31 December 7 20.15 12 22.45

2017 2016

Weighted Weighted

average average

Exeruse  fair value at Exercise fair value at

Number price grant date Nurnber poce grant date

Performance Share Plan thousands £ thousands £ £
At 1 January 1,730 0.05 1,562 0.05

Shares granted 529 0.05 22.93 734 005 1568
Additon of reinvested dvidends 3 0.05 5 0.05
Exercised (68) 0.05 (46) 0.05
Forfeited (509) 0.05 (525) 0.05
At 31 December 1,685 0.05 1,730 0.05
Exercisable at 31 December 107 0.05 150 0.05

2017 2016

Weighted Weighted

Weighted average weighted average

average fair value at average faw value at

Number exercise price grant date Number  exercise price grant date

Parformance Share Plan (tax-advantaged) thousands £ £ thousands £ £
At 1 January 86 22,58 N 2208

Shares granted 39 26.02 4.80 25 21.67 244
Exercised - - {1} 1130
Forfeited {26) 22.01 (29) 20.64
At 31 December 99 24.14 B6 22.58

Exercisable at 31 December
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2017 2016

Weighted Weighted

average average

Exercise  fair value at Exercise fair valug at

Number price grant date Number price grant date

Restricted Shares Plan thousands £ thousants f £
At 1 january 269 0.5 154 Qa5

Shares granted 89 0.05 26.05 i33 0.05 17 67
Exercised (51) 0.05 - -
Forfeited {34) 0.05 (18) 0.05
At 31 December 273 0.05 269 0.05

Exercisable at 31 December

Share-based payment expense

Share options are valued using the stochastic option pricing model {also known as the Monte Carle model) in respect of TSR, and the
Black-Scholes madel for all other aptions, with support from an independent rernuneration consultant The TSR performance condition
was included in the calculation of fair value under the PSP For options granted in 2016 and 2017, the fair value of options granted and

the assumptions used in the calculation are as foliows

Perfarmance Share Plan

SAYE Performance Share Plan {tax-advantaged) Restncted Shares Plan
2016 2017 2016 7 2016 2017 2016
Weighted average share price at
date of grant (£} 19.86 26.26 V717 26.02 1734 26.22 1772
Weighted average exercise
price (£} 19 38 0.05 005 26.02 1733 0.05 0.05
Expected volatiity 2599% nfa n/a 25.45% 26.76% n/a rn/a
Expected life 344 yrs 3 yrs 3yrs Iyrs 3yrs 3yrs 3yrs
Risk-free rate 015% 0.15% 046% 0.15% 043% nfa nfa
Expected dwidends (expressed
as a yield} 2.52% - - 2.13% 2 86% - -
Fair vatue per option (£) 306
Weighted average fair values
at date of grant (£}
Equity-settled (TSR condition) 14.85 1029 - 248
Equity-settled (Profit conditron) 25,99 1709 3.72 242
Equity-settled (EPS condition) 25.72 1702 178 245
Equity-settled (Economic profit
condition) 25.29 1705 3.03 -~
Cash-settled (TSR condition) - 1047 n/a nfa
Cash-settled (Profit condition) 26.22 1710 26.22 1710
Cash-settled (EPS condition) 26.22 1710 - 1710
Weighted average fair values
at 31 December (£):;
Lash-settled (TSR condition) - 16 98 n/a n/a
Cash-settled {Profit canditson) 23.56 2203 - 22.42
Cash-settled {(EPS condition) 2356 2203 - 2242
Cash-settied (service condition) 23.52 - 23.56 -

No grant of SAYE options was made n 2017

The expected volatity is based on historical volatility over the expected term. The expected Iife 1s the average expected period to exercise
The nisk-free rate of return 1s the yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option Iife

The weighted average share price at the date of exeraise for share options exercised under the PSP in 2017 was £25 00 (2616 £18 00)
The weighted average farr value of cash-settled options outstanding at 31 December 2017 1s £24 31 (2016 £22 53) for the EFS condition

The Group recognised a total share-based payment charge of £8 2m {2016 £3.3m) in the Consclidated Incorme Statement, of which £5 4m
(2016 £2 1m) related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions
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25. Acquisitions

On & February 2017, the Group acquired 99% of the share capital of Pixirad Imaging Counters S.r.l. (Pixirad), a supplier based in Raly, for
a total consideration of £2.8m The company develops and distnbutes high performance X-ray detectors. The excess of the fair value of
the consideration paid aver the fair value of net tangible assets acquired 15 represented by the following intangible assets. technology and
goodwill of £1 1m and £1 7/, respectively. The goodwall arising is attributable to the acquired workforce and synergies from leveraging
the customer base to optimise the sales potential of Pixirad and Specins products Goodwill includes an amount of £0 3m representing the
requirement to recogrise a net deferred tax liability on the fair value adjustments The business 1s being integrated into the Matentals
Analysis segment The remaining 1% of share capital was purchased on 24 July 2017.

On 15 May 2017, the Group acquired the trade and certain assets of Setpoint, a US business, for a total consideration of £8 Om This
extends the Group’s capahilities in the condition menitoring market The excess of the fair value of the consideration paid over the fair
value of net tangible assets acquired 1s represented by the following intangible assets customer-related {customer refations), technology
and goodwill of £0 3m, £2 4m and £4 6m, respectively The goodwill ansing s attnbutable to the acquired workforce, opportunities
expected from the extension of the Group’s product offenngs leveraging its stronger position in wibration and condition momitonng
solutions, and shanng capabilities and technologies in value-added solutions. The business is being integrated into the In-line
instrumentation segment,

On 1 luly 2017, the Group acquired the trade and certain assets of CSA Leyland, a UK business, for no consideration This extends the
Group's capabihities in the automotive testing services market, The excess of the fair value of net tangible assets acquired has resulted in

3 gain on purchase, as a consegquence of buying the business in a troubled state, amounting 1o £1.9m and is disclosed n the Consohidated
Income Statement. The business is being integrated into the Test and Measurement segment.

On 2 October 2017, the Group acquired the shares of Omnucon Group Inc., a US company, for a total consideration of £23.8m including
£1.4m deferred consideration This extends the Group's capabilities in engineering services to support the design of reliability electronic and
software systerns The excess of the farr value of the consideration paid over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired is represented by
the following intangible assets: customer-refated (customer refations), contractual nights, trade name and goodwill of £7.6m, £2 1m, £2 4m
and £10.5m, respectively. The goodwill ansing is attributable to the acquired workforce and synergies from leveraging the customer base
to optimise the sales potential of Omnicon and Spectris services The business is being integrated into the Test and Measurement segment

The assets and habilites acquired wath the above acquisitions, together with the total purchase consideration, are summansed in the table
below The revenue and operating profit contribution from the acquisitions In the year to the Group's results for the year were £6 6m and
£{3 5)m, respactively Group revenue and operating profit would have been £1,534 9m and £182 1m, respectively {adjusted operating
profit; £222 6m), had each of these acquisittans taken place on the first day of the finangal year
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The following fair value table is provisional, reflecting the timing of the acquisitions, and 15 expected to be finalised within 12 menths of the
acquisition date

2017
Provisional
Book value Adjustments fair value
Net assels acquired under 2017 acquisitions Nole fm £m £m
Intangible assets 12 01 15.8 15.9
Property, plant and equipment 13 i1 - 3.1
Inventories 0.2 (0.1) 0.1
Trade and other recewvables 19 - 1.9
Cash and cash equwvalents 0.8 - 0.8
Trade and other payables {1.5) {0.3) (1.8}
Deferred tax labilities 21 - (0.3) (0.3)
Net assets acquired 4.6 15.1 19.7
Goodwaill 12 16.8
Bargain purchase on acqusition 5 (1.9)
Total consideration in respect of 2017 acquisitions 346
Total consideration 346
Adjustment for cash acquired {0.8)
Net consideration in respect of 2017 acquisitions 338
Analysis of cash outflow in Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Total consideration 1n respect of 2017 acquisitions 34.6
Adjustment for net cash acquired on 2017 acquisitions {0.8)
Deferred and contingent cansideration on 2017 acquisitons to be paid in future years (1.4)
Cash paid in 2017 in respect of 2017 acquisitions 324
Acquisitions prior to 2017
Deferred and contingent consideration in relauon to prior years’ acquisitions
Accrued at 31 December 2016 4.1
Cash pawd 1n 2017 1n respect of prior years' acquisitions 4.1
Net cash outflow relating to acquisitions 36.5

Where appropnate, a detailed exercise has been undertaken to assess the fair value of assets acquired and labilities assumed, supported
by the use of third-party experts. The valuation of the above intangible and tangible assets requires the use of assumptions and estimates
Intangible asset assumptions congst of future growth rates, expected nflation and attrition rates, discount rates used and useful
econamic hves

The fair value of contingent consideration on the 2017 acquisitions amounts ta £1 4m  The contingent consideration payable on finandal
milestones could range from Eril to £5 3m, dependent on incremental future revenues, and the total contingent consideration 15 sensitive
to nsk-adjusted discount rates

Due to therr contractual due dates, the fair value of receivables acquired approximates to the gross contractual amounts recewvable
The amount of gross contractus! receivables not expected 1o be recovered s immaterial

There are no matenal contingent lisbilities recognised 1n accordance wath IFRS 3 (Revised)

Spectrisplc 133



Financial Statements

Notes to the Accounts continued

25. Acquisitions continued
The following tables represent the far values relating to the 2016 acgusitions

2016

Net assets acquired under 2016 acquisiiions Book valanj: Adjuslmeg: Far valf'.:s‘
Intangible assets 15 436 45 t
Property, plant and equiprent 291 297 58.8
Inventores 13 (0 8) 05
Trade and other receivables 170 13 15.7
Cash and cash equivalents 6.9 - 69
Trade and other payables (14.5) - (14 5)
Current tax habilities (0.6) - {0 6)
Provisions (1 3) o (14
Retirement benefit obligation - 2 3) (2.3}
Deferred tax habitities (1.7 (14.a) {15 5}
Net assets acquired 383 54.4 92.7
Goodwall 81.5
Total consideration in respect of 2016 acquisitions 1742
Total consideration 1742
Adjustment for cash acquired (6.9}
Net consideration in respect of 2016 acquisitions 1673
Analysis of cash outflow in Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Total consideration in respect of 2016 acquisitions 174 2
Adjustment for net cash acquired on 2016 acquisitions 6.9)
Deferred and contingent consideration on 2016 acquisitions to be paid in future years (7.6}
Cash paid n 2016 1n respect of 2016 acquisiions 159 7
Acquisitions prior 1o 2016
Purchase pnice adjustment in relation to prior years’ acquisitions (1.4}
Deferred and contingent consideration In relaton tC prior years' acquIsitions:
Accrued at 31 December 2015 26
Cash paid in 2016 in respect of prior years' acquisitions 12
Net cash outflow relatng 1o acquisiions in 2016 1609

; Book value Adjustments Ear vale
Net assets acquired for significant 2016 acquisitions — Millbroak Em Em im
Intangible assets 01 219 220
Property, plant and equipment 26.4 279 543
Inventores 01 - 01
Trade and other receivables 123 (1.2) 11
Cash and cash equivalents 48 - 48
Trade and other payables (11 2) [oF:] (10.8)
Provisions (1.3) - (13)
Deferred tax habilities {11} (75) {86)
Net assets acquired 301 415 716
Goodwill 541
Total consideraton 1257
Total consideration 1257
Adjustment for cash acquired (4.8)
Net consideration 1209
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26. Assets and liabilities heid for sale

©n 14 Decernber 2017, the Group signed an agreement with Macquane Corporate Holdings Pty Limited for them to acquire 50% of

the Group's envirenmental monitonng business, EMS Bridel & Kjaer, for a total cash cansideraton of AUD$76 6m, subject ta closing
adjustments The sale 15 expected to close in the second quarter of 2018, subject to regulatory approvals i China, the European Union

and South Korea. The net proceeds from the sale will be used to reduce net debt, thereby increasing the Group's financial flexibility for
future capital deployment As at 31 Decernber 2017, assets and liabilties of this business are presented in the Group's Financial Statements
as held for sale and are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell There was no gain or loss as a result of
the classification as held for sale. This business 1s part of the Test and Measurement segment.

2017
Assets held for sale Note fm
Goodwill and other intangible assets 12 24.0
Property, plant and eguipment 13 1.4
Inventory 0.9
Trade and other recevables 5.7
Deferred tax assets 21 04
Cash and cash equivalents 16 0.1
325

Liabibties directly associated with assets held for sale
Trade and other payables 40
Current tax liabilies 0.8
48

The sale of the EMS Bruel & Kjaer business did not meet the defimiion of a discontinued operaticn given in IFRS 5 ‘Non-Current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations™ and, therefore, no disclosures in relation to discontinued operations have been made

27. Financial risk management

The Group’s mulunational operations and debt finanaing expose it 1o a vanety of financial nsks In the course of its business, the Group
15 exposed to foreign currency nsk, interest rate nsk, hquidity risk and credit sk Financial sk management s an integral part of the way
the Group 15 managed Financial nsk management policies are set by the Board of Directors. These policies are implemented by a central
treasury department that has formal procedures to manage foreign exchange nsk, interest rate risk and hiquidity nsk, including, where
appropriate, the use of denvative financial instruments The Group has clearly defined authonty and approval limits. The central treasury
department operates as a service centre 10 the Group and not as a profit centre

In accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes
Such instruments are only used to manage the nsks ansing frem operating or inancial assets or liabiities or highly probabrle future
transactions. The quantitative analysis of financial nsk s included in Note 28.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk anses both where sale or purchase transactions are undertaken in currencies other than the respective functional
currencies of Group companies (transactional exposures) and where the results of overseas companes are consoirdated into the Group's
reporting currency of Sterling (translational exposures) The Group has operations arcund the warld which record their results in a vanety

of different local functional currencies In countries where the Group does not have operations, it invanably has some customers or suppliers
that transact in a foreign currency The Group is therefore exposed to the changes in foreigr currency exchange rates between a number of
differant currencies but the Group's primary exposures relate to the US Dallar, Euro, Darish Krone, Swiss Franc and lapanese Yen Where
appropriate, the Group manages its foreign currency exposures using denvative financial instruments

The Group manages its transactional exposures to foreign currency nsks through the use of forward exchange contracts Forward exchange
contracts are ysed to hedge highly probable transactions which can be farecast to occur typically up to 18 months into the future.

The Group's translational exposures to foreign currency nisks can relate both to the Consolidated Income Staternent and net assets of
overseas subsiciaries The Group's palicy 1s not to hedge the translational exposure that anses on consolidation of the Consolidated
Income Statement of averseas subsidianes The Group finances overseas company investments partly through the use of fereign currency
borrowings in grder to provide a natural hedge of foreign currency nsk anising on translation of the Group's foreign currency subsidiares
The guantitative analysis of fareign currency risk 1s included in Note 28

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk comprises both the mterest rate price risk that results fram borrowing at fixed rates of interest and alsc the interest
cash flow risk that results from borrowing at vanable rates Where apprapriate, interest rate swaps are used 10 manage the Group's interest
rate profile
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27. Financial risk management continued

Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk represents the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due The Group’s approach

to managing this nsk 1s to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient hguidity to meet 1ts liabiities when due, under both
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation The Group manages
this risk through the use of regularly updated cash flow and covenant complance forecasts and a liquidity headroorn analysis which s used

1o determine funding requirements. Adequate committed lines of funding are mantained from high-quakity investment grade lenders The
facilities committed to the Group as at 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 17.

Credit risk

Credit nsk anses because a counterparty may fail to perform 1ts obligations The Group 15 exposed to credit nisk on financial assets such
as cash balances, denvayve financial instruments and trade and other receivables.

The Group's credit nsk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables The amounts recognised in the Consoldated Statement of Financial
Position are net of appropriate allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated by the Group's management based on whether receivables
are past due based on contractual terms, payment history and other available evidence of collectability Trade receivables are subject to
credit kmits and control and approva! procedures in the operating companies. Due to its large geographical base and number of customers,
the Group 15 not exposed to matenal concentrations of credit risk on its trade receivables The quantitative analysis of credit risk relating to
receivables 1s included in Note 15

Credit risk associated wath cash balances and dervative financial instruments is managed centrally by transacting wath existing relationship
banks with strong nvestment grade ratings. Accordingly, the Group's associated credit sk is imited  The Group has na significant
concentration of credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit nsk 15 represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, inchuding denvative fmancial
nstruments, as shown in Note 28
Capital management

The Board considers equity shareholders’ funds, together with committed debt facilities, as capital for the purposes of funding the Group's
operations Total managed capitai at 31 Decemnber is

2017 2016

£m im

Equity sharehalders' funds : 1.204.1 1,067 4
Committed debt facilies 593.7 6281

1,797.8 1,695.5

Ordinary shares are classthied as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

The Board's palicy is ta maintain a strong caprtal base so as ta maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustam the future
development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors both the geographic spread of shareholders and the tevel of dividends to
ordinary shareholders

The Board encourages employees to hold shares in the Company This is carried out through a SAYE option scheme in the UK, as welt
as performance and restricted share plans Full details of these schemes are given in Note 24

The main financial covenants in the Company’s debt facilities are the ratio of net debt to adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisatron and the ratio of finance charges to adjusted earnings before interest, tax, amortisation and imparment Covenant testing
1s completed twice a year based on the hatf-year and year-end Financial Statements At 31 December 2017, the Company had, and 1
expected to cantinue to have, significant headroom under these financial covenant ratios

From time to tme the Group purchases its own shares in the market, the timing of these purchases depends on market prices Buy and sell
decisions are made on a speqfic transaction basis by the Board.

There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management durning the year
Nerther the Company nor any of its subsidianies 1s subject to externally-mposed capital requirements.

28. Financial instruments
The following tables show the fair value measurement of financial instrurments by level following the fair value hierarchy

» Level 2' mputs other than quoted prices included wathin level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either diretly (| e as prices)
or indirectly (i e, derived from prices), and

» Level 3 inputs for assets and liabilities denved from valuation techriques that include inputs for the asset or lability that are not based
on observable market data,
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2017

Level 2 Level 3 Carrying

fair value fair value amount

Fair value and carrying amount of financial instruments Em £m fm
Trade and other recevables excluding prepayments - - 3183

Trade and other payables excluding deferred income, customer advances and deferred and

contingent consideration on acguisitions - (11.1) (222.0)
Forward exchange contracts 14 - 14
Cash and cash equivalents including held for sale - - 138.0
Fioating rate borrowings - - (1.3}
Fixed rate borrowings (193.3) - (187.2)
Forward exchange contracts {0.5) - {0.5)
46.7

2016

Level 2 Levet 3 Carrying

Faw value Fair value amouni

Farr value and carrying amount of financsal instruments fm fm £m
Trade and other recevables excluding prepayments - - 2994

Trade and other payables excluding deferred income, customer advances ang deferred and

contingent consideration on acquisitions - (16 2) (203 1}
Cash and cash equivalents - - 835
Floating rate borrowings - - (53.3)
Fied rate borrowings {189 9} - (81 1)
Forward exchange contracts 4 2) - (4.2)
(58 8)

There were no movements between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy in the year,

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents including held for sale, recewvables and payables approximates to the carrying amount because of
the short maturity of these instruments.

The fair value of floating rate borrowings approximates 10 the carrying amount because interest rates are at floating rates where payments
are reset 10 market rates at intervals of Jess than one year

The fair value of fixed rate borrowings 1s estimated by discounting the future contracted cash flow, using appropriate yield curves, to the net
present values

The fair value of forward exchange contracts 1s determined using discounted cash flow techmigues based on readily available market data

The fair value of forward exchange contracts outstanding as at 31 Decermber 2017 1s a net asset of £0 9Im (2016 net hability £4 2my), of
which £0 7m has been credited to the hedging reserve (2016. £3 4m charged) and £0 2m credited to the Consohdated Income Statement
(2016. £0 8m charged). These contracts mature over penods typically not exceeding 18 months A symmary of the movements in the
hedging reserve dunng the year 15 presented below All of the cash flow hedges in 2017 and 2016 were deemed to be effective

2017
Deferred and

cantingent Level 3
Reconciliation of level 3 fair values :onsiderati:r: fair valiume
At T January 2007 (16.2} {16.2)
Deferred and contingent consideration ansing from acquisitions (1.4) (1.4)
Deferred and contingent consideration paid a1 4.1
Costs charged to the Consolidated Income Statement
Adjustments outside of the measurement peniod 3.0 30
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration (unreahsed) 0.7} 0.7
Loss recognised in Other Comprehensive Incorme
Foreign exchange difference 0.1 0.1
Balance at 31 December 2017 (11.%) (11.1)
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28. Financial instruments continued

The far value of deferred and contingent consideration 1s determined by considering the performance expectations of the acquired entity
or the likelihood of non-financial integration milestones whilst applying the entity-specific discount rates. The unobservable inputs are the
projected forecast measures that are assessed on an annuat basis Changes in the fair value of deferred and contingent constderation
relating to updated projected forecast performance measures are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in the penod that
the change occurs

Deferred and contingent consideration relates to financial (2017 £4 6m, 2016: £10 4m) and non-financial (2017 £6 5m, 2016 £5 8m)
milestones on current and prior year acquisitions, as disclosed in Note 25 The financial milestones are mainly sensitive to nsk-adjusted
discount rates and annual future revenue targets

2017 2016
Analysis of movements in hedging reserve net of tax £m £m
At 1 January (5.3) {29
Amounts rernoved from the Consolidated Staterment of Changes in Equity and included in the

Consolidated Income Statement during the year 11 78
Amounts recogmsed n the Conschdated Statement of Changes in Equity duning the year 22 {10 2)
At 31 December {2.0) (53)

The amount included in the Consalidated Income Statement is spht between revenue and administrative expenses depending on the nature
of the hedged item

The following table shows the total outstanding contractual forward exchange contracts hedging designated transactional exposures sglit
by currendes which have been sold back tnto the functional currency of the underlying business These contracts typically mature in the next
18 months and, therefore, the cash flows and resulting effect on the Consolidated Income Statement are expected to occur within this
time penod

Forward exchange contracts 2017 2016
Foreign currency sale amount (Em) 154.6 1457
Percentage of total

US Dollar 4% 51%
Euro 23% 23%
Japanese Yen 19% 18%
Other 14% 8%

A matunty profile of the grass cash flows related to financial habilities 1s

2017 2016
Bank joans

and Unsecured Bank loans and Unsecured
overdrafts loans Total overdrafts loans Total
Maturity of financial liabilities £m £Em fm £m £m £m
Due within one year 13 33 4.6 123 37 160
Due between one and two years - 33 33 - 38 38
Due between two and five years - 193.0 193.0 - 1306 1306
Due In mare than five years - - - - 1009 1009
1.3 199.6 200.9 123 235.0 2513
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Trade and other payables (Note 18) are substantially due within one year.

Itis not expected that the cash flows described above could occur sigmificantly earlier or at substantially different amounts

Financial assets Finantial liahilities 2017

Interest rate Net financial
exposure of finanaal MNon-interest assets/
assets and liabilities Fixed rate  Floating rate bearing Total fixed rate Floating rate Total (liabilities)
by currency im £m £m £m Em im £m £m
Sterling 238 - 5.1 289 - - - 28.9
Euro 0.3 25 10.7 135 {187.2) - (187.2) (173.7)
US Daollar 46.6 204 7.9 749 - (0.4) {0.4) 74.5
Other - 6.2 145 20.7 - (0.9} {0.9) 19.8
70.7 29.1 38.2 138.0 (187.2) {1.3) (188.5) (50.5)

Financial assets Financial habilities 2016

Net financal

Interest rate expasure Non-interest assets/
of financial assets and Fixed rate Floaung rate baaring Total Fixed rate Floating rate Total (habulities}
liabitities by currency £m im £m £m £m £m £m £m
Sterfing - 29 38 6.7 - (510} {51.0) (44 3)
Euro 0.2 32 17.4 208 {181 1) 0.3) (181 4) (160 6)
US Dollar - 2.5 18.6 211 - on on 20.4
Other o1 6t 28.7 349 - (1.3) (1.3) 338
03 147 685 835 (181.1) {53 3) (234 4) (150 9)

Sensitivity analysis

The table below shows the Group's sensitwity to foresgn exchange rates and interest rates The US Dollar, Curo/Dansh Krone and
Swwiss Franc represent the main foreign exchange translational exposures for the Group. The Group's borrowings are pnmarily in US Dollars

and Euros

2017 2016
Decrease Decrease
Decrease i profit Decrease n profit
in equity before tax n equity before tax
Impact on foreign exchange translational exposures agamst Sterling Em £m £m £m
10% weakervng 1 the US Dollar 96.8 5.6 935 5.2
10% weakening in the Euro/Darmish Krone 55.0 5.8 530 56
10% weakening in the Swass Franc 35 1.6 44 16

impact of fnterest rate movements
1% {100 basis points) increase in interest rates 0.1} (0.1) 04 04
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29. Contingent liabilities

In the normal course of business, Group companies have provided bonds and guarantees through local banking arrangements amounting

to £20 0m (2016 £193m)

30. Operating lease arrangements

2017 2016

Total commitments under non-cancellable Property Other Total Property Other Total
operating leases falling due as follows: £im fm Em fm im fm
Within one year 124 48 17.2 133 5C 183
Mare than one year but less than five years 263 55 318 257 58 315
Greater than five years 18.5 - 185 12.1 - 121
57.2 103 675 511 108 619

Group companies are party to a number of operating leases for property, plant and machinery and motor vehicles The arrangements do

not impose any significant restrictions on the Group

31. Capital commitments

At 31 December 2017, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment and

software amounting to £18.2m (2016 £13.9m) which have not been accrued

32. Related party transactions
The remuneration of key management personnel during the year was as follows

2017 2016

£m m

Short-term benefits 6.1 49
Post-employment benefits 0.6 05
Equity-settled share-based payment expense 18 0.9
8.5 6.3

Key management personnel comprise the Executive Directors and members of the Executive Management Team.
Further details of the Executive Directors’ remuneration are included in the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 64 to 78.
There were no other related party transactions in etther 2016 or 2017
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33. Subsidiary undertakings

The table below hists the Group's principal subsidrary undertakings at 31 December 2017. They operate mainly in the countnes of

incorporaticn Al of the subsidianes are involved in the manufacture and sale of highly-specialised measuring instruments and controls

together wath the provision of services.

Spectris plc holds 100% of the ardinary share capital of alf the subsidiaries either directly or indhrectly through intermediate holding

companies

Couniry of incorporation

Engineenng Seismelogy Group Canada inc

Bruel & Kjeer Sound & Vibration Measurement A/S
Bruel & Kjaer Vibro GmbH

Hotunger Baldwin Messtechnik GmbH

BTG Eciépens S A

Malvern Panalytical Lirmted (formerly Malvern instruments Limited}
Millbrook Proving Ground Limited

Servomex Group Limited

NDC Technologies, Inc

Omega Engineering, inc

Particle Measurning Systems, Inc

Red Lion Controls, Inc.

Canada
Denmark
Germany

Germany
Switzerland

UK
UK
UK
USA
USA
Usa
USA

A full list of subsidianes is given in Note 50

34, Events after the balance sheet date

On 26 January 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Concept Life Sciences (Holdings) Limited, for a consideration of

£163m, on a debt and cash-free basis This acquisition adds to the Group's capabilities in test services in the Matenals Analysis segment
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2017 2018
Note £m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 38 2.2 09
Property, plant and equipment 39 25 27
Investrents in subsidiary undertakings 40 1,068.6 1,1430
Deferred tax assets 3.7 36
10770 1,1862
Current assets
Currant tax assets 48 40
Other recevables {due after more than one year £334 tm (2016 £244 5m)) 41 602.9 547 .0
Dervative financial mstruments 31 -
Cash and cash equivalents 107.5 210
71183 5720
Total assets 1,795.3 1,728.2
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings a2 {15.5) (10.0
Derwative financial instruments (3.0} {08
Other payables 43 {501.8) (365 3)
(520.3) (376.1)
Net current assets 182.5 195.9
Non-current liabilities
Medum- and long-term borrowings 42 (187.2) (222 1)
Other payables 43 {146.6) (154 9)
Retrernent benefit obligations 46 (13.4) (15.5)
(347.2) (392.5)
Total liabilities (867.5) (768.6)
Net assets 927.8 9596
EQUITY
Share capital a4 6.2 62
Share premium 314 34
Retained earnings 652.7 684.5
Merger reserve 45 31 31
Capital redemption reserve 45 0.3 03
Speaial reserve 45 34.1 341
Total equity 927.8 959.6

The Company's profit for the year

The Financial $tatements on pagegi-Eisig
behalf by:

Clive Watson
Group Finance Director

Company Registration
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Spectris plc Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Capital
Share Share Merger redemp':ion Special  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve Teserve reserve earnings equity
Note £m fm fm £m Em £m Em
At 1 January 2017 6.2 318 31 0.3 34.1 684.5 959.6
Profit for the year - - - - - 231 231
Qther comprehensive income
Re-measurement of net defined benefit
obligations, net of tax - - - - - 23 2.3
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 254 254
Transactions with owners recorded directly
In egquity
Equity dividends paid 48 - - - - - {63.2) {63.2)
Capital contribution relating to share-based
payments - - - - - 33 33
Share-based payments, net of tax - - - - - 2.2 2.2
Utiisation of treasury shares - - - - - 0.5 0.5
At 31 December 2017 6.2 2314 31 0.3 341 652.7 927.8
Capital
Share Share Merger redemption Special Retained Total
cap.tal premum reserve reserve reserve earnings equity
Note fm £m £m £m £fm Em fm
At 1 January 2016 62 2314 31 03 341 6354 8105
Profit for the year - - - - - 1183 1183
Other comprehensive iIncome
Re-measurement of net defined benefit
obhgations, net of tax - - - - - (11.0) (110
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 107 3 107 3
Transactions with owners recarded directly
n equity
Equity dwidends paid 48 - - - - - {59.8) (59 8)
Capital contribution relating to share-based
payments - - - - - 1.2 1.2
Share-based payments, net of tax - - - - - 02 0z
Utihsauon of treasury shares - - - - - 0.2 0.2
At 31 December 2016 62 2314 31 0.3 341 684 5 959.6
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35. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

The separate Financial Statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. As permitted by that Act,
the separate Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with applicatle accounting standards in the United «Kingdom
In accordance wath the exemption provided by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own
income statement or statement of comprehensive income

a) Basis of preparation

These Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting $tandard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (‘FRS
101") The Company's shareholders were notfied in 2015 of the use of the EU-adopted IFRS disclasure exemptions and there were no
objections to the adoption of FRS 101

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (1FRSs’), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with the
Cormpanies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken

The Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 107 in respect of the following disclosures:

» A Cash Flow Statement and related notes

» Comparative pencd reconciliations for share capital, tangible fixed assets and intangible assets

» Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidianes

» Disclosures in respect of capital management.

» The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs

» Disclosures in respect of the compensation of key management personnel

As the Consolidated Finanaal Statemenits of Spectns plc (pages 92 to 141) 1nclude the equvalent disclosures, the Company has also taken
the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures

» IFRS 2 ‘Share Based Payments’ in respect of Group-settled share-based payments

» Certan disclosures required by IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement’ and the disclosures required by IFRS 7 ‘Financtal Instrument Disclosures’

The Finanaal Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments, Histoncal cost s
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets The principai accounting policies are set cut below

As permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has elected not ta present its own profit and loss account or statement of
comprehensive iIncome for the year. The profit attributable to the Company 1s disclosed in the footnate to the Company's balance sheet

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with 1tems which are considered material in relation to the
Financial Statements

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In deterrining and applying accounting policies, judgement 1s often required where the choice of specific policy, assumption or accounting
estimate 1o be followed could materially affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, should it later be
determined that a different choice be movre appropnate. Estimates and assumnptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based

on historical experience and vanous other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the arcumstances

In the course of prepanng these Financiat Statements in accordance with the Company's accounting policies, no judgements that have a
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statemenis have been made, other than those involving estimation
Management considers the following to be key areas of estimation for the Company due to greater complexity andfor are particularly
subject to uncertainty

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Retrrement benefit plans

Accounting for retirement benefit plans under IAS 19 (rewsed) requires an assessment of the future benefits payable in accordance with
actuarial assumptions The discount rate and rate of retall prce inflation {'RPY) assumptions appiied in the calculation of plan habities, which
are set out m Note 20, represent a key source of estimabion uncertainty for the Company

b) Summary of significant accounting policies

Intangible assets
Intangible assets purchased by the Company are capitalised at their cost

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for Impairment whenever there 1s an ndication
that the intangible asset may be impaired The estmated useful ecanomic lives are as follows

» Software - 3 to 5 years
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Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses The cost comprises the purchase
price paid and any costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended use

Depreciation is recogrused in the Income Statement on a straight-ine basis to wnte off the cost, less the estimated restdual value {which is
reviewed annually), of property, plant and equipment over therr estimated useful economuc life Depreciation commences on the date the
assets are ready for use within the business and the asset carrying values are reviewed for impairment when there is an indication that they
may be impaired. Land is not depreciated Estimated useful hves are as follows

» freehold property — 25 years
» Office equipment — 3 to 5 years.

Investments
investrments 1n subsicharies are stated at historical cost, less provision far any impairment in value

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are carned at onginal invoice amount (which 1s considered a reasonabte proxy for fair value) and are
subsequently held at amortised cost less provision for impairment. A prowision for impairment of trade recevables 1s established when there
15 objective ewidence that the Company will not be able 1o collect all amounts due according to the onginal terms of the transactions The
amount of the provision is the difference between the onginal carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present value of
expected cash flows recevable,

Cash and cash equivalents
This comprises cash at bank and In hand and short-term deposits held on call or with maturnttres of less than three months at inception.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at the amounts expected 1o be paid to counterparties and subsequently held at amorused cost

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year compnses both current and deferred tax Tax s recognised in the Profit and Loss Account except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised erther in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax 15 the expected tax payable on the taxable inceme for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of prior years.

Deferred taxation 15 provided on taxable temporary differences between the carnying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial
Statements and their corresponding tax bases Defered tax ts measured using the tax rates expected to apply when the asset 1s realised or
the habiity settled based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

A deferred tax asset Is recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utihsed or that they will reverse, Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it 8 no longer prababile that the related tax benefit will
be realised

Deferred tax assets and liabikties are offset f 2 legally enforceable nght exists to set off current tax assets aganst current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate 1o the same taxable entity and the sarne taxation authonty

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Company 15 Pounds Sterling and is determined with reference to the currency of the pnmary economic
environment in which t operates Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are initially recorded at the functional
currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Manetary assets and hablibes denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date Exchange gains and losses on settlement of foreign currency transactions are translated at
the rate prevailing at the date of the transactions, or the translation of monetary assets and liabilties at perod end exchange rates, and are
charged/credited to the profit and loss account Non-monetary assets and hatylibes denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
histoncal cost are transiated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction

Financial instruments

Recognition
The Company recognises financial assets and liabilities on its bafance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and habiliies are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there s a legally enforceable right to set
off the recogrused amounts and there 15 an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the habihty simultanecusly

Measurement
When financial assets and habilities are innally recogrised, they are measured at fair value, being the consideration given or received plus
direcily attributable transaction costs

Ornginated loans and debtors are initially recogrised in accordance with the policy stated above and subsequently re-measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, Allowance for imparment i1s estimated on a case-by-case basis

The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge nisks associated with foreign
exchange fluctuations These are designated as cash flow hedges At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Company documents the
relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its nsk management objectives and its strategy for
undertaking vanous hedge transactions Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents
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35, Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued

whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relatronship 15 hughly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged item

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of dervatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in equity
The gain or ioss relating to the ineffective portion 1s recognised immediately in the Income Statement.

Amounts deferred In equity are reclassified to the income Statement in the pencds when the hedged 1tem 1s recognised in the Income
Statement, in the same Iine of the Income Statement &s the recogrised hedged tem Howvever, when the forecast transaction that is
hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial iiability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are
transferred from equity and included in the infial measurement of the cost of the asset or liabiiity

Hedge accounting s discontinued when the Company revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging nstrument expires or 1s sold,
terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting Any curmulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains
in equity and 15 recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the Income Staterment When a forecast
transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity 1s recognised immediately in

the Income Statement.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecogrised when the Company loses controt over the contractual nights 1o the cash fiows from the asset This occurs
when the rights are realised, expire or are surrendered. A financial kabiltty 1s derecognised when the cbligation speafied in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires Onginated loans and debtors are derecogrised on the date they are transferred by the Company

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each balance sheet reporting date whether there 15 any objective ewdence that a finanaal asset, or group of
financial assets, is impaired. A finandial asset, or group of financia! assets, 1s deemed to be imparred if, and anly if, there 1s chjective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occuired after the intial recognition of the asset {an incurred ‘loss event’) and that
loss event has an iImpact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably esnmated

Employee benefits
The Company operates a defined benefit post-retrement benefit plan and 2 defined contnbution pension plan

Defined benefit plan

The Company’s net abligation recognised in the balance sheet i respect of its defined benefit plan 15 calculated as the present value of the
plan’s habilities less the fair value of the plan‘s assets The operating and finanaing costs of the defined benefit plan are recognised separately
n the Income Statement Operating costs compnse the current service cost, scheme administrative expense, any gains or 10sses on
settlement or curtailments, and past service costs where benefits have vested. Finance itens comprise the unwinding of the discount on the
net asset/defiat. Actuanal gains or losses comprising ¢hanges in pfan liabilties due 1o expenence and changes N actuanal assumptions are
recogrised in other comprehensive incorne.

The amount of any pension fund asset recognised in the balance sheet 1s limited to any future refunds from the plan or the present value of
reductions in future contributions to the plan

Defined contribution plan

A defined contrbution plan 1s a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will
have no legal or constructive obhgation to pay further amounts. Obhgations for contnbutions e defined contribution pension plans are
recognised in the Incorne Statement in the penods duning which services are rendered by employees

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 15 provided
A liabibty 1 recogrised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-shanng plans if the Company has a
present legal or constructive obligation {o pay this amount as a result of past service prowided by the employee, and the obligaticn can
be estimated reliably

Share-based payments

Certain emnployees of the Company receive pant of their remuneratian i the form of share-hased payment transactians, whereby
employees render services in exchange for shares or nghts over shares (equity-settled transactions) The cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees 15 measured at fair value at the date at which they are granted. The far value of share awards with market-related vesting
conditions 15 determined by an external consultant and the fair value at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line bagis over the vesting
period based on the Company's estmate of shares that will eventually vest. The estmate of the number of awards iikely to vest is reviewed
at each balance sheet reporting date up to the vesting date, at which point the estmate is adjusted to reflect the actual outcome of awards
which have vested No adjustment 1s made to the fair value after the vesting date even if the awards are forfeited or not exercised

Where 1t 15 not possible to incentivise managers of the Company with equity-settied options, they are 1ssued with cash-setiled options.
The charge for these awards 15 adjusted 1o reflect the expected and actual tevels of options that vest and the farr value is based on etther
the share price at date of exercise or the share price al the balance sheet date if sooner.

Where the Company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsidianes, it recognises an increase in the cost of
investment in 1ts subsidianes equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge recognised in the subsidiary’s Financial Staterments
with the corresponding credit being recogrised directly in equity in cases where a subsidiary 1s recharged for the share-based payment
expense, ne such Increasa i iInvestrnent is recognised which may result in a credit 10 a particular year

146 Annual Report and Accounts 2017




Dividends
Dvidends are recognised as a liability in the penod in which they are approved by shareholders.

Treasury shares

Shares held in treasury are treated as a deduction from equity until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed, Where such shares are
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any direcily attributable incremantal costs and related tax effects. 15
included in equity attributable to the Company's equity shareholders

36. Auditor’'s remuneration

The detal's regarding the remuneraton of the Company's auditor are included in Note 5 under ‘Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for
audit of the Company’s annual accounts’

37. Employee costs and other information
Average number of employees on a full-tme equivalent basis.

2017 206

Number Number

Administrative 67 52
Employee costs, including Directors’ remuneration, are as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Wages and salaries 138 91

Social security costs 2.5 12

Contrsbutions ¢ defined contrabution plans 04 03

Equity-settled share-based payment expense 2.2 12

Cash-setiled share-based payment expense 0.1 0.1

19.0 11.9

Directors’ remuneration

Further details of Directors’ remuneration and share options are given in Note 6 and in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages
641078

Tax losses

As at 31 December 2017, the Company had capital tax losses of £16.4m (2016 £16 4mj). No proviston has been made for deferred tax on
the basis that there 5 insufficient evidence that surtable taxable profits will arise in the future against which the losses may be offset and the
asset recovered

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash balances includes £2 4m of restncted cash which 1s held in escrow until 1 September 2018 as potential deferred consideration relating
to the 2016 acquisition of Millbrook

38. Intangible assets

Software
Cost £m
At 1 January 2017 4.2
Additions 15
At 31 December 2017 57
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2017 33
Charge for the year 0.2
At 3% December 2017 3.5
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017 22
At 31 December 2016 0.9
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39. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold Office
property equipment Total
Cost £m £m £m
At 1 January 2017 34 0.7 4.1
Additions - 0.1 0.1
At 31 December 2017 34 0.8 4.2
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2017 0s 0.6 14
Charge for the year 0.2 0.1 0.3
At 31 December 2017 1.0 0.7 1.7
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017 2.4 0.1 2.5
At 31 December 2016 26 01 27
40. Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Investments
undertakings
Cost £m
At 1 January 2017 1,240.7
Osposals (175.0)
Movements relating o share options granted to subsidiary employees 29
At 31 December 2017 1,068.6
Pravision for rnpairment
At 1 january 2017 91.7
Disposals (91.7)
At 31 December 2017 -
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017 1,068.6
Al 31 Decernber 2016 1,1490

Details of the Company's subsidianes are given m Note 50

During the year, followang a company reorganisation, Millbrook Group Limited, a holding company, was liquidated, resuiting in the disposal
of the investment. The carrying amount of the mvestment prior to disposal was £83 2m The Company receved a dvidend of £84.2m from

Millbrook Group Lnited before hquidation.

Servomex Limited, a dormant entity, was dissolved during the year. This investment had already been mpaired to £nil

During the year, the Company disposed of investments in subsichanes foliowing a transfer of ownership or dissolution, These investments

were held at £nd carrying value
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41, Other receivables

2017 2016

Current fm £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 6.5 08
Loans owed by Group undertakings 2551 299 3
Prepayments 42 15
Other recevables 3.0 09
268.8 3025

2017 2016

Non-current £m fm
Loans owed by Group undertakings 3337 2436
Prepayments 0.4 09
334.1 2445

Total other recewvables 602.9 547.0

All loans owed by Group undertakings are 1n relation 10 interest bearing intra-group loans which are formalised arrangements on an arm’s
length basis Interest s charged at fixed rates between 2% and 12% Amounts owed by Group undertakings are non-interest bearing and

repayable on demand

42. Borrowings

Current Repayable date 20£1r|.j-'| 20£1n61
Bank overdrafts on demand 15.5 10.0
2017 2016
Non-current Fixed intecest rate Agreement matunty date £m £m
Bank loans unsecured 30 October 2019 - 41.0
Bank loans unsecured - €94 8m 2 56% 14 QOctober 2020 84.1 814
Bank loans unsecured - €116 2m 115% 9 September 2022 103.1 99.7
Total unsecured borrowings 187.2 2221
Further details of borrowings are prowided i Note 17.
43. Other payables
2017 2016
Current £m Em
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 0.7 07
Loans owed to Group undertakings 490.5 3586
Accruals 10.6 60
501.8 3653
2017 2016
Non-current £m £m
Loans owed to Group undertakings 146.6 154.9

All oans owed to Group undertakings are n relation to interest beaning intra-group loans which are formalised arrangements ¢n an arm’s
length basis Interest is charged at fixed rates between 0% and 12% Amounts owed to Group undertakings are non-interest beanng and

repayable on demand
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44. Share capital

Number of

shares
Allotted, called-up and fully paid millions £Em
At 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 125.0 6.2

No ordinary shares were ssued upon exercise under share option schemes dunng the year (2016° i)

Share options have been granted to subscribe for ordinary shares of Spectris plc Full details of share options currently in issug, Including
those 1ssued during the year, together with information regarding the basis of calculation of the share-based payment expense, is contained
In Note 24

45. Reserves
Merger reserve

This reserve arose on the acquisition of Servomex In 1999, a purchase satisfied substantially by the ssue of share capital and therefore
elgtble for merger relef under the provisions of Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006

Capital redemption reserve
This reserve records the histoncal repurchase of the Cempany's own shares.
Special reserve

The special reserve was created historically following the ¢ancellation of an amount of share premum for the purpose of writing off
goodwill. The special reserve 1s not distributable

46. Retirement benefit plan

The Company participates in, and is the sponsoring employer of, the UK Group defined benefit plan The plan prowides pensions in
retirement, death in service and, in some cases, disability benefits to members The pension benefit 1s linked to members’ final salary at
retirement and their service life Since 31 December 2009, the UK plan has been dosed to new members.

There 15 no contractual agreement or stated polcy for charging the net defined benefit cost within the Group. In accordance with 1AS 19
{Revised 2011), there were no Company contributions made to the defined benefit plan during the year (2016 £ail),

Further details of the UK Spectrdis Pension Plan, incuding all disclosures required under FRS 101, are contamed in Note 20.

47. Contingent liabilities

The cross-guarantee arrangements to support trade finance facilibes are stated i Note 27

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its group, the
Company considers these to be insurance arrangements in accordance with the requrements of IFRS 4 and accounts for them as such. In
this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent hability untl such time as it becomes probable that the Company
will be required to make a payment under the guarantee

In the normal course of business, the Company has provided bonds and guarantees through local banking arrangements amounting to
£19.6m (2016. £16 1m).

48. Dividends
Amounts recognised and paid as distributions 20:1: 20£Irg
Final dwidend for the year ended 31 December 2016 of 34.0p {2015 32 2p) per share 40.5 384
Interrm dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 19.0p (2016 18 Op) per share 22.7 214
63.2 598
Amounts arising in respect of the year 20{1“7‘ zoflrg
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 15.0p (2016 18.0p) per share 22.7 214
Praposed final dividend for the year ended 31 Decernber 2017 of 37 5p (2016: 34 Op) per share a7 405
67.4 61.9

The proposed final dividend 1s subyject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 25 May 2018 and has not been
included as a hability in these Financial Statements
49, Treasury shares

At 31 December 2017, Spectnis plc held 5,747,360 treasury shares (2016: 5,840,513) During the year 93,153 treasury shares were utilised
to satisfy options exercised by employees of Spectns pic and its subsidiaries which were granted under share schemes (2016' 58,395) No
shares were repurchased by Spectris plc during the year (2016° nit) and no shares were cancelled during the year {2016, nil).
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50. Group companies

The followng 1s a full kst of the subsidianes, the registered office addresses and percentage of equity owned directly or indirectly by Spectns
ple, as at 31 December 2017 This information 1s provided in accordance with Section 409 of the Companies Act 2006

Shareholding'
Country of % held
Name Registered address incorporation % held directly indirectly
Analytical Spectral 3773 Cherry Creek North Drive #575, Denver, CO USA - 100.0
Dewvices tnc® 80209, United States
8K Vibro Amenca Inc 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Bulding #104, Wilmington, USA - 100.0
DE 19810, United States
Bruel & Kjzer EMS (Australia) Pty Level 14/403 St Kilda Road, Melbourne, VIC, Austraba - 1000
ted 3004, Australia
Briel & Kjaer EMS BV Panoven 68, 3401 RE Iisselstein, Netherlands Netherlands - 100.0
Bruel & Kjaer EMS Inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Bullding #104, Wilrmington, USA - 1000
DE 19810, United States
Bruel & Kjaer EMS Pty Ltd Level 14/409 St Kilda Road, Melbourne, VIC, 3004, Austraha - 1000
Australia
Bruel & Kjaer France SAS 46 rue du Champoreux, F-81540 Mennecy, France - 100.0
Cedex, France
Briel & Kjzer GmbH Linzerstrasse 3, Bremen, D-28359, Germany Germany - 1000
Briel & Kjzer Iberica SA Teide 5, E-28700 San Sebastian Spamn -~ 1000
de los Reyes, Spain
Bruel & Kjzer ttalta SRL Viale Milanofiori, Strada 4, Palazzo 5, (-20089 [taly - 100C
Rozzano, Milane, Italy
Briiel & Kjeer North 2815 Colonnades Court, Norcross, USA 30071-1588,  USA - 100 ¢
Amenica Inc United States
Bruel & Kjaer Polska Sp 200 ul. Goraszewska 12, PL-02-910 Warszawa, Poland Poland - 100.0
Bruel & Kjzer Sound Skodsborgve] 307, DK-2850, Naerum, Denmark - 1000
& Vibration Measurement A/S  Denmark
Bruel & Kjaer UK Limited Jarman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, SG8 58Q, England & Wales 100.0 -
United Kingdom
Bruel & Kjzer Vibro A/S Skodsborgve) 3078, Naerum, 2850, Denmark Denmark - 1000
Bruel & Kjaer Vibro GmbH Leydheckerstrasse 10, D-64293, Darmstadt, Germany  Germany - 1000
Bruel & Kyzer VTS Lututed Jarman Way, Royston, Hertfordshure, SGB 5BQ, England & Wales - 1000
United Kingdom
BTG Amencas Inc 5085 Avalan Ridge Parkway, Suite 100, Norcross, GA USA - 100.0
30071. United States
BTG Edépens SA ZI village, 1312 Eclepens, Switzerland Switzerland - 1000
BTG Holding Inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, USA - 1000
DE 19810, United States
BTG Instruments AB Box 602, 5-66129 Saffle, Sweden Sweden - 1000
BTG Instrumeats GmbH Arzbergerstrasse 10, Herrsching, 82211, Germany Germany - 1000
BTG iPI LLC 1375 Plane Site Boulevard, PO Box 5334, DePere, W, USA - 1000
WI 54115-5334, United States
BTG Southern Europe Sarl 46 Rue de Champoreux, Mennecy, 91540, France France - 1000
Burnfield Lirited Hentage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 England & Wales - 100G
9QD, United Kingdom
Capstone Technology 51 Goghill Plaza, #15-06, Singapore, 308900, Singapore Singapore - 1000
Asia Pte Lid
Capstone Technology S05 Union Avenue, SE Suite 120, Olympia, WA, 88501, USA - 1000
Corporation United States
CAS Clean-air-Service AG Reinluftweg 1, Zurich, CH-9630, Switzerland Switzerland - 1000
‘DISCOM Elektronische Systeme  Neustadt 10-12, Gotungen, 37073, Germany Germany - 1000
und Komponenten GmbH
Engineering Seismology Group 20 Hypenion Court, Kingsten, ON, K7K 7K2, Canada Canada - 1000
Canada inc
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50. Group companies continued

Sharehalding'
Country of % held
MName Registered address mcorporation % heid directly ndirectly
ESG (Beying) Seismic Technology Room 1226, Building No 1, Yinan, North Edizhuang China - 100.0
Cold No 44, Beyng, Dongcheng District
ESG USA Inc 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Bullding #104, wilmington, USA - 1000
DE 19810, United States
HBM Danmark ApS Nydamsve; 19D, 8362 Horning, Skanderborg, Denmark  Denmark - 100.0
HBM FiberSensing SA Rua Vasconcelos Costa 277, Moreira, Maia, Portugal Portugal - 1000
HBM France SAS 46 Rue du Charmporeux, Mennecy, 91540, France France - 1000
HBM Itaha SRL Milano (M, Via Pordencne 8, Milan, 20132, Italy laly 125 875
HBM nCode Federal LLC 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Buikding #104, Wilmington, USA - 1000°
DE 19810, United States
HBM Netherlands BV Schutweg 15a, Waalwik, 5145 NP, Netherlands Netherlands - 100.0
HBM Norge AS Rosenholmveien 25, Trollasen, 1414, Nonway Norway - 1000
HBM Prenscia Inc 1450 S Eastaide Loop, Tucson, AZ, 85710-6703, USA - 100.0
United States
HBM Prenscia Pte Ltd 2 Bukit Merah Central, #14-02, Spring Singapore, Singapore - 100.0
159835, Singapore
HBM Prensoa Corporation Ul Wronia 45 Yok 200, Warsaw, 01-015, Poland Poland - 100.0
Poland sp zoo
HBM United Kingdom Lirmted  Technolegy Centre, Advanced Manufacturing Park, England & Wales - 1000
Brunel Way, Catcliffe, Rotherham, South Yorkshire, S60
SWG, United Kingdom
Hottinger Baldwin (Suzhou) 106 Henshan Road, Suzhou New District, Suzhou, China - 100.0
Electronic Measurement Jiangsu Province, 215009, China
Technclogy Ltd
Hottinger Baldwin 19 Bartlett Street, Mariborough, MA, 017525, USA - 100.0
fieasurements Inc United States
Hottinger Baldwin Messtechntk /o Simon Berger, Alpenblickstrasse 57, Uster, 8610, Switzerland - 1000
AG Switzerland
Hottinger Baldwin Messtechnik  Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293, Germany Germany - 100.0
GmbH
Hottinger Baldwsn Messtechnik  Lemboeckgasse 6372, A-1230, Wien, Vienna, Osterreich  Austna - 100.0
GmbH
Hotunger Baldwin Messtechnik  Plaza de la Encina 10-11, Nucleo 3, YA, E-28760 Tres  Spain - 1000
Ibenca SL Cantos (Madrnd), Spain
International Applied Rehability 1450 $ Eastside Loop, Tucson, AZ, 85710-6703, Usa - 100 0°
Symposium LLC United States
LLC Spectns CIS Bullding 1. Usacheva Street, Moscow 119048, Russian  Russia - 100.0
Federation
Malvern Biosciences Inc* 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Bullding #104, Wilmington, USA - 1000
DE 19810, United States
Malvern Panalytical Inc (formerly 117 Flanders Road, Westborough, MA 01581-1042, USA - 1000
Malvern United States
Instruments Inc)
Maivern Panalytical Limied Enigma Business Park, Grovewood Road, Malvern, England & Wales - 100.0
{formerly Matvern Instruments  Worcestershire, WR14 1XZ, United Kingdom
Limited)
Malvern Instruments Nordic A8 Vallongatan 1, 752 28, Uppsala, Sweden Sweden - 1000
Malvern Instruments Nordic Oy Kumitehtaankatu, 5 04260, Kerava, Asiangjotoimisto Finland - 1000
O, Finland
Malvern Panalytical BV Lelyweg 1, 7602EA, Almelo, Netheriands Netherlands - 1000
Maivern Panalytical GmbH Nuembergerstr 113, D 34123 Kassel, Germany Germany - 100.0
Maivern Panalytical Sarl 30 Rue lean Rostand, Parc Club de I'Universite, Orsay,  France - 100.0

Cedex, 91893, France
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Name

Sharehalding'

Limuted

Limited

Limited

Limited

Cauntry of % held
Registered address incorporation % held dwectly indirectly
Malvern Panalytical SRL Via Casati 23, Monza, Milan, Italy ltaly 50 950
Malvern-Aimil Instruments Pyt Naimex House, A-8, Mohan Co-operative Industrial Ingka - 1000
Estate, Mathura Road, New Dethi - 110044, India
tMilibrook European Holdings Millbrook, Bedford, MK45 2)Q, United Kingdom England & Wales - 1000
Millbrook Group Limited® Millbrook, Bedford, MK45 2)Q, Urited Kingdom England & Wales 100.0 -
Millbrock Froving Ground Millbrook, Bedford, MK45 2JQ, United Kingdom England & Wales - 100.0
Millbrook Special Vehicles Millbrook, Bedford, MK45 2)Q, United Kingdom England & Wales - 1000
Miltbrock TDC Ltd® Milibrook, Bedford, MK45 2JQ, United Kingdom England & Wales - 1000
MPG Bidco Limited® Millbrook, Bedford, MK45 2)0Q, United Kingdom England & Wales - 1000
MPG FRinland Gy ¢fo Tiisakut Oy, Kauppakatu 12, Kuopio, 70100, Finland Finland - 1000
MPG Midco Lirmited”® wvillbraok, Bedford, MK45 2)Q, United Xingdom England & Wales - 1000
Nanosight Limited Ermgma Business Park, Grovewood Road, Malvern, England & Wales - 100.0
Worcestershire, WR14 1X2Z, United Kingdom
NDC Technologies GmbH Irn Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, Germany - 1000
D-64293, Germany
NDC Technelogies Limited Bates Road, Maldon, Essex, CM9 SFA, United Kingdom  England & Wales - 100.0
NDC Technologies S5.A Rue H Goassens 16, B-4431 Lonan, Belgium Belgium - 100.0
NDC Technclogies inc 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, USA - 100.0
DE 19810, United States
Newport Electronics Limuted One Omega Drive, Northbarik, Irflarm, Manchester, M44  England & Wales - 1000
58D, United Kingdom
Nowsim Limited Jarman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, SG8 58Q, Engiand & Wales - 100.0
United Kingdom
OCmega Engineenng B.V C/Q Intertrust, Prins Bernhardplein 200, 1097 JB Netherlands - 1000
Amsterdam, Netherlands
Omega Engineenng GmbH Daimlerstrasse 26, Deckenpfronn, 75392, Germany Germany - 1000
Omega Engineenng Lirmited One Gmega Drive, Northbank, ifam, Manchester, M44  England & Wales - 1000
SBD, United Kingdom
Omega Engineenng SARL /o BDO, 7 Rue de Parc de Clagny, Versailles, France - 1000
78000, France
Omega Engineening Inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, USA - 1000
DE 19810, United States
Omega Group Inc The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust USA - 1000
Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE, DE
19801, United States
Omega Technolagies Limited One Omega Dnve, Riverbend Technology Centre, England & Wales - 1000
Northbank Idam, Manchester, M4a4 58D,
United Kingdom
Omega Technologies Inc 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Bullding #104, Wilmington, USA - 1000
DE 19810, United States
Omega Inc The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust USA - 1000
Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE, DE
19801, United States
PANalytical {Proprietary) Limited  Private Bag 4015, Ferndale, 216G, South Africa South Africa - 1000
PANalyuical In¢” 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #104, wilmington, USA - 1000
DE 19810, United States
PANalytical Limited Jarman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, SGB 58Q, England & Wales 1000 -
United Kingdom
22 Avenue Descartes, BP-45, Limeil-Brevannes, Cedex,  France - 1000

PANalytical SAS

94454, France
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50. Group companies continued

Sharehelding'
Country of % held
Mame Registered address incorporation % held directly indirectly
Particle Measuring Systemns Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293, Germany Germany - 1000
Germany GrmbH
Partide Measuring Systems Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey TW20 England & Wales 100.0 -
Lirnited® 9QD, United Kingdom
Particle Measuring Systems SRL  Via Aurora n.27, 00013 Fonte Nuova, Rtaly ltaly - 1000
Parucle Measuring Systems Inc 3773 Cherry Creek North Orive #575, Denver, CO USA - 1000
80209, Uruted States
Pixirad Imaging Counters SRL  Via Cadore 21, Lissone, 20851, italy Italy - 1000
Red Lion Controls BV Softwareweg 9, 3821 BN Amersfoort, Netherlands Netherlands - 1000
Red Lion Controls Inc 1001 State Street #1400, Erie, PA 16501, United States  USA - 100Q
RehaSoft India Private Limited New No.16, Old No 21, Cenotaph 1st Street, Alwarpet, India - 1000
Chennat, 600 018, India
Servomex 8v P O Box 406, 2700 AK, W Dreeslaan 436, Netherlands - 1000
2729 NK Zoetermeer, Nethenands
Servomex Company 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington New Castel, 19801,  USA - 100.0
United States
Servomex GmbH Munsterstrasse 5, 58065 Hamm, Germany Germany - 100.0
Servomex Group Limited Jarvis Brook, Crowborough, £ast Sussex, TNG 3FB, England & Wales - 1000
United Kingdom
Servornex SA 23 Rue de Roule, Pans, 75001, France France - 1000
Soundwave Denmark ApS Skodsborgvej 307, DK-2850, Naerum, Denmark Denmark - 1000
Soundwava Holdings Pty Ltd Levels 11&12, 432 $t Kilda Road, Melbourne, Australa - 1000
VIC 3004, Austraba
Sound Answars Inc 6855 Commerce Boulevard, Canton, Mi, 48187, USA - 1000
Unied States
Spectraseis Canada Inc 1500, 520 - 3rd Avenue SW , Calgary, USA - 1000
AB, T2P OR3, Canada
Spectraseis Inc 3411 Siiveraide Road Tatnall Bulding #104, Wilmington, USA - 1000
DE 19810, United States
Spectrasers 1SM LLC 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Burlding #104, Wilmington, USA - 100 O°
DE 19810, United States
Spectris Australia Pty Ltd Suite 2, 6-10 Talavera Road, PO Box 349, North Ryde,  Australa - 1000
New South Wales 2113, Australia
Spectns Canada Inc 4995 Lewy Street, Montreal, Quebec, Canada - 100 Q
H4R 2NS, Canada
Spectris China Limited Urit 706 7/F, Miramar Tower, 132 Nathan Road, Tsm  Hong Kong - 100.0
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Spectris Co Lid Tsukasa-mach Bldg, 2-6 Kanda Tsukasa-machi, Japan - 1000
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 101-0048, Japan
Spectns Denmark ApS Skodshorgvej 307, Naerum, DK-2850, Denmark Denmark - 100.0
Spectris Do Brasil Instrumentos  Rua Laguna 276, Santo Amaro, CEP 04728-000, Sa0 Brazit - 1000
Eletronicos Ltda Paulo SP, Brazil
Spectns Finance Ireland 12 Mernion Square, Dublin 2, Ireland treland - 1000
Designated Activity Company
Spectrs Fuading BV Lelyweq 1, 7602EA, Almelo, Netherlands Netherlands - 1000
Spectns Germany GmbH Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293, Germany Germany - 100.0
Spectris Group Holdings Limited  Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, England & Wales 1000 -
Surrey TW20 9QD, United Kingdom
Spectrs Holdings Inc 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, USA - 1000
DE 19810, Unted State§
Spectris Inc 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, USA - 1000

DE 19810, United States
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K

Shareholding'

Country of % held
Name Registered address wicarporation % held directly nchrectly
Spectns Instrumentation and Bldg 9.No. 88, Lane 2888, HuaNing Road, MingHang  China - 1000
Systemns Shanghai Ltd District, Shanghai, 201108, China
Specins Korea Ltd 7th & 8th Fl, SH Energy Bulding, 16-6 Sunae-Dong, Republic of Korea - 1000
Bundang-Gu, Seongnam-City Kyeongg-Oo,
Republic of Korea
Spectns Mexico, S de RLde CV  Av, Pedro Ramirez Vazquez No 200-13, Nivel 1, Cal. Mexico - 100.0
Valle QOriente, San Pedro Garza Garcia,
C P 66269, Mexico
Spectns Netherlands Bv Lelyweg 1, 7602 EA Almelo, Netherlands Netherlands - 100.0
Spectns Netherlands Lelyweg 1, 7602 EA Almelo, Netherlands Netherlands 1000 -
Cooperatief WA
Spectns Pension Trustees Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey TW20 England & Wales 100.0 -
Limited 9Q0D, United Kingdom
Spectns Tawan Limited 13F-1, No. 128, Sec. 3, Min Sheng E. Road, Taipei, China - 100.0
Tawan, China
Spectns Technologies Private 202 Anarkall Complex, Jhandelwalan Extension, Opp tncha - 100.0
Lmited Videcon Tower, New Deltu 110 055, India
Spectris UK Moldings Limited Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey TW20 England & Wales - 100.0°
9QD, United Kingdom
Spectns US Holdings Limited Hentage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey TW20 England & Wales - 100.0
9QD, Urited Kingdom
Test World Holding Oy Kauniasientie 13 B 30, Kauntainen, Finland - 1000
02700, Finland
Test World Qy PL 167, Nelimintie 569, valo, 99801, Finland Finland - 1000
The Omnicon Group Inc 50 Engineers Road, Hauppauge, NY 11788, USA - 100.0
United States
Viscotek Europe Limited Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, England & Wales 300 700
Surrey TW20 9QD, United Kingdom
Zhuha) Omeg instruments Floor 1-3, No 9 R&D Main Bullding, Ke): No 1 Road, China - 1000

CoLtd

Screntfic & Technical innovation Sea Shore, New High
Tech Zone, Zuhai,
Guangdong Province, China

Footnotes

1 Ownership held m class of ordinary shares unless noted with * or
2 AllLLP, LLC, Cooperatief and other non-capital ownership entities histed are 100% owned and controlled by Spectess plc directly or indirectly through intermediate

halding companies

Dissolved on 9 January 2018
In hquidation_

bW

Ownership held in dass of ordinary shares, deferred share and redeemable orcinary shares
Merged on ¥ January 2018 mto Malvern Panalytical Inc (fermerly named Malvern Instruments Inc)

UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit

The following UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the
year ended 31 December 2017 Unless otherwise stated, the undertakings histed below are all 1009% owned, either directly or indirectly, by

Spectns pic

The Company will guarantee the debts and hatilities of the UK subsichanes listed below at the balance sheet date of £7 8m in accordance
with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 The Company has assessed the probability of loss under the guarantee as remote

Proportion of shares held by

Proparuon of shares held

Name the Company {%) by subsidhary (%) Company number
Bruel & Kj@r UK Limited 100 0 - 4066051
Briel & Kyaer VTS Lirmited - 100.0 1539186
HBM United Kingdom Limited - 1000 1589921
NDC Technalogies Limited - 1000 630998
Nowisim Limited - 1000 5269664
Omega Engingering Limited - 1000 2564017
Cmega Technologies Limited - 1000 2775272
PANalytical Lirnited 100.0 - 1005071

Spectris pl¢
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Financial Statements

Shareholder Information

Financial calendar

Trading update 25 May 2018
Annual General Meeting 25 May 2018
Record date for 2017 final dividend 25 May 2018
2017 final dividend payable 29 June 2018
2018 half-year results 24 july 2018
Trading update 20 November 2018
2018 fuli-year results February 2019

Company Secretary
Mark Serfézd

Head of Corporate Affairs

Siobhén Andrews
Email investor relations@spectris com

Registered office

Spectns plc
Hentage House
Church Road
Egham

Surrey

TW20 9QD
England

Tel. +44 (01784 470470
Email info@spectris com

Company registered n England, No. 2025003

Auditors
Defortte LLP

Bankers
Royal Bank of Scotland Pic

Solicitors
Macfaranes LLP

Brokers

Jefferies Hoare Govett
J P Morgan Cazenove

Financial PR advisers
FT1 Consulting

Registrars
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancng

West Sussex
BN99 6DA

The registrars prowde a range of shareholder services
online at wwww shareview.co uk.
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Share price information

The Company's ordinary shares are listed on the Londen Stock
Exchange The latest share price 1s available wia the Company's
webisite at www spectis com

Major shareholders

Percentage of

issued share

capital at

Shareholding i 31 December

Spectris shares 2017

MES Investment Management 12,929,501 10.84

FMR LLC 9,683,917 8,12

Oppenheimer Funds 7,059,506 5.92

Marathon Asset Management LLP 5,944,158 4,98

BlackRock Inc 4,676,832 3.93

Liontrust Investment Partners LLP 3,921,045 3.29
Sprucegrove Investment

Management 3,656,850 3.07

Email news service

To receive details of press releases and other announcements as
they are issued, register with the email alert service on the
Company’s website at wawawv spectris.com.

—
Cautionary statement

This Annual Report may contain forward-looking statements.
These staterents can be 1dentified by the fact that they do not
relate only to historical or current facts Withaut fimitation,
forward-looking statements often use words such as
anticipate, target, expect, estmate, intend, plan, goal, believe,
will, may, should, would, could or ather words of similar
meaning These statements may (without hmitation) relate to
the Company's financial posttion, business strategy, plans for
future operations or market trends. No assurance can be given
that any particular expectation will be met or proved accurate
and shareholders are cautroned not to place undue reliance
on such statements because, by their very nature, they may
be affected by a numnber of known and unknown nsks,
uncertainties and other important factors which could cause
actual results to differ materally from these currently
anticipated. Any forward-looking statement 1s made on the
basis of information available to Spectris plc as of the date

of the preparation of this Annual Report  All forward-looking
statements contained n this Annual Report are qualfied by
the cautionary statements contained in this section Other
than in accordance with its legal and regulatory oblhgations,
Spectris plc disclaims any obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking staterent contamed in this Annual Report
to reflect any change in circumstances or its expectations.




‘Spectris’ 1s a trademark of Spectris plc and 15
protected by registration in the United
Kingdom and other jurisdictions. Other product
names referred to in this Annual Report are
registered or unregistered trademarks or
registered names of Spectns pic or its subsidiary
companies and are similarly protected
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